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INTRODUCTORY NOTE
On June 14, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), SpringBig Holdings, Inc. (“New SpringBig”), a Delaware corporation (formerly known as Tuatara Capital Acquisition
Corporation (“Tuatara” or “TCAC”)), consummated the previously announced Business Combination (as defined below) of Tuatara and SpringBig, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“SpringBig”). As previously reported, pursuant to the Merger Agreement (as defined below), prior to the Closing (as defined below), New SpringBig changed
its jurisdiction of incorporation by deregistering as a Cayman Islands exempted company and continuing and domesticating as a corporation incorporated under the laws of
the State of Delaware (the “Domestication”). In connection with the Closing, the registrant changed its name from Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation to “SpringBig
Holdings, Inc.”. New SpringBig will continue the existing business operations of SpringBig as a publicly traded company.
As used in this Current Report on Form 8-K, unless otherwise stated or the context clearly indicates otherwise, the terms “Registrant,” “Company,” “New
SpringBig,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to SpringBig Holdings, Inc., and its subsidiaries at and after the Closing Date and giving effect to the consummation of the
Business Combination (the “Closing”) and the term “Tuatara” refers to Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation prior to the Closing Date and without giving effect to the
Closing and “SpringBig” refers to SpringBig, Inc. and its subsidiaries prior to the Closing Date and without giving effect to the Closing.
Item 1.01.

Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Item 2.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K discusses the consummation of the Business Combination and various other transactions
and events contemplated by the Merger Agreement (as defined below), which took place on the Closing Date and is incorporated herein by
reference. In addition, the information contained in Tuatara’s proxy statement/prospectus (Registration No.: 333-262628) filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on May 17, 2022 (the “Proxy Statement/Prospectus”) under the headings “The Business
Combination—Related Agreements,” and “Proposal No. 13—The Incentive Plan Proposal” is incorporated herein by reference.
Sponsor Escrow Agreement
At the time of the Closing, TCAC Sponsor, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Sponsor”), Tuatara and certain independent
members of Tuatara’s board of directors entered into an escrow agreement (“Sponsor Escrow Agreement”), providing that (i) immediately
following the Closing, Sponsor and certain of Tuatara’s board of directors’ independent directors shall deposit an aggregate of 1,000,000
shares of our Common Stock (as defined below) (such deposited shares, the “Sponsor Earnout Shares”) into escrow, (ii) the Sponsor Earnout
Shares shall be released to the Sponsor if the closing price of our Common Stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for share
splits, share dividends, reorganizations, and recapitalizations) on any twenty (20) trading days in a thirty (30)-trading-day period ending at any
time after the Closing Date and before the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, and (iii) the Sponsor Earnout Shares will be terminated and
canceled by us if such condition is not met by the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date.
The foregoing description of the Sponsor Escrow Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the text
of such Sponsor Escrow Agreement, a form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.1 and is incorporated herein by reference.
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement
On the Closing Date, in connection with the Business Combination, we entered into an amended and restated registration rights
agreement (the “A&R Registration Rights Agreement”) with Sponsor and certain other investors, providing that Sponsor and such other
investors are able to make a written demand for registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) of all or a
portion of their registrable securities, subject to a maximum of three (3) such demand registrations for Sponsor and four (4) such demand
registrations for the other investors thereto, in each case so long as such demand includes a number of registrable securities with a total
offering price in excess of $10 million. Any such demand may be in the form of an underwritten offering, it being understood that we will not
be able to conduct more than two underwritten offerings where the expected aggregate proceeds are less than $25 million but in excess of $10
million in any 12-month period.
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In addition, the holders of registrable securities have “piggy-back” registration rights under the A&R Registration Rights Agreement to
include their securities in certain other registration statements filed by us subsequent to the Closing.
We have also agreed to file within 30 days of the Closing Date a resale shelf registration statement covering the resale of all registrable
securities.
Finally, pursuant to the previously announced subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with certain investors (the
“PIPE Investors”), pursuant to which such PIPE Investors agreed to subscribe for and purchase, and TCAC agreed to issue and sell to such
investors, on the closing date, an aggregate of 1,310,000 shares of New SpringBig Common Stock for a purchase price of $10.00 per share, for
aggregate gross proceeds of $13,100,000 (of which $7,000,000 was previously funded via convertible notes between SpringBig and certain
subscription investors), we have agreed that we will use our reasonable best efforts to:
•

file within 30 days after the Closing Date a registration statement with the SEC for a secondary offering of shares of our Common Stock issued to the PIPE
Investors;

•

cause such registration statement to be declared effective promptly thereafter, but in no event later than the earlier of (i) the 60th calendar day (or 90th
calendar day if the SEC notifies New SpringBig that it will “review” the registration statement) after closing and (ii) the 5th business day after the date New
SpringBig is notified (orally or in writing, whichever is earlier) by the SEC that the registration statement will not be “reviewed” or will not be subject to
further review, as the case may be; and

•

maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement until the earliest of (A) the date on which the PIPE Investors cease to hold any shares of Common
Stock issued pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, or (B) on the first date on which the PIPE Investors can sell all of their shares issues pursuant to the
Subscription Agreements (or shares received in exchange therefor) under Rule 144 of the Securities Act without limitation as to the manner of sale or amount
of such securities that may be sold. New SpringBig will bear the cost of registering these securities.

The foregoing descriptions of the A&R Registration Rights Agreement and Subscription Agreements do not purport to be complete
and is qualified in their entirety by the text of such A&R Registration Rights Agreement and Form of Subscription Agreement, forms of which
are attached hereto as Exhibit 10.2 and Exhibit 10.3, respectively, and are incorporated herein by reference.
Convertible Note and Warrant
Pursuant to the previously announced securities purchase agreement (the “Notes and Warrants Purchase Agreement”) entered into by
Tuatara on April 29, 2022 (the “Signing Date”), the Company sold the first tranche of securities thereunder and issued a 6% Senior Secured
Original Issue Discount Convertible Note due 2024 for principal in the amount of $11,000,000 and loan proceeds to the Company of
$10,000,000 (the “Note”) and a warrant representing 586,980 shares of common stock of the Company (the “Warrant”) in a private placement
with the purchaser party thereto. The Note is convertible at the option of the holder beginning at the earlier of (i) the date of effectiveness of a
Form S-1 or S-3 registration statement as contemplated in that certain Registration Rights Agreement entered into between the Company and
the purchaser party thereto or (ii) June 14, 2023 at an initial conversion share price of $12.00 per share, bearing an interest rate of 6% per
annum and commencing amortization six months after issuance, which may be settled in cash or shares of common stock, subject to certain
conditions of the Note, at the option of the Company. The Warrant is exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $12.00 per share.
The Note is secured against substantially all the assets of the Company and each material subsidiary, including SpringBig, Inc.,
guarantees the Note.
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The Note, Warrant and common stock to be issued in connection with the Notes and Warrants Purchase Agreement will not be
registered under the Securities Act in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or
Regulation D promulgated thereunder.
The Note includes restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the Company to incur additional debt, incur liens,
make restricted payments, make certain investments, enter into affiliate transactions, dispose of certain assets and enter into certain merger or
asset sale transactions. The Note also contains customary events of default. The Company’s obligations under the Note are guaranteed on a
senior secured basis by SpringBig.
The foregoing description is qualified in its entirety by reference to (i) the Notes and Warrants Purchase Agreement, which is included
as Exhibit 10.4 to this Current Report and is incorporated by reference herein, (ii) the Note, which is included as Exhibit 4.1 to this Current
Report and is incorporated by reference herein, (iii) the Warrant, which is included as Exhibit 4.2 to this Current Report and is incorporated by
reference herein, and (iv) the Registration Rights Agreement, which is included as Exhibit 10.5 to this Current Report and is incorporated by
reference herein.
SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan
At the Special Meeting (as defined below), the shareholders of Tuatara adopted and approved the SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 LongTerm Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”). The board of directors of Tuatara previously approved the Incentive Plan and the material terms
thereunder, subject to shareholder approval at the Special Meeting and, effective as of the Closing Date, the board ratified the approval of the
Incentive Plan. The Incentive Plan became effective immediately upon closing.
This summary and the information incorporated herein by reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Incentive
Plan, which is included as Exhibit 10.6 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 2.01.

Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

As previously disclosed, an extraordinary general meeting (the “Special Meeting”) was held on June 9, 2022, where the Tuatara
shareholders considered and approved, among other matters, a proposal to approve the transactions contemplated by the Amended and
Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 14, 2022, as amended by the Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 4, 2022 (as it may be further amended or modified from time to time, the “Merger
Agreement”), by and among Tuatara, HighJump Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Tuatara
(“Merger Sub”), and SpringBig, pursuant to which Merger Sub will be merged with and into SpringBig, whereupon the separate existence of
Merger Sub will cease and SpringBig will be the surviving company and continue in existence as a subsidiary of New SpringBig, on the terms
and subject to the conditions set forth therein (“Business Combination”), which Business Combination was consummated on June 14, 2022.
Holders of an aggregate of 19,123,806 Class A ordinary shares of Tuatara sold in its initial public offering (the “IPO”) (such shares, the
“Public Shares”) properly exercised their right to have such shares redeemed for a full pro rata portion of the trust account holding the
proceeds from Tuatara’s IPO, which was approximately $10.01 per share, or $191,437,817 in the aggregate. The holders that did not elect to
have their shares redeemed received, following the domestication, their respective pro rata share of the number of shares of common stock that
did not elect to redeem, which amounted to 876,194 shares of common stock.
Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination, the following equity securities of New SpringBig were issued and
outstanding: (i) 5,752,388 shares of New SpringBig Common Stock issued to the holders of Tuatara Class A ordinary shares and Tuatara
Class B ordinary shares that automatically convert into Tuatara Class A ordinary shares upon the occurrence of the Business Combination in
accordance with Tuatara’s amended and restated memorandum and articles of association as consideration in the Business Combination
(comprised of 1,752,388 Class A ordinary shares after giving effect to the redemptions and the issuance of shares to public shareholders who
did not elect to redeem their public shares and 4,000,000 Class B ordinary shares that converted into common stock), (ii) 18,196,526 shares of
New SpringBig Common Stock issued to the stockholders of SpringBig as consideration in the Business Combination, (iii) 10,000,000
warrants to purchase shares of New SpringBig Common Stock issued to holders of the Public Shares upon conversion of warrants to purchase
Tuatara Class A ordinary shares in connection with the Business Combination (each, a “New SpringBig Public Warrant”), (iv) 6,000,000
warrants to purchase shares of New SpringBig Common Stock issued to Sponsor upon conversion of warrants to purchase Tuatara Class A
Common Stock, and (v) 1,310,000 shares of New SpringBig Common Stock issued to the PIPE Investors (as defined above) in the PIPE
Financing (as defined below), plus 31,356 shares paid to certain PIPE Investors pursuant to the convertible notes with certain PIPE Investors.
After the Closing Date, Tuatara’s Class A ordinary shares, warrants and units ceased trading on The Nasdaq Global Market. New SpringBig
Common Stock and New SpringBig Public Warrants commenced trading on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbols “SBIG” and
“SBIGW,” respectively, on June 15, 2022, subject to ongoing review of New SpringBig’s satisfaction of all listing criteria following the
Business Combination. As noted above, an aggregate of $191,437,817 was paid from the Tuatara trust account to holders that properly
exercised their right to have the Public Shares redeemed, and the remaining balance immediately prior to the Closing of approximately
$8,771,092 remained in the trust account. The remaining amount in the trust account was used to fund expenses incurred by Tuatara and New
SpringBig in connection with the Business Combination and will be used for general corporate purposes of New SpringBig following the
Business Combination.
4

The material terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement and related agreements are described under the heading “The Business
Combination” in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, which description is incorporated herein by reference.
FORM 10 INFORMATION
Forward Looking Statements
This Current Report on Form 8-K, including the information incorporated herein by reference, contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements about the
anticipated benefits of the Business Combination described herein, and the financial condition, results of operations, earnings outlook and
prospects of New SpringBig. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or
circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by
words such as “anticipate,” “appear,” “approximate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “foresee,” “intends,” “may,”
“might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “would” and other similar words and expressions (or the
negative version of such words or expressions) may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a
statement is not forward-looking.
The forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations and are inherently subject to uncertainties and
changes in circumstances and their potential effects and speak only as of the date of such statement. There can be no assurance that future
developments will be those that have been anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties or other
assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described under the heading “Risk Factors,” those
discussed and identified in public filings made with the SEC by Tuatara, and the following:
•

the expected benefits of the Business Combination;

•

our financial performance following the Business Combination, including financial projections and business metrics and any underlying assumptions
thereunder;

•

trends in the cannabis industry and New SpringBig market size, including with respect to the potential total addressable market in the industry;

•

New SpringBig’s growth prospects;

•

new product and service offerings New SpringBig may introduce in the future;

•

the ability to maintain the listing of New SpringBig’s securities on the Nasdaq stock exchange;
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•

the price of New SpringBig’s securities, including volatility resulting from changes in the competitive and highly regulated industry in which New SpringBig
plans to operate, variations in performance across competitors, changes in laws and regulations affecting New SpringBig’s business and changes in the
combined capital structure;

•

the ability to implement business plans, forecasts, and other expectations after the completion of the proposed business combination, and identify and realize
additional opportunities;

•

the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and the actions we may take in response thereto;

•

our directors and officers potentially having conflicts of interest with our business, as a result of which they would receive compensation;

•

the effect of legal, tax and regulatory changes; and

•

the outcome of any known and unknown litigation and regulatory proceedings.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or should any of the assumptions made by the management of New
SpringBig prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements.
All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements concerning the Business Combination or other matters addressed in this
Current Report on Form 8-K and attributable to New SpringBig or any person acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by
the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this Current Report on Form 8-K. Except to the extent required by applicable law or
regulation, New SpringBig undertakes no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the
date of this Current Report on Form 8-K or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
BUSINESS
The business of New SpringBig after the Business Combination is described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading
“Business of SpringBig” beginning on page 217 and that information is incorporated herein by reference.
RISK FACTORS
The risks associated with New SpringBig’s business are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Risk Factors”
beginning on page 58 and are incorporated herein by reference.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Reference is made to the disclosure set forth in Item 9.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K concerning the financial information of
SpringBig. Reference is further made to the disclosure contained in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the sections entitled “Selected
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements” beginning on page 54, “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined
Financial Information” beginning on page 187 and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
of SpringBig” beginning on page 230, which is incorporated herein by reference.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The disclosure contained in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of SpringBig” beginning on page 230 is incorporated herein by reference.
6

In addition, SpringBig’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations as of and for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2 and is incorporated herein by reference.
PROPERTIES
The properties of New SpringBig are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading
“Business of SpringBig—Properties” on page 207 and that information is incorporated herein by reference.
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of New SpringBig Common Stock as of the Closing Date
by:
•

each person known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of New SpringBig Common Stock;

•

each of executive officers and directors of New SpringBig; and

•

all executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC, which generally provide that a person has beneficial ownership
of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power over that security, including options and warrants that are
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days.
Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table below have, or may be deemed to have, sole voting and
investment power with respect to all shares of New SpringBig’s Common Stock owned by them.
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Number of Shares of Common Stock
Beneficially Owned

Name of Beneficial Owner

Percentage of
Outstanding
Common
Stock(1)

5% Shareholders
Medici Holdings V, Inc.
Tuatara Capital Fund II, L.P.(2)
TVC Capital IV, L.P.(3)
Altitude Investment Partners, LP(4)
Gamson Family Revocable Trust

4,743,120
3,496,000
2,495,499
1,528,295
1,306,326

18.8%
13.8%
10.0%
6.0%
5.2%

Executive Officer and Directors of the Company
Jeffrey Harris(5)
Paul Sykes(6)
Navin Anand(7)
Steven Bernstein
Patricia Glassford
Amanda Lannert
Phil Schwarz
Sergey Sherman
Jon Trauben

5,242,254
106,371
88,316
–
–
–
474,312
–
–

18.8%
*
*
*
*
*
1.9%
*
*

All directors and named executive officers of New SpringBig as a group post-business
combination (9 individuals):

5,911,253

23.4%

(1) The percentage of beneficial ownership of the Company is calculated based on 25,290,270 shares of common stock outstanding as of June 14, 2022, which
includes the shares of common stock issued to the stockholders of SpringBig in connection with the Business Combination. Unless otherwise indicated, the
business address or “c/o” address for each of the foregoing entities or individuals is 621 NW 53rd Street, Ste. 260, Boca Raton, FL 33487.
(2) Includes 2,896,000 shares of common stock held by TCAC Sponsor, LLC and 600,000 shares of common stock held by Tuatara Capital Fund II, L.P. Tuatara
Capital Fund II, L.P. (“Fund II”) is the sole member of TCAC Sponsor, LLC. Accordingly, shares of common stock held by TCAC Sponsor, LLC may be
attributed to Fund II. Fund II is controlled by a board of managers comprised of three individuals - Albert Foreman, Mark Zittman and Marc Riiska. Any action by
our sponsor with respect to our company or the founders’ shares, including voting and dispositive decisions, requires a majority vote of the managers of the board
of managers of Fund II. Under the so-called “rule of three,” because voting and dispositive decisions are made by a majority of Fund II’s managers, none of the
managers is deemed to be a beneficial owner of our sponsor’s securities, even those in which he holds a pecuniary interest. Accordingly, none of the managers is
deemed to have or share beneficial ownership of the founders’ shares held by our sponsor.
(3) TVC Capital IV, L.P. is an affiliate of TVC Capital Partners IV, L.P. Each of TVC Capital IV, L.P. and TVC Capital Partners IV, L.P. is directly controlled by TVC
Capital IV GP, LLC (“GP IV”). Each of Steven Hamerslag and Jeb S. Spencer is a managing member of GP IV and may be deemed to have shared voting and
dispositive power over the shares held by the foregoing entities. The foregoing is not an admission by any of Steven Hamerslag and Jeb S. Spencer that he is the
beneficial owner of the shares held by the foregoing entities. The address for each of the foregoing persons is 11710 El Camino Real, Suite 100, San Diego, CA
92130.
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(4) The address for Altitude Investment Partners, LP is 73 Bal Bay Drive, Bal Harbor, FL 33154.
(5) Includes the shares of common stock held by Medici Holdings V, Inc., an estate planning vehicle through which Mr. Harris shares ownership with family members
of Mr. Harris and for which Mr. Harris may be deemed to have investment discretion and voting power. Also, includes 10,000 shares of common stock to be
purchased by Mr. Harris as part of the PIPE subscription financing.
(6) Includes 9,219 options exercisable for shares of common stock within 60 days of the business combination.
(7) Includes 6,761 options exercisable for shares of common stock within 60 days of the business combination.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS
The disclosure contained in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Management After the Business Combination”
beginning on page 245 is incorporated herein by reference.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The disclosure contained in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Executive Compensation” beginning on page 251 is
incorporated herein by reference. The information set forth under Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K relating to the Incentive Plan
is incorporated herein by reference. The disclosure contained in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Management After the
Business Combination—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” on page 249 is incorporated herein by reference.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Certain relationships and related party transactions of New SpringBig are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the
headings “Certain Tuatara Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Certain SpringBig Relationships and Related Party
Transactions” beginning on page 258 and 260, respectively, and such descriptions are incorporated herein by reference.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
There is no material litigation, arbitration or governmental proceeding currently pending against New SpringBig or any members of its
management team in their capacity as such, and neither New SpringBig nor any of the members of its management team have been subject to
any such proceeding in the 12 months preceding the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K.
MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
New SpringBig’s shares of common stock (“Common Stock”) began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “SBIG”
and New SpringBig Public Warrants began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “SBIGW” on June 15, 2022, subject to
ongoing review of New SpringBig’s satisfaction of all listing criteria post-Business Combination, in lieu of the common stock, units and
warrants of Tuatara.
As of the Closing Date and following the completion of the Business Combination, the Company had approximately 25,290,270 shares
of Common Stock issued and outstanding. The information set forth in the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
and Management” is incorporated herein by reference.
We have not paid any cash dividends on its shares of Common Stock to date. It is the present intention of our Board of Directors to
retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of its business and our Board of Directors does not anticipate declaring or
paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends is within the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be
contingent upon New SpringBig’s future revenues and earnings, as well as its capital requirements and general financial condition.
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The information set forth in the sections entitled “SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan” in Item 1.01 and the
information regarding such plan set forth in Item 5.02 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference. In accordance
with the terms of the SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 1,525,175 shares were initially reserved for issuance
thereunder.
RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
Reference is made to the disclosure set forth under Item 3.02 of this Report concerning the issuance of shares of Common Stock in
connection with the Business Combination, which is incorporated herein by reference.
DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED
The disclosure contained in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Description of Securities” beginning on page 261 is
incorporated herein by reference.
CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
The disclosure set forth in Item 4.01 of this Report is incorporated herein by reference.
INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
New SpringBig will enter into separate indemnification agreements with New SpringBig’s directors and officers. These agreements,
among other things, require New SpringBig to indemnify its directors and officers for certain expenses, including attorney’s fees, judgments,
fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director of officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their services as one of New
SpringBig’s directors or officers or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at New SpringBig’s request.
Further information about the indemnification of New SpringBig’s directors and officers is set forth in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus
in the section titled “Management After the Business Combination—Limitation on Liability and Indemnification” beginning on page 249 and
that information is incorporated herein by reference.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information set forth under Item 9.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS
The information set forth under Item 9.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 2.03

Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant.

The disclosure set forth in Item 1.01 under “Convertible Note and Warrant” is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 3.02.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

The disclosure set forth in Items 1.01, 2.01 and Item 2.03 above is incorporated by reference herein.
The foregoing description is qualified in its entirety by reference to (i) the Notes and Warrants Purchase Agreement, which is included
as Exhibit 10.4 to this Current Report and is incorporated by reference herein, (ii) the Note, which is included as Exhibit 4.1 to this Current
Report and is incorporated by reference herein, and (iii) the Warrant, which is included as Exhibit 4.2 to this Current Report and is
incorporated by reference herein.
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Item 3.03.

Material Modification to Rights of Security Holders.

The description of the modification of rights of security holders set forth in Item 3.03 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 17, 2022 is
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 4.01

Changes in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant.

Effective June 14, 2022, the Audit Committee of New SpringBig dismissed WithumSmith+Brown PC (“Withum”), Tuatara’s independent
registered public accounting firm, prior to the Business Combination. Withum’s report on Tuatara’s balance sheets as of December 31, 2021
and for the period from January 24, 2020 (inception) through December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements
(collectively, the “financial statements”) did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as
to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, except for the substantial doubt about Tuatara’s ability to continue as a going concern.
During the period from January 24, 2020 (inception) to December 31, 2021, there were no: (i) disagreements with Withum on any
matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosures or audited scope or procedures, which disagreements if not
resolved to Withum’s satisfaction would have caused Withum to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with
its report or (ii) reportable events as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.
New SpringBig has provided Withum with a copy of the disclosures made by New SpringBig in response to this Item 4.01 and has
requested that Withum furnish New SpringBig with a letter addressed to the SEC stating whether it agrees with the statements made by the
registrant in response to Item 304(a) and, if not, stating the respects in which it does not agree. A letter from Withum is attached as Exhibit
16.1 to this Report.
Effective June 14, 2022, the Audit Committee of the Board of New SpringBig approved the engagement of Marcum LLP (“Marcum”) as the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm to audit New SpringBig’s consolidated financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 2022, effective immediately. Marcum served as the independent registered public accounting firm of SpringBig prior to the
Business Combination, upon approval by the Audit Committee on June 14, 2022.
During the period from January 24, 2020 (inception) to June 14, 2022, Tuatara did not consult Marcum with respect to either (i) the
application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type of audit opinion that might be
rendered on Tuatara’s financial statements, and no written report or oral advice was provided to Tuatara by Marcum that Marcum concluded
was an important factor considered by Tuatara in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or (ii) any
matter that was either the subject of a disagreement, as that term is described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act
and the related instructions to Item 304 of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act, or a reportable event, as that term is defined in Item 304(a)
(1)(v) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.
Item 5.01.

Changes in Control of Registrant.

Reference is made to the disclosure in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section titled “The Business Combination,” which is
incorporated herein by reference. Further reference is made to the information contained in Item 2.01 to this Current Report on Form 8-K,
which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 5.02.

Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain
Officers.

The information set forth in the sections entitled “SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan” in Item 1.01 of this
Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.
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(b)
At Closing, all incumbent directors and officers of Tuatara, Albert Foreman, Mark Zittman, Sergey Sherman, Jeffrey Bornstein,
Michael Finkelman, Richard Taney, resigned. New SpringBig’s current directors and officers are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus
under the heading “Management After the Business Combination” beginning on page 245, which disclosure is incorporated by reference
herein.
Additionally, employment agreements with Jeffrey Harris, CEO of New SpringBig, and Paul Sykes, CFO of New SpringBig, became
effective as of the Closing. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Harris will receive an annual salary of $450,000, will be eligible for a
target cash incentive opportunity of up to 137.50% of his annual base salary, and will be eligible to receive equity incentive awards under New
SpringBig’s long-term incentive plan as in effect from time to time. If Mr. Harris’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause
(as defined in the employment agreement), other than as a result of his death or disability, Mr. Harris will be entitled to receive: (i) any annual
salary then in effect, earned but unpaid as of the termination date (“Earned Salary”), and subject to the Company’s receipt from Mr. Harris of a
release of any claims against the Company, (A) if the termination is in connection with a “change in control” (as defined in the employment
agreement), an amount equal to the sum of (I) his annual salary and (II) his target annual cash incentive, plus accelerated and continued
vesting of certain equity awards; or (B) if the termination is not in connection with a change in control, an amount equal to the sum of (I) his
annual salary and (II) a prorated portion of his annual cash incentive, plus accelerated and continued vesting of certain equity awards which
are then-outstanding and unvested. If Mr. Harris’s employment is terminated by the Company with Cause, by Mr. Harris for any reason at any
time, as a result of Mr. Harris’s death, or for any reason other than by the Company without Cause, Mr. Harris will receive only the Earned
Salary.
Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Sykes will receive an annual salary of $350,000, will be eligible for a target cash incentive
opportunity of up to 100% of his annual base salary, and will be eligible to receive equity incentive awards under New SpringBig’s long-term
incentive plan as in effect from time to time. If Mr. Sykes’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause (as defined in the
employment agreement), other than as a result of his death or disability, Mr. Sykes will be entitled to receive: (i) any Earned Salary, and
subject to the Company’s receipt from Mr. Sykes of a release of any claims against the Company, (A) if the termination is in connection with a
“change in control” (as defined in the employment agreement), an amount equal to the sum of (I) his annual salary and (II) his target annual
cash incentive, plus accelerated and continued vesting of certain equity awards; or (B) if the termination is not in connection with a change in
control, an amount equal to the sum of (I) his annual salary and (II) a prorated portion of his annual cash incentive, plus accelerated and
continued vesting of certain equity awards which are then-outstanding and unvested. If Mr. Sykes’s employment is terminated by the Company
with Cause, by Mr. Sykes for any reason at any time, as a result of Mr. Sykes’s death, or for any reason other than by the Company without
Cause, Mr. Sykes will receive only the Earned Salary.
The foregoing summaries of Mr. Harris’s and Mr. Sykes’s employment agreements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the
text of the employment agreements, which are included as Exhibits 10.7 and 10.8, respectively, to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are
incorporated herein by reference.
In addition, the SpringBig board of directors awarded each of Mr. Harris and Mr. Sykes a one-time cash bonus in the amount of
$300,000 and $250,000, respectively, which was awarded as of the Closing.
(e)
As described in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K under the section entitled “SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive
at the Special Meeting, in connection with the Business Combination, the Tuatara shareholders approved the Incentive Plan, which
became effective upon the Closing. The purpose of the Incentive Plan is to secure and retain the services of employees, directors and
consultants, to provide incentives for such persons to exert maximum efforts for our success and to provide a means by which such persons
may be given an opportunity to benefit from increases in value of the Common Stock through the granting of awards thereunder. We believe
that the equity-based awards to be issued under the incentive plan will motivate award recipients to offer their maximum effort to us and help
them focus on the creation of long-term value consistent with the interests of our shareholders. We believe that grants of incentive awards are
necessary to enable us to attract and retain top talent.
Plan,”
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The Incentive Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options to employees and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards and other forms of stock awards to employees,
directors and consultants. The material features of the Incentive Plan are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus beginning on page 181
under the heading “Proposal No. 13 – The Incentive Plan Proposal,” and such description is incorporated herein by reference.
The number of shares of our Common Stock initially reserved for issuance under the incentive plan is the amount of shares of our
Common Stock equal to 5% of the sum of (i) the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding as of the Closing and (ii) the number of
shares of our Common Stock underlying stock options issued under the SpringBig, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended and restated)
that are outstanding as of the Closing. Shares subject to stock awards granted under the Incentive Plan that expire or terminate without being
exercised in full, or that are paid out in cash rather than in shares, will not reduce the number of shares available for issuance under the
Incentive Plan.
The material features of the Incentive Plan are respectively described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “Proposal
No. 13 – The Incentive Plan Proposal” beginning on page 181, and such descriptions are incorporated herein by reference.
This summary and the information incorporated herein by reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Incentive
Plan, which is included as Exhibit 10.6 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 5.03.

Amendments to Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; Change in Fiscal Year.

The information contained in Item 3.03 to this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated in this Item 5.03 by reference.
Item 5.05

Amendments to the Registrant’s Code of Ethics, or Waiver of a Provision of the Code of Ethics

In connection with the Business Combination, effective June 14, 2022, the New SpringBig Board approved and adopted a new Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) applicable to all directors, officers, and employees of the Company. As of the date of
this Current Report, the Code of Conduct is available on the investor relations portion of the Company’s website at www.springbig.com.
Information contained on or accessible through the Company’s website is not a part of this Current Report, and the inclusion of the Company’s
website address in this Current Report is an inactive textual reference only.
The Board of Directors will be responsible for overseeing the Code of Conduct and must approve any waivers of the Code of Conduct for executive officers and
directors. The Company expects that any amendments to the Code of Conduct, or any waivers of its requirements, will be disclosed on its website or by any other means
permitted under applicable SEC rules.
Item 5.06.

Change in Shell Company Status.

On June 14, 2022, as a result of the consummation of the Business Combination, which fulfilled the “business combination”
requirement of Tuatara’s amended and restated memorandum and articles of association, Tuatara ceased to be a shell company. The material
terms of the Business Combination are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus under the heading “The Business Combination” beginning
on page 104, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 8.01

Other Events.

The Common Stock and Warrants are listed for trading on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbols “SBIG” and “SBIGW,” respectively, and the CUSIP
numbers relating to the Common Stock and Warrants are 85021Q108 and 85021Q116, respectively.
On June 21, 2022, New SpringBig issued a press release announcing additional information regarding the Business Combination. A copy of the press release is
being furnished as Exhibit 99.4 to this report on Form 8-K and is incorporated by reference herein.
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Item 9.01.

Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.
In accordance with Rule 12b-23 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 12b-23”), SpringBig’s
audited consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, statements of
changes in stockholders’ equity, and statements of cash flow for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and
the related notes are incorporated by reference to such financial statements appearing on pages F-38 to F-58 of the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus.
In addition, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of SpringBig as of March 31, 2022 and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and
2021 and the related notes thereto are attached as Exhibit 99.1 and are incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.
In accordance with Rule 12b-23, unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information regarding New SpringBig to reflect
the consummation of the Business combination is attached as Exhibit 99.3 to this Report.
(d)

Exhibits

Exhibit No.
2.1
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6#
10.7#
10.8#
16.1
99.1
99.2
99.3
99.4

*

Description of Exhibit
Amended and Restated Merger Agreement with Amendment No. 1 (included as Annex A to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus filed with the SEC on May
17, 2022).
Form of Certificate of Incorporation of New SpringBig (incorporated by reference to Annex B to the Proxy Statement / Prospectus of Tuatara filed with
the SEC on May 17, 2022).
Form of By-Laws of New SpringBig (incorporated by reference to Annex C to the Proxy Statement / Prospectus of Tuatara filed with the SEC on May 17,
2022).
Senior Secured Original Issue Discount Convertible Promissory Note dated June 14, 2022 between SpringBig Holdings, Inc. and the holder party
thereto.*
Common Stock Purchase Warrant SpringBig Holdings Inc.*
Form of Sponsor Escrow Agreement.*
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 14, 2022, by and among New SpringBig, the Sponsor and other holders party thereto.*
Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation Form 8-K filed on November 9,
2021).
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated April 29, 2022, among Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation, and the purchasers party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Tuatara’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 2, 2022).
Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 14, 2022, among SpringBig Holdings, Inc. and the investors party thereto.*
SpringBig Holdings, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan.*
Executive Employment Agreement, dated November 8, 2021 by and between SpringBig and Jeffrey Harris.*
Executive Employment Agreement, dated November 8, 2021 by and between SpringBig and Paul Sykes.*
Letter from WithumSmith+Brown PC to the SEC, dated June 21, 2022.*
Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of SpringBig as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2022.*
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of SpringBig as of and for the three months ended March 31,
2022.*
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information as of March 31, 2022 and for the three months ended March 31, 2022.*
Press Release, dated June 21, 2022.*

Filed herewith.

† Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant hereby undertakes to furnish copies of any of
the omitted schedules upon request by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
SPRINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.
June 21, 2022

By: /s/ Jeffrey Harris
Name: Jeffrey Harris
Title: Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 4.1
THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY
STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS AS EVIDENCED BY A
LEGAL OPINION OF COUNSEL TO THE TRANSFEROR TO SUCH EFFECT, THE SUBSTANCE OF WHICH SHALL BE REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE
TO THE COMPANY. THIS NOTE AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS NOTE MAY BE PLEDGED IN CONNECTION
WITH A BONA FIDE MARGIN ACCOUNT SECURED BY SUCH SECURITIES. ANY TRANSFEREE OF THIS SECURED CONVERTIBLE
PROMISSORY NOTE SHOULD CAREFULLY REVIEW THE TERMS OF THIS SECURED ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT CONVERTIBLE
PROMISSORY NOTE. THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT REPRESENTED BY THIS SECURED ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY
NOTE AND, ACCORDINGLY, THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION HEREOF MAY BE LESS THAN THE AMOUNTS SET FORTH ON
THE FACE HEREOF.

SpringBig Holdings, Inc.
Senior Secured Original Issue Discount Convertible Promissory Note
Original Issuance Date: June 14, 2022
Maturity Date: June 14, 2024

Principal: $11,000,000
Loan Amount: $10,000,000

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, SpringBig Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Maker” or the “Company”), hereby promises to pay to the holder identified
on the signature page hereto, or registered assigns (the “Holder”) the principal sum of $11,000,000 (the “Principal”) pursuant to the terms of this Senior Secured Original
Issue Discount Convertible Promissory Note (this “Note”). In exchange for delivery of the Note on the Original Issuance Date referred to above, the Holder shall lend the
Maker $10,000,000 in United States dollars net of original issuance discount of $1,000,000. The Holder shall pay the Maker $10,000,000 on the Original Issuance Date.

The Maturity Date of this Note shall be 24 months from the Original Issuance Date of this Note which is specified above, unless the
Holder has given notice to the Maker that it elects to accelerate the Maturity Date to the extent explicitly permitted by this Note (the “Maturity
Date”). The Maturity Date is the date upon which the Principal, accrued Interest and other amounts shall be due and payable unless prepaid
earlier or converted. This Note may not be repaid in whole or in part except as otherwise explicitly set forth herein.
This Note is secured by a first lien security interest as evidenced by and to the extent set forth in that certain Security Agreement by
and among the Maker, its subsidiary, SpringBig, Inc. a Delaware corporation (the “Guarantor”) and the Holder dated as of the Original
Issuance Date (the “Security Agreement”).

All payments under or pursuant to this Note shall be made in United States dollars in immediately available funds to the Holder at the
address of the Holder set forth in the Purchase Agreement (as hereinafter defined) or at such other place as the Holder may designate from
time- to-time in writing to the Maker or by wire transfer of funds to the Holder’s account designated in writing by the Holder to the Maker.
1.1
Purchase Agreement; Subsidiary Guarantee. This Note has been executed and delivered pursuant to, and is one of the Notes
issued pursuant to, the Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of the Original issuance Date (as the same may be amended from time to time,
the “Purchase Agreement”), by and among the Maker, the other “Investors” (as such term is defined in the Purchase Agreement) and the
Holder. Capitalized words and terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth for such terms in the Purchase
Agreement. The full amount of this Note and all the cash payment obligations of the Company under the Transaction Documents shall be
guaranteed in full by the Guarantor pursuant to a Guarantee in the form attached as an exhibit to the Purchase Agreement.
1.2

Interest.

(a)
Interest on this Note shall commence accruing on the Original Issuance Date at 6% per annum (the “Interest”)
calculated based on the outstanding Principal amount of this Note, shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year assuming a 30-day month
(i.e. 30/360 basis) and shall be payable by the Company to the Holder in cash except as specifically provided in this Note. Interest shall be
payable quarterly in arrears (each such date the interest payment is due, an “Interest Payment Date”).
(b)
Beginning upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which has not been cured within the time specified in Section
2.2(a), and which occurs following the earlier of (i) the effective date of the Resale Registration Statement or (ii) twelve months after the
Original Issuance Date, the Holder may elect to receive payments of Interest in shares of Common Stock determined by dividing the Interest
due by the lower of (x) the Conversion Price or (y) a 7% discount to the lowest Selected VWAP over the 10 Trading Days immediately
preceding the applicable Payment Date. The Holder shall deliver notice to the Maker of its election to receive Interest in Common Stock at
any time prior to the Interest Payment Date.
(c)
From and after the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the Interest rate shall automatically
be increased to 14% per annum or the highest amount permitted by law, shall compound monthly, and shall be due and payable on the first
Trading Day of each calendar month during the continuance of such Event of Default (a “Default Interest Payment Date”). In the event that
such Event of Default is subsequently cured (and no other Event of Default then exists (including, without limitation, for the Company’s
failure to pay such Interest at the Default rate on the applicable Default Interest Payment Date), the adjustment referred to in the preceding
sentence shall cease to be effective as of the day immediately following the date of such cure; provided that the Interest as calculated and
unpaid at such increased rate during the continuance of such Event of Default shall continue to apply to the extent relating to the days after the
occurrence of such Event of Default through and including the date of such cure of such Event of Default.

1.3

Principal Amortization Payments.

(a)
Commencing on the first business day of the month that begins six months after the Original Issuance Date or earlier
with mutual written consent of the Maker and the Holder, the Maker shall pay to the Holder the Principal amount hereunder in equal monthly
installments (each a “Monthly Payment”) on such date and on the same day each month thereafter (each, a “Payment Date”) until the Principal
has been paid in full prior to or on the Maturity Date or, if earlier, upon acceleration, conversion or prepayment of this Note in accordance with
its terms.
(b)
The Maker and the Holder agree that all payments made under this Note, including the provisions of this Section 1.3,
shall be subject in all cases to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, including, without limitation, Section 2.4 thereof.
(c)
At the option of the Maker, the Monthly Payments shall be made in cash or in shares of Common Stock of the Maker.
The Maker may only elect to make a Monthly Payment in Common Stock if the Holder either receives free trading shares or shares that can be
immediately resold pursuant to Rule 144(i) under the Securities Act and all Equity Conditions have been satisfied, unless the Holder in its sole
discretion elects to waive this requirement for a specific Monthly Payment. In connection with any Monthly Payment made in shares of
Common Stock, the number of shares to be delivered shall be determined by dividing the Monthly Payment Amount by the lower of (i) the
Conversion Price or (ii) the Amortization Conversion Price (“Monthly Conversion Price”).
In order to elect to pay a Monthly Payment in Common Stock, the Maker must give the Holder written notice no later than seven
Trading Days before the applicable Payment Date, which notice shall be irrevocable (the “Monthly Payment Notice”). The Holder may
convert pursuant to Section 3 any Principal amount of this Note subject to a Monthly Payment at any time prior to the date that the Monthly
Payment, plus accrued but unpaid Interest, and any other amounts then owing to the Holder are due and paid in full. Unless otherwise
indicated by the Holder in the applicable Conversion Notice, any Principal of this Note converted during the applicable Monthly Conversion
Period until the date the Monthly Payment is paid in full shall be first applied to the Principal subject to the Monthly Payment payable in cash
and then to the Monthly Payment payable in Conversion Shares. The Maker covenants and agrees that it will honor all Conversion Notices
tendered up until the amounts due hereunder are paid in full. The Maker’s determination to pay a Monthly Payment in cash, Conversion
Shares or a combination thereof shall be applied ratably to all of the holders of the then outstanding Notes based on their (or their
predecessors) initial purchases of Notes pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, upon three Trading Days’ notice to the Maker (the date of such notice, the
“Monthly Payment Adjustment Notice Date”), and with the prior consent of the Maker the Holder may elect at its sole option, to defer or
accelerate up to four Monthly Payments or any portion of a Monthly Payment, to any future Trading Day In the event that the Holder elects to
defer or accelerate any such Monthly Payments, to the extent applicable, the procedures set forth in this Section 1.3 shall continue to apply to
the Maker. The Holder’s right to accelerate under this Section 1.3(c) shall be subject to the prior written consent of the Maker in its sole
discretion.

1.4
Prepayment.(a) Except for Monthly Payments as required by this Note, as otherwise provided elsewhere in this Note or as
provided in Section 1.4(a) or (b), the Maker may not prepay any portion of the Principal.
(a)
If following the Original Issuance Date while this Note is outstanding the Maker directly or indirectly receives
proceeds from and closes any kind of financing including though the issuance of any equity or Indebtedness or the exercise of Common Stock
Equivalents (any, a “Security”), the Maker shall give written notice to the Holder within one Trading Day, and the Holder within five Trading
Days may request a prepayment of Principal in an amount up to 25% of the Gross Proceeds received by the Maker; provided that this will not
apply to proceeds of the Equity Line with CF Principal Investments LLC or its Affiliates.
(b)
Beginning five months after the Original Issuance Date, the Holder may give notice of prepayment to the Maker from
proceeds received from Equity Line puts or the sale of Common Stock or other Securities issued by the Maker to CF Principal Investments
LLC or its Affiliates, or another broker-dealer who is a party to an Equity Line (provided that the Holder consents to such other broker-dealer,
which consent may be withheld in its sole discretion), net of any discount and other fees and expenses related to such Equity Line (such
proceeds, “Gross Proceeds”) with the Maker as follows:
(1)

60% of the Gross Proceeds when the Principal of this Note is at least $11,000,000 million;

(2)

50% of the Gross Proceeds when the Principal of this Note is at least $5,000,000 million; and

(3)

25% of the Gross Proceeds when the Principal of this Note is less than $2,500,000 million.

Within two Trading Days after the completion of a calendar month in which the Maker received Gross Proceeds from an Equity Line
transaction including sales of Securities referred to in this Section 1.4(b), the Maker shall give notice to the Holder of the amount of Gross
Proceeds. Within seven Trading Days after the Holder receives such notice, it may give notice of its prepayment election to the Maker which
shall then make the applicable prepayment within two Trading Days after receipt of notice from the Holder.
1.5
Delisting from a Trading Market. If at any time the Common Stock ceases to be traded or cease to be listed on a Trading
Market, (i) the Holder may deliver a demand for payment to the Company and if such a demand is delivered, the Company shall, within 30
Trading Days following receipt of the demand for payment from the Holder, pay all of the outstanding Principal together with Interest and
other amounts due Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any payments made under this Note, including the provisions of
this Section 1.5, shall be subject in all cases to the terms of the Purchase Agreement.

1.6
Payment on Non-Trading Days. Whenever any payment to be made shall be due on a day which is not a Trading Day, such
payment may be due on the next succeeding Trading Day.
1.7
Transfer. Except to an Affiliate (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) of the Holder, this Note may not be transferred or sold,
or pledged, hypothecated or otherwise granted as security by the Holder, without the prior written consent of the Company (not to be
unreasonably withheld).
1.8
Replacement. Upon receipt of a duly executed Affidavit of Loss and Indemnity Agreement in customary form from the
Holder with respect to the loss, theft or destruction of this Note (or any replacement hereof), or, in the case of a mutilation of this Note, upon
surrender and cancellation of such Note, the Maker shall issue a new Note, of like tenor and amount, in lieu of such lost, stolen, destroyed or
mutilated Note.
1.9

[Intentionally omitted.]

1.10
Status of Note. The obligations of the Maker under this Note shall rank senior to all other existing Indebtedness and equity of
the Company, other than the amounts owing to the other Investors under the other Notes in (the “Other Notes”), and the Additional Notes
when issued, to the extent of the first lien security interest in the collateral per the Security Agreement. The obligations of the Maker under this
Note shall rank pari passu with the amounts owing to the other Investors under the Other Notes and to the Holder and the Other Investors
under the Additional Notes. Upon any Liquidation Event (as hereinafter defined), but subject in all cases to the Purchase Agreement, the
Holder will be entitled to receive, before any distribution or payment is made upon, or set apart with respect to, any Indebtedness of the Maker
(other than the Other Notes) or any class of capital stock of the Maker, an amount equal to the outstanding Principal, Interest and any other
sums due. For purposes of this Note, “Liquidation Event” means a liquidation pursuant to a filing of a petition for bankruptcy under applicable
law or any other insolvency or debtor’s relief, an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution
or winding up of the affairs of the Maker.
ARTICLE 2
2.1
Events of Default. An “Event of Default” under this Note shall mean the following (unless the Event of Default is waived in
writing by the Holder):
(a)
Following a three Trading Day opportunity to cure, any default in the payment of the Principal, Interest or other
sums due under this Note or the Additional Note when due (whether on the Maturity Date or by acceleration or otherwise);
(b)
Except as otherwise permitted in this Note, the Maker shall fail to observe or perform any other material covenant,
condition or agreement contained in this Note or any Transaction Document, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Maker issuing any
Indebtedness or the imposition of a Lien upon any of the assets of the Maker or any subsidiary, except for Permitted Indebtedness or
Permitted Liens or as otherwise expressly permitted under Article 4, the entry into an Variable Rate Transaction except as otherwise
expressly permitted under Article 4, or otherwise breaching its material obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement entered into by
and among the Maker, the Holder and the other Investor(s) dated the Original Issuance Date including the required effective date of the
Resale Registration Statements; provided that if the Resale Registration Statement is not declared effective by the required effective date
due to factors outside the Maker’s control, including due to SEC delays, such failure to meet the required effective date shall not be
considered an Event of Default under this Section 2.1;

(c)
the Maker or any of its Subsidiaries shall (A) default in any payment of any amount or amounts of principal of or
interest (if any) on any Indebtedness (other than this Note), the aggregate principal amount of which Indebtedness is in excess of $600,000
or (B) default in the observance or performance of any other agreement or condition relating to any such Indebtedness or contained in any
instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which
default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders or beneficiary or beneficiaries of such Indebtedness to
cause with the giving of notice if required, such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity;
(d)
the Maker’s notice to the Holder, including by way of public announcement at any time of its inability to comply
(including for any of the reasons described in Section 3.6(a) hereof) or its intention not to comply with proper requests for conversion of
this Note into Common Stock;
(e)
at any time after the Resale Registration Statement is effective and subject to compliance with applicable law or if
the Holder has sold shares of Common Stock pursuant to Rule 144, when available, but only to the extent of the number of shares sold, the
failure of the Maker to instruct its transfer agent to remove any legends from the Common Stock and issue such unlegended certificates to
the Holder within the Standard Settlement Period. As used herein, “Standard Settlement Period” means the standard settlement period,
expressed in a number of Trading Days, on the Company’s primary Trading Market with respect to the Common Stock as in effect on the
date of delivery of a Conversion Notice so long as the Holder has provided reasonable assurances to the Maker that such Common Stock
will be sold pursuant to Rule 144, once it is available, or any other applicable exemption from registration under the Securities Act or if
there is an effective Resale Registration Statement that may be used. For avoidance of doubt, as of the Original Issuance Date the Standard
Settlement Period is two Trading Days;
(f)

the Maker shall fail to timely deliver the Common Stock as and when required in Section 3.2;

(g)
at any time the Maker shall fail to have the Required Minimum of Common Stock authorized, reserved and
available for issuance to satisfy the potential conversion in full (disregarding for this purpose any and all limitations of any kind on such
conversion) of this Note or upon exercise of the Warrants;

(h)
any representation or warranty made by the Maker or any of its Subsidiaries herein or in the Purchase Agreement,
this Note, the Warrant or any other Transaction Document shall prove to have been false or incorrect or breached in a material respect on
the date as of which made;
(i)
the Maker or any of its Subsidiaries shall: (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession
by, a receiver, custodian, trustee or liquidator of itself or of all or a substantial part of its property or assets; (ii) make a general assignment
for the benefit of its creditors; (iii) commence a voluntary case under the United States Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect) or
under the comparable laws of any jurisdiction (foreign or domestic); (iv) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any bankruptcy,
insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or other similar law affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally; (v) acquiesce in writing
to any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under United States Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect) or under the
comparable laws of any jurisdiction (foreign or domestic); (vi) issue a notice of bankruptcy or winding down of its operations or issue a
press release regarding same; or (vii) take any action under the laws of any jurisdiction (foreign or domestic) analogous to any of the
foregoing;
(j)
a proceeding or case shall be commenced in respect of the Maker or any of its Subsidiaries, without its application
or consent, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking: (i) the liquidation, reorganization, moratorium, dissolution, winding up, or
composition or readjustment of its debts; (ii) the appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or the like of it or of all or any
substantial part of its assets in connection with the liquidation or dissolution of the Maker or any of its Subsidiaries; or (iii) similar relief in
respect of it under any law providing for the relief of debtors, and such proceeding or case described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) shall continue
undismissed, or unstayed and in effect, for a period of 30 days or any order for relief shall be entered in an involuntary case under United
States Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect) or under the comparable laws of any jurisdiction (foreign or domestic) against the
Maker or any of its Subsidiaries or action under the laws of any jurisdiction (foreign or domestic) analogous to any of the foregoing shall be
taken with respect to the Maker or any of its Subsidiaries and shall continue undismissed, or unstayed and in effect for a period of 30 days;
(k)
one or more final judgments or orders for the payment of money aggregating in excess of $600,000 (or its equivalent
in the relevant currency of payment) are rendered against one or more of the Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries, that is not dismissed
or stayed within 10 days;
(l)
the Maker’s Common Stock ceases to be listed on the Trading Market or, after the 12 month anniversary of the
Original Issuance Date, any Common Stock including Conversion Shares may not be immediately resold under Rule 144 without
restriction on the number of shares to be sold or manner of sale, unless such Common Stock has been registered for resale under the
Securities Act and may be sold without restriction;

(m)
the Maker consummates a “going private” transaction and as a result its Common Stock is no longer registered
under Sections 12(b) of the Exchange Act;
(n)
there shall be any SEC stop order with respect to the Resale Registration Statement, trading suspension by the SEC
or the Trading Market of the Common Stock, or any restriction in place with the transfer agent for the Common Stock restricting the trading
of such Common Stock;
(o)
the Company replaces its transfer agent, and the Company fails to provide prior to the effective date of such
replacement, a fully executed irrevocable transfer agent instructions (including but not limited to the provision to irrevocably reserve the
Required Minimum) signed by the successor transfer agent and the Company;
(p)
the Company or a Subsidiary enters into a Variable Rate Transaction or a similar transaction without the prior
written consent of the Holder except as permitted by this Note; or
(q)
the Company organizes a new Subsidiary and the Company fails to pledge the equity interests within 10 Trading
Days of such organization or fails to cause the new Subsidiary to guarantee the Note and become a party to the Security Agreement and the
Pledge Agreement (including the delivery of the pledged securities) within such period.
2.2

Remedies Upon an Event of Default.

(a)
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default that has not been remedied or waived within (i) two Trading Days for
an Event of Default occurring by the Company’s failure to comply with Section 3.2 of this Note, or (ii) 15 Trading Days for all other Events
of Default; provided, however, that there shall be no cure period for an Event of Default described in Section 2.1(i) or 2.1(j), the Maker
shall be obligated to pay to the Holder the Mandatory Default Amount, which Mandatory Default Amount shall be payable to the Holder on
the date the Event of Default giving rise thereto occurs and shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date subject to prior conversion using
the Mandatory Default Amount and the Default Conversion Price, (provided all payments shall be subject to the provisions of the Purchase
Agreement with respect to the holders of the Other Notes). For this purpose, the Holder shall have the option to have the Default
Conversion Price determined as of the date the Conversion Notice was given to the Maker, and it may use the Default Conversion Price
during the Pricing Period.
(b)
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Maker shall, as promptly as possible but in any event within
three Trading Days of the occurrence of such Event of Default, notify the Holder of the occurrence of such Event of Default, describing the
event or factual situation giving rise to the Event of Default and specifying the relevant subsection or subsections of Section 2.1 hereof
under which such Event of Default has occurred.

(c)
Subject to Section 2.2(a), the Holder may at any time at its option declare, by written notice to the Maker, the
Mandatory Default Amount due and payable, and thereupon, the same shall be accelerated and so due and payable within two Trading Days
of receipt of such notice; provided however that, within two Trading Days of receipt of such notice, the Maker shall be permitted to provide
the Holder with evidence that the Default was cured within the required periods set forth in Section 2.2(a).
(d)
The provisions of Section 3.2(b) and (c) shall also apply upon any Events of Default relating to Conversion Shares
in addition to the remedies under this Section 2.2.
ARTICLE 3
3.1

Conversion.

(a)
Conversion. At any time following the earlier of (i) the date of effectiveness of the first Resale Registration Statement
covering the applicable Conversion Shares or (ii) 12 months after the Original Issuance Date, this Note shall be convertible (in whole or in
part) at the option of the Holder into such number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock as is determined by dividing (x)
that portion of the outstanding Principal that the Holder elects to convert (the “Conversion Amount”) by (y) the Conversion Price then in
effect on the date on which the Holder delivers to the Maker a notice of conversion in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Conversion Notice”) in accordance with Section 5.1. The Holder shall deliver this Note to the Maker at the address designated in the
Purchase Agreement at such time that this Note is fully converted. With respect to partial conversions of this Note, the Maker shall keep
written records of the amount of this Note converted as of the date of such conversion (each, a “Conversion Date”).
(b)
3.2

Conversion Price. The “Conversion Price” means $12.00 and shall be subject to adjustment as provided herein.

Delivery of Conversion Shares.

(a)
As soon as practicable after any conversion or payment of any amount due hereunder in the form of shares of Common
Stock in accordance with this Note, and in any event within the Standard Settlement Period thereafter (such date, the “Share Delivery Date”),
the Maker shall, at its expense, cause to be issued in the name of and delivered to the Holder, or as the Holder may direct, a certificate or
certificates evidencing the number of shares of fully paid and non-assessable Common Stock to which the Holder shall be entitled on such
conversion or payment (the “Conversion Shares”), in the applicable denominations based on the applicable conversion or payment, which
certificate or certificates shall be free of restrictive and trading legends (except for any such legends as may be required under the Securities
Act). In lieu of delivering physical certificates for the Common Stock issuable upon any conversion of this Note, provided the Company’s
transfer agent is participating in the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer program or a similar program,
upon request of the Holder, the Company shall cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit such Conversion Shares issuable upon
conversion of this Note to the Holder (or its designee), by crediting the account of the Holder’s (or such designee’s) broker with DTC through
its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission system (provided that the same time periods herein as for stock certificates shall apply) as
instructed by the Holder (or its designee).

(b)
Obligation Absolute. The Company’s obligations to issue and deliver the Conversion Shares upon conversion of this
Note in accordance with the terms hereof are absolute and unconditional, irrespective of any action or inaction by the Holder to enforce the
same, any waiver or consent with respect to any provision hereof, the recovery of any judgment against any Person or any action to enforce the
same, or any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, limitation or termination, or any breach or alleged breach by the Holder or any other Person of
any obligation to the Company or any violation or alleged violation of law by the Holder or any other Person, and irrespective of any other
circumstance which might otherwise limit such obligation of the Company to the Holder in connection with the issuance of such Conversion
Shares ; provided, however, that such delivery shall not operate as a waiver by the Company of any such action the Company may have
against the Holder. In the event the Holder of this Note shall elect to convert any or all of the outstanding Principal amount hereof, the
Company may not refuse conversion based on any claim that the Holder or anyone associated or affiliated with the Holder has been engaged in
any violation of law, agreement or for any other reason, unless an injunction from a court, on notice to Holder, restraining and or enjoining
conversion of all or part of this Note shall have been sought and obtained, and the Company posts a surety bond for the benefit of the Holder
in the amount of 150% of the outstanding principal amount of this Note, which is subject to the injunction, which bond shall remain in effect
until the completion of litigation of the underlying dispute and the proceeds of which shall be payable to the Holder to the extent it obtains
judgment. In the absence of such injunction, the Company shall issue the Conversion Shares or, if applicable, cash, upon delivery of a
Conversion Notice.
(c)
The Company’s Failure to Timely Convert. If the Company shall fail for any reason or for no reason, on or prior to the
applicable Share Delivery Date, if the Transfer Agent is not participating in the DTC Fast Automated Securities Transfer Program, to issue and
deliver to the Holder (or its designee) a certificate for the number of Conversion Shares to which the Holder is entitled and register such
Conversion Shares on the Company’s share register or, if the Transfer Agent is participating in the DTC Fast Automated Securities Transfer
Program, to credit the balance account of the Holder or the Holder’s designee with DTC for such number of Conversion Shares to which the
Holder is entitled upon the Holder’s conversion of this Note (as the case may be) (a “Conversion Failure”), then, in addition to all other
remedies available to the Holder, the Holder may by notice to the Company elect to be paid in cash either (i) the amount of proceeds it would
receive if it had been able to deliver the Conversion Shares on the Share Delivery Date or (ii) the Mandatory Default Amount. If the Holder
elects to use Section 3.2(c)(i), the sum it shall be paid as a consequence of a Conversion Failure shall be the product of (x) the number of
Conversion Shares subject to the Conversion Failure times (y) the VWAP for the date on the Holder delivers a Conversion Notice.
(d)
Pro Rata Conversion; Disputes. In the event that the Company receives a Conversion Notice from the Holder and any
holders of Options or other Convertible Securities for the same Conversion Date and the Company can convert some, but not all, of such
portions of the Notes, Options or other Convertible Securities submitted for conversion, the Company, subject to Section 3(d), shall first
convert the entire Conversion Amount submitted for conversion on such date by the Holder, and shall thereafter convert from each holder of
Options or other Convertible Securities electing to have Options or other Convertible Securities converted on such date (other than the Notes)
a pro rata amount of such holder’s portion of its Options or other Convertible Securities submitted for conversion based on the aggregate
number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise (or conversion) of all Options or other Convertible Securities submitted for
conversion on such date (not including the Notes).

3.3
Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The Company shall not effect the conversion of any portion of this Note, and the Holder
shall not have the right to convert any portion of this Note pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Note and any such conversion shall be
null and void and treated as if never made, to the extent that after giving effect to such conversion, the Holder together with the other
Attribution Parties collectively would beneficially own in excess of 4.99% (the “Maximum Percentage”) of the shares of Common Stock
outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, the aggregate number of shares of
Common Stock beneficially owned by the Holder and the other Attribution Parties shall include the number of shares of Common Stock held
by the Holder and all other Attribution Parties plus the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note with respect
to which the determination of such sentence is being made, but shall exclude shares of Common Stock which would be issuable upon (A)
conversion of the remaining, non-converted portion of this Note beneficially owned by the Holder or any of the other Attribution Parties and
(B) exercise or conversion of the unexercised or non-converted portion of any other securities of the Company (including, without limitation,
any convertible notes or convertible preferred stock or warrants, including, without limitation, the Warrants) beneficially owned by the Holder
or any other Attribution Party subject to a limitation on conversion or exercise analogous to the limitation contained in this Section 3(d)(i).
For purposes of this Section 3(d)(i), beneficial ownership shall be calculated in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. For
purposes of determining the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock the Holder may acquire upon the conversion of this Note without
exceeding the Maximum Percentage, the Holder may rely on the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock as reflected in (x) the
Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Current Report on Form 8-K or other public filing
with the SEC, as the case may be, (y) a more recent public announcement by the Company or (z) any other written notice by the Company or
the Transfer Agent, if any, setting forth the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding (the “Reported Outstanding Share Number”). If
the Company receives a Conversion Notice from the Holder at a time when the actual number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is less
than the Reported Outstanding Share Number, the Company shall notify the Holder in writing of the number of shares of Common Stock then
outstanding and, to the extent that such Conversion Notice would otherwise cause the Holder’s beneficial ownership, as determined pursuant
to this Section 3(d)(i), to exceed the Maximum Percentage, the Holder must notify the Company of a reduced number of shares of Common
Stock to be purchased pursuant to such Conversion Notice. For any reason at any time, upon the written or oral request of the Holder, the
Company shall within one (1) Business Day confirm orally and in writing or by electronic mail to the Holder the number of shares of Common
Stock then outstanding. In any case, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be determined after giving effect to the
conversion or exercise of securities of the Company, including this Note, by the Holder and any other Attribution Party since the date as of
which the Reported Outstanding Share Number was reported. In the event that the issuance of shares of Common Stock to the Holder upon
conversion of this Note results in the Holder and the other Attribution Parties being deemed to beneficially own, in the aggregate, more than
the Maximum Percentage of the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock (as determined under Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act),
the number of shares so issued by which the Holder’s and the other Attribution Parties’ aggregate beneficial ownership exceeds the Maximum
Percentage (the “Excess Shares”) shall be deemed null and void and shall be cancelled ab initio, and the Holder shall not have the power to
vote or to transfer the Excess Shares. Upon delivery of a written notice to the Company, the Holder may from time to time increase (with such
increase not effective until the sixty-first (61st) day after delivery of such notice) or decrease the Maximum Percentage to any other percentage
not in excess of 9.99% as specified in such notice; provided that (i) any such increase in the Maximum Percentage will not be effective until
the sixty-first (61st) day after such notice is delivered to the Company and (ii) any such increase or decrease will apply only to the Holder and
the other Attribution Parties and not to any other holder of Notes that is not an Attribution Party of the Holder. For purposes of clarity, the
shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the terms of this Note in excess of the Maximum Percentage shall not be deemed to be
beneficially owned by the Holder for any purpose including for purposes of Section 13(d) or Rule 16a-1(a)(1) of the Exchange Act. No prior
inability to convert this Note pursuant to this paragraph shall have any effect on the applicability of the provisions of this paragraph with
respect to any subsequent determination of convertibility. The provisions of this paragraph shall be construed and implemented in a manner
otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms of this Section 3(d)(i) to the extent necessary to correct this paragraph (or any portion of this
paragraph) which may be defective or inconsistent with the intended beneficial ownership limitation contained in this Section 3(d)(i) or to
make changes or supplements necessary or desirable to properly give effect to such limitation. The limitation contained in this paragraph may
not be waived and shall apply to a successor holder of this Note
.

3.4

Adjustment of Conversion Price.

(a)
Until the Note has been paid in full or converted in full, the Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment from time
to time as follows (but shall not be increased, other than pursuant to a combination:
(i)
Adjustments for Stock Splits and Combinations. If the Maker shall at any time or from time-to-time after the
Original Issuance Date effect a split of the outstanding Common Stock, the applicable Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to
the stock split shall be proportionately decreased. If the Maker shall at any time or from time-to-time after the Original Issuance Date,
combine the outstanding Common Stock into a lesser number of shares, the applicable Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to
the combination shall be proportionately increased. Any adjustments under this Section 3.4(a)(i) shall be effective at the close of
business on the date the stock split or combination occurs.
(ii)
Adjustments for Certain Dividends and Distributions. If the Maker shall at any time or from time to time after
the Closing Date (but whether before or after the Issuance Date) make or issue or set a record date for the determination of holders of
Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution payable in Common Stock, then, and in each event, the applicable
Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such event shall be decreased as of the time of such issuance or, in the event such
record date shall have been fixed, as of the close of business on such record date, by multiplying the applicable Conversion Price then
in effect by a fraction:

(1)
the numerator of which shall be the total number of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to
the time of such issuance or the close of business on such record date; and
(2)
the denominator of which shall be the total number of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior
to the time of such issuance or the close of business on such record date plus the number of Common Stock issuable in payment
of such dividend or distribution.
(iii)
Adjustment for Other Dividends and Distributions. If the Maker shall at any time or from time to time after the
Closing Date (but whether before or after the Issuance Date) make or issue or set a record date for the determination of holders of
Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution payable in other Common Stock, then, and in each event, an
appropriate revision to the applicable Conversion Price shall be made and provision shall be made (by adjustments of the Conversion
Price or otherwise) so that the Holder of this Note shall receive upon conversions thereof, in addition to the number of Common Stock
receivable thereon, the number of securities of the Maker or other issuer (as applicable) or other property that it would have received
had this Note been converted into Common Stock in full (without regard to any conversion limitations herein) on the date of such event
and had thereafter, during the period from the date of such event to and including the Conversion Date, retained such securities
(together with any distributions payable thereon during such period) or assets, giving application to all adjustments called for during
such period under this Section 3.4(a)(iii) with respect to the rights of the holders of this Note; provided, however, that if such record
date shall have been fixed and such dividend is not fully paid or if such distribution is not fully made on the date fixed therefor, the
Conversion Price shall be adjusted pursuant to this paragraph as of the time of actual payment of such dividends or distributions.
(iv)
Adjustments for Reclassification, Exchange or Substitution. If the Common Stock at any time or from time to
time after the Closing Date (but whether before or after the Issuance Date) shall be changed to the same or different number of shares
or other securities of any class or classes of stock or other property, whether by reclassification, exchange, substitution or otherwise
(other than by way of a stock split or combination of shares or stock dividends provided for in Sections 3.4(a)(i), (ii) and (iii) hereof, or
a reorganization, merger, consolidation, or sale of assets provided for in Section 3.4(a)(v) hereof), then, and in each event, an
appropriate revision to the Conversion Price shall be made and provisions shall be made (by adjustments of the Conversion Price or
otherwise) so that the Holder shall have the right thereafter to convert this Note into the kind and amount of shares of stock or other
securities or other property receivable upon reclassification, exchange, substitution or other change, by holders of the number of
Common Stock into which such Note might have been converted immediately prior to such reclassification, exchange, substitution or
other change, all subject to further adjustment as provided herein.

(v)
Adjustment Due to Dilutive Issuance. If, at any time when any Notes are issued and outstanding, the Company
issues or sells, or in accordance with this Section 3.4(a)(v) hereof is deemed to have issued or sold, except for Common Stock issued in
an Exempt Issuance (as defined in the Purchase Agreement), any Common Stock for a consideration per share (before deduction of
reasonable expenses or commissions or underwriting discounts or allowances in connection therewith) less than the Conversion Price
in effect on the date of such issuance (or deemed issuance) of such Common Stock (a “Dilutive Issuance”), then immediately upon the
Dilutive Issuance, the Conversion Price will be reduced to the amount of the consideration per share received by the Company in such
Dilutive Issuance.
Except for Exempt Issuances, the Company shall be deemed to have issued or sold Common Stock if the Company in
any manner issues or grants any warrants, rights or options, whether or not immediately exercisable, to subscribe for or to purchase Common
Stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock (“Convertible Securities”) (such warrants, rights and options to
Common Stock or Convertible Securities are hereinafter referred to as “Options”) and the price per share for which such Common Stock is
issuable upon the exercise of such Options is less than the Conversion Price then in effect, then the Conversion Price shall be reduced to such
price per share. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the “price per share for which such Common Stock are issuable upon the exercise of
such Options” is determined by dividing (i) the total amount, if any, received or receivable by the Company as consideration for the issuance
or granting of all such Options, plus the minimum aggregate amount of additional consideration, if any, payable to the Company upon the
exercise of all such Options, plus, in the case of Convertible Securities issuable upon the exercise of such Options, the minimum aggregate
amount of additional consideration payable upon the conversion or exchange thereof at the time such Convertible Securities first become
convertible or exchangeable, by (ii) the maximum total number of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of all such Options (assuming
full conversion of Convertible Securities, if applicable). No further adjustment to the Conversion Price will be made upon the actual issuance
of such Common Stock upon the exercise of such Options or upon the conversion or exchange of Convertible Securities issuable upon exercise
of such Options.
Additionally, the Company shall be deemed to have issued or sold Common Stock if the Company in any manner issues
or sells any Convertible Securities, whether or not immediately convertible (other than in an issuance in an Exempt Issuance), and the price
per share for which such Common Stock is issuable upon such conversion or exchange is less than the Conversion Price then in effect, then the
Conversion Price shall be equal to such price per share. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, the “price per share for which such
Common Stock are issuable upon such conversion or exchange” is determined by dividing (i) the total amount, if any, received or receivable
by the Company as consideration for the issuance or sale of all such Convertible Securities, plus the minimum aggregate amount of additional
consideration, if any, payable to the Company upon the conversion or exchange thereof at the time such Convertible Securities first become
convertible or exchangeable, by (ii) the maximum total number of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion or exchange of all such
Convertible Securities. No further adjustment to the Conversion Price will be made upon the actual issuance of such Common Stock upon
conversion or exchange of such Convertible Securities.

(vi)
Fractional Shares. If any adjustments to the Conversion Price under this Section 3.4 result in a fractional
amount, the fractional amount rounded down to the nearest whole cent.
(vii)

Consideration for Stock. In case any Common Stock or any Common Stock Equivalents shall be issued or

sold:
(1)
in connection with any merger or consolidation in which the Maker is the surviving corporation (other than any
consolidation or merger in which the previously outstanding Common Stock of the Maker shall be changed to or exchanged for
the stock or other securities of another corporation), the amount of consideration therefor shall be, deemed to be the fair value,
as determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Maker and approved by the Holders, of such
portion of the assets and business of the non-surviving corporation as such Board of Directors may determine to be attributable
to such Common Stock, Convertible Securities, rights or warrants or options, as the case may be; or
(2)
in the event of any consolidation or merger of the Maker in which the Maker is not the surviving corporation or
in which the previously outstanding Common Stock of the Maker shall be changed into or exchanged for the stock or other
securities of another corporation or other property, or in the event of any sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Maker
for stock or other securities or other property of any corporation, the Maker shall be deemed to have issued Common Stock, at a
price per share equal to the valuation of the Maker’s Common Stock based on the actual exchange ratio on which the
transaction was predicated, as applicable, and the fair market value on the date of such transaction of all such stock or securities
or other property of the other corporation. If any such calculation results in adjustment of the applicable Conversion Price, or
the number of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Note, the determination of the applicable Conversion Price or
the number of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Note immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or sale,
shall be made after giving effect to such adjustment of the number of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Note. In
the event Common Stock are issued with other shares or securities or other assets of the Maker for consideration which covers
both, the consideration computed as provided in this Section 3.4(a)(vii) shall be allocated among such securities and assets as
determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Maker, and approved by the Holders.

(viii)
Record Date. In case the Maker shall take record of the holders of its Common Stock for the purpose of
entitling them to subscribe for or purchase Common Stock or Convertible Securities, then the date of the issue or sale of the Common
Stock shall be deemed to be such record date.
(b)
No Impairment. The Maker shall not, by amendment of its Certificate of Incorporation or through any reorganization,
transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the
observance or performance of any of the terms to be observed or performed hereunder by the Maker, but will at all times in good faith assist in
the carrying out of all the provisions of this Section 3.4 and in the taking of all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order to
protect the conversion rights of the Holder against impairment. In the event the Holder shall elect to convert this Note as provided herein, the
Maker cannot refuse conversion based on any claim that the Holder or anyone associated or affiliated with the Holder has been engaged in any
violation of law, violation of an agreement to which the Holder is a party or for any reason whatsoever, unless, an injunction from a court, or
notice, restraining and or adjoining conversion of this Note shall have issued and the Maker posts a surety bond for the benefit of the Holder in
an amount equal to 150% of the Principal of the Note which the Holder has elected to convert, which bond shall remain in effect until the
completion of arbitration/litigation of the dispute and the proceeds of which shall be payable to the Holder (as liquidated damages) in the event
it obtains judgment.
(c)
Certificates as to Adjustments. Upon occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of the Conversion Price or
number of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of this Note pursuant to this Section 3.4, the Maker at its expense shall promptly compute
such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and furnish to the Holder a certificate setting forth such adjustment and
readjustment, showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based. The Maker shall, upon written request of the
Holder, at any time, furnish or cause to be furnished to the Holder a like certificate setting forth such adjustments and readjustments, the
applicable Conversion Price in effect at the time, and the number of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other securities or property
which at the time would be received upon the conversion of this Note. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Maker shall not be obligated to
deliver a certificate unless such certificate would reflect an increase or decrease of at least one percent of such adjusted amount.
(d)
Issue Taxes. The Maker shall pay any and all issue and other taxes, excluding federal, state or local income taxes, that
may be payable in respect of any issue or delivery of Common Stock on conversion of this Note pursuant thereto; provided, however, that the
Maker shall not be obligated to pay any transfer taxes resulting from any transfer requested by the Holder in connection with any such
conversion.
(e)
Fractional Shares. No fractional Common Stock shall be issued upon conversion of this Note. In lieu of any fractional
shares to which the Holder would otherwise be entitled, the Maker shall pay cash equal such fractional shares multiplied by the Conversion
Price then in effect.

(f)
Reservation of Common Stock. The Maker shall at all while this Note shall be outstanding, reserve and keep available
out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock the Required Minimum of Common Stock (disregarding for this purpose any and all
limitations of any kind on such conversion). The Maker shall, from time-to-time, increase the authorized number of Common Stock or take
other effective action if at any time the unissued number of authorized shares shall not be sufficient to satisfy the Maker’s obligations under
this Section 3.4(f).
(g)
Regulatory Compliance. If any Common Stock to be reserved for the purpose of conversion of this Note requires
registration or listing with or approval of any governmental authority, national securities exchange or other regulatory body under any federal
or state law or regulation or otherwise before such shares may be validly issued or delivered upon conversion, the Maker shall, at its sole cost
and expense, in good faith and as expeditiously as possible, secure such registration, listing or approval, as the case may be.
3.5

Prepayment Following a Change of Control.

(a)
Mechanics of Prepayment at Option of Holder in Connection with a Change of Control. No later than 15 days
following the entry by the Company into an agreement for a Change of Control but in no event prior to the public announcement of such
Change of Control, the Maker shall deliver written notice describing the entry into such agreement (“Notice of Change of Control”) to the
Holder. Within 15 days after receipt of a Notice of Change of Control, the Holder may require the Maker to prepay, effective immediately
prior to the consummation of such Change of Control, an amount equal to 102% of the outstanding principal amount of this Note (the
“COC Repayment Price”), by delivering written notice thereof (“Notice of Prepayment at Option of Holder Upon Change of Control”) to
the Maker, with such prepayment due in connection with but in no event prior to the closing of the Change of Control transaction.
(b)
Payment of COC Repayment Price. Upon the Maker’s receipt of a Notice(s) of Prepayment at Option of Holder Upon
Change of Control from the Holders, the Maker shall deliver the COC Repayment Price to the Holder immediately prior to the consummation
of the Change of Control; provided, that the Holder’s original Note shall have been so delivered to the Maker, and, provided, further that all
payments shall be subject to the provisions of the Purchase Agreement with respect to the holders of the Other Notes.]
3.6

Inability to Fully Convert.

(a)
Holder’s Option if Maker Cannot Fully Convert. If, upon the Maker’s receipt of a Conversion Notice or as otherwise
required under this Note, including with respect to repayment of Principal in Common Stock as permitted under this Note, the Maker cannot
issue Common Stock for any reason, including, without limitation, because the Maker (x) does not have a sufficient number of shares of
Common Stock authorized and available or (y) is otherwise prohibited by applicable law or by the rules or regulations of any national
securities exchange, interdealer quotation system or other self-regulatory organization with jurisdiction over the Maker or any of its securities
from issuing all of the shares of Common Stock which are to be issued to the Holder pursuant to this Note, then the Maker shall issue as many
shares of Common Stock as it is able to issue and, with respect to the unconverted portion of this Note or with respect to any Common Stock
not timely issued in accordance with this Note, the Holder, solely at Holder’s option, can elect to:

(i)
require the Maker to prepay that portion of this Note for which the Maker is unable to issue Common Stock or
for which Common Stock were not timely issued (the “Mandatory Prepayment”) at a price equal to the number of shares of Common
Stock that the Maker is unable to issue multiplied by the VWAP on the date of the Conversion Notice (the “Mandatory Prepayment
Price”) (provided all payments shall be subject to the provisions of the Purchase Agreement with respect to the holders of the Other
Notes);
(ii)
void its Conversion Notice and retain or have returned, as the case may be, this Note that was to be converted
pursuant to the Conversion Notice (provided that the Holder’s voiding its Conversion Notice shall not affect the Maker’s obligations to
make any payments which have accrued prior to the date of such notice); or
(iii)
defer issuance of the applicable Conversion Shares until such time as the Maker can legally issue such shares;
provided that the Principal Amount underlying such Conversion Shares shall remain outstanding until the delivery of such Conversion
Shares; and provided, further, that if the Holder elects to defer the issuance of the Conversion Shares, it may exercise its rights under
either clause (i) or (ii) above at any time prior to the issuance of the Conversion Shares upon two Trading Days’ notice to the Maker.
(b)
Mechanics of Fulfilling Holder’s Election. The Maker shall immediately send to the Holder, upon receipt of a
Conversion Notice from the Holder, which cannot be fully satisfied as described in Section 3.6(a) above, a notice of the Maker’s inability to
fully satisfy the Conversion Notice (the “Inability to Fully Convert Notice”). Such Inability to Fully Convert Notice shall indicate (i) the
reason why the Maker is unable to fully satisfy the Holder’s Conversion Notice; and (ii) the amount of this Note which cannot be converted.
The Holder shall notify the Maker of its election pursuant to Section 3.6(a) above by delivering written notice to the Maker (“Notice in
Response to Inability to Convert”).
(c)
Payment of Mandatory Prepayment Price. If the Holder shall elect to have its Note prepaid pursuant to Section 3.6(a)
(i) above, the Maker shall pay the Mandatory Prepayment Price to the Holder within five Trading Days of the Maker’s receipt of the Holder’s
Notice in Response to Inability to Convert; provided that prior to the Maker’s receipt of the Holder’s Notice in Response to Inability to
Convert the Maker has not delivered a notice to the Holder stating, to the satisfaction of the Holder, that the event or condition resulting in the
Mandatory Prepayment has been cured and all Conversion Shares issuable to the Holder can and will be delivered to the Holder in accordance
with the terms of this Note. If the Maker shall fail to pay the applicable Mandatory Prepayment Price to the Holder on the date that is two
Trading Days following the Maker’s receipt of the Holder’s Notice in Response to Inability to Convert, in addition to any remedy the Holder
may have under this Note and the Purchase Agreement, such unpaid amount shall bear interest at the rate of two percent per month (prorated
for partial months) until paid in full. Until the full Mandatory Prepayment Price is paid in full to the Holder, the Holder may (i) void the
Mandatory Prepayment with respect to that portion of the Note for which the full Mandatory Prepayment Price has not been paid and (ii)
receive back such Note.

(d)
No Rights as Shareholder. Nothing contained in this Note shall be construed as conferring upon the Holder, prior to
the conversion of this Note, the right to vote or to receive dividends or to consent or to receive notice as a shareholder of the Company in
respect of any meeting of shareholders for the election of directors of the Maker or of any other matter, or any other rights as a shareholder of
the Maker.
ARTICLE 4
4.1

Covenants. For so long as the Note is outstanding, without the prior written consent of the Holder:

(a)
Rank. All payments due under this Note shall rank senior to all other Indebtedness of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, except for the Other Notes and the Additional Notes upon issuance.
(b)
Incurrence of Indebtedness. The Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to not,
directly or indirectly, incur or guarantee or assume any Indebtedness (other than (i) this Note, the Other Notes, and the Additional Notes upon
issuance, and (ii) Permitted Indebtedness).
(c)
Existence of Liens. The Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to not, directly or
indirectly, allow or suffer to exist any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, deed of trust, or other encumbrance upon or in any
property or assets (including accounts and contract rights) owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, “Liens”) other than
Permitted Liens.
(d)
Restricted Payments. Except as otherwise provided for in this Note, the Other Notes or the other Transaction
Documents, the Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to not, directly or indirectly, prepay, defease,
repurchase, repay or make any payments in respect of, by the payment of cash or cash equivalents (in whole or in part, whether by way of
open market purchases, tender offers, private transactions or otherwise), all or any portion of any Indebtedness (other than the Note, Other
Notes, and Additional Notes) whether by way of payment in respect of principal of (or premium, if any) or interest on, such Indebtedness if at
the time such payment is due or is otherwise made or, after giving effect to such payment, (i) an event constituting an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing or (ii) an event that with the passage of time and without being cured would constitute an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing.

(e)
Restriction on Prepayment and Cash Dividends. The Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of its
Subsidiaries to not, directly or indirectly, prepay, repurchase or declare or pay any cash dividend or distribution on any of its capital stock.
(f)
Restriction on Transfer of Assets. The Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to not,
directly or indirectly, sell, lease, license, assign, transfer, spin-off, split-off, close, convey or otherwise dispose of any assets or rights of the
Company or any Subsidiary owned or hereafter acquired whether in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, other than (i) sales,
leases, licenses, assignments, transfers, conveyances and other dispositions of such assets or rights by the Company and its Subsidiaries in the
ordinary course of business consistent with its past practice, (ii) sales of inventory and products in the ordinary course of business, and (iii)
sales of unwanted or obsolete assets.
(g)
Preservation of Existence, Etc. The Company shall maintain and preserve, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to
maintain and preserve, its existence, rights and privileges, and become or remain, and cause each of its material Subsidiaries to become or
remain, duly qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the character of the properties owned or leased by it or in which the
transaction of its business makes such qualification necessary.
(h)
Maintenance of Properties, Etc. The Company shall maintain and preserve, and cause each of its material Subsidiaries
to maintain and preserve, all of its properties which are necessary or useful in the proper conduct of its business in good working order and
condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and comply, and cause each of its material Subsidiaries to comply, at all times with the provisions
of all leases to which it is a party as lessee or under which it occupies property, so as to prevent any loss or forfeiture thereof or thereunder.
(i)
Maintenance of Intellectual Property. The Company will, and will cause each of its material Subsidiaries to, take all
action necessary or advisable to maintain all of the rights or licenses to use all trademarks, trade names, service marks, service mark
registrations, service names, original works of authorship, patents, patent rights, copyrights, inventions, licenses, approvals, governmental
authorizations, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights and all applications and registrations therefor of the Company and/or any of
its Subsidiaries, in each case that are necessary or material to the conduct of its business in full force and effect, except those that the loss of
which, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(j)
Maintenance of Insurance. The Company shall maintain, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain, insurance
with responsible and reputable insurance companies or associations (including, without limitation, comprehensive general liability, hazard,
rent and business interruption insurance) with respect to its properties (including all real properties leased or owned by it) and business, in such
amounts and covering such risks as is required by any governmental authority having jurisdiction with respect thereto or as is carried generally
in accordance with sound business practice by companies in similar businesses similarly situated.
(k)
Transactions with Affiliates. The Company shall not, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into, renew,
extend or be a party to, any transaction or series of related transactions (including, without limitation, the purchase, sale, lease, transfer or
exchange of property or assets of any kind or the rendering of services of any kind) with any Affiliate, except in the ordinary course of
business in a manner and to an extent consistent with past practice and necessary or desirable for the prudent operation of its business, for fair
consideration and on terms no less favorable to it or its Subsidiaries than would be obtainable in a comparable arm’s length transaction with a
Person that is not an Affiliate thereof.

(l)

Use of Proceeds. The Maker shall use the proceeds of this Note as set forth in the Purchase Agreement.

(m)

Operation of Business. The Company shall operate its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practices.

(n)
Compliance with Transaction Documents. The Maker shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, comply with its
obligations under this Note and the other Transaction Documents.
(o)
Payment of Taxes, Etc. The Maker shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, promptly pay and discharge, or
cause to be paid and discharged, when due and payable, all lawful taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon the
income, profits, property or business of the Maker and the Subsidiaries, except for such failures to pay that, individually or in the aggregate,
have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; provided, however, that any such tax, assessment,
charge or levy need not be paid if the validity thereof shall currently be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and if the Maker or
such Subsidiaries shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto, and provided, further, that the Maker and such
Subsidiaries will pay all such taxes, assessments, charges or levies forthwith upon the commencement of proceedings to foreclose any lien
which may have attached as security therefor.
(p)
Variable Rate Transactions. The Company shall not enter into any Variable Rate Transactions except for an Equity Line
Agreement with CF Principal Investments LLC or its Affiliates.
ARTICLE 5
5.1
Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be provided hereunder shall be in
writing and shall be deemed given and effective on the earliest of (a) the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered via
email at the email address specified in this Section 5.1 prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on a Trading Day, (b) the next Trading Day
after the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered via email at the email address specified in this Section 5.1 on a day
that is not a Trading Day or later than 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on any date and earlier than 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on such
date, (c) the Trading Day following the date of delivery to a carrier , if sent by U.S. nationally recognized overnight courier service next
Trading Day delivery, or (d) upon actual receipt by the party to whom such notice is required to be given. The addresses for notice shall be as
set forth in the Purchase Agreement.

5.2
Governing Law. This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Purchase Agreements. This Note shall
not be interpreted or construed with any presumption against the party causing this Note to be drafted.
5.3
Headings. Article and section headings in this Note are included herein for purposes of convenience of reference only and
shall not constitute a part of this Note for any other purpose.
5.4
Remedies, Characterizations, Other Obligations, Breaches and Injunctive Relief. The remedies provided in this Note shall be
cumulative and in addition to all other remedies available under this Note, at law or in equity (including, without limitation, a decree of
specific performance and/or other injunctive relief), no remedy contained herein shall be deemed a waiver of compliance with the provisions
giving rise to such remedy and nothing herein shall limit the Holder’s right to pursue actual damages for any failure by the Maker to comply
with the terms of this Note. Amounts set forth or provided for herein with respect to payments, conversion and the like (and the computation
thereof) shall be the amounts to be received by the Holder thereof and shall not, except as expressly provided herein, be subject to any other
obligation of the Maker (or the performance thereof). The Maker acknowledges that a breach by it of its obligations hereunder will cause
irreparable and material harm to the Holder and that the remedy at law for any such breach would be inadequate. Therefore, the Maker agrees
that, in the event of any such breach or threatened breach, the Holder shall be entitled, in addition to all other available rights and remedies, at
law or in equity, to seek equitable relief, including but not limited to an injunction restraining any such breach or threatened breach, without
the necessity of pleading and proving irreparable harm or lack of an adequate remedy at law and without any bond or other security being
required.
5.5
Enforcement Expenses. The Maker agrees to pay all costs and expenses of enforcement by the Holder of this Note, including,
without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses.
5.6
Binding Effect. The obligations of the Maker set forth herein shall be binding upon its successors and assigns, whether or not
such successors or assigns are permitted by the terms herein.
5.7
Amendments; Waivers. No provision of this Note may be waived or amended except in a written instrument signed by the
Company and the Holder. No waiver of any default with respect to any provision, condition or requirement of this Note shall be deemed to be
a continuing waiver in the future or a waiver of any subsequent default or a waiver of any other provision, condition or requirement hereof, nor
shall any delay or omission of the Holder to exercise any right hereunder in any manner impair the exercise of any such right.
5.8
Compliance with Securities Laws. The Holder of this Note acknowledges that this Note is being acquired solely for the
Holder’s own account and not as a nominee for any other party, and for investment, and that the Holder shall not offer, sell or otherwise
dispose of this Note
in violation of applicable securities laws. This Note and any Note issued in substitution or replacement therefor shall be stamped or imprinted
with a legend in substantially the following form:

“THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE
SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR
SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR
PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS AS
EVIDENCED BY A LEGAL OPINION OF COUNSEL TO THE TRANSFEROR OR THE MAKER TO SUCH EFFECT, THE
SUBSTANCE OF WHICH SHALL BE REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE COMPANY.”
5.9
Exclusive Jurisdiction; Venue. Any action, proceeding or claim arising out of, or relating in any way to, this Agreement shall
be brought and enforced only as provided in the Purchase Agreement.
5.10
Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver. No failure or delay on the part of the Holder in the exercise of any power, right or
privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude
other or further exercise thereof or of any other right, power or privilege.
5.11
Maker Waivers. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Maker and all others that may become liable for all or
any part of the obligations evidenced by this Note, hereby waive presentment, demand, notice of nonpayment, protest and all other demands’
and notices in connection with the delivery, acceptance, performance and enforcement of this Note, and do hereby consent to any number of
renewals of extensions of the time or payment hereof and agree that any such renewals or extensions may be made without notice to any such
persons and without affecting their liability herein and do further consent to the release of any person liable hereon, all without affecting the
liability of the other persons, firms or Maker liable for the payment of this Note, and do hereby waive the right to a trial by jury.
5.12
Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement. For
the purposes hereof, the following terms shall have the following meanings.
(a)
“Additional Note” means the $5,000,000 Note the Maker is required to issue the Holder upon the Holder lending the
Maker an additional $4,545,454 as required by Section 2.1(c ) of the Purchase Agreement and in an amount reflected on the Holder’s signature
page to the Purchase Agreement and subject to its conditions.
(b)
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such Person, it being understood for purposes of this definition that “control” of a Person means the power
directly or indirectly either to vote 10% or more of the stock having ordinary voting power for the election of directors of such Person or direct
or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by contract or otherwise.

(c)
“Attribution Parties” means, collectively, the following Persons and entities: (i) any investment vehicle, including, any
funds, feeder funds or managed accounts, currently, or from time to time after the Issuance Date, directly or indirectly managed or advised by
the Holder’s investment manager or any of its Affiliates or principals, (ii) any direct or indirect Affiliates of the Holder or any of the foregoing,
(iii) any Person acting or who could be deemed to be acting as a Group together with the Holder or any of the foregoing and (iv) any other
Persons whose beneficial ownership of the Company’s Common Stock would or could be aggregated with the Holder’s and the other
Attribution Parties for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. For clarity, the purpose of the foregoing is to subject collectively the
Holder and all other Attribution Parties to the Maximum Percentage.
(d)
“Amortization Conversion Price” means a 7% discount to the lowest Selected VWAP over the 10 Trading Days
immediately preceding the applicable Payment Date or other date of determinization.
(e)
“Change of Control” means any Fundamental Transaction other than (i) any merger of the Company or any of its,
direct or indirect, wholly-owned Subsidiaries with or into any of the foregoing Persons, (ii) any reorganization, recapitalization or
reclassification of the shares of Common Stock in which holders of the Company’s voting power immediately prior to such reorganization,
recapitalization or reclassification continue after such reorganization, recapitalization or reclassification to hold publicly traded securities and,
directly or indirectly, are, in all material respects, the holders of the voting power of the surviving entity (or entities with the authority or
voting power to elect the members of the board of directors (or their equivalent if other than a corporation) of such entity or entities) after such
reorganization, recapitalization or reclassification, or (iii) pursuant to a migratory merger effected solely for the purpose of changing the
jurisdiction of incorporation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
(f)

“COC Repayment Price” has the meaning contained in Section 3.6(a).

(g)

“Conversion Amount” has the meaning contained in Section 3.1(a).

(h)

“Conversion Date” has the meaning contained in Section 3.1(a).

(i)

“Conversion Failure” has the meaning contained in Section 3.2(c).

(j)

“Conversion Notice” has the meaning contained in Section 3.1(a).

(k)

“Conversion Price” has the meaning contained in Section 3.1(b).

(l)
“Conversion Shares” has the meaning contained in Section 3.2(a). In this Note, the use of Common Stock shall also
refer to Conversion shares unless otherwise apparent form the context.

(m)
(n)

“Convertible Securities” has the meaning contained in Section 3.4(v).
“Default Conversion Price” means the lower of (i) the Conversion Price, as adjusted, or (ii) 0.80 times the Market

Price.
(o)

“Default Interest Payment Date” has the meaning contained in Section 1.2(c).

(p)

“DTC” has the meaning contained in Section 3.2(a).

(q)

“Equity Conditions” shall having the meaning as defined by the Purchase Agreement.

(r)
“Equity Interests” means any security other than Common Stock which is registered under Section 12(b) or 12(g)
under the Exchange Act.
(s)

“Exchange Act” means the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations

thereunder.
(t)
“Fundamental Transaction” means (A) that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, including through subsidiaries,
Affiliates or otherwise, in one or more related transactions, (i) consolidate or merge with or into (whether or not the Company is the surviving
corporation) another Subject Entity, or (ii) sell, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the properties or
assets of the Company or any of its “significant subsidiaries” (as defined in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X) to one or more Subject Entities, or
(iii) make, or allow one or more Subject Entities to make, or allow the Company to be subject to or have its Common Stock be subject to or
party to one or more Subject Entities making, a purchase, tender or exchange offer that is accepted by the holders of at least either (x) 50% of
the outstanding shares of Common Stock, (y) 50% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock calculated as if any shares of Common Stock
held by all Subject Entities making or party to, or Affiliated with any Subject Entities making or party to, such purchase, tender or exchange
offer were not outstanding; or (z) such number of shares of Common Stock such that all Subject Entities making or party to, or Affiliated with
any Subject Entity making or party to, such purchase, tender or exchange offer, become collectively the beneficial owners (as defined in Rule
13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, or (iv) consummate a stock or share purchase
agreement or other business combination (including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off or scheme of arrangement)
with one or more Subject Entities whereby all such Subject Entities, individually or in the aggregate, acquire, either (x) at least 50% of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock, (y) at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock calculated as if any shares of Common
Stock held by all the Subject Entities making or party to, or Affiliated with any Subject Entity making or party to, such stock purchase
agreement or other business combination were not outstanding; or (z) such number of shares of Common Stock such that the Subject Entities
become collectively the beneficial owners (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of at least 50% of the outstanding shares of
Common Stock, or (v) reorganize, recapitalize or reclassify its Common Stock, (B) that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, including
through subsidiaries, Affiliates or otherwise, in one or more related transactions, allow any Subject Entity individually or the Subject Entities
in the aggregate to be or become the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, whether
through acquisition, purchase, assignment, conveyance, tender, tender offer, exchange, reduction in outstanding shares of Common Stock,
merger, consolidation, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off, scheme of arrangement, reorganization, recapitalization
or reclassification or otherwise in any manner whatsoever, of either (x) at least 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by
issued and outstanding Common Stock, (y) at least 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by issued and outstanding
Common Stock not held by all such Subject Entities as of the date of this Note calculated as if any shares of Common Stock held by all such
Subject Entities were not outstanding, or (z) a percentage of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by issued and outstanding shares
of Common Stock or other equity securities of the Company sufficient to allow such Subject Entities to effect a statutory short form merger or
other transaction requiring other shareholders of the Company to surrender their shares of Common Stock without approval of the shareholders
of the Company or (C) directly or indirectly, including through subsidiaries, Affiliates or otherwise, in one or more related transactions, the
issuance of or the entering into any other instrument or transaction structured in a manner to circumvent, or that circumvents, the intent of this
definition in which case this definition shall be construed and implemented in a manner otherwise than in strict conformity with the terms of
this definition to the extent necessary to correct this definition or any portion of this definition which may be defective or inconsistent with the
intended treatment of such instrument or transaction.

(u)

“Group” means a “group” as that term is used in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and as defined in Rule 13d-5

thereunder.
(v)

“Guarantor” refers to each Subsidiary of the Company including SpringBig, Inc.

(w)

“Inability to Fully Convert Notice” has the meaning contained in Section 3.6(b).

(x)
“Indebtedness” means: (a) all obligations for borrowed money; (b) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures,
notes, or other similar instruments and all reimbursement or other obligations in respect of letters of credit, bankers acceptances, current swap
agreements, interest rate hedging agreements, interest rate swaps, or other financial products; (c) all obligations or liabilities secured by a lien
or encumbrance on any asset of the Maker, irrespective of whether such obligation or liability is assumed; and (d) any obligation guaranteeing
or intended to guarantee (whether directly or indirectly guaranteed, endorsed, co-made, discounted or sold with recourse) any of the foregoing
obligations of any other person.
(y)

“Interest” has the meaning contained in Section 1.2(a).

(z)

“Liens” has the meaning contained in Section 4.1(c).

(aa)
“Mandatory Default Amount” means an amount equal to 115% of the outstanding Principal Amount of this Note on
the date on which the first Event of Default has occurred hereunder.
(bb)

“Mandatory Prepayment” and “Mandatory Prepayment Price” have the meaning contained in Section 3.6(a)(ii).

(cc)
“Market Price” means the Selected VWAP of the Common Stock on the principal Trading Market for the 10
consecutive Trading Days ending on the Trading Day that is immediately prior to the applicable date of determination.
(dd)

“Maturity Date” has the meaning contained on page 1 of this Note and is 24 months after the Original Issuance Date.

(ee)

“Maximum Percentage” has the meaning contained in Section 3.3.

(ff)

“Monthly Conversion Period” refers to the 10-day period used in the definition of Amortization Conversion Price. .

(gg)

“Monthly Conversion Price” has the meaning contained in Section 1.3(d).

(hh)

“Monthly Payment” has the meaning contained in Section 1.3(a).

(ii)

“Monthly Payment Adjustment Notice” has the meaning contained in Section 1.3.

(jj)

“Monthly Payment Notice” has the meaning contained in Section 1.3(d).

(kk)

“Note” means this Senior Secured Original Issue Discount Convertible Promissory Note;

(ll)

“Notice in Response to Inability to Convert” has the meaning contained in Section 3.6(b).

(mm)

“Notice of Change of Control” has the meaning contained in Section 3.6(a).

(nn)

“Notice of Prepayment at Option of Holder Upon Change of Control” has the meaning contained in Section 3.6(a).

(oo)

“Other Notes” has the meaning contained in Section 1.10.

(pp)

“Payment Date” has the meaning contained in Section 1.3(a).

(qq)
“Permitted Indebtedness” means (i) Indebtedness evidenced by this Note, the Other Notes, the Additional Notes when
issued, (ii) capitalized leases and purchase money security interests for purchases of equipment and assets used in the business in the ordinary
course of business, and (iii) working capital credit line in an amount not to exceed $1,000,000 outstanding at any time.

(rr)
“Permitted Liens” means (i) any lien for taxes not yet due or delinquent or being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (ii) any statutory Lien arising in the
ordinary course of business by operation of law with respect to a liability that is not yet due or delinquent, (iii) any Lien created by operation
of law, such as materialmen’s Liens, mechanics’ Liens and other similar Liens, arising in the ordinary course of business with respect to a
liability that is not yet due or delinquent or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (iv) Liens securing Permitted
Indebtedness, and (v) incurred in connection with the extension, renewal or refinancing of the Indebtedness secured by Liens of the type
described in clause (iv) above, provided that any extension, renewal or replacement Lien shall be limited to the property encumbered by the
existing Lien and the principal amount of the Indebtedness being extended, renewed or refinanced does not increase, (vi) Liens in favor of
customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payments of custom duties in connection with the importation of goods,
and (vii) Liens arising from judgments, decrees or attachments in circumstances not constituting an Event of Default under this Note.
(ss)

“Pricing Period” means the 10 Trading Days following the cure of an Event of Default as permitted by this Note.

(tt)

“Purchase Agreement” has the meaning contained in Section 1.1

(uu)

“Principal” means $11,000,000.

(vv)

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or the successor thereto.

(ww)

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

(xx)

“Selected VWAP” means an actual daily VWAP selected by the Holder during any period of ten consecutive trading

(yy)

“Share Delivery Date” has the meaning contained in Section 3.2(a).

(zz)

“Standard Settlement Period” has the meaning contained in Section 2.1(e).

(aaa)

“Trading Day” means a day on which the Common Stock are traded on a Trading Market for at least 4.5 hours.

days.

(bbb)
Trading Market” means any of the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE American, the Nasdaq Capital Market, the
Nasdaq Global Select Market, or the Nasdaq Global Market, or any successors of any of these exchanges on which the Common Stock is
listed.
(ccc)

“Variable Rate Transactions” has the meaning contained in the Purchase Agreement.

(ddd)
“VWAP” means, for any date, the price determined by the first of the following clauses that applies: (a) if the
Common Stock are then listed or quoted on a Trading Market, the daily volume weighted average price of the Common Stock for such date (or
the nearest preceding date) on the Trading Market on which the Common Stock are then listed or quoted as reported by Bloomberg L.P. (based
on a Trading Day from 9:30 a.m. (New York City time) to 4:02 p.m. (New York City time)), (b) if the Common Stock are traded on OTCQB or
OTCQX , the volume weighted average sales price of the Common Stock for such date (or the nearest preceding date) on OTCQB or OTCQX
as applicable, (c) if the Common Stock are not then listed or quoted for trading on OTCQB or OTCQX and if prices for the Common Stock are
then reported in the “Pink Open Market” or successor operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. (or a similar organization or agency succeeding to
its functions of reporting prices), the most recent bid price per share of the Common Stock so reported, or (d) in all other cases, the fair market
value of a share of Common Stock as determined by an independent broker-dealer selected in good faith by the Holder and reasonably
acceptable to the Company, the fees and expenses of which shall be paid by the Company.
[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Maker has caused this Note to be duly executed by its duly authorized officer as of the date first above
indicated.
SPRINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.
By: /s/ Paul Sykes
Name: Paul Sykes
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Signature Page to Note

EXHIBIT A
FORM OF CONVERSION NOTICE
(To be Executed by the Holder in order to Convert the Note)
The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to convert $ ________________ of the principal amount of the above Note No. ___ into shares
of Common Stock of SpringBig Holdings, Inc. (the “Maker”) according to the conditions hereof, as of the date written below.
Date of Conversion:
Conversion Amount:
Conversion Price:
Number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned or deemed beneficially owned by the Holder on the Conversion Date:
Number of shares of Common Stock to be issued:
[HOLDER]
By:
Name:
Title:
Address:

Exhibit A

Exhibit 4.2
NEITHER THIS SECURITY NOR THE SECURITIES FOR WHICH THIS SECURITY IS EXERCISABLE HAVE BEEN
REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY
STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO
AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS AS EVIDENCED BY A LEGAL
OPINION OF COUNSEL TO THE TRANSFEROR TO SUCH EFFECT, THE SUBSTANCE OF WHICH SHALL BE
REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO THE COMPANY. THIS SECURITY AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE
OF THIS SECURITY MAY BE PLEDGED IN CONNECTION WITH A BONA FIDE MARGIN ACCOUNT OR OTHER LOAN
SECURED BY SUCH SECURITIES.
COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT
SPRINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.
Initial Exercise Price: $12.00
Initial Exercise Date: June 14, 2022

Warrant Shares: 586,980

THIS COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT (the “Warrant”) certifies that, for value received, the holder identified on the signature
page hereto, or its assigns (the “Holder”) is entitled, upon the terms and subject to the limitations on exercise and the conditions hereinafter set
forth, to subscribe for and purchase from SpringBig Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), to 586,980 shares of Common
Stock (subject to adjustment hereunder, (the “Warrant Shares”) at any time on or after the date hereof (the “Initial Exercise Date”) and on or
prior to the close of business on the five year anniversary of the Initial Exercise Date (the “Termination Date”) but not thereafter.
The purchase price of one Warrant Share under this Warrant shall be equal to the Exercise Price, as defined in Section 2(b).
Section 1.
Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in that certain
Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated April 29, 2022, between the Company and the Holder.
Section 2.

Exercise.

(a)
Exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant may be made, in whole or in part, at any time or times on or after
the Initial Exercise Date and on or before the Termination Date by delivery to the Company (or such other office or agency of the Company as
it may designate by notice in writing to the registered Holder at the address of the Holder appearing on the books of the Company) of a duly
executed facsimile copy of the Notice of Exercise Form annexed hereto. Within the earlier of (i) two Trading Days following the date of
exercise as aforesaid or (ii) the Standard Settlement Period, the Holder shall deliver the aggregate Exercise Price for the shares specified in the
applicable Notice of Exercise by wire transfer or cashier’s check drawn on a United States bank unless the cashless exercise procedure
specified in Section 2(c) below is specified in the applicable Notice of Exercise. In the event that the Holder is required to make any payments
to the Company’s stock transfer agent in connection with its exercise of this Warrant resulting from any failure of the Company to pay the
transfer agent, the Holder may deduct such sums it pays the transfer agent from the total Exercise Price due. Notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary (although the Holder may surrender the Warrant to, and receive a replacement Warrant from, the Company), the Holder shall
not be required to physically surrender this Warrant to the Company until the Holder has purchased all of the Warrant Shares available
hereunder and the Warrant has been exercised in full, in which case, the Holder shall surrender this Warrant to the Company for cancellation
within five Trading Days of the date the final Notice of Exercise is delivered to the Company. Partial exercises of this Warrant resulting in
purchases of a portion of the total number of Warrant Shares available hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the outstanding number of
Warrant Shares purchasable hereunder in an amount equal to the applicable number of Warrant Shares purchased. The Holder and the
Company shall maintain records showing the number of Warrant Shares purchased and the date of such purchases. The Company shall deliver
any objection to any Notice of Exercise Form within one Trading Day of delivery of such notice. The Holder by acceptance of this Warrant,
acknowledges and agrees that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph, following the purchase of a portion of the Warrant Shares
hereunder, the number of Warrant Shares available for purchase hereunder at any given time may be less than the amount stated on the face
hereof.
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(b)
Exercise Price. The initial exercise price per share of the Common Stock under this Warrant shall be equal to $12.00 per
share, subject to adjustment under Section 3 (the “Exercise Price”).
(c)
Cashless Exercise. If at any time after the six months anniversary of the Initial Exercise Date, there is no effective
Registration Statement covering the resale of the Warrant Shares by the Holder, then this Warrant may also be exercised at the Holder’s
election, in whole or in part and in lieu of making the cash payment otherwise contemplated to be made to the Company upon such exercise, at
such time by means of a “cashless exercise” in which the Holder shall be entitled to receive a number of Warrant Shares equal to the number
obtained by dividing [(A x B) – (A x C)] by (D), where:
(A)

=

the number of Warrant Shares that would be issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in accordance with the terms of this Warrant if such exercise
were by means of a cash exercise rather than a cashless exercise;

(B)

=

the greater of (i) the arithmetic average of the VWAPs (as defined in the Notes or Additional Notes, as applicable) for the five consecutive Trading
Days ending on the date immediately preceding the date on which the Holder elects to exercise this Warrant by means of a “cashless exercise,” as
set forth in the applicable Notice of Exercise or (ii) the VWAP for the Trading Day immediately prior to the date on which the Holder makes such
“cashless exercise” election;
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(C)

=

the Exercise Price of this Warrant, as adjusted hereunder, at the time of such exercise; and

(D)

=

the lesser of (i) the arithmetic average of the VWAPs for the five consecutive Trading Days ending on the date immediately preceding the date on
which the Holder elects to exercise this Warrant by means of a “cashless exercise,” as set forth in the applicable Notice of Exercise or (ii) the
VWAP for the Trading Day immediately prior to the date on which the Holder makes such “cashless exercise” election.

If Warrant Shares are issued in such a cashless exercise, the parties acknowledge and agree that in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the “Securities Act”), the Warrant
Shares shall take on the characteristics of the Warrants being exercised, and the holding period of the Warrants being exercised may be tacked
on to the holding period of the Warrant Shares. The Company agrees not to take any position contrary to this Section 2(c).
For avoidance of doubt, the phrase “effective Registration Statement” means (i) a registration statement covering the sale of the
Warrant Shares has been declared effective by the SEC, has not been withdrawn and is not subject to a stop order issued by the SEC, and (ii)
the Prospectus contained in such registration statement complies with Sections 5(b) and 10 of the Securities Act.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if on the Termination Date (unless the Holder notifies the Company otherwise) if there
is no effective Registration Statement covering the resale of the Warrant Shares by the Holder, then this Warrant shall be automatically
exercised via cashless exercise pursuant to this Section 2(c).
(d)

Mechanics of Exercise.

(i)
Delivery of Certificates Upon Exercise. Certificates for shares purchased hereunder shall be transmitted to the Holder
by the Transfer Agent by crediting the account of the Holder’s prime broker with The Depository Trust Company through its Deposit or
Withdrawal at Custodian system (“DWAC”) if the Company is then a participant in such system and (A) there is an effective Registration
Statement covering the sale of the Warrant Shares by the Holder, or (B) or (B) this Warrant is being exercised via cashless exercise and Rule
144 under the Securities Act is available or otherwise by physical delivery to the address specified by the Holder in the Notice of Exercise by
the date that is two Trading Days after the latest of (A) the delivery to the Company of the Notice of Exercise and (B) payment of the
aggregate Exercise Price as set forth above (unless by cashless exercise, if permitted) (such date, the “Warrant Share Delivery Date”). The
Warrant Shares shall be deemed to have been issued, and Holder or any other person so designated to be named therein shall be deemed to
have become a holder of record of such shares for all purposes, as of the date the Warrant has been exercised, with payment to the Company of
the Exercise Price (unless by cashless exercise, if permitted) and all taxes required to be paid by the Holder, if any, pursuant to Section 2(d)(vi)
prior to the issuance of such shares, having been paid. The Company understands that a delay in the delivery of the Warrant Shares after the
Warrant Share Delivery Date could result in economic loss to the Holder. As compensation to the Holder for such loss, the Company agrees to
pay (as liquidated damages and not as a penalty) to the Holder for late issuance of Warrant Shares upon exercise of this Warrant the
proportionate amount of $10 per Trading Day (increasing to $20 per Trading Day after the fifth Trading Day) after the Warrant Share Delivery
Date for each $1,000 of the value of the Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is exercised (based on the Exercise Price) which are not timely
delivered. The Company shall pay any payment incurred under this Section 2(d)(i) in immediately available funds upon demand.
Furthermore, in addition to any other remedies which may be available to the Holder, in the event that the Company fails for any reason to
effect delivery of the Warrant Shares by the Warrant Share Delivery Date, the Holder may revoke all or part of the relevant Warrant exercise
by delivery of a notice to such effect to the Company, whereupon the Company and the Holder shall each be restored to their respective
positions immediately prior to the exercise of the relevant portion of this Warrant except that the liquidated damages described above shall be
payable through the date notice of revocation or rescission is given to the Company or the date the Warrant Shares are delivered to the Holder,
whichever date is earlier.
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(ii)
Delivery of New Warrants Upon Exercise. If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall not
require the Holder to surrender this Warrant as a condition of exercise. If the Holder requests a new Warrant it shall surrender this Warrant, and
the Company shall deliver to the Holder a new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to purchase the unpurchased Warrant Shares called
for by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other respects be identical to this Warrant.
(iii)
Rescission Rights. If the Company fails to deliver the Warrant Shares or cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the
Holder a certificate or the certificates representing the Warrant Shares pursuant to Section 2(d)(i) by the Warrant Share Delivery Date, then the
Holder will have the right, at any time prior to issuance of such Warrant Shares, to rescind such exercise.
(iv)
Compensation for Buy-In on Failure to Timely Deliver Certificates Upon Exercise. In addition to any other rights
available to the Holder, if the Company fails to deliver the Warrant Shares, or cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder a certificate
or the certificates representing the Warrant Shares pursuant to an exercise on or before the Warrant Share Delivery Date, and if after such date
the Holder is required by its broker to purchase (in an open market transaction or otherwise) or the Holder’s brokerage firm otherwise
purchases, shares of Common Stock to deliver in satisfaction of a sale by the Holder of the Warrant Shares which the Holder anticipated
receiving upon such exercise (a “Buy-In”), then the Company shall (A) pay in cash to the Holder the amount, if any, by which (x) the Holder’s
total purchase price (including brokerage commissions, if any) for the shares of Common Stock so purchased exceeds (y) the amount obtained
by multiplying (1) the number of Warrant Shares that the Company was required to deliver to the Holder in connection with the exercise at
issue by (2) the price at which the sell order giving rise to such purchase obligation was executed, and (B) at the option of the Holder, either
reinstate the portion of the Warrant and equivalent number of Warrant Shares for which such exercise was not honored (in which case such
exercise shall be deemed rescinded) or deliver to the Holder the number of shares of Common Stock that would have been issued had the
Company timely complied with its exercise and delivery obligations hereunder. For example, if the Holder purchases Common Stock having a
total purchase price of $11,000 to cover a Buy-In with respect to an attempted exercise of shares of Common Stock with an aggregate sale
price giving rise to such purchase obligation of $10,000, under clause (A) of the immediately preceding sentence the Company shall be
required to pay the Holder $1,000. The Holder shall provide the Company written notice indicating the amounts payable to the Holder in
respect of the Buy-In and, upon written request of the Company, evidence of the amount of such loss. Nothing herein shall limit a Holder’s
right to pursue any other remedies available to it hereunder, at law or in equity including, without limitation, a decree of specific performance
and/or injunctive relief with respect to the Company’s failure to timely deliver certificates representing shares of Common Stock upon exercise
of the Warrant as required pursuant to the terms hereof.
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(v)
No Fractional Shares or Scrip. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon the
exercise of this Warrant. As to any fraction of a share which the Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such exercise, the
Company shall, at its election, either pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by
the Exercise Price or round up to the next whole share.
(vi)
Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of certificates for Warrant Shares shall be made without charge to the Holder
for any issue or transfer tax or other incidental expense in respect of the issuance of such certificate including any charges (limited to $100 per
issuance) of any clearing firm, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company, and such certificates shall be issued in the name
of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by the Holder; provided, however, that in the event certificates for Warrant Shares
are to be issued in a name other than the name of the Holder, this Warrant when surrendered for exercise shall be accompanied by the
Assignment Form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder and the Company may require, as a condition thereto, the payment of a sum
sufficient to reimburse it for any transfer tax incidental thereto. The Company shall pay all Transfer Agent fees required for same-day
processing of any Notice of Exercise.
(vii)
Closing of Books. The Company will not close its stockholder books or records in any manner which prevents the
timely exercise of this Warrant, pursuant to the terms hereof.
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(e)
Holder’s Exercise Limitations. The Company shall not effect the exercise of any portion of this Warrant, and the Holder
shall not have the right to exercise any portion of this Warrant, pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Warrant and any such exercise shall
be null and void and treated as if never made, to the extent that after giving effect to such exercise, the Holder together with the other
Attribution Parties (as defined in the Note) collectively would beneficially own in excess of 4.99% (the “Maximum Percentage”) of the shares
of Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, the aggregate number
of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the Holder and the other Attribution Parties shall include the number of shares of Common
Stock held by the Holder and all other Attribution Parties plus the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this Warrant
with respect to which the determination of such sentence is being made, but shall exclude shares of Common Stock which would be issuable
upon (A) exercise of the remaining, unexercised portion of this Warrant beneficially owned by the Holder or any of the other Attribution
Parties and (B) exercise or conversion of the unexercised or unconverted portion of any other securities of the Company (including, without
limitation, any convertible notes or convertible preferred stock or warrants, including other SPA Warrants) beneficially owned by the Holder or
any other Attribution Party subject to a limitation on conversion or exercise analogous to the limitation contained in this Section 1(f)(i). For
purposes of this Section 1(f)(i), beneficial ownership shall be calculated in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the “Exchange Act”). For purposes of determining the
number of outstanding shares of Common Stock the Holder may acquire upon the exercise of this Warrant without exceeding the Maximum
Percentage, the Holder may rely on the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock as reflected in (x) the Company’s most recent Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Current Report on Form 8-K or other public filing with the SEC, as the case may be,
(y) a more recent public announcement by the Company or (z) any other written notice by the Company or the Transfer Agent, if any, setting
forth the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding (the “Reported Outstanding Share Number”). If the Company receives an Exercise
Notice from the Holder at a time when the actual number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is less than the Reported Outstanding Share
Number, the Company shall (i) notify the Holder in writing of the number of shares of Common Stock then outstanding and, to the extent that
such Exercise Notice would otherwise cause the Holder’s beneficial ownership, as determined pursuant to this Section 1(f)(i), to exceed the
Maximum Percentage, the Holder must notify the Company of a reduced number of Warrant Shares to be acquired pursuant to such Exercise
Notice (the number of shares by which such purchase is reduced, the “Reduction Shares”) and (ii) as soon as reasonably practicable, the
Company shall return to the Holder any exercise price paid by the Holder for the Reduction Shares. For any reason at any time, upon the
written or oral request of the Holder, the Company shall within one (1) Business Day confirm orally and in writing or by electronic mail to the
Holder the number of shares of Common Stock then outstanding. In any case, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be
determined after giving effect to the conversion or exercise of securities of the Company, including this Warrant, by the Holder and any other
Attribution Party since the date as of which the Reported Outstanding Share Number was reported. In the event that the issuance of shares of
Common Stock to the Holder upon exercise of this Warrant results in the Holder and the other Attribution Parties being deemed to beneficially
own, in the aggregate, more than the Maximum Percentage of the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock (as determined under
Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act), the number of shares so issued by which the Holder’s and the other Attribution Parties’ aggregate
beneficial ownership exceeds the Maximum Percentage (the “Excess Shares”) shall be deemed null and void and shall be cancelled ab initio,
and the Holder shall not have the power to vote or to transfer the Excess Shares. As soon as reasonably practicable after the issuance of the
Excess Shares has been deemed null and void, the Company shall return to the Holder the exercise price paid by the Holder for the Excess
Shares. Upon delivery of a written notice to the Company, the Holder may from time to time increase (with such increase not effective until
the sixty-first (61st) day after delivery of such notice) or decrease the Maximum Percentage to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99% as
specified in such notice; provided that (i) any such increase in the Maximum Percentage will not be effective until the sixty-first (61st) day
after such notice is delivered to the Company and (ii) any such increase or decrease will apply only to the Holder and the other Attribution
Parties and not to any other holder of SPA Warrants that is not an Attribution Party of the Holder. For purposes of clarity, the shares of
Common Stock issuable pursuant to the terms of this Warrant in excess of the Maximum Percentage shall not be deemed to be beneficially
owned by the Holder for any purpose including for purposes of Section 13(d) or Rule 16a-1(a)(1) of the Exchange Act. No prior inability to
exercise this Warrant pursuant to this paragraph shall have any effect on the applicability of the provisions of this paragraph with respect to
any subsequent determination of exercisability. The provisions of this paragraph shall be construed and implemented in a manner otherwise
than in strict conformity with the terms of this Section 1(f)(i) to the extent necessary to correct this paragraph or any portion of this paragraph
which may be defective or inconsistent with the intended beneficial ownership limitation contained in this Section 1(f)(i) or to make changes
or supplements necessary or desirable to properly give effect to such limitation. The limitation contained in this paragraph may not be waived
and shall apply to a successor holder of this Warrant.
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Section 3.

Certain Adjustments.

(a)
Stock Dividends and Splits. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding: (i) pays a stock dividend or
otherwise makes a distribution or distributions on shares of its Common Stock or any other equity or equity equivalent securities payable in
shares of Common Stock (which, for avoidance of doubt, shall not include any shares of Common Stock issued by the Company upon exercise
of this Warrant or pursuant to any of the other Transaction Documents), (ii) subdivides outstanding shares of Common Stock into a larger
number of shares, (iii) combines (including by way of reverse stock split) outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of
shares, or (iv) issues by reclassification of shares of the Common Stock any shares of capital stock of the Company, then in each case the
Exercise Price shall be multiplied by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock (excluding treasury
shares, if any) outstanding immediately before such event and of which the denominator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding immediately after such event, and the number of shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be proportionately adjusted
such that the aggregate Exercise Price of this Warrant shall remain unchanged. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 3(a) shall
become effective immediately after the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and
shall become effective immediately after the effective date in the case of a subdivision, combination or re‑classification.
(b)
Adjustments for Issuance of Additional Securities. If the Company at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, issues or
sells any additional shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents (hereafter defined) (“Additional Shares of Common Stock”) in a
transaction other than in an Exempt Issuance (as defined in the Agreement), at a price per share less than the Exercise Price then in effect or
without consideration (a “Dilutive Issuance” based on a “Dilutive Issuance Price”), then the Exercise Price upon each such issuance shall be
reduced to an amount equal to the Dilutive Issuance Price.
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In case any Common Stock Equivalent is issued in connection with the issue or sale of other securities of the Company, together
comprising one integrated transaction, (x) the Common Stock Equivalents (except for indebtedness) will be deemed to have been issued for
the par value of the Common Stock and (y) the other securities issued or sold in such integrated transaction shall be deemed to have been
issued or sold for the difference of (I) the aggregate consideration received by the Company less any consideration paid or payable by the
Company pursuant to the terms of such other securities of the Company, less (II) the par value. Any indebtedness shall be valued at the
principal less any original issue discount. If multiple shares of Common Stock are contained in a unit, the aggregate consideration shall be
divided by the number of shares of Common Stock in a unit. If any shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents are issued or sold
or deemed to have been issued or sold for cash, the amount of such consideration received by the Company will be deemed to be the net
amount received by the Company therefor. If any shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents are issued or sold for a
consideration other than cash, the amount of such consideration received by the Company will be the fair value of such consideration, except
where such consideration consists of publicly traded securities, in which case the amount of consideration received by the Company will be
the VWAP of such public traded securities on the date of receipt. If any shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents are issued to
the owners of the non-surviving entity in connection with any merger in which the Company is the surviving entity, the amount of
consideration therefor will be deemed to be the fair value of such portion of the net assets and business of the non-surviving entity as is
attributable to such shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents, as the case may be.
The provisions of this Section 3(b) shall apply each time the Company, at any time after the Initial Exercise Date and while this
Warrant is outstanding, shall issue any securities with a Dilutive Issuance Price. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustment shall be made
pursuant to this Section 3(b) with respect to an Exempt Issuance (as defined in the Agreement).
(c)
Adjustment upon Event of Default. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default (as defined in the
Note), the Holder may, at the Holder’s option, elect to reduce the Exercise Price to the Default Conversion Price (as defined in the Note). Such
election by the Holder shall not remain in effect upon the Company’s cure of such Event of Default provided, however, that any exercise of
this Warrant at the Default Conversion Price during the continuance of such Event of Default shall continue to apply after the occurrence of
such Event of Default through and including the date of such cure of such Event of Default. The Company shall give the Holder prompt
written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default.
(d)
Subsequent Rights Offerings. In addition to any adjustments pursuant to Section 3(a) above, if at any time the Company
grants, issues or sells any Common Stock Equivalents or rights to purchase stock, warrants, securities or other property pro rata to the record
holders of any class of shares of Common Stock (the “Purchase Rights”), then the Holder will be entitled to acquire, upon the terms applicable
to such Purchase Rights, the aggregate Purchase Rights which the Holder could have acquired if the Holder had held the number of shares of
Common Stock acquirable upon complete exercise of this Warrant (without regard to any limitations on exercise hereof, including without
limitation, the Beneficial Ownership Limitation) immediately before the date on which a record is taken for the grant, issuance or sale of such
Purchase Rights, or, if no such record is taken, the date as of which the record holders of shares of Common Stock are to be determined for the
grant, issue or sale of such Purchase Rights (provided, however, to the extent that the Holder’s right to participate in any such Purchase Right
would result in the Holder exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation, then the Holder shall not be entitled to participate in such Purchase
Right to such extent (or beneficial ownership of such shares of Common Stock as a result of such Purchase Right to such extent) and such
Purchase Right to such extent shall be held in abeyance for the Holder until such time, if ever, as its right thereto would not result in the Holder
exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation). Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Purchase Rights will be made under this Section 3(d) in
respect of an Exempt Issuance (as defined in the Agreement).
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(e)
Pro Rata Distributions. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, shall distribute to all holders of
Common Stock (and not to the Holder) evidences of its indebtedness or assets (including cash and cash dividends) or rights or warrants to
subscribe for or purchase any security other than the Common Stock (which shall be subject to Section 3(d)), then in each such case the
Exercise Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the record date fixed for determination of
stockholders entitled to receive such distribution by a fraction of which the denominator shall be the VWAP determined as of the record date
mentioned above, and of which the numerator shall be such VWAP on such record date less the then per share fair market value at such record
date of the portion of such assets or evidence of indebtedness so distributed applicable to one outstanding share of the Common Stock as
determined by the Board of Directors in good faith. In either case the adjustments shall be described in a statement provided to the Holder of
the portion of assets or evidences of indebtedness so distributed or such subscription rights applicable to one share of Common Stock. Such
adjustment shall be made whenever any such distribution is made and shall become effective immediately after the record date mentioned
above.
(f)

Fundamental Transaction.

(i)
If, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding the Company enters into a Fundamental Transaction (as defined in the
Note), then, upon any subsequent exercise of this Warrant, the Holder shall have the right to receive, for each Warrant Share that would have
been issuable upon such exercise immediately prior to the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction (without regard to any limitation on
the exercise of this Warrant), at the option of the Holder the number of shares of Common Stock of the successor or acquiring corporation or
of the Company, if it is the surviving corporation, and any additional consideration (the “Alternate Consideration”) receivable as a result of
such Fundamental Transaction by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is exercisable immediately prior
to such Fundamental Transaction (without regard to any limitation on the exercise of this Warrant). For purposes of any such exercise, the
determination of the Exercise Price shall be appropriately adjusted to apply to such Alternate Consideration based on the amount of Alternate
Consideration issuable in respect of one share of Common Stock in such Fundamental Transaction, and the Company shall apportion the
Exercise Price among the Alternate Consideration in a reasonable manner reflecting the relative value of any different components of the
Alternate Consideration. If holders of Common Stock are given any choice as to the securities, cash or property to be received in a
Fundamental Transaction, then the Holder shall be given the same choice as to the Alternate Consideration it receives upon any exercise of this
Warrant following such Fundamental Transaction. The Company shall not effect a Fundamental Transaction unless it gives the Holder at least
5 Trading Days’ prior notice together with sufficient details so the Holder can make an informed decision as to whether it elects to accept the
Alternative Consideration and such Holder shall not share such non-public information nor trade on it until it is made public by the Company.
Within two Trading Days after the Holder has been given such notice (or such later date as may be contemplated or required by the definitive
agreements with respect to which such Fundamental Transaction will be consummated), the Company shall file a Form 8-K disclosing all
material information about the Fundamental Transaction which has been given to the Holder.
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(ii)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, in the event of a Fundamental Transaction where the Company or its
Successor does not remain a publicly-traded company, the Company or any Successor Entity (as defined below) shall, at the Holder’s option,
exercisable at any time concurrently with, or within 30 days after, the consummation of the Fundamental Transaction, purchase this Warrant
from the Holder by paying to the Holder an amount of cash equal to the positive difference between the cash per share paid in such
Fundamental Transaction minus the then in effect Exercise Price.
(iii)
If Section 3(f)(i) is not applicable, the Company shall cause any successor entity in a Fundamental Transaction in
which the Company is not the survivor (the “Successor Entity”) to assume in writing all of the obligations of the Company under this Warrant
and the other Transaction Documents in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3(f)(iii) pursuant to written agreements in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Holder and approved by the Holder (without unreasonable delay) prior to such Fundamental
Transaction and shall, at the option of the Holder, deliver to the Holder in exchange for this Warrant a security of the Successor Entity
evidenced by a written instrument substantially similar in form and substance to this Warrant which is exercisable for a corresponding number
of shares of capital stock of such Successor Entity (or its parent entity) equivalent to the shares of Common Stock acquirable and receivable
upon exercise of this Warrant prior to such Fundamental Transaction (without regard to any limitation on the exercise of this Warrant), and
with an exercise price which applies the then-current Exercise Price hereunder to such shares of capital stock (but taking into account the
relative value of the shares of Common Stock pursuant to such Fundamental Transaction and the value of such shares of capital stock, such
number of shares of capital stock and such exercise price being for the purpose of protecting the economic value of this Warrant immediately
prior to the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction), and which is reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Holder. Upon
the occurrence of any such Fundamental Transaction, the Successor Entity shall succeed to, and be substituted for (so that from and after the
date of such Fundamental Transaction, the provisions of this Warrant and the other Transaction Documents referring to the “Company” shall
refer instead to the Successor Entity), and may exercise every right and power of the Company and shall assume all of the obligations of the
Company under this Warrant and the other Transaction Documents with the same effect as if such Successor Entity had been named as the
Company herein.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustment shall be made pursuant to this Section 3(f) with respect to an Exempt Issuance (as
defined in the Agreement).
(g)
Calculations. All calculations under this Section 3 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the
case may be. For purposes of this Section 3, the number of shares of Common Stock deemed to be issued and outstanding as of a given date
shall be the sum of the number of shares of Common Stock (excluding treasury shares, if any) issued and outstanding.
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(h)

Notice to Holder.

(i)
Adjustment to Exercise Price. Whenever the Exercise Price is adjusted pursuant to any provision of this Section 3, the
Company shall promptly email to the Holder a notice setting forth the Exercise Price after such adjustment and any resulting adjustment to the
number of Warrant Shares and setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment. The Holder may supply an email address
to the Company and change such address.
(ii)
Notice to Allow Exercise by Holder. If (A) the Company shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution in
whatever form) on the Common Stock, (B) the Company shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of the
Common Stock, (C) the Company shall authorize the granting to all holders of the Common Stock rights or warrants to subscribe for or
purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any rights, (D) the approval of any stockholders of the Company shall be required in
connection with any reclassification of the Common Stock, any consolidation or merger to which the Company is a party, any sale or transfer
of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or any compulsory share exchange whereby the Common Stock is converted into other
securities, or (E) the Company shall authorize the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the
Company, then, in each case, the Company shall deliver to the Holder at its last address as it shall appear upon the Warrant Register of the
Company, at least 20 calendar days’ prior to the applicable record or effective date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the date on which
a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution, redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as
of which the holders of the Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distributions, redemption, rights or warrants are to be
determined or (y) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become
effective or close, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of the Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares
of the Common Stock for securities, cash or other property deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share
exchange; provided that the failure to email such notice or any defect therein or in the emailing thereof shall not affect the validity of the
corporate action required to be specified in such notice. To the extent that any notice provided hereunder constitutes, or contains, material,
non-public information regarding the Company or any of the Subsidiaries (as determined in good faith by the Company), the Company shall
simultaneously file such notice with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a Current Report on Form 8-K. The
Holder shall remain entitled to exercise this Warrant during the period commencing on the date of such notice to the effective date of the event
triggering such notice except as may otherwise be expressly set forth herein.
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Section 4.

Transfer of Warrant.

(a)
Transferability. Subject to compliance with any applicable securities laws and the provisions of the Agreement, this Warrant
and all rights hereunder (including, without limitation, any registration rights) are transferable, in whole or in part, upon surrender of this
Warrant at the principal office of the Company or its designated agent, together with a written assignment of this Warrant substantially in the
form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney and funds sufficient to pay any transfer taxes payable upon the
making of such transfer. Upon such surrender and, if required, such payment, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or
Warrants in the name of the assignee or assignees, as applicable, and in the denomination or denominations specified in such instrument of
assignment, and shall issue to the assignor a new Warrant evidencing the portion of this Warrant not so assigned, and this Warrant shall
promptly be cancelled. The Warrant, if properly assigned in accordance herewith, may be exercised by a new holder for the purchase of
Warrant Shares without having a new Warrant issued.
(b)
New Warrants. This Warrant may be divided or combined with other Warrants upon presentation hereof at the aforesaid
office of the Company, together with a written notice specifying the names and denominations in which new Warrants are to be issued, signed
by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Subject to compliance with Section 4(a), as to any transfer which may be involved in such division or
combination, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in exchange for the Warrant or Warrants to be divided or
combined in accordance with such notice. All Warrants issued on transfers or exchanges shall be dated the initial issuance date of this Warrant
and shall be identical with this Warrant except as to the number of Warrant Shares issuable pursuant thereto.
(c)
Warrant Register. The Company shall register this Warrant, upon records to be maintained by the Company for that purpose
(the “Warrant Register”), in the name of the record Holder hereof from time to time. The Company may deem and treat the registered Holder
of this Warrant as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of any exercise hereof or any distribution to the Holder, and for all other purposes,
absent actual notice to the contrary.
Section 5.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
No Rights as Stockholder Until Exercise. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting rights, dividends or other
rights as a stockholder of the Company prior to the exercise hereof other than as explicitly set forth in Section 3.
(b)
Loss, Theft, Destruction or Mutilation of Warrant. The Company covenants that upon receipt by the Company of evidence
reasonably satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant or any stock certificate relating to the Warrant Shares,
and upon surrender and cancellation of such Warrant or stock certificate, if mutilated, the Company will make and deliver a new Warrant or
stock certificate of like tenor and dated as of such cancellation, in lieu of such Warrant or stock certificate. In no event shall the Holder be
required to post a bond or other security.
(c)
Saturdays, Sundays, Holidays, etc. If the last or appointed day for the taking of any action or the expiration of any right
required or granted herein shall not be a Trading Day, then, such action may be taken or such right may be exercised on the next succeeding
Trading Day.
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(d)

Authorized Shares.

The Company covenants that during the period this Warrant is outstanding, it will comply with Section 4.9 of the Agreement with
respect to reserving the Warrant Shares, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 3.The Company further covenants that its issuance of this
Warrant shall constitute full authority to its officers who are charged with the duty of executing stock certificates to execute and issue the
necessary certificates for the Warrant Shares upon the exercise of the purchase rights under this Warrant. The Company will take all such
reasonable action as may be necessary to assure that such Warrant Shares may be issued as provided herein without violation of any applicable
law or regulation, or of any requirements of any Principal Market upon which the Common Stock may be listed. The Company covenants that
all Warrant Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant will, upon exercise of the
purchase rights represented by this Warrant and payment for such Warrant Shares in accordance herewith, be duly authorized, validly issued,
fully paid and non-assessable and free from all taxes, liens and charges created by the Company in respect of the issue thereof (other than taxes
in respect of any transfer occurring contemporaneously with such issue).
In addition to any other remedies provided by this Warrant or the Agreement, if the Company at any time fails to meet this reservation
of Common Stock requirement within 45 days after written notice from the Holder, it shall pay the Holder as partial liquidated damages and
not as a penalty a sum equal to $250 per day for each $100,000 of such Holder’s Subscription Amount (or the Subscription Amount of the
original Purchaser). The Company shall not enter into any agreement or file any amendment to its Articles of Incorporation (including the
filing of a Certificate of Designation) which conflicts with this Section 5(d) while the Notes (as defined in the Agreement) and Warrants
remain outstanding.
Except and to the extent waived or consented to by the Holder, the Company shall not by any action, including, without limitation,
amending its Certificate of Incorporation (or charter) or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue
or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant,
but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of all such actions as may be necessary or
appropriate to protect the rights of Holder as set forth in this Warrant against impairment. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Company will (i) not increase the par value of any Warrant Shares above the amount payable therefor upon such exercise immediately prior to
such increase in par value, (ii) take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may validly and legally issue
fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares upon the exercise of this Warrant and (iii) use best efforts to obtain all such authorizations,
exemptions or consents from any public regulatory body having jurisdiction thereof, as may be, necessary to enable the Company to perform
its obligations under this Warrant.
Before taking any action which would result in an adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is exercisable or
in the Exercise Price, the Company shall obtain all such authorizations or exemptions thereof, or consents thereto, as may be necessary from
any public regulatory body or bodies having jurisdiction thereof.
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(e)
Jurisdiction. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Warrant shall be
determined in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement.
(f)
Restrictions. The Holder acknowledges that the Warrant Shares acquired upon the exercise of this Warrant, if not registered
or if not exercised on a cashless basis when Rule 144 is available, will have restrictions upon resale imposed by state and federal securities
laws.
(g)
Non-waiver and Expenses. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of Holder
shall operate as a waiver of such right or otherwise prejudice the Holder’s rights, powers or remedies. Without limiting any other provision of
this Warrant or the other Transaction Documents, if the Company willfully and knowingly fails to comply with any provision of this Warrant,
which results in any material damages to the Holder, the Company shall pay to the Holder such amounts as shall be sufficient to cover any
costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by the Holder in
collecting any amounts due pursuant hereto or in otherwise enforcing any of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.
(h)
Notices. Any notice, request or other document required or permitted to be given or delivered to the Holder by the Company
shall be delivered in accordance with the notice provisions of the Agreement.
(i)
Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of any affirmative action by the Holder to exercise this Warrant to
purchase Warrant Shares, and no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of the Holder, shall give rise to any liability of the Holder for
the purchase price of any Common Stock or as a stockholder of the Company, whether such liability is asserted by the Company or by
creditors of the Company.
(j)
Remedies. The Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law, including recovery of damages, will
be entitled to specific performance of its rights under this Warrant. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate
compensation for any loss incurred by reason of a breach by it of the provisions of this Warrant and hereby agrees to waive and not to assert
the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate or that there is no irreparable harm and not to
require the posting of a bond or other security.
(k)
Successors and Assigns. Subject to applicable securities laws, this Warrant and the rights and obligations evidenced hereby
shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of the Company and the successors and permitted
assigns of Holder. The provisions of this Warrant are intended to be for the benefit of any Holder from time to time of this Warrant and shall
be enforceable by any Holder from time to time of this Warrant or any Warrant Shares.
(l)
Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions hereof waived with the written consent of the
Company and the Holder.
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(m)
Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and
valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provisions or the remaining provisions of
this Warrant.
(n)
Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be
deemed a part of this Warrant.
********************
(Signature Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date
first above indicated.
SPRINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.
By: /s/ Paul Sykes
Name: Paul Sykes
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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NOTICE OF EXERCISE
TO:

SPRINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.

(1)
The undersigned hereby elects to purchase ___________ Warrant Shares of the Company pursuant to the terms of the
attached Warrant (only if exercised in full), and tenders herewith payment of the exercise price in full, together with all applicable transfer
taxes, if any.
(2)

Payment shall take the form of (check applicable box):
[ ] in lawful money of the United States; or
[ ] if permitted the cancellation of such number of Warrant Shares as is necessary, in accordance with the formula set
forth in subsection 2(c), to exercise this Warrant with respect to the maximum number of Warrant Shares purchasable
pursuant to the cashless exercise procedure set forth in subsection 2(c).

(3)
Please issue a certificate or certificates representing said Warrant Shares in the name of the undersigned or in such
other name as is specified below:

(4)

After giving effect to this Notice of Exercise, the undersigned will not have exceeded the Beneficial Ownership

Limitation.
The Warrant Shares shall be delivered to the following DWAC Account Number or by physical delivery of a certificate to:

SIGNATURE OF HOLDER
Name of Investing Entity:
Signature of Authorized Signatory of Investing Entity:
Name of Authorized Signatory:
Title of Authorized Signatory:
Date:
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ASSIGNMENT FORM
(To assign the foregoing warrant, execute
this form and supply required information.
Do not use this form to exercise the warrant.)
SPINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, ____ all of or _______ shares of the foregoing Warrant and all rights evidenced thereby are
hereby assigned to
whose address is

Dated:
Holder’s Signature:
Holder’s Address:

Signature Guaranteed:

NOTE: The signature to this Assignment Form must correspond with the name as it appears on the face of the Warrant, without alteration or
enlargement or any change whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank or trust company. Officers of corporations and those acting in a
fiduciary or other representative capacity should file proper evidence of authority to assign the foregoing Warrant.
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Exhibit 10.1
SHARE ESCROW AGREEMENT
THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of June 14, 2022, by and among TCAC Sponsor, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Sponsor”), Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation, a Cayman Islands exempted company (which together with any successor, shall be referred to herein as
“Tuatara”) and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation (“Escrow Agent”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this
Agreement shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Merger Agreement (as defined below).

WHEREAS, Tuatara has entered into that certain Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated April 14, 2022, by and among
Tuatara, SpringBig, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Highjump Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation as amended by the amendment no.
1 to the Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 4, 2022 (as may be further amended from time to time, the
“Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, Tuatara shall redomesticate as a Delaware corporation and change its name to
SpringBig Holdings, Inc. in connection with the Closing;
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Sponsor and certain independent directors of Tuatara (each an “Tuatara Independent
Director”) have agreed to place into escrow an aggregate number of Common Stock of Tuatara (the “Escrow Shares”) as set forth on Schedule
I hereto;
WHEREAS, the Escrowed Shares shall be released upon satisfaction of the Sponsor Earnout Condition and if the Sponsor Earnout Condition
is not met after 36 months following the Closing Date, the Escrow Shares shall be terminated and canceled by Tuatara.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

Appointment

(a)
Each of Sponsor and Tuatara hereby appoints the Escrow Agent as its escrow agent for the purposes set forth herein, and the Escrow
Agent hereby accepts such appointment under the terms and conditions set forth herein.
(b)
All capitalized terms with respect to the Escrow Agent shall be defined herein. The Escrow Agent shall act only in accordance with
the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement and shall have no duties or obligations with respect to the Merger Agreement.
2.

Escrow Shares

(a)
Tuatara and the Tuatara Independent Directors agree to deposit with the Escrow Agent the Escrow Shares on the date hereof. The
Escrow Agent shall hold the Escrow Shares as a book-entry position registered in the name of “Continental Stock Transfer & Trust” as Escrow
Agent for the benefit of Tuatara and the Tuatara Independent Directors.

(b)
During the term of this Agreement Tuatara and the Tuatara Independent Directors shall not have, or have, the right to exercise any
voting rights with respect to any of the Escrow Shares. With respect to any matter for which the Escrow Shares are permitted to vote, the
Escrow Agent shall vote, or cause to be voted the Escrow Shares in the same proportion that the number of common shares of Tuatara owned
by all other shareholders of Tuatara are voted. In the absence of notice as to the proportion that the number of common shares of owned by all
other shareholders of Tuatara are voted, the Escrow Agent shall not vote any of the shares comprising the Escrow Shares.
(c)
Any dividends paid with respect to the Escrow Shares shall be deemed part of the Escrow and be delivered to the Escrow Agent to be
held in a bank account and be deposited in a non-interest bearing account to be maintained by the Escrow Agent in the name of the Escrow
Agent.
(d)
In the event of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation,
combination, exchange of shares, liquidation, spin-off or other similar change in capitalization or event, or any distribution to holders of the
common stock of Tuatara, other than a regular cash dividend, the Escrow Shares shall be appropriately adjusted on a pro rata basis and
consistent with the terms of the Merger Agreement and this Agreement.
3.

Disposition and Termination

(a)
The Escrow Agent shall administer the Escrow Shares in accordance with written instructions provided by Tuatara to the Escrow
Agent to release the Escrow Shares, or any portion thereof, as set forth in such instruction. The Escrow Agent shall make distributions of the
Escrow Shares only in accordance with a written instruction.
(b)
Upon the delivery of all the Escrow Shares by the Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and instructions, this
Agreement shall terminate, subject to the provisions of Section 6.
4.

Escrow Agent

(a)
The Escrow Agent shall have only those duties as are specifically and expressly provided herein, which shall be deemed purely
ministerial in nature, and no other duties shall be implied. The Escrow Agent shall neither be responsible for, nor chargeable with, knowledge
of, nor have any requirements to comply with, the terms and conditions of any other agreement, instrument or document between Tuatara and
any other person or entity, in connection herewith, if any, including without limitation the Merger Agreement, nor shall the Escrow Agent be
required to determine if any person or entity has complied with any such agreements, nor shall any additional obligation of the Escrow Agent
be inferred from the terms of such agreements, even though reference thereto may be made in this Agreement.
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(b)
In the event of any conflict between the terms and provisions of this Agreement, those of the Merger Agreement, or any schedule or
exhibit attached to this Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement shall control.
(c)
The Escrow Agent may rely upon and shall not be liable for acting or refraining from acting upon any written notice, document,
instruction or request furnished to it hereunder and believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by Tuatara without
inquiry and without requiring substantiating evidence of any kind. The Escrow Agent shall not be liable to any beneficiary or other person for
refraining from acting upon any instruction setting forth, claiming, containing, objecting to, or related to the transfer or distribution of the
Escrow Shares, or any portion thereof, unless such instruction shall have been delivered to the Escrow Agent in accordance with Section 9
below and the Escrow Agent has been able to satisfy any applicable security procedures as may be required hereunder and as set forth in
Section 10. The Escrow Agent shall be under no duty to inquire into or investigate the validity, accuracy or content of any such document,
notice, instruction or request. The Escrow Agent shall have no duty to solicit any payments which may be due nor shall the Escrow Agent
have any duty or obligation to confirm or verify the accuracy or correctness of any amounts deposited with it hereunder.
(d)
The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered or omitted to be taken by it in good faith except to the extent that
a final adjudication of a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the Escrow Agent’s fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct was
the cause of any loss to either Tuatara or the beneficiary. The Escrow Agent may execute any of its powers and perform any of its duties
hereunder directly or through affiliates or agents.
(e)
The Escrow Agent, at its own cost and expense, may consult with counsel, accountants and other skilled persons to be selected and
retained by it. In the event that the Escrow Agent shall be uncertain or believe there is some ambiguity as to its duties or rights hereunder or
shall receive instructions, claims or demands from hereto which, in its opinion, conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement, it shall
be entitled to refrain from taking any action and its sole obligation shall be to keep safely all the property held in escrow until it shall be given
a direction in writing which eliminates such ambiguity or uncertainty to the reasonable satisfaction of the Escrow Agent or by a final and nonappealable order or judgement of a court of competent jurisdiction.
5.

Succession
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(a)
The Escrow Agent may resign and be discharged from its duties or obligations hereunder by giving thirty (30) days’ advance notice in
writing of such resignation to Tuatara specifying a date when such resignation a date when such resignation shall take effect; provided
that, such resignation shall not take effect until a successor Escrow Agent has been appointed in accordance with this Section 5. If Tuatara has
failed to appoint a successor Escrow Agent prior to the expiration of thirty (30) days following receipt of the notice of resignation, the Escrow
Agent may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Escrow Agent or for other appropriate relief, and
any such resulting appointment shall be binding upon all of the parties hereto. The Escrow Agent’s sole responsibility after such thirty (30) day
notice period expires shall be to hold the Escrow Shares (without any obligation to reinvest the same) and to deliver the same to a designated
substitute Escrow Agent, if any, or in accordance with the directions of a final order or judgement of a court of competent jurisdiction, at
which time of delivery the Escrow Agent’s obligations hereunder shall ease and terminate, subject to the provisions of Section 7 below. In
accordance with Section 7 below, the Escrow Agent shall have the right to withhold, as security, an amount of shares equal to any dollar
amount due and owing to the Escrow Agent, plus any costs and expenses the Escrow Agent shall reasonably believe may be incurred by the
Escrow Agent in connection with the termination of this Agreement.
(b)
Any entity into which the Escrow Agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any entity to which all
or substantially all the escrow business may be transferred, shall be the Escrow Agent under this Agreement without further act.
(c)
The Escrow Agent shall resign and be discharged from its duties as escrow agent hereunder if so requested in writing at any time by
Tuatara; provided that such resignation shall become effective only upon acceptance of appointment by a successor escrow agent as provided
in this Section 5.
6.

Compensation and Reimbursement
The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to compensation for its services under this Agreement as Escrow Agent and for reimbursement for
its reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses, in the amounts and payable as set forth on Schedule 3. The Escrow
Agent shall also be entitled to payments of any amounts to which the Escrow Agent is entitled under the indemnification provisions
contained herein as set forth in Section 7.

7.

Indemnity

(a)
The Escrow Agent shall be indemnified and held harmless by Tuatara from and against any expenses, including reasonable counsel
fees and disbursements, or loss suffered by the Escrow Agent in connection with any action, suit or other proceeding involving any claim
which in any way, directly or indirectly, arises out of or relates to this Agreement, the services of the Escrow Agent hereunder, other than
expenses or losses arising from the fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Escrow Agent. Promptly after the receipt by the
Escrow Agent of notice of any demand or claim or the commencement of any action, suit or proceeding, the Escrow Agent shall notify the
other parties hereto in writing. In the event of the receipt of such notice, the Escrow Agent, in its sole discretion, may commence an action in
the Nature of Interpleader in any state of federal court located in New York County, State of New York.
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(b)
The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith and in the exercise of its reasonable
judgement, and may rely conclusively and shall be protected in acting upon any order, notice, demand, certificate, statement, instrument,
report or other paper or document (not only as to its due execution and the validity and effectiveness of its provisions, but also as to the truth
and acceptability of any information therein contained) which is reasonably believed by the Escrow Agent to be genuine and to be signed or
presented by the proper person or persons. The Escrow Agent shall not be bound by any notice or demand, or any waiver, modification,
termination or rescission of this Agreement unless evidenced by a writing delivered to the Escrow Agent are affected.
(c)
The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any action taken by it in good faith and reasonably believed by it to be authorized or within
the rights or powers conferred upon it by this Agreement, and may consult with counsel, at its sole cost and expense, of its own choice.
(d)
This Section 7 shall survive termination of this Agreement or the resignation, replacement or removal of the Escrow Agent for any
reason.
8.

Patriot Act Disclosure/Taxpayer Identification Numbers/Tax Reporting

(a)
Patriot Act Disclosure. Section 326 of the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept
and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (“USA PATRIOT Act”) requires the Escrow Agent to implement reasonable procedures to verify the
identity of any person that opens a new account with it. Accordingly, Tuatara acknowledges that Section 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act and
the Escrow Agents’ identity verification procedures require the Escrow Agent to obtain information which may be used to confirm Tuatara’s
identity including without limitation name, address and organizational documents (“identifying information”). Tuatara agrees to provide the
Escrow Agent with and consent to the Escrow Agent obtaining from third parties any such identifying information required as a condition of
opening an account with or using any service provided by the Escrow Agent.
(b)
Such underlying transaction does not constitute an installment sale requiring any tax reporting or withholding of imputed interest or
original issue discount to the IRS or other taxing authority.
9.

Notices
All communications hereunder shall be in writing and except for communications from Tuatara setting forth, claiming, containing,
objecting to, or in any way related to the full or partial transfer or distribution of the Escrow Shares, including but not limited to
transfer instructions (all of which shall be specifically governed by Section 10 below), all notices and communications hereunder shall
be deemed to have been duly given and made if in writing and if (i) served by personal delivery upon the party for whom it is intended,
(ii) delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by Federal Express or similar overnight courier, or (iii) sent by
facsimile or email, electronically or otherwise, to the party at the address set forth below, or such other address as may be designated in
writing hereafter, in the same manner, by such party:
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If to the Escrow Agent:
Continental Stock Transfer and Trust
One State Street — 30th Floor
New York, New York 10004
Facsimile No: (212) 616-7615
Attention:
Notwithstanding the above, in the case of communications delivered to the Escrow Agent, such communications shall be deemed to
have been given on the date received by an officer of the Escrow Agent or any employee of the Escrow Agent who reports directly to
any such offer at the above-referenced office. In the event that the Escrow Agent, in its sole discretion, shall determine that an
emergency exists, the Escrow Agent may use such other means of communication as the Escrow Agent deems appropriate. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which the Escrow
Agent located at the notice address set forth above is authorized or required by law or executive order to remain closed.
10.

Security Procedures
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary as set forth in Section 9, any instructions setting forth, claiming, containing, objecting to, or
in any way related to the transfer distribution, including but not limited to any transfer instructions that may otherwise be set forth in a
written instruction permitted pursuant to Section 3 of this Agreement, may be given to the Escrow Agent only by confirmed facsimile
or other electronic transmission (including e-mail) and no instruction for or related to the transfer or distribution of the Escrow Shares,
or any portion thereof, shall be deemed delivered and effective unless the Escrow Agent actually shall have received such instruction
by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including e-mail) at the number or e-mail address provided to Tuatara by the Escrow
Agent in accordance with Section 9 and as further evidenced by a confirmed transmittal to that number.

(a)
In the event transfer instructions are so received by the Escrow Agent by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including e-mail),
the Escrow Agent is authorized to seek confirmation of such instructions by telephone call-back to the person or persons designated on
Schedule 2 hereto, and the Escrow Agent may rely upon the confirmation of anyone purporting to be the person or persons so designated. The
persons and telephone numbers for call-backs may be changed only in writing actually received and acknowledged by the Escrow Agent. If the
Escrow Agent is unable to contact any of the authorized representatives identified in Schedule 2, the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized both
to receive written instructions from and seek confirmation of such instructions by officers of Tuatara(collectively, the “Senior Officers”), as the
case may be, which shall include the titles of Chief Executive Officer, General Counsel, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, President or
Executive Vice President, as the Escrow Agent may select. Such Senior Officer shall deliver to the Escrow Agent a fully executed incumbency
certificate, and the Escrow Agent may rely upon the confirmation of anyone purporting to be any such officer.
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(b)
Tuatara acknowledges that the Escrow Agent is authorized to deliver the Escrow Shares to the custodian account of recipient
designated by Tuatara in writing.
11.

Compliance with Court Officers
In the event that any escrow property shall be attached, garnished or levied upon by any court order, or the delivery thereof shall be
stayed or enjoined by an order of a court, or any order, judgement of decree shall be made or entered by any court order affecting the
property deposited under this Agreement, the Escrow Agent is hereby expressly authorized to obey and comply with all writs, orders or
decrees so entered or whether with or without jurisdiction, and in the event that the Escrow Agent reasonably obeys or complies with
any such writ, order or decree it shall not be liable to any of the parties hereto or to any other person, entity, firm or corporation, by
reason of such compliance notwithstanding such writ, order or decree by subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set aside or
vacated.

12.

Miscellaneous
Except for changes to transfer instructions as provided in Section 10, the provisions of this Agreement may be waived, altered,
amended or supplemented, in whole or in part, only by a writing signed by the Escrow Agent and Tuatara. Neither this Agreement nor
any right or interest hereunder may be assigned in whole or in part by the Escrow Agent or Tuatara except as provided in Section 5,
without the prior consent of the Escrow Agent and Tuatara. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the
State of New York. Each of Tuatara and the Escrow Agent irrevocably waives any objection on the grounds of venue, forum nonconvenience or any similar grounds and irrevocably consents to service of process by mail or in any other manner permitted by
applicable law and consents to the jurisdiction of any court of the State of New York or United States federal court, in each case, sitting
in New York County, New York. To the extent that in any jurisdiction any party may now or hereafter be entitled to claim for itself or
its assets, immunity from suit, execution attachment (before or after judgement), or other legal process, such party shall not claim, and
it hereby irrevocably waives, such immunity. The parties further hereby waive any right to a trial by jury with respect to any lawsuit or
judicial proceedings arising or relating to this Agreement. No party to this Agreement is liable to any other party for losses due to, or if
it is unable to perform its obligations under the terms of this Agreement because of, acts of God, fire, war, terrorism, floods, strikes,
electrical outages, equipment or transmission failure, or other causes reasonably beyond its control.
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This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the
same instrument. All signatures of the parties to this Agreement may be transmitted by facsimile or other electronic transmission (including e-mail), and such
facsimile or other electronic transmission (including e-mail) will, for all purposes, be deemed to be the original signature of such party whose signature it
reproduces, and will be binding upon such party. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be prohibited or unenforceable by reason of any applicable
law of a jurisdiction, then such provision shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the
remaining provisions thereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in such jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provisions in any
other jurisdiction. A person who is not a party to this Agreement shall have no right to enforce any term of this Agreement. The parties represent, warrant and
covenant that each document, notice, instruction or request provided by such party to the other party shall comply with applicable laws and regulations. Where,
however, the conflicting provisions of any such applicable law may be waived, they are hereby irrevocably waived by the parties hereto to the fullest extent
permitted by law, to the end that this Agreement shall be enforced as written. Except as expressly provided in Section 7 above, nothing in this Agreement, whether
express or implied, shall be construed to give to any person or entity other than the Escrow Agent and Tuatara any legal or equitable right, remedy, interest or
claim under or in respect of this Agreement or the Escrow Shares escrowed hereunder.

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date set forth above.
TUATARA CAPITAL ACQUISITION CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:
Telephone:

ESCROW AGENT:
CONTINENTAL STOCK TRANSFER AND TRUST
By:
Name:
Title:

TCAC SPONSOR, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

Schedule 3-1

Exhibit 10.2

Execution Version
AMENDED AND RESTATED
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of June 16, 2022, is
made and entered into by and among SpringBig Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, formerly known as Tuatara Capital Acquisition
Corporation (the “Company”), TCAC Sponsor, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Sponsor”), and the other undersigned parties
listed under Holders on the signature pages hereto (each, a “Holder” and, collectively, the “Holders”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Company has entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), dated as of
November 8, 2021, by and among the Company, HighJump Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Merger Sub”), and SpringBig,
Inc., a Delaware corporation (“SpringBig”), to effect a business combination with SpringBig (the “Business Combination”);
WHEREAS, the Company and the Sponsor are parties to that certain Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 11, 2021 (the
“Original Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company granted the Sponsor certain registration rights with respect to certain securities of the
Company; and
WHEREAS, as a condition of, and as a material inducement for the parties to enter into and consummate the transactions contemplated
by the Merger Agreement, the Company and the Sponsor have agreed to amend and restate the Original Agreement in order to provide certain
registration rights relating to the registration of shares of Common Stock (as defined below) held by the shareholders party hereto as of and
contingent upon the closing of the Business Combination.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, covenants and agreements contained herein, and certain other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby
agree that the Original Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety, as of and contingent upon the closing of the Business
Combination, as follows:
I. DEFINITIONS
1.1

Definitions. The terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Agreement, have the respective meanings set forth below:

“Adverse Disclosure” shall mean any public disclosure of material non-public information, which disclosure, in the good faith
judgment of the Chief Executive Officer or any principal financial officer of the Company, after consultation with counsel to the Company, (i)
would be required to be made in any Registration Statement or Prospectus in order for the applicable Registration Statement or Prospectus not
to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein (in the
case of any prospectus and any preliminary prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, (ii)
would not be required to be made at such time if the Registration Statement were not being filed and (iii) the Company has a bona fide
business purpose for not making such information public.

“Agreement” shall have the meaning given in the Preamble.
“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.
“Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which banking
institutions are generally authorized or required by law or regulation to close in New York, New York or Boca Raton, Florida.
“Commission” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Common Stock” shall mean the shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company outstanding immediately
following the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
“Common Stock Equivalents” shall mean any rights, warrants, options, convertible securities or indebtedness, exchangeable
securities or indebtedness, or other rights, exercisable for or convertible or exchangeable into, directly or indirectly, Common Stock and
securities convertible or exchangeable into Common Stock, whether at the time of issuance or upon the passage of time or the occurrence of
such future event.
“Company” shall have the meaning given in the Preamble.
“Demanding Holders” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.1.1.
“Demand Registration” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.1.2.
“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as it may be amended from time to time.
“Form S-1” shall mean Form S-1 for the registration of securities under the Securities Act promulgated by the Commission or any
similar long-form registration statement that may be available at such time.
“Form S-1 Shelf” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.1.6.
“Form S-3” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.4.
“Form S-3 Shelf” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.1.6.
“Holders” shall have the meaning given in the Preamble.
“Insider Letter” shall mean that certain letter agreement, dated as of February 11, 2021, by and among the Company, the Sponsor and
each of the Company’s officers, directors and director nominees.

“Maximum Number of Securities” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.1.4.
“Merger Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereto.
“Minimum Demand Threshold” shall mean $10 million.
“Misstatement” shall mean an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact required to be stated in a
Registration Statement or Prospectus or necessary to make the statements in a Registration Statement or Prospectus (in the case of a
Prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading.
“Original Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereto.
“Piggyback Registration” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.2.1.
“Private Placement Warrants” shall mean the 6,000,000 warrants purchased on a private placement on February 17, 2021.
“Prospectus” shall mean the prospectus included in any Registration Statement, as supplemented by any and all prospectus
supplements and as amended by any and all post-effective amendments and including all material incorporated by reference in such
prospectus.
“Registrable Security” shall mean (a) the shares of Common Stock, (b) the Private Placement Warrants, (c) any shares of Common
Stock issuable upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of Common Stock Equivalents, and (d) any other equity security of the Company
issued or issuable with respect to any such shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents by way of a share dividend or share split
or in connection with a combination of shares, recapitalization, merger, consolidation or reorganization; provided, however, that, as to any
particular Registrable Security, such securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities when: (A) a Registration Statement with respect to the
sale of such securities shall have become effective under the Securities Act and such securities shall have been sold, transferred, disposed of or
exchanged in accordance with such Registration Statement; (B) such securities shall have been otherwise transferred, new certificates or book
entries credits for such securities not bearing a legend restricting further transfer shall have been delivered by the Company and subsequent
public distribution of such securities shall not require registration under the Securities Act; (C) such securities shall have ceased to be
outstanding; (D) such securities may be sold without registration pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor
rule promulgated thereafter by the Commission) (but with no volume, manner of sale or other restrictions or limitations); or (E) such securities
have been sold to, or through, a broker, dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or other public securities transaction.
“Registration” shall mean a registration effected by preparing and filing a registration statement or similar document in compliance
with the requirements of the Securities Act, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and such registration statement
becoming effective.
“Registration Expenses” shall mean the out-of-pocket expenses of a Registration, including, without limitation, the following:

(A)
all registration and filing fees (including fees with respect to filings required to be made with the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority, Inc.) and any securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed;
(B)
fees and expenses of compliance with securities or blue sky laws (including reasonable fees and disbursements of
counsel for the Underwriters in connection with blue sky qualifications of Registrable Securities);
(C)

printing, messenger, telephone and delivery expenses;

(D)

reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company;

(E)
reasonable fees and disbursements of all independent registered public accountants of the Company incurred
specifically in connection with such Registration; and
(F)
reasonable fees and expenses of one legal counsel selected by the holders of a majority-in-interest of the Registrable
Securities to be registered for offer and sale in the applicable Registration.
“Registration Statement” shall mean any registration statement that covers the Registrable Securities pursuant to the provisions of
this Agreement, including the Prospectus included in such registration statement, amendments (including post-effective amendments) and
supplements to such registration statement, and all exhibits to and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.
“Requesting Holder” shall have the meaning given in subsection 2.1.1.
“Restricted Securities” shall have the meaning given in subsection 3.6.1.
“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.
“Sponsor” shall have the meaning given in the Recitals hereto.
“SpringBig Holders” shall mean the stockholders of the Company set forth on Exhibit A hereto.
“Transactions” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Underwriter” shall mean a securities dealer who purchases any Registrable Securities as principal in an Underwritten Offering and
not as part of such dealer’s market-making activities.
“Underwritten Registration” or “Underwritten Offering” shall mean a Registration in which securities of the Company are sold to
an Underwriter in a firm commitment underwriting for distribution to the public.
II. REGISTRATIONS
2.1.

Demand Registration.

2.1.1.

Request for Registration. Subject to the provisions of subsection 2.1.4, subsection 2.1.6 and Section 2.4, at any time and from time to time on or after
the date the Company consummates the initial Business Combination, either (i) one or more Holders (other than the Sponsor or its affiliates or
transferees) or (ii) the Sponsor or its affiliates or transferees, in either case of clause (i) or (ii) representing Registrable Securities with a total offering
price reasonably expected to exceed, in the aggregate, the Minimum Demand Threshold, may make a written demand for Registration of all or part of
their Registrable Securities, which written demand shall describe the amount and type of securities to be included in such Registration and the intended
method(s) of distribution thereof (such written demand, a “Demand Registration” and such persons making such written demand, the “Demanding
Holders”). The Company shall, within five (5) days of the Company’s receipt of the Demand Registration, notify, in writing, all other Holders of
Registrable Securities of such demand, and each Holder of Registrable Securities who thereafter wishes to include all or a portion of such Holder’s
Registrable Securities in a Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration (each such Holder that includes all or a portion of such Holder’s Registrable
Securities in such Registration, a “Requesting Holder”) shall so notify the Company, in writing, within five (5) days after the receipt by the Holder of
the notice from the Company. Upon receipt by the Company of any such written notification from a Requesting Holder(s) to the Company, such
Requesting Holder(s) shall be entitled to have their Registrable Securities included in a Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration and the Company
shall (i) file a Registration Statement in respect of all Registrable Securities requested by the Demanding Holders and Requesting Holder(s) pursuant
such Demand Registration, not more than thirty (30) days immediately after the Company’s receipt of the Demand Registration, and (ii) shall effect the
registration thereof as soon as practicable thereafter. Under no circumstances shall the Company be obligated to effect more than an (x) aggregate of four
(4) Registrations pursuant to a Demand Registration initiated by one or more Holders (other than the Sponsor or its affiliates or transferees) and (y) an
aggregate of three (3) Registrations pursuant to a Demand Registration initiated by the Sponsor or its affiliates or transferees, in each case under this
subsection 2.1.1 with respect to any or all Registrable Securities; provided, however, that a Registration shall not be counted for such purposes unless a
Form S-1 has become effective and all of the Registrable Securities requested by the Requesting Holders to be registered on behalf of the Requesting
Holders in such registration have been sold, in accordance with Section 3.1 of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, each of (i) the holders of a
majority-in-interest of the Registrable Securities held by the Holders and (ii) the Sponsor shall be permitted to exercise a Demand Registration Statement
pursuant to this subsection 2.1.1 with respect to their Registrable Securities.

2.1.2.

Effective Registration. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 2.1.1 above or any other part of this Agreement, a Registration pursuant to a
Demand Registration shall not count as a Registration unless and until (i) the Registration Statement filed with the Commission with respect to a
Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration has been declared effective by the Commission and (ii) the Company has complied with all of its
obligations under this Agreement with respect thereto; provided, further, that if, after such Registration Statement has been declared effective, an offering
of Registrable Securities in a Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration is subsequently interfered with by any stop order or injunction of the
Commission, federal or state court or any other governmental agency the Registration Statement with respect to such Registration shall be deemed not to
have been declared effective (and, accordingly, shall not count as a Registration), unless and until, (i) such stop order or injunction is removed, rescinded
or otherwise terminated, and (ii) a majority-in-interest of the Demanding Holders initiating such Demand Registration thereafter affirmatively elects to
continue with such Registration and accordingly notify the Company in writing, but in no event later than five (5) days, of such election; provided,
further, that the Company shall not be obligated or required to file another Registration Statement until the Registration Statement that has been
previously filed with respect to a Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration becomes effective or is subsequently terminated.

2.1.3.

Underwritten Offering. Subject to the provisions of subsection 2.1.4, subsection 2.1.6 and Section 2.4 hereof, if a majority-in-interest of the Demanding
Holders so elect and such Demanding Holders advise the Company as part of its Demand Registration that the offering of the Registrable Securities
pursuant to such Demand Registration shall be in the form of an Underwritten Offering, then the right of each Demanding Holder and Requesting Holder
to include its Registrable Securities in such Registration shall be conditioned upon such Holder’s participation in such Underwritten Offering and the
inclusion of such Holder’s Registrable Securities in such Underwritten Offering to the extent provided herein; provided that such Demanding Holder(s)
(a) reasonably expect aggregate gross proceeds in excess of the Minimum Demand Threshold from such Underwritten Offerings (it being understood that
the Company shall not be required to conduct more than two Underwritten Offerings where the expected aggregate proceeds are below $25,000,000 but
in excess of the Minimum Demand Threshold in any 12-month period) or (b) reasonably expects to sell all of the Registrable Securities held by such
Holder in such Underwritten Offering but in no event less than $5,000,000 in aggregate gross proceeds. All such Holders proposing to distribute their
Registrable Securities through an Underwritten Offering under this subsection 2.1.3 shall enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with
the Underwriter(s) selected for such Underwritten Offering by a majority-in-interest of the holders initiating the Demand Registration.

2.1.4.

Reduction of Underwritten Offering. If the managing Underwriter or Underwriters in an Underwritten Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration,
in good faith, advises the Company and the Requesting Holders in writing that the dollar amount or number of Registrable Securities that such Holders
desire to sell, taken together with all other shares of Common Stock or other equity securities that the Company desires to sell and the shares of Common
Stock, if any, as to which a Registration has been requested pursuant to separate written contractual piggy-back registration rights held by any other
shareholders who desire to sell, exceeds the maximum dollar amount or maximum number of equity securities that can be sold in the Underwritten
Offering without adversely affecting the proposed offering price, the timing, the distribution method, or the probability of success of such offering (such
maximum dollar amount or maximum number of such securities, as applicable, the “Maximum Number of Securities”), then the Company shall include
in such Underwritten Offering, as follows: (i) first, the Registrable Securities of the Demanding Holders and Requesting Holders (pro rata based on the
respective number of Registrable Securities that each Demanding Holder and Requesting Holder has requested be included in such Underwritten
Registration and the aggregate number of Registrable Securities that the Demanding Holders and Requesting Holders have requested be included in such
Underwritten Registration) that can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; (ii) second, to the extent that the Maximum Number
of Securities has not been reached under the foregoing clause (i), the shares of Common Stock or other equity securities that the Company desires to sell,
which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; and (iii) third, to the extent that the Maximum Number of Securities has not
been reached under the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), the shares of Common Stock or other equity securities of other persons or entities that the Company
is obligated to register in a Registration pursuant to separate written contractual arrangements with such persons and that can be sold without exceeding
the Maximum Number of Securities.

2.1.5.

Demand Registration Withdrawal. Any Demanding Holder or Requesting Holder shall have the right to withdraw from a Registration pursuant to such
Demand Registration for any or no reason whatsoever upon written notification to the Company and the Underwriter or Underwriters (if any) of their
intention to withdraw from such Registration prior to (x) in the case of a Demand Registration not involving an Underwritten Offering, the effectiveness
of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission with respect to the Registration of their Registrable Securities pursuant to such Demand
Registration or (y) in the case of a Demand Registration involving an Underwritten Offering, the pricing of such Underwritten Offering; provided,
however, that upon withdrawal by a majority-in-interest of the Demanding Holders initiating a Demand Registration, the Company shall cease all efforts
to secure effectiveness of the applicable Registration Statement or complete the Underwritten Offering, as applicable. If withdrawn, such requested
Demand Registration or Shelf Underwritten Offering shall constitute a demand for a Demand Registration or Underwritten Offering for purposes of
Section 2.1.1 or Section 2.1.3, as applicable, unless either (i) the Demanding Holders have not previously withdrawn any Demand Registration or (ii) the
Demanding Holders reimburse the Company for all Registration Expenses with respect to such Demand Registration. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Agreement, the Company shall be responsible for the Registration Expenses incurred in connection with a Registration pursuant to a
Demand Registration prior to its withdrawal under this subsection 2.1.5.

2.2.

2.1.6.

Shelf Registration. The Company shall file within 30 days of the Closing, and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be declared effective as
soon as practicable thereafter, a Registration Statement for a Shelf Registration on Form S-1 (the “Form S-1 Shelf”) or, if the Company is eligible to use
a Registration Statement on Form S-3, a Shelf Registration on Form S-3 (the “Form S-3 Shelf” and together with the Form S-1 Shelf, each a “Shelf”), in
each case, covering the resale of all the Registrable Securities (determined as of two Business Days prior to such filing) on a delayed or continuous basis.
Such Shelf shall provide for the resale of the Registrable Securities included therein pursuant to any method or combination of methods legally available
to, and requested by, any Holder named therein. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to the extent there is an active Shelf under this
subsection 2.1.6, covering a Holder’s or Holders’ Registrable Securities, such Holder shall not have rights to make a Demand Registration with respect to
subsection 2.1.1, but if such Holder or Holders qualify as Demanding Holders pursuant to subsection 2.1.1, then such Holder or Holders may request an
Underwritten Offering from such Shelf, in which case such Underwritten Offering shall follow the procedures of subsection 2.1 (including subsection
2.1.3 and subsection 2.1.4) and such Underwritten Offering shall count against the number of Demand Registrations that may be made pursuant to
subsection 2.1.1.

2.1.7.

Holder Information Required for Participation in Underwritten Offering. At least five (5) Business Days prior to the first anticipated filing date of a
Registration Statement pursuant to this Section 2, the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to notify each Holder in writing (which may be by email)
of the information reasonably necessary about the Holder to include such Holder’s Registrable Securities in such Registration Statement.
Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to include such Holder’s Registrable Securities to the extent the
Company has not received such information, and received any other reasonably requested agreements or certificates, on or prior to the second (2nd)
Business Day prior to the first anticipated filing date of a Registration Statement pursuant to this Section 2.

Piggyback Registration.
2.2.1.

Piggyback Rights. If, at any time on or after the date hereof, the Company proposes to file a Registration Statement under the Securities Act with respect
to an offering of equity securities, or securities or other obligations exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible into equity securities, for its own
account or for the account of shareholders of the Company (or by the Company and by the shareholders of the Company including, without limitation,
pursuant to Section 2.1 hereof), other than a Registration Statement (i) filed in connection with any employee stock option or other benefit plan, (ii) for
an exchange offer or offering of securities solely to the Company’s existing shareholders, (iii) for an offering of debt that is convertible into equity
securities of the Company, (iv) for a dividend reinvestment plan, (v) filed in connection with the securities purchase agreement by and between the
Company, and the purchasers signatory thereto, dated as of April 29, 2022 or (vi) filed in connection with the common stock purchase agreement and the
registration rights agreement by and between CF Principal Investments LLC and the Company, dated as of April 29, 2022, then the Company shall give
written notice of such proposed filing to all of the Holders of Registrable Securities as soon as practicable but not less than five (5) days before the
anticipated filing date of such Registration Statement, which notice shall (A) describe the amount and type of securities to be included in such offering,
the intended method(s) of distribution, and the name of the proposed managing Underwriter or Underwriters, if any, in such offering, and (B) offer to all
of the Holders of Registrable Securities the opportunity to register the sale of such number of Registrable Securities as such Holders may request in
writing within five (5) days after receipt of such written notice (such Registration, a “Piggyback Registration”). The Company shall, in good faith, cause
such Registrable Securities to be included in such Piggyback Registration and shall use its best efforts to cause the managing Underwriter or
Underwriters of a proposed Underwritten Offering to permit the Registrable Securities requested by the Holders pursuant to this subsection 2.2.1 to be
included in a Piggyback Registration on the same terms and conditions as any similar securities of the Company included in such Registration and to
permit the sale or other disposition of such Registrable Securities in accordance with the intended method(s) of distribution thereof. All such Holders
proposing to distribute their Registrable Securities through an Underwritten Offering under this subsection 2.2.1 shall enter into an underwriting
agreement in customary form with the Underwriter(s) selected for such Underwritten Offering by the Company.

2.2.2.

Reduction of Piggyback Registration. If the managing Underwriter or Underwriters in an Underwritten Registration that is to be a Piggyback
Registration, in good faith, advises the Company and the Holders of Registrable Securities participating in the Piggyback Registration in writing that the
dollar amount or number of the shares of Common Stock that the Company desires to sell, taken together with (i) the shares of Common Stock, if any, as
to which Registration has been demanded pursuant to separate written contractual arrangements with persons or entities other than the Holders of
Registrable Securities hereunder (ii) the Registrable Securities as to which registration has been requested pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof, and (iii) the
shares of Common Stock, if any, as to which Registration has been requested pursuant to separate written contractual piggy-back registration rights of
other shareholders of the Company, exceeds the Maximum Number of Securities, then:
(a) If the Registration is undertaken for the Company’s account, the Company shall include in any such Registration (A) first, the shares of Common
Stock or other equity securities that the Company desires to sell, which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; (B)
second, to the extent that the Maximum Number of Securities has not been reached under the foregoing clause (A), the Registrable Securities of
Holders exercising their rights to register their Registrable Securities pursuant to subsection 2.2.1 hereof, pro rata, based on the respective number of
Registrable Securities that each Holder has so requested, which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; and (C) third, to
the extent that the Maximum Number of Securities has not been reached under the foregoing clauses (A) and (B), the shares of Common Stock, if
any, as to which Registration has been requested pursuant to written contractual piggy-back registration rights of other shareholders of the Company,
which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; and

(b) If the Registration is pursuant to a request by persons or entities other than the Holders of Registrable Securities, then the Company shall include in
any such Registration (A) first, the shares of Common Stock or other equity securities, if any, of such requesting persons or entities, other than the
Holders of Registrable Securities, which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; (B) second, to the extent that the
Maximum Number of Securities has not been reached under the foregoing clause (A), the Registrable Securities of Holders exercising their rights to
register their Registrable Securities pursuant to subsection 2.2.1, pro rata, based on the respective number of Registrable Securities that each Holder
has requested be included in such Underwritten Registration and the aggregate number of Registrable Securities that the Holders have requested to
be included in such Underwritten Registration, which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; (C) third, to the extent that
the Maximum Number of Securities has not been reached under the foregoing clauses (A) and (B), the shares of Common Stock or other equity
securities that the Company desires to sell, which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities; and (D) fourth, to the extent
that the Maximum Number of Securities has not been reached under the foregoing clauses (A), (B) and (C), the shares of Common Stock or other
equity securities for the account of other persons or entities that the Company is obligated to register pursuant to separate written contractual
arrangements with such persons or entities, which can be sold without exceeding the Maximum Number of Securities.
2.2.3.

Piggyback Registration Withdrawal. Any Holder of Registrable Securities shall have the right to withdraw from a Piggyback Registration for any or no
reason whatsoever upon written notification to the Company and the Underwriter or Underwriters (if any) of his, her or its intention to withdraw from
such Piggyback Registration prior to the effectiveness of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission with respect to such Piggyback
Registration. The Company (whether on its own good faith determination or as the result of a request for withdrawal by persons pursuant to separate
written contractual obligations) may withdraw a Registration Statement filed with the Commission in connection with a Piggyback Registration at any
time prior to the effectiveness of such Registration Statement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Company shall be
responsible for the Registration Expenses incurred in connection with the Piggyback Registration prior to its withdrawal under this subsection 2.2.3.

2.2.4.

Unlimited Piggyback Registration Rights. For purposes of clarity, any Registration effected pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof shall not be counted as a
Registration pursuant to a Demand Registration effected under Section 2.1 hereof.

2.2.5.

2.3.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the rights of any Holder set forth in this Agreement shall be subject to any lock-up
agreement that such Holder has entered into.

Registrations on Form S-3. The Holders of Registrable Securities may at any time, and from time to time, request in writing that the Company, pursuant to Rule
415 under the Securities Act (or any successor rule promulgated thereafter by the Commission), register the resale of any or all of their Registrable Securities on
Form S-3 or any similar short-form registration statement that may be available at such time (“Form S-3”); provided, however, that the Company shall not be
obligated to effect such request through an Underwritten Offering. Within five (5) days of the Company’s receipt of a written request from a Holder or Holders of
Registrable Securities for a Registration on Form S-3, the Company shall promptly give written notice of the proposed Registration on Form S-3 to all other
Holders of Registrable Securities, and each Holder of Registrable Securities who thereafter wishes to include all or a portion of such Holder’s Registrable
Securities in such Registration on Form S-3 shall so notify the Company, in writing, within five (5) days after the receipt by the Holder of the notice from the
Company. As soon as practicable thereafter, but not more than twelve (12) days after the Company’s initial receipt of such written request for a Registration on
Form S-3, the Company shall register all or such portion of such Holder’s Registrable Securities as are specified in such written request, together with all or such
portion of Registrable Securities of any other Holder or Holders joining in such request as are specified in the written notification given by such Holder or
Holders; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to effect any such Registration pursuant to Section 2.3 hereof if (i) a Form S-3 is not
available for such offering; or (ii) the Holders of Registrable Securities, together with the Holders of any other equity securities of the Company entitled to
inclusion in such Registration, propose to sell the Registrable Securities and such other equity securities (if any) at any aggregate price to the public of less than
$10,000,000.
2.3.1.

To the extent the Company is a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) (a “WKSI”) at the time any Demand
Registration is received by the Company, and such Demand Registration requests that the Company file an automatic shelf registration statement (as
defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) (an “automatic shelf registration statement”) on Form S-3, the Company shall file an automatic shelf
registration statement which covers those Registrable Securities which are requested to be registered. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to
remain a WKSI (and not become an ineligible issuer (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act)) during the period during which the Registrable
Securities remain Registrable Securities. If the Company does not pay the filing fee covering the Registrable Securities at the time the automatic shelf
registration statement is filed, the Company agrees to pay such fee at such time or times as the Registrable Securities are to be sold. If the automatic shelf
registration statement has been outstanding for at least three years, at the end of the third year the Company shall refile a new automatic shelf registration
statement covering the Registrable Securities. If at any time when the Company is required to re-evaluate its WKSI status the Company determines that it
is not a WKSI, the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to refile the shelf registration statement on Form S-3 and, if such form is not available,
Form S-1 and keep such registration statement effective during the period during which such registration statement is required to be kept effective.

2.3.2.

2.4.

If the Company files any shelf registration statement for the benefit of the holders of any of its securities other than the Holders, the Company agrees that
it shall include in such registration statement such disclosures as may be required by Rule 430B under the Securities Act (referring to the unnamed selling
security holders in a generic manner by identifying the initial offering of the securities to the Holders) in order to ensure that the Holders may be added to
such shelf registration statement at a later time through the filing of a prospectus supplement rather than a post-effective amendment.

Restrictions on Registration Rights. If (A) during the period starting with the date sixty (60) days prior to the Company’s good faith estimate of the date of the
filing of, and ending on a date one hundred and twenty (120) days after the effective date of, a Company-initiated Registration and provided that the Company has
delivered written notice to the Holders prior to receipt of a Demand Registration pursuant to subsection 2.1.1 and it continues to actively employ, in good faith, all
reasonable efforts to cause the applicable Registration Statement to become effective; (B) the Holders have requested an Underwritten Registration and the
Company and the Holders are unable to obtain the commitment of underwriters to firmly underwrite the offer; or (C) in the good faith judgment of the Board such
Registration would be seriously detrimental to the Company and the Board concludes as a result that it is essential to defer the filing of such Registration
Statement at such time, then in each case the Company shall furnish to such Holders a certificate signed by the Chairman of the Board stating that in the good
faith judgment of the Board it would be seriously detrimental to the Company for such Registration Statement to be filed in the near future and that it is therefore
essential to defer the filing of such Registration Statement. In such event, the Company shall have the right to defer such filing for a period of not more than thirty
(30) days; provided, however, that the Company shall not defer its obligation in this manner more than once in any 12-month period.

III. COMPANY PROCEDURES
3.1.

General Procedures. If at any time on or after the date hereof the Company is required to effect the Registration of Registrable Securities, the Company shall use
its best efforts to effect such Registration to permit the sale of such Registrable Securities in accordance with the intended plan of distribution thereof, and
pursuant thereto the Company shall, as expeditiously as possible:
3.1.1.

prepare and file with the Commission as soon as practicable a Registration Statement with respect to such Registrable Securities and use its reasonable
best efforts to cause such Registration Statement to become effective and remain effective until all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration
Statement have been sold;

3.1.2.

prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and post-effective amendments to the Registration Statement, and such supplements to the
Prospectus, as may be reasonably requested by the majority-in-interest of the Holders with Registrable Securities registered on such Registration
Statement or any Underwriter of Registrable Securities or as may be required by the rules, regulations or instructions applicable to the registration form
used by the Company or by the Securities Act or rules and regulations thereunder to keep the Registration Statement effective until all Registrable
Securities covered by such Registration Statement are sold in accordance with the intended plan of distribution set forth in such Registration Statement or
supplement to the Prospectus;

3.1.3.

prior to filing a Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any amendment or supplement thereto, furnish without charge to the Underwriters, if any, and
the Holders of Registrable Securities included in such Registration, and such Holders’ legal counsel, copies of such Registration Statement as proposed to
be filed, each amendment and supplement to such Registration Statement (in each case including all exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by
reference therein), the Prospectus included in such Registration Statement (including each preliminary Prospectus), and such other documents as the
Underwriters and the Holders of Registrable Securities included in such Registration or the legal counsel for any such Holders may request in order to
facilitate the disposition of the Registrable Securities owned by such Holders;

3.1.4.

prior to any public offering of Registrable Securities, use its best efforts to (i) register or qualify the Registrable Securities covered by the Registration
Statement under such securities or “blue sky” laws of such jurisdictions in the United States as the Holders of Registrable Securities included in such
Registration Statement (in light of their intended plan of distribution) may request and (ii) take such action necessary to cause such Registrable Securities
covered by the Registration Statement to be registered with or approved by such other governmental authorities as may be necessary by virtue of the
business and operations of the Company and do any and all other acts and things that may be necessary or advisable to enable the Holders of Registrable
Securities included in such Registration Statement to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities in such jurisdictions; provided, however,
that the Company shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction where it would not otherwise be required to qualify or take
any action to which it would be subject to general service of process or taxation in any such jurisdiction where it is not then otherwise so subject;

3.1.5.

cause all such Registrable Securities to be listed on each securities exchange or automated quotation system on which similar securities issued by the
Company are then listed;

3.1.6.

provide a transfer agent or warrant agent, as applicable, and registrar for all such Registrable Securities no later than the effective date of such
Registration Statement;

3.1.7.

advise each seller of such Registrable Securities, promptly after it shall receive notice or obtain knowledge thereof, of the issuance of any stop order by
the Commission suspending the effectiveness of such Registration Statement or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose and
promptly use its reasonable best efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal if such stop order should be issued;

3.1.8.

at least five (5) days prior to the filing of any Registration Statement or Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to such Registration Statement or
Prospectus furnish a copy thereof to each seller of such Registrable Securities or its counsel;

3.1.9.

notify the Holders at any time when a Prospectus relating to such Registration Statement is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, of the
happening of any event as a result of which the Prospectus included in such Registration Statement, as then in effect, includes a Misstatement, and then to
correct such Misstatement as set forth in Section 3.4 hereof;

3.1.10. permit a representative of the Holders, the Underwriters, if any, and any attorney or accountant retained by such Holders or Underwriter to participate, at
each such person’s own expense, in the preparation of the Registration Statement, and cause the Company’s officers, directors and employees to supply
all information reasonably requested by any such representative, Underwriter, attorney or accountant in connection with the Registration; provided,
however, that such representatives or Underwriters enter into a confidentiality agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company,
prior to the release or disclosure of any such information;
3.1.11. obtain a “cold comfort” letter from the Company’s independent registered public accountants in the event of an Underwritten Registration, in customary
form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by “cold comfort” letters as the managing Underwriter may reasonably request, and
reasonably satisfactory to a majority-in-interest of the participating Holders;
3.1.12. on the date the Registrable Securities are delivered for sale pursuant to such Registration, obtain an opinion, dated such date, of counsel representing the
Company for the purposes of such Registration, addressed to the Holders, the placement agent or sales agent, if any, and the Underwriters, if any,
covering such legal matters with respect to the Registration in respect of which such opinion is being given as the Holders, placement agent, sales agent,
or Underwriter may reasonably request and as are customarily included in such opinions and negative assurance letters, and reasonably satisfactory to a
majority in interest of the participating Holders;
3.1.13. in the event of any Underwritten Offering, enter into and perform its obligations under an underwriting agreement, in usual and customary form, with the
managing Underwriter of such offering;

3.1.14. make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement covering the period of at least twelve (12) months
beginning with the first day of the Company’s first full calendar quarter after the effective date of the Registration Statement which satisfies the
provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and Rule 158 thereunder (or any successor rule promulgated thereafter by the Commission);
3.1.15. if the Registration involves the Registration of Registrable Securities involving gross proceeds in excess of $10,000,000, use its reasonable efforts to
make available senior executives of the Company to participate in customary “road show” presentations that may be reasonably requested by the
Underwriter in any Underwritten Offering; and
3.1.16. otherwise, in good faith, cooperate reasonably with, and take such customary actions as may reasonably be requested by the Holders, in connection with
such Registration.
3.2.

Registration Expenses. The Registration Expenses of all Registrations shall be borne by the Company. It is acknowledged by the Holders that the Holders shall
bear all incremental selling expenses relating to the sale of Registrable Securities, such as Underwriters’ commissions and discounts, brokerage fees, Underwriter
marketing costs and, other than as set forth in the definition of “Registration Expenses,” all reasonable fees and expenses of any legal counsel representing the
Holders.

3.3.

Requirements for Participation in Underwritten Offerings. No person may participate in any Underwritten Offering for equity securities of the Company
pursuant to a Registration initiated by the Company hereunder unless such person (i) agrees to sell such person’s securities on the basis provided in any
underwriting arrangements approved by the Company and (ii) completes and executes all customary questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities, lock-up
agreements, underwriting agreements and other customary documents as may be reasonably required under the terms of such underwriting arrangements.

3.4.

Suspension of Sales; Adverse Disclosure. Upon receipt of written notice from the Company that a Registration Statement or Prospectus contains a Misstatement,
each of the Holders shall forthwith discontinue disposition of Registrable Securities until he, she or it has received copies of a supplemented or amended
Prospectus correcting the Misstatement (it being understood that the Company hereby covenants to prepare and file such supplement or amendment as soon as
practicable after the time of such notice), or until he, she or it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed. If the filing,
initial effectiveness or continued use of a Registration Statement in respect of any Registration at any time would require the Company to make an Adverse
Disclosure or would require the inclusion in such Registration Statement of financial statements that are unavailable to the Company for reasons beyond the
Company’s control, the Company may, upon giving prompt written notice of such action to the Holders, delay the filing or initial effectiveness of, or suspend use
of, such Registration Statement for the shortest period of time, but in no event more than thirty (30) days, determined in good faith by the Company to be
necessary for such purpose. In the event the Company exercises its rights under the preceding sentence, the Holders agree to suspend, immediately upon their
receipt of the notice referred to above, their use of the Prospectus relating to any Registration in connection with any sale or offer to sell Registrable Securities.
The Company shall immediately notify the Holders of the expiration of any period during which it exercised its rights under this Section 3.4.

3.5.

Reporting Obligations. As long as any Holder shall own Registrable Securities, the Company, at all times while it shall be a reporting company under the
Exchange Act, covenants to file timely (or obtain extensions in respect thereof and file within the applicable grace period) all reports required to be filed by the
Company after the date hereof pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and to promptly furnish the Holders with true and complete copies of all
such filings. The Company further covenants that it shall take such further action as any Holder may reasonably request, all to the extent required from time to
time to enable such Holder to sell the shares of Common Stock held by such Holder without registration under the Securities Act within the limitation of the
exemptions provided by Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule promulgated thereafter by the Commission), including providing
any legal opinions. Upon the request of any Holder, the Company shall deliver to such Holder a written certification of a duly authorized officer as to whether it
has complied with such requirements.

IV. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONTRIBUTION
4.1.

Indemnification.
4.1.1.

The Company agrees to indemnify, to the extent permitted by law, each Holder of Registrable Securities, its officers and directors and agents and each
person who controls such Holder (within the meaning of the Securities Act) against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) caused by any untrue or alleged untrue statement of material fact contained in any Registration Statement, Prospectus or preliminary
Prospectus or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, except insofar as the same are caused by or contained in any information furnished in writing to
the Company by such Holder expressly for use therein. The Company shall indemnify the Underwriters, their officers and directors and each person who
controls such Underwriters (within the meaning of the Securities Act) to the same extent as provided in the foregoing with respect to the indemnification
of the Holder.

4.1.2.

In connection with any Registration Statement in which a Holder of Registrable Securities is participating, such Holder shall furnish to the Company in
writing such information and affidavits as the Company reasonably requests for use in connection with any such Registration Statement or Prospectus
and, to the extent permitted by law, shall indemnify the Company, its directors and officers and agents and each person who controls the Company
(within the meaning of the Securities Act) against any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses (including without limitation reasonable
attorneys’ fees) resulting from any untrue statement of material fact contained in the Registration Statement, Prospectus or preliminary Prospectus or any
amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading, but only to the extent that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information or affidavit so furnished in writing by such
Holder expressly for use therein; provided, however, that the obligation to indemnify shall be several, not joint and several, among such Holders of
Registrable Securities, and the liability of each such Holder of Registrable Securities shall be in proportion to and limited to the net proceeds received by
such Holder from the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement. The Holders of Registrable Securities shall indemnify the
Underwriters, their officers, directors and each person who controls such Underwriters (within the meaning of the Securities Act) to the same extent as
provided in the foregoing with respect to indemnification of the Company.

4.1.3.

Any person entitled to indemnification herein shall (i) give prompt written notice to the indemnifying party of any claim with respect to which it seeks
indemnification (provided that the failure to give prompt notice shall not impair any person’s right to indemnification hereunder to the extent such failure
has not materially prejudiced the indemnifying party) and (ii) unless in such indemnified party’s reasonable judgment a conflict of interest between such
indemnified and indemnifying parties may exist with respect to such claim, permit such indemnifying party to assume the defense of such claim with
counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party. If such defense is assumed, the indemnifying party shall not be subject to any liability for any
settlement made by the indemnified party without its consent (but such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld). An indemnifying party who is not
entitled to, or elects not to, assume the defense of a claim shall not be obligated to pay the fees and expenses of more than one counsel for all parties
indemnified by such indemnifying party with respect to such claim, unless in the reasonable judgment of any indemnified party a conflict of interest may
exist between such indemnified party and any other of such indemnified parties with respect to such claim. No indemnifying party shall, without the
consent of the indemnified party, consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement which cannot be settled in all respects by the payment
of money (and such money is so paid by the indemnifying party pursuant to the terms of such settlement) or which settlement does not include as an
unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such indemnified party of a release from all liability in respect to such claim or
litigation.

4.1.4.

The indemnification provided for under this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the
indemnified party or any officer, director or controlling person of such indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of securities. The Company and
each Holder of Registrable Securities participating in an offering also agrees to make such provisions as are reasonably requested by any indemnified
party for contribution to such party in the event the Company’s or such Holder’s indemnification is unavailable for any reason.

4.1.5.

If the indemnification provided under Section 4.1 hereof from the indemnifying party is unavailable or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party
in respect of any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses referred to herein, then the indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying the indemnified
party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by the indemnified party as a result of such losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses in such
proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party and the indemnified party, as well as any other relevant equitable
considerations. The relative fault of the indemnifying party and indemnified party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any
action in question, including any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact, was made
by, or relates to information supplied by, such indemnifying party or indemnified party, and the indemnifying party’s and indemnified party’s relative
intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such action; provided, however, that the liability of any Holder under this
subsection 4.1.5 shall be limited to the amount of the net proceeds received by such Holder in such offering giving rise to such liability. The amount paid
or payable by a party as a result of the losses or other liabilities referred to above shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth in
subsections 4.1.1, 4.1.2 and 4.1.3 above, any legal or other fees, charges or expenses reasonably incurred by such party in connection with any
investigation or proceeding. The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this subsection 4.1.5 were
determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation, which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in this
subsection 4.1.5. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to
contribution pursuant to this subsection 4.1.5 from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

V. MISCELLANEOUS
5.1.

Notices. Any notice or communication under this Agreement must be in writing and given by (i) deposit in the United States mail, addressed to the party to be
notified, postage prepaid and registered or certified with return receipt requested, (ii) delivery in person or by courier service providing evidence of delivery, or
(iii) transmission by hand delivery, electronic mail, telecopy, telegram or facsimile. Each notice or communication that is mailed, delivered, or transmitted in the
manner described above shall be deemed sufficiently given, served, sent, and received, in the case of mailed notices, on the third Business Day following the date
on which it is mailed and, in the case of notices delivered by courier service, hand delivery, electronic mail, telecopy, telegram or facsimile, at such time as it is
delivered to the addressee (with the delivery receipt or the affidavit of messenger) or at such time as delivery is refused by the addressee upon presentation. Any
notice or communication under this Agreement must be addressed, if to the Company, to: SpringBig Holdings, Inc., 621 NW 53rd Street, Ste. 250, Boca Raton,
Florida 33487, with a copy to Benesch Friedlander Coplan & Aronoff LLP, 71 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1600, and, if to any Holder, at such Holder’s address or
facsimile number as set forth in the Company’s books and records. Any party may change its address for notice at any time and from time to time by written
notice to the other parties hereto, and such change of address shall become effective thirty (30) days after delivery of such notice as provided in this Section 5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Assignment; No Third Party Beneficiaries.
5.2.1.

This Agreement and the rights, duties and obligations of the Company hereunder may not be assigned or delegated by the Company in whole or in part.

5.2.2.

The Sponsor and any Holder may assign or delegate such Holder’s rights, duties or obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part, if (i) the
transferee receives Registrable Securities that constitute at least 1% of the Company’s Common Stock and/or Common Stock Equivalents, (ii) such
transfer is not pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act or a registration statement filed pursuant to this Agreement and (iii) the transferee agrees to
become bound by the transfer restrictions set forth in this Agreement and other applicable agreements; provided that the 1% limitation in clause (i) shall
not apply in the case of a distribution in kind by the Sponsor to the direct or indirect economic owners of the Registrable Securities held by the Sponsor
in the first year after the date of this Agreement.

5.2.3.

This Agreement and the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of each of the parties and its successors and the permitted
assigns of the Holders.

5.2.4.

This Agreement shall not confer any rights or benefits on any persons that are not parties hereto, other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement and
Section 5.2 hereof.

5.2.5.

No assignment by any party hereto of such party’s rights, duties and obligations hereunder shall be binding upon or obligate the Company unless and
until the Company shall have received (i) written notice of such assignment as provided in Section 5.1 hereof and (ii) the written agreement of the
assignee, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement (which may be accomplished by
an addendum or certificate of joinder to this Agreement). Any transfer or assignment made other than as provided in this Section 5.1 shall be null and
void.

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts (including facsimile or PDF counterparts), each of which shall be deemed an original,
and all of which together shall constitute the same instrument, but only one of which need be produced.

5.4.

Governing Law; Venue. NOTWITHSTANDING THE PLACE WHERE THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE EXECUTED BY ANY OF THE PARTIES HERETO,
THE PARTIES EXPRESSLY AGREE THAT (I) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK AS APPLIED TO AGREEMENTS AMONG NEW YORK RESIDENTS ENTERED INTO AND TO BE PERFORMED ENTIRELY
WITHIN NEW YORK AND (II) THE VENUE FOR ANY ACTION TAKEN WITH RESPECT TO THE AGREEMENT SHALL BE ANY STATE OR
FEDERAL COURT IN NEW YORK COUNTY IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK. EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY
CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND,
THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT TO ANY ACTION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY
THIS AGREEMENT.

5.5.

Amendments and Modifications. Upon the written consent of the Company and the Holders of at least a majority-in-interest of the Registrable Securities at the
time in question, compliance with any of the provisions, covenants and conditions set forth in this Agreement may be waived, or any of such provisions,
covenants or conditions may be amended or modified; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, any amendment hereto or waiver hereof that
adversely affects one Holder, solely in his, her or its capacity as a holder of the shares of the Company, in a manner that is materially different from the other
Holders (in such capacity) shall require the consent of the Holder so affected. No course of dealing between any Holder or the Company and any other party
hereto or any failure or delay on the part of a Holder or the Company in exercising any rights or remedies under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of any
rights or remedies of any Holder or the Company. No single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies under this Agreement by a party shall operate as a waiver
or preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies hereunder or thereunder by such party.

5.6.

Other Registration Rights. The Company represents and warrants that no person, other than a Holder of Registrable Securities or those certain investors that
agreed on or about the date hereof to purchase shares of Common Stock in a transaction exempt from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to those
certain Subscription Agreements dated on or about the date hereof, has any right to require the Company to register any securities of the Company for sale or to
include such securities of the Company in any Registration filed by the Company for the sale of securities for its own account or for the account of any other
person. Further, the Company represents and warrants that this Agreement supersedes any other registration rights agreement or agreement with similar terms and
conditions and in the event of a conflict between any such agreement or agreements and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail.

5.7.

Term. This Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier of (i) the tenth anniversary of the date hereof or (ii) the date as of which (A) all of the Registrable
Securities have been sold pursuant to a Registration Statement (but in no event prior to the applicable period referred to in Section 4(a)(3) of the Securities Act
and Rule 174 thereunder (or any successor rule promulgated thereafter by the Commission)) or (B) the Holders of all Registrable Securities are permitted to sell
the Registrable Securities without registration pursuant to Rule 144 (or any similar provision) under the Securities Act without limitation on the amount of
securities sold or the manner of sale. The provisions of Section 3.5 and Article IV shall survive any termination.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above.
SPRINGBIG HOLDINGS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Jeff Harris
Name: Jeff Harris
Title: Chief Executive Officer

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above.
TCAC SPONSOR, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
By: /s/ Albert Foreman
Name: Albert Foreman
Title: Member
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HOLDERS:
MICHAEL FINKERMAN
/s/ Michael Finkerman
KEY INVESTMENT PARTNERS FUND I LP
By: /s/ Jordan Youkilis
Name: Jordan Youkilis
Title: Founding Partner
KP CAPITAL LLC
By: /s/ Brian Burke
Name: Brian Burke
Title: CFO
JEFF HARRIS
/s/ Jeff Harris
MEDICI HOLDINGS V, INC.
By: /s/ Jeff Harris
Name: Jeff Harris
Title: CEO
ABG, LLC
By: /s/ Anthony Georgiadis
Name: Anthony Georgiadis
Title: Manager
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ARGONAUTIC VENTURES MASTER SPC
By: /s/ Viken Douzdjian
Name: Viken Douzdjian
Title: Partner
ARGONAUTIC VERTICAL SERIES SPRINGBIG FUND I SP
By: /s/ Viken Douzdjian
Name: Viken Douzdjian
Title: Partner
PAUL SYKES
/s/ Paul Sykes
SALEX CAPITAL, LLC
By: /s/ Scott Lewin
Name: Scott Lewin
Title: Managing Director
Manja Lyssy Revocable Trust
By: /s/ Manja Lyssy Revocable Trust
Name: Manja Lyssy
Title: Trustee
HALLEY VENTURE FUND I LP
By: /s/ Steven J Schuman
Name: Steven J Schuman
Title: Managing Director

HALLEY VENTURE FUND II LP
By: /s/ Steven J Schuman
Name: Steven J Schuman
Title: Managing Director
ALTITUDE INVESTMENT PARTNERS, LP
By: JRC Capital Partners, LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Michael Goldberg
Name: Michael Goldberg
Title: Managing Partner
SOCTECH ISRAEL, LLC
By: /s/ Steven Soclof
Name: Steven Soclof
Title: CEO
GAMSON FAMILY REVOCABLE TRUST
By: /s/ Michael Gamson
Name: Michael Gamson
Title: Trustee
GREEN ACRE CAPITAL FUND I LP
By:
Name:
Title:
TVC CAPITAL IV, L.P.
By: /s/ Andrew Albert
Name: Andrew Albert
Title:

Exhibit 10.5
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
THIS REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of June 14, 2022, by and among SpringBig Holdings,
Inc. (the “Company”), and each Person defined on the signature pages hereto (together with their respective successors and assigns, each an
“Investor”).
WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to provide certain registration rights to the Investors in order to induce each Investor to enter into
that certain Securities Purchase Agreement by and among the Company and each Investor dated as of April 29, 2022 (the “Purchase
Agreement”).
Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual promises and the covenants as set forth herein, the parties hereto hereby agree as
follows:
1.
Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized words and terms used herein without definition and defined in
the Purchase Agreement are used herein as defined therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as used herein the capitalized words and terms
defined in this Section 1 shall have the meanings herein specified for all purposes of this Agreement, applicable to both the singular and plural
forms of any of the terms herein defined:
“Agreement” means this Registration Rights Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented in accordance with
the terms hereof.
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
“Common Stock” means the Company’s authorized common stock, as constituted on the date of this Agreement, any stock into which
such Common Stock may thereafter be changed and any stock of the Company of any other class, which is not preferred as to dividends or
assets over any other class of stock of the Company and which is not subject to redemption, issued to the holders of shares of such Common
Stock upon any re-classification thereof.
“Company” has the meaning assigned to it in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.
“Company Securities” means any securities proposed to be sold by the Company for its own account in a registered public offering.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (or successor statute).
“Excluded Forms” means Registration Statements under the Securities Act on Forms S-4 and S-8 or any successors.
“Investors” has the meaning assigned to it in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.
“Person” includes any natural person, corporation, trust, association, company, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company and
other entity and any government, governmental agency, instrumentality or political subdivision.
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“Proposed Registration” means any proposed Registration Statement to be filed pursuant to this Agreement.
“Purchase Agreement” has the meaning assigned to it in the Recitals of this Agreement.
The terms “register” “registered” and “registration” refer to a registration effected by preparing and filing a Registration Statement on
other than any of the Excluded Forms in compliance with the Securities Act, and the declaration or ordering of the effectiveness of such
Registration Statement.
“Registration Statement” means any registration statement filed by the Company on behalf of any Investors.
“Registrable Securities” means the greater of (a) (i) the Common Stock to be acquired by each Investor pursuant to the conversion of
the Notes and exercise of the Warrants and any other shares of Common Stock subsequently acquired by any Investor under any Transaction
Documents, and (ii) any securities of the Company issued with respect to such Common Stock by way of any stock dividend or stock split or
in connection with any merger, combination, recapitalization, share exchange, consolidation, reorganization or other similar transaction, or (b)
the Required Minimum as defined by the Purchase Agreement.
“Representatives” means all shareholders, officers, directors, members, managers, partners, employees and agents.
“Rule 144” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 8 of this Agreement.
“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental body at the time administering the Securities Act.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933 (or successor statute).
“Selling Expenses” means all selling commissions, underwriting discounts, other fees paid by an Investor to a broker-dealer, finder’s
fees and stock transfer taxes applicable to the Registrable Securities contained in a Registration Statement for the benefit of each Investor.
2.
Required Registration. Within 20 days after each of the First Tranche Closing and the Second Tranche Closing, the
Company shall file with the SEC a Registration Statement on Form S-1 or S-3, or any successor form covering the sale of all of the
Registrable Securities. The Company shall also fully comply with Section 4.23 of the Purchase Agreement.
3.
Obligations of the Company. If and whenever the Company is required by the provisions hereof to effect or cause the
registration of any Registrable Securities under the Securities Act as provided herein, the Company shall:
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(a)
prepare and file with the SEC within 20 days after the First Tranche Closing and the Second Tranche Closing, as
applicable, a Registration Statement with respect to such Registrable Securities and cause any such Registration Statement to become effective
within 75 days from the First Tranche Closing and the Second Tranche Closing, as applicable (and to remain effective (provided that before
filing a Registration Statement or any amendment or supplement thereto, the Company will at least three Trading Days prior to making any
such filing it shall furnish to each Investor copies of the Registration Statement, as amended if applicable and any response letter to the Staff of
the SEC proposed to be filed));
(b)
subject to complying with Section 3(a), prepare and file with the SEC such amendments to any such Registration
Statement (including post-effective amendments) and supplements to the prospectus included therein as may be necessary to keep such
Registration Statement effective and to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the sale or other disposition of all
Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement during such period in accordance with the intended methods of disposition by
the Investors set forth in such Registration Statement;
(c)
furnish to each Investor such number of copies of such Registration Statement and of each such amendment and
supplement thereto (in each case including all exhibits), such number of copies of the prospectus included in such Registration Statement
(including each preliminary prospectus), in conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act, and such other documents, as each Investor
may reasonably request, in order to facilitate the public sale or other disposition of the Registrable Securities owned by the Investors;
(d)
use all commercially reasonable efforts to make such filings under the securities or blue sky laws of such states or
commonwealths as any Investor may reasonably request to enable each Investor to consummate the sale;
(e)
promptly notify the Investors at any time when a prospectus relating to their Registrable Securities is required to be
delivered under the Securities Act, of the Company’s becoming aware that the prospectus included in the related Registration Statement, as
then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading in light of the circumstances then existing, and promptly prepare and furnish to the Investors a
reasonable number of copies of a prospectus supplemented or amended so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such Registrable
Securities, such prospectus shall not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein
or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances then existing. In such event, the Company shall
file a Form 8-K or amended prospectus or prospectus supplement within four Trading Days in order to permit the Holder to be able to sell
Warrant Shares;
(f)

otherwise comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and to perform its obligations hereunder;

(g)

use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Registrable Securities to be quoted on the Principal Market;
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(h)

provide a transfer agent for all Registrable Securities and promptly pay all fees and costs of the transfer agent;

(i)
provide a CUSIP number for all Registrable Securities, in each case not later than the effective date of the applicable
Registration Statement;
(j)
notify the Investors of any stop order threatened or issued by the SEC and take all actions reasonably necessary to
prevent the entry of such stop order or to remove it if entered;
(k)
the Company shall promptly email each Investor copies of all comment letters and other communications from and
with the Staff of the SEC, file an amendment to a Registration Statement within ten Trading Days after receipt of a comment letter or oral
comments, and request acceleration of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement within three Trading Days after the Company or its
counsel has been advised that the Staff has no further comments; and
(l)
if a Registration Statement is not declared effective by the required effective date due to factors outside its control as
permitted by Section 2.1(b) of the Note, the Company shall promptly email the Company and disclose the underlying facts and further if
requested promply answer any questions by email.
A failure to comply with Section 3 of this Agreement and Section 4.23 of the Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be an Event of Default
under the Notes.
4.

Other Procedures.

(a)
Subject to the remaining provisions of this Section 4 and the Company’s general obligations under Section 3, the
Company shall be required to maintain the effectiveness of a Registration Statement until the earlier of (i) the sale of all Registrable
Securities, or (ii) two years unless the SEC eliminates the requirement in Rule 144(i) and permits a former shell issuer to use Rule 144 after
one year without complying with Rule 144(c) in which case the two years shall be reduced to one year.
(b)
In consideration of the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, the Investors agree that, upon receipt of any
notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in Section 3(e) herein, each Investor shall forthwith discontinue
its sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement covering such Registrable Securities until the Investor’s receipt of the
copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated by said Section 3(e).
(c)
The Company’s obligation to file any Registration Statement or amendment including a post-effective amendment,
shall be subject to each Investor, as applicable, furnishing to the Company in writing such information and documents regarding such Investor
and the distribution of such Investor’s Registrable Securities as may reasonably be required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement in
question by the rules and regulations under the Securities Act or under any other applicable securities or blue sky laws of the jurisdiction
referred to in Section 3(d) herein. The Company’s obligations are also subject to each Investor promptly executing any representation letter
concerning compliance with Regulation M under the Exchange Act (or any successor rule or regulation). If any Investor fails to provide all of
the information required by this Section 4(c), the Company shall have no obligation to include its Registrable Securities in a Registration
Statement or it may withdraw such Investor’s Registrable Securities from the Registration Statement without incurring any penalty or
otherwise incurring liability to such Investor.
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(d)
If any such registration or comparable statement refers to an Investor by name or otherwise as a stockholder of the
Company, but such reference to such Investor by name or otherwise is not required by the Securities Act or the rules thereunder, then each
Investor shall have the right to require the deletion of the reference to such Investor, as may be applicable.
(e)
If the Company is unable to register all Registrable Securities in one Registration Statement due to an SEC Rule or
Staff policy, the Company shall continue to file new Registration Statements for the remaining Registrable Securities every 30 days after the
effectiveness of the last Registration Statement, in which event the conditions of this Agreement including the 75 day effectiveness shall apply;
provided, however, in no event shall the Company delay the effective date of any Registration Statement for more than five Trading Days
after receipt of notice from the SEC Staff that it will either not review a Registration Statement or it has no further comments with respect to a
Registration Statement.
(f)
The Company shall not include any securities for any other stockholder in any registration statement other than
Registrable Securities for the Investors in any Registration Statement.
5.
Registration Expenses. In connection with any registration of Registrable Securities pursuant to Sections 2, the Company
shall, whether or not any such registration shall become effective, from time to time, pay all expenses (other than Selling Expenses) incident to
its performance of or compliance, including, without limitation, all registration, and filing fees, fees and expenses of compliance with
securities or blue sky laws, word processing, printing and copying expenses, messenger and delivery expenses, fees and disbursements of
counsel for the Company and all independent public accountants and other Persons retained by the Company.
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6.

Indemnification.

(a)
In the event of any registration of any shares of Common Stock under the Securities Act pursuant to this Agreement,
the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Investor, its Affiliates, and their respective Representatives, successors and
assigns, from and against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which each Investor, its Affiliates, and its respective
Representatives, successors and assigns may become subject under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or
liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact
contained in any Registration Statement under which such Registrable Securities were registered under the Securities Act, any preliminary
prospectus or final prospectus contained therein, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any document incident to registration or
qualification of any Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 3(d) herein, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged omission
to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or, with respect to any
prospectus, necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or any
violation by the Company of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or state securities or blue sky laws or relating to action or inaction required
of the Company in connection with such registration or qualification under the Securities Act or such state securities or blue sky laws. If the
Company fails to defend the Investor, its Affiliates, and its respective Representatives, successors and assigns, as applicable, as required by
Section 6(c) herein, it shall reimburse (after receipt of appropriate documentation) each Investor, its Affiliates, and its respective
Representatives, successors and assigns for any legal or any other reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by any of them
in connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action; provided, however, that the Company shall not
be liable to an Investor, its Affiliates, or its respective Representatives, successors or assigns in any such case to the extent that any such loss,
claim, damage or liability arises out of or is based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made
in said Registration Statement, said preliminary prospectus, said prospectus, or said amendment or supplement or any document incident to
registration or qualification of any Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 3(d) hereof in reliance upon and in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company by such Investor, its Affiliates, or its respective Representatives, successors or assigns specifically for
use in the preparation thereof.
(b)
In the event of any registration of any Registrable Securities under the Securities Act pursuant to this Agreement,
each Investor shall, severally and not jointly, indemnify and hold harmless (in the same manner and to the same extent as set forth in Section
6(a)) the Company, each director of the Company, each officer of the Company who signs such Registration Statement, the Company’s
attorneys and auditors and any Person who controls the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act, from and against any loss, claim,
damage or liability that arises out of or is based upon any untrue statement or omission from such Registration Statement, any preliminary
prospectus or final prospectus contained therein, or any amendment or supplement thereto, if and to the extent that such untrue statement or
omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by such Investor specifically for
use in the preparation of such Registration Statement, preliminary prospectus, final prospectus or amendment or supplement.
(c)
Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party of notice of the commencement of any action involving a claim
referred to in Section 6(a) or (b), such indemnified party shall, if a claim in respect thereof is made against an indemnifying party, give written
notice to such indemnifying party of the commencement of such action. The indemnifying party shall be relieved of its obligations under this
Section 6(c) if and to the extent that the indemnified party delays in giving notice and the indemnifying party is damaged or prejudiced by the
delay. In case any such action is brought against an indemnified party, the indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate in and to assume
the defense thereof, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified to the extent that it may wish, with counsel reasonably
satisfactory to such indemnified party, and, after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so as to assume
the defense thereof, the indemnifying party shall be responsible for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the indemnifying
party in connection with the defense thereof, provided, however, that, if counsel for an indemnified party shall have reasonably concluded that
there is an actual or potential conflict of interest between the indemnified party and the indemnifying party, the indemnifying party shall not
have the right to assume the defense of such action on behalf of such indemnified party, and such indemnifying party shall reimburse such
indemnified party for the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of counsel (including local counsel, if applicable) retained by the
indemnified party which are reasonably related to the matters covered by the indemnity agreement provided in this Section 7. Provided,
further, that in no event shall any indemnification by an Investor under this Section 7 exceed the net proceeds from the sale of Registrable
Securities received by such Investor. No indemnified party shall make any settlement of any claims indemnified against hereunder without the
written consent of the indemnifying party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. In the event that any indemnifying party enters
into any settlement without the written consent of the indemnified party, the indemnifying party shall not consent to entry of any judgment or
enter into any settlement which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff of a release of such
indemnified party from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation.
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(d)
In order to provide for just and equitable contribution to joint liability under the Securities Act in any case in which (i)
any indemnified party makes a claim for indemnification pursuant to this Section 6, but it is judicially determined (by the entry of a final
judgment or decree by a court of competent jurisdiction and the expiration of time to appeal or the denial of the last right of appeal) that such
indemnification may not be enforced in such case notwithstanding the fact that this Section 6 provides for indemnification in such case, or (ii)
contribution under the Securities Act may be required in circumstances for which indemnification is provided under this Section 6; then, in
each such case, the Company and each such Investor shall contribute to the aggregate losses, claims, damages or liabilities to which they may
be subject as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Company and such Investor in connection with the statements or omissions which
resulted in such losses, claims, damages or liabilities, it being understood that the parties acknowledge that the overriding equitable
consideration to be given effect in connection with this provision is the ability of one party or the other to correct the statement or omission (or
avoid the conduct or take an act) which resulted in such losses, claims, damages or liabilities, and that it would not be just and equitable if
contribution pursuant hereto were to be determined by pro-rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take into
consideration the foregoing equitable considerations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) no such Investor shall be required to contribute any
amount in excess of the net proceeds to it of all Registrable Securities sold by it pursuant to such Registration Statement, and (ii) no Person
who is guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act shall be entitled to contribution from
any Person who is not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
7.
Rule 144. As long as an Investor holds restricted securities (as that term is used in Rule 144) or has the right to acquire
restricted Shares or restricted Warrant Shares, the Company covenants that it will (i) make and keep public information available, as those
terms are understood and defined in Rule 144, at all times, (ii) file in a timely manner the reports and other documents required to be filed
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations adopted by the SEC thereunder, (iii) furnish to each Investor
promptly upon request (x) a written statement by the Company as to its compliance with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 and the
Exchange Act, (y) a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and (z) such other information as an Investor may
reasonably request, and (iv) cooperate with each Investor and respond as promptly as possible to any requests from such Investor in
connection with Rule 144 transfers of restricted securities, in each case to enable such Investor to sell its Registrable Securities without
registration under the Securities Act within the limitation of the exemption provided by (a) Rule 144 under the Securities Act, as such Rule
may be amended from time to time, or (b) any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the SEC (collectively, “Rule 144”); provided,
however, nothing contained in this Section 7 or elsewhere in this Agreement shall prevent the Company from consummating a transaction in
which another entity acquires it through a merger or similar transaction.
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8.
Severability. In the event any parts of this Agreement are found to be illegal, unenforceable or void, the remaining provisions
of this Agreement shall nevertheless be binding with the same effect as though the illegal, unenforceable or void parts were deleted.
9.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but
all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The execution of this Agreement may be by actual or facsimile signature.
10.
Benefit. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their legal representatives,
successors and assigns.
11.
Notices and Addresses. All notices, approvals, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be delivered or
made in the manner set forth in, and shall be effective in accordance with the terms of, the Purchase Agreement.
12.
Attorneys’ Fees. In the event that there is any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or to the
interpretation, breach or enforcement thereof, and any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement is filed, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to an award by the court of reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses.
13.
Entire Agreement; Oral Evidence. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and supersedes all
prior oral and written agreements between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. Neither this Agreement nor any
provision hereof may be changed, waived, discharged or terminated orally, except by a statement in writing signed by the party or parties
against which enforcement of the change, waiver discharge or termination is sought.
14.
Additional Documents. The parties hereto shall execute such additional instruments as may be reasonably required by their
counsel in order to carry out the purpose and intent of this Agreement and to fulfill the obligations of the parties hereunder.
15.
Governing Law. This Agreement and any dispute, disagreement, or issue of construction or interpretation arising hereunder
whether relating to its execution, its validity, the obligations provided herein or performance shall be governed or interpreted according to the
internal laws of the State of Florida.
17.
Section or Paragraph Headings. Section headings herein have been inserted for reference only and shall not be deemed to
limit or otherwise affect, in any matter, or be deemed to interpret in whole or in part any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed personally or by a duly authorized
representative thereof as of the day and year first above written.
Company:
SpringBig Holdings, Inc.
By: /s/ Paul Sykes
Name: Paul Sykes
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Investors:
L1 Capital Global Opportunities Master Fund
By: /s/ David Feldman
Name: David Feldman
Title: Portfolio Manager

[Signature Page to Registration Rights Agreement]

Exhibit 10.6
SpringBig Holdings, Inc.
2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan
Approved by the Stockholders: June 9, 2022
Adopted and Approved by the Board of Directors June 12, 2022 and effective June 14, 2022
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1.

General.

(a)
Plan Purpose. The Company, by means of the Plan, seeks to secure and retain the services of Employees, Directors and
Consultants, to provide incentives for such persons to exert maximum efforts for the success of the Company and any Affiliate and to provide
a means by which such persons may be given an opportunity to benefit from increases in value of the Common Stock through the granting of
Awards.
(b)
Available Awards. The Plan provides for the grant of the following Awards: (i) Incentive Stock Options; (ii) Nonstatutory
Stock Options; (iii) SARs; (iv) Restricted Stock Awards; (v) RSU Awards; (vi) Performance Awards; and (vii) Other Awards.
(c)
Adoption Date; Effective Date. The Plan will come into existence on the Adoption Date, but no Award may be granted prior
to the Effective Date.
2.

Shares Subject to the Plan.

(a)
Share Reserve. Subject to any adjustments as necessary to implement any Capitalization Adjustments, the aggregate number
of shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards will not exceed 1,525,175 shares of Common Stock (equal to five percent
(5%) of the sum of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the
Merger Agreement and (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock underlying stock options issued under the SpringBig, Inc. 2017 Equity
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated) that are outstanding as of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement).
(b)

Share Reserve Operation.

(i)
Limit Applies to Common Stock Issued Pursuant to Awards. For clarity, the Share Reserve is a limit on the number
of shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards and does not limit the granting of Awards, except that the Company
will keep available at all times the number of shares of Common Stock reasonably required to satisfy its obligations to issue shares
pursuant to such Awards. Shares may be issued in connection with a merger or acquisition as permitted by, as applicable, Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5635(c), NYSE Listed Company Manual Section 303A.08, NYSE American Company Guide Section 711 or other
applicable rule, and such issuance will not reduce the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan.
(ii)
Actions that Do Not Constitute Issuance of Common Stock and Do Not Reduce Share Reserve. The following
actions do not result in an issuance of shares under the Plan and accordingly do not reduce the number of shares subject to the Share
Reserve and available for issuance under the Plan: (1) the expiration or termination of any portion of an Award without the shares
covered by such portion of the Award having been issued; and (2) the settlement of any portion of an Award in cash (i.e., the
Participant receives cash rather than Common Stock).
(iii)
Reversion of Previously Issued Shares of Common Stock to Share Reserve. The following shares of Common
Stock previously issued pursuant to an Award and accordingly initially deducted from the Share Reserve will be added back to the
Share Reserve and again become available for issuance under the Plan: any shares that are forfeited back to or repurchased by the
Company because of a failure to meet a contingency or condition required for the vesting of such shares.
3.

Eligibility and Limitations.

(a)
Awards.
(b)

Eligible Award Recipients. Subject to the terms of the Plan, Employees, Directors and Consultants are eligible to receive
Specific Award Limitations.

(i)
Limitations on Incentive Stock Option Recipients. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to Employees of
the Company or a “parent corporation” or “subsidiary corporation” thereof (as such terms are defined in Sections 424(e) and (f) of the
Code).
(ii)
Incentive Stock Option $100,000 Limitation. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the
time of grant) of Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by any Optionholder
during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Affiliates) exceeds $100,000 (or such other limit established in the
Code) or otherwise does not comply with the rules governing Incentive Stock Options, the Options or portions thereof that exceed such
limit (according to the order in which they were granted) or otherwise do not comply with such rules will be treated as Nonstatutory
Stock Options, notwithstanding any contrary provision of the applicable Option Agreement(s).

(iii)
Limitations on Incentive Stock Options Granted to Ten Percent Stockholders. A Ten Percent Stockholder may
not be granted an Incentive Stock Option unless (i) the exercise price of such Option is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value on the
date of grant of such Option and (ii) the Option is not exercisable after the expiration of five years from the date of grant of such
Option.
(iv)
Limitations on Nonstatutory Stock Options and SARs. Nonstatutory Stock Options and SARs may not be granted
to Employees, Directors and Consultants who are providing Continuous Service only to any “parent” of the Company (as such term is
defined in Rule 405) unless the stock underlying such Awards is treated as “service recipient stock” under Section 409A because the
Awards are granted pursuant to a corporate transaction (such as a spin off transaction) or unless such Awards otherwise comply with
the distribution requirements of Section 409A.
(c)
Aggregate Incentive Stock Option Limit. The aggregate maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued
pursuant to the exercise of Incentive Stock Options is the number of shares specified in Section 2(a).
(d)
Non-Employee Director Compensation Limit. The aggregate value of all compensation granted or paid, as applicable, to
any individual for service as a Non-Employee Director with respect to any calendar year, including Awards granted and cash fees paid by the
Company to such Non-Employee Director, will not exceed (i) $750,000 in total value or (ii) in the event such Non-Employee Director is first
appointed or elected to the Board during such calendar year, $1,000,000 in total value, in each case calculating the value of any equity awards
based on the grant date fair value of such equity awards for financial reporting purposes. The limitations in this Section 3(d) shall apply
commencing with the first calendar year that begins following the Effective Date.
4.
Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. Each Option and SAR will have such terms and conditions as determined by the
Board. Each Option will be designated in writing as an Incentive Stock Option or Nonstatutory Stock Option at the time of grant; provided,
however, that if an Option is not so designated, then such Option will be a Nonstatutory Stock Option, and the shares purchased upon exercise
of each type of Option will be separately accounted for. Each SAR will be denominated in shares of Common Stock equivalents. The terms
and conditions of separate Options and SARs need not be identical; provided, however, that each Option Agreement and SAR Agreement will
conform (through incorporation of provisions hereof by reference in the Award Agreement or otherwise) to the substance of each of the
following provisions:
(a)
Term. Subject to Section 3(b) regarding Ten Percent Stockholders, no Option or SAR will be exercisable after the expiration
of ten years from the date of grant of such Award or such shorter period specified herein or in the Award Agreement.
(b)
Exercise or Strike Price. Subject to Section 3(b) regarding Ten Percent Stockholders, the exercise or strike price of each
Option or SAR will not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of such Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an
Option or SAR may be granted with an exercise or strike price lower than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of such Award if
such Award is granted pursuant to an assumption of or substitution for another option or stock appreciation right pursuant to a Corporate
Transaction and in a manner consistent with the provisions of Sections 409A and, if applicable, 424(a) of the Code.
(c)
Exercise Procedure and Payment of Exercise Price for Options. In order to exercise an Option, the Participant must provide
notice of exercise to the Plan Administrator in accordance with the procedures specified in the Option Agreement or otherwise provided by the
Company. The Board has the authority to grant Options that do not permit all of the following methods of payment (or otherwise restrict the
ability to use certain methods) and to grant Options that require the consent of the Company to utilize a particular method of payment. The
exercise price of an Option may be paid, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law and as determined by the Board, by one or more of the
following methods of payment to the extent set forth in the Option Agreement:
(i)

by cash or check, bank draft or money order payable to the Company;

(ii)
pursuant to a “cashless exercise” program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve
Board that, prior to the issuance of the Common Stock subject to the Option, results in either the receipt of cash (or check) by the
Company or the receipt of irrevocable instructions to pay the exercise price to the Company from the sales proceeds;

(iii)
by delivery to the Company (either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock that are already owned
by the Participant free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances or security interests, with a Fair Market Value on the date of
exercise that does not exceed the exercise price, provided that (1) at the time of exercise the Common Stock is publicly traded, (2) any
remaining balance of the exercise price not satisfied by such delivery is paid by the Participant in cash or other permitted form of
payment, (3) such delivery would not violate any Applicable Law or agreement restricting the redemption of the Common Stock, (4)
any certificated shares are endorsed or accompanied by an executed assignment separate from certificate, and (5) such shares have been
held by the Participant for any minimum period necessary to avoid adverse accounting treatment as a result of such delivery;
(iv)
if the Option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, by a “net exercise” arrangement pursuant to which the Company will
reduce the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise by the largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value
on the date of exercise that does not exceed the exercise price, provided that (1) such shares used to pay the exercise price will not be
exercisable thereafter and (2) any remaining balance of the exercise price not satisfied by such net exercise is paid by the Participant in
cash or other permitted form of payment; or
(v)

in any other form of consideration that may be acceptable to the Board and permissible under Applicable Law.

(d)
Exercise Procedure and Payment of Appreciation Distribution for SARs. In order to exercise any SAR, the Participant
must provide notice of exercise to the Plan Administrator in accordance with the SAR Agreement. The appreciation distribution payable to a
Participant upon the exercise of a SAR will not be greater than an amount equal to the excess of (i) the aggregate Fair Market Value on the
date of exercise of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Common Stock equivalents that are vested and being
exercised under such SAR, over (ii) the aggregate strike price of such SAR with respect to the number of Common Stock equivalents that are
vested and being exercised. Such appreciation distribution may be paid to the Participant in the form of Common Stock or cash (or any
combination of Common Stock and cash) or in any other form of payment, as determined by the Board and specified in the SAR Agreement.
(e)
Transferability. Options and SARs may not be transferred to third party financial institutions for value. The Board may
impose such additional limitations on the transferability of an Option or SAR as it determines. In the absence of any such determination by the
Board, the following restrictions on the transferability of Options and SARs will apply, provided that except as explicitly provided herein,
neither an Option nor a SAR may be transferred for consideration and provided, further, that if an Option is an Incentive Stock Option, such
Option may be deemed to be a Nonstatutory Stock Option as a result of such transfer:
(i)
Restrictions on Transfer. An Option or SAR will not be transferable, except by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution, and will be exercisable during the lifetime of the Participant only by the Participant; provided, however, that the Board
may permit transfer of an Option or SAR in a manner that is not prohibited by applicable tax and securities laws upon the Participant’s
request, including to a trust if the Participant is considered to be the sole beneficial owner of such trust (as determined under Section
671 of the Code and applicable state law) while such Option or SAR is held in such trust, provided that the Participant and the trustee
enter into a transfer and other agreements required by the Company.
(ii)
Domestic Relations Orders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the execution of transfer documentation in a
format acceptable to the Company and subject to the approval of the Board or a duly authorized Officer, an Option or SAR may be
transferred pursuant to a domestic relations order.
(f)
Vesting. The Board may impose such restrictions on or conditions to the vesting and/or exercisability of an Option or SAR as
determined by the Board. Except as explicitly otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement between a Participant
and the Company or an Affiliate, vesting of Options and SARs will cease upon termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service.
(g)
Termination of Continuous Service for Cause. Except as explicitly otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other
written agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, if a Participant’s Continuous Service is terminated for Cause, the
Participant’s Options and SARs will terminate and be forfeited immediately upon such termination of Continuous Service, and the Participant
will be prohibited from exercising any portion (including any vested portion) of such Awards on and after the date of such termination of
Continuous Service and the Participant will have no further right, title or interest in such forfeited Award, the shares of Common Stock subject
to the forfeited Award, or any consideration in respect of the forfeited Award.

(h)
Post-Termination Exercise Period Following Termination of Continuous Service for Reasons Other than Cause. Subject
to Section 4(i), if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates for any reason other than for Cause, the Participant may exercise his or her
Option or SAR to the extent vested, but only within three (3) months following such termination of Continuous Service, unless another period
of time is provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate; provided,
however, that in no event may such Award be exercised after the expiration of its maximum term (as set forth in Section 4(a)). Following the
date of such termination, to the extent the Participant does not exercise such Award within the applicable Post-Termination Exercise Period (or,
if earlier, prior to the expiration of the maximum term of such Award), such unexercised portion of the Award will terminate, and the
Participant will have no further right, title or interest in the terminated Award, the shares of Common Stock subject to the terminated Award, or
any consideration in respect of the terminated Award.
(i)
Restrictions on Exercise; Extension of Exercisability. A Participant may not exercise an Option or SAR at any time that the
issuance of shares of Common Stock upon such exercise would violate Applicable Law. Except as otherwise provided in the Award
Agreement or other written agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates
for any reason other than for Cause and, at any time during the last thirty days of the applicable Post-Termination Exercise Period: (i) the
exercise of the Participant’s Option or SAR would be prohibited solely because the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon such exercise
would violate Applicable Law, or (ii) the immediate sale of any shares of Common Stock issued upon such exercise would violate the
Company’s Trading Policy, then the applicable Post-Termination Exercise Period will be extended to the last day of the calendar month that
commences following the date the Award would otherwise expire, with an additional extension of the exercise period to the last day of the next
calendar month to apply if any of the foregoing restrictions apply at any time during such extended exercise period, generally without
limitation as to the maximum permitted number of extensions; provided, however, that in no event may such Award be exercised after the
expiration of its maximum term (as set forth in Section 4(a)).
(j)
Non-Exempt Employees. No Option or SAR, whether or not vested, granted to an Employee who is a non-exempt employee
for purposes of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, will be first exercisable for any shares of Common Stock until at least six
months following the date of grant of such Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in accordance with the provisions of the Worker Economic
Opportunity Act, any vested portion of such Award may be exercised earlier than six months following the date of grant of such Award in the
event of (i) such Participant’s death or Disability, (ii) a Corporate Transaction in which such Award is not assumed, continued or substituted,
(iii) a Change in Control, or (iv) such Participant’s retirement (as such term may be defined in the Award Agreement or another applicable
agreement or, in the absence of any such definition, in accordance with the Company’s then current employment policies and guidelines). This
Section 4(j) is intended to operate so that any income derived by a non-exempt employee in connection with the exercise or vesting of an
Option or SAR will be exempt from his or her regular rate of pay.
(k)
5.

Whole Shares. Options and SARs may be exercised only with respect to whole shares of Common Stock or their equivalents.

Awards Other Than Options and Stock Appreciation Rights.

(a)
Restricted Stock Awards and RSU Awards. Each Restricted Stock Award and RSU Award will have such terms and
conditions as determined by the Board; provided, however, that each Restricted Stock Award Agreement and RSU Award Agreement will
conform (through incorporation of the provisions hereof by reference in the Award Agreement or otherwise) to the substance of each of the
following provisions:
(i)

Form of Award.

(1)
RSAs: To the extent consistent with the Company’s Bylaws, at the Board’s election, shares of Common Stock
subject to a Restricted Stock Award may be (i) held in book entry form subject to the Company’s instructions until such shares
become vested or any other restrictions lapse, or (ii) evidenced by a certificate, which certificate will be held in such form and
manner as determined by the Board. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, a Participant will have voting and other rights
as a stockholder of the Company with respect to any shares subject to a Restricted Stock Award.

(2)
RSUs: An RSU Award represents a Participant’s right to be issued on a future date the number of shares of
Common Stock that is equal to the number of restricted stock units subject to the RSU Award. As a holder of an RSU Award, a
Participant is an unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to the Company’s unfunded obligation, if any, to issue shares
of Common Stock in settlement of such Award and nothing contained in the Plan or any RSU Agreement, and no action taken
pursuant to its provisions, will create or be construed to create a trust of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between a
Participant and the Company or an Affiliate or any other person. A Participant will not have voting or any other rights as a
stockholder of the Company with respect to any RSU Award (unless and until shares are actually issued in settlement of a
vested RSU Award).
(ii)

Consideration.

(1)
RSA: A Restricted Stock Award may be granted in consideration for (A) cash or check, bank draft or money
order payable to the Company, (B) past services to the Company or an Affiliate, or (C) any other form of consideration
(including future services) as the Board may determine and permissible under Applicable Law.
(2)
RSU: Unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of grant, an RSU Award will be granted in
consideration for the Participant’s services to the Company or an Affiliate, such that the Participant will not be required to make
any payment to the Company (other than such services) with respect to the grant or vesting of the RSU Award, or the issuance
of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the RSU Award. If, at the time of grant, the Board determines that any
consideration must be paid by the Participant (in a form other than the Participant’s services to the Company or an Affiliate)
upon the issuance of any shares of Common Stock in settlement of the RSU Award, such consideration may be paid in any form
of consideration as the Board may determine and permissible under Applicable Law.
(iii)
Vesting. The Board may impose such restrictions on or conditions to the vesting of a Restricted Stock Award or RSU
Award as determined by the Board. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement between a
Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, vesting of Restricted Stock Awards and RSU Awards will cease upon termination of the
Participant’s Continuous Service.
(iv)
Termination of Continuous Service. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written
agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates for any reason, (i)
the Company may receive through a forfeiture condition or a repurchase right any or all of the shares of Common Stock held by the
Participant under his or her Restricted Stock Award that have not vested as of the date of such termination as set forth in the Restricted
Stock Award Agreement and (ii) any portion of his or her RSU Award that has not vested will be forfeited upon such termination and
the Participant will have no further right, title or interest in the RSU Award, the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the RSU
Award, or any consideration in respect of the RSU Award.
(v)
Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. Dividends or dividend equivalents may be paid or credited, as applicable, with
respect to any shares of Common Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Award or RSU Award, as determined by the Board and specified
in the Award Agreement.
(vi)
Settlement of RSU Awards. An RSU Award may be settled by the issuance of shares of Common Stock or cash (or
any combination thereof) or in any other form of payment, as determined by the Board and specified in the RSU Award Agreement. At
the time of grant, the Board may determine to impose such restrictions or conditions that delay such delivery to a date following the
vesting of the RSU Award.
(b)
Performance Awards. With respect to any Performance Award, the length of any Performance Period, the Performance Goals
to be achieved during the Performance Period, the other terms and conditions of such Award, and the measure of whether and to what degree
such Performance Goals have been attained will be determined by the Board.

(c)
Other Awards. Other Equity-Based Awards and Other Cash-Based Awards may be granted to Participants, alone or in tandem
with other Awards, in such amounts and dependent on such conditions as the Board shall from time to time in its sole discretion determine.
Each Other Equity-Based Award granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement and each Other Cash-Based Award
granted under the Plan shall be evidenced in such form as the Board may determine from time to time. Each Other Equity-Based Award or
Other Cash-Based Award, as applicable, so granted shall be subject to such conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be reflected in the
applicable Award Agreement or other form evidencing such Award.
6.

Adjustments upon Changes in Common Stock; Other Corporate Events.

(a)
Capitalization Adjustments. In the event of a Capitalization Adjustment, the Board shall appropriately and proportionately
adjust: (i) the class(es) and maximum number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Plan and the maximum number of shares by which
the Share Reserve may annually increase pursuant to Section 2(a); (ii) the class(es) and maximum number of shares that may be issued
pursuant to the exercise of Incentive Stock Options pursuant to Section 2(a); and (iii) the class(es) and number of securities and exercise price,
strike price or purchase price of Common Stock subject to outstanding Awards. The Board shall make such adjustments in a matter that it
deems equitable in its sole discretion, and its determination shall be final, binding and conclusive. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no fractional
shares or rights for fractional shares of Common Stock shall be created in order to implement any Capitalization Adjustment. The Board shall
determine an appropriate equivalent benefit, if any, for any fractional shares or rights to fractional shares that might be created by the
adjustments referred to in the preceding provisions of this Section.
(b)
Dissolution or Liquidation. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, in the event of a dissolution or liquidation
of the Company, all outstanding Awards (other than Awards consisting of vested and outstanding shares of Common Stock not subject to a
forfeiture condition or the Company’s right of repurchase) will terminate immediately prior to the completion of such dissolution or
liquidation, and the shares of Common Stock subject to the Company’s repurchase rights or subject to a forfeiture condition may be
repurchased or reacquired by the Company notwithstanding the fact that the holder of such Award is providing Continuous Service, provided,
however, that the Board may determine to cause some or all Awards to become fully vested, exercisable and/or no longer subject to repurchase
or forfeiture (to the extent such Awards have not previously expired or terminated) before the dissolution or liquidation is completed but
contingent on its completion.
(c)
Corporate Transaction. The following provisions will apply to Awards in the event of a Corporate Transaction unless
otherwise explicitly provided in the instrument evidencing the Award or any other written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate
and the Participant or unless otherwise expressly provided by the Board at the time of grant of an Award.
(i)
Awards May Be Assumed. In the event of a Corporate Transaction, any surviving corporation or acquiring corporation
(or the surviving or acquiring corporation’s parent company) may assume or continue any or all Awards outstanding under the Plan or
may substitute similar awards for Awards outstanding under the Plan (including but not limited to, awards to acquire the same
consideration paid to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to the Corporate Transaction), and any reacquisition or repurchase
rights held by the Company in respect of Common Stock issued pursuant to Awards may be assigned by the Company to the successor
of the Company (or the successor’s parent company, if any), in connection with such Corporate Transaction. A surviving corporation or
acquiring corporation (or its parent) may choose to assume or continue only a portion of an Award or substitute a similar award for
only a portion of an Award, or may choose to assume or continue the Awards held by some, but not all Participants. The terms of any
assumption, continuation or substitution will be set by, and whether there will be any such assumption, continuation or substitution will
be determined by, the Board.

(ii)
Awards Held by Current Participants. In the event of a Corporate Transaction in which the surviving corporation or
acquiring corporation (or its parent company) does not assume or continue such outstanding Awards or substitute similar awards for
such outstanding Awards, then with respect to Awards that have not been assumed, continued or substituted and that are held by
Participants whose Continuous Service has not terminated prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction (referred to as the
“Current Participants”), the vesting of such Awards (and, with respect to Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, the time when such
Awards may be exercised) will be accelerated in full to a date prior to the effective time of such Corporate Transaction (contingent
upon the effectiveness of the Corporate Transaction) as the Board determines (or, if the Board does not determine such a date, to the
date that is five (5) days prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction), and such Awards will terminate for no consideration
if not exercised (if applicable) at or prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction, and any reacquisition or repurchase rights
held by the Company with respect to such Awards will lapse (contingent upon the effectiveness of the Corporate Transaction). With
respect to the vesting of Performance Awards that will accelerate upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction pursuant to this
subsection (ii) and that have multiple vesting levels depending on the level of performance, unless otherwise provided in the Award
Agreement or unless otherwise provided by the Board, the vesting of such Performance Awards will accelerate at 100% of the target
level upon the occurrence of the Corporate Transaction. With respect to the vesting of Awards that will accelerate upon the occurrence
of a Corporate Transaction pursuant to this subsection (ii) and are settled in the form of a cash payment, such cash payment will be
made no later than 30 days following the occurrence of the Corporate Transaction.
(iii)
Awards Held by Persons other than Current Participants. In the event of a Corporate Transaction in which the
surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or its parent company) does not assume or continue such outstanding Awards or
substitute similar awards for such outstanding Awards, then with respect to Awards that have not been assumed, continued or
substituted and that are held by persons other than Current Participants, such Awards will terminate for no consideration if not
exercised (if applicable) prior to the occurrence of the Corporate Transaction; provided, however, that any reacquisition or repurchase
rights held by the Company with respect to such Awards will not terminate and may continue to be exercised notwithstanding the
Corporate Transaction.
(iv)
Payment for Awards in Lieu of Exercise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event an Award will terminate if not
exercised prior to the effective time of a Corporate Transaction (as determined by the Board in its sole discretion), the Board may
provide, in its sole discretion, that the holder of such Award may not exercise such Award but will receive a payment, in such form as
may be determined by the Board, equal in value, at the effective time, to the excess, if any, of (1) the value of the property the
Participant would have received upon the exercise of the Award (including, at the discretion of the Board, any unvested portion of such
Award), over (2) any exercise price payable by such holder in connection with such exercise. In the event the exercise price payable by
such holder in connection with such exercise equals or exceeds the value of the property the holder would have received upon the
exercise of the Award, the Board, in its sole discretion, may provide for the cancellation of the Award without any consideration
payable to the holder thereof.
(d)
Appointment of Stockholder Representative. As a condition to the receipt of an Award under this Plan, a Participant will be
deemed to have agreed that the Award will be subject to the terms of any agreement governing a Corporate Transaction involving the
Company, including, without limitation, a provision for the appointment of a stockholder representative that is authorized to act on the
Participant’s behalf with respect to any escrow, indemnities and any contingent consideration.
(e)
No Restriction on Right to Undertake Transactions. The grant of any Award under the Plan and the issuance of shares
pursuant to any Award does not affect or restrict in any way the right or power of the Company or the stockholders of the Company to make or
authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or other change in the Company’s capital structure or its business, any merger or
consolidation of the Company, any issue of stock or of options, rights or options to purchase stock or of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior
preference stocks whose rights are superior to or affect the Common Stock or the rights thereof or which are convertible into or exchangeable
for Common Stock, or the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or business, or any
other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a similar character or otherwise.
7.

Administration.

(a)
Administration by Board. The Board will administer the Plan unless and until the Board delegates administration of the Plan
to a Committee or Committees, as provided in subsection (c) below. Actions or decisions of the Board under the Plan need not be uniform
with respect to all Participant and/or Awards.

(b)

Powers of Board. The Board will have the power, subject to, and within the limitations of, the express provisions of the Plan:

(i)
To determine from time to time (1) which of the persons eligible under the Plan will be granted Awards; (2) when and
how each Award will be granted; (3) what type or combination of types of Award will be granted; (4) the provisions of each Award
granted (which need not be identical), including the time or times when a person will be permitted to receive an issuance of Common
Stock or other payment pursuant to an Award; (5) the number of shares of Common Stock or cash equivalent with respect to which an
Award will be granted to each such person; (6) the Fair Market Value applicable to an Award; and (7) the terms of any Performance
Award that is not valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, the Common Stock, including the amount of cash
payment or other property that may be earned and the timing of payment.
(ii)
To construe and interpret the Plan and Awards granted under it, and to establish, amend and revoke rules and
regulations for its administration. The Board, in the exercise of this power, may correct any defect, omission or inconsistency in the
Plan or in any Award Agreement, in a manner and to the extent it deems necessary or expedient to make the Plan or Award fully
effective.
(iii)

To settle all controversies regarding the Plan and Awards granted under it.

(iv) To accelerate the time at which an Award may first be exercised or the time during which an Award or any part thereof will
vest, notwithstanding the provisions in the Award Agreement stating the time at which it may first be exercised or the time during which it will
vest.
(v) To prohibit the exercise of any Option, SAR or other exercisable Award during a period of up to 30 days prior to the
consummation of any pending stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, merger, consolidation or other distribution
(other than normal cash dividends) of Company assets to stockholders, or any other change affecting the shares of Common Stock or the share
price of the Common Stock including any Corporate Transaction, for reasons of administrative convenience.
(vi) To suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. Suspension or termination of the Plan will not Materially Impair rights and
obligations under any Award granted while the Plan is in effect except with the written consent of the affected Participant.
(vii) To amend the Plan in any respect the Board deems necessary or advisable; provided, however, that stockholder approval will be required for any
amendment to the extent required by Applicable Law. Except as provided above, rights under any Award granted before amendment of the Plan will not be Materially
Impaired by any amendment of the Plan unless (1) the Company requests the consent of the affected Participant, and (2) such Participant consents in writing.

(viii) To submit any amendment to the Plan for stockholder approval.
(ix) To approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan and to amend the terms of any one or more Awards, including, but not limited to,
amendments to provide terms more favorable to the Participant than previously provided in the Award Agreement, subject to any specified limits in the Plan that are not
subject to Board discretion; provided however, that, a Participant’s rights under any Award will not be Materially Impaired by any such amendment unless (1) the Company
requests the consent of the affected Participant, and (2) such Participant consents in writing.

(x) Generally, to exercise such powers and to perform such acts as the Board deems necessary or expedient to promote the best
interests of the Company and that are not in conflict with the provisions of the Plan or Awards.
(xi) To adopt such procedures and sub-plans as are necessary or appropriate to permit and facilitate participation in the Plan by,
or take advantage of specific tax treatment for Awards granted to, Employees, Directors or Consultants who are foreign nationals or employed
outside the United States (provided that Board approval will not be necessary for immaterial modifications to the Plan or any Award
Agreement to ensure or facilitate compliance with the laws of the relevant foreign jurisdiction).

(xii) To effect, at any time and from time to time, subject to the consent of any Participant whose Award is Materially Impaired
by such action, (1) the cancellation of any outstanding Option or SAR and the grant in substitution therefor of (A) a new Option, SAR,
Restricted Stock Award, RSU Award or Other Award, under the Plan or another equity plan of the Company, covering the same or a different
number of shares of Common Stock, (B) cash and/or (C) other valuable consideration (as determined by the Board); or (2) any other action
that is treated as a repricing under generally accepted accounting principles; provided, however, that except for any adjustment contemplated
by Section 6(a) through (c), or otherwise in connection with a corporate transaction involving the Company (including without limitation any
stock dividend, stock split, extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination,
or exchange of shares), no outstanding Options or SARs shall be amended to reduce their exercise price or base price, and no outstanding
Options or SARs with an exercise price or base price less than current Fair Market Value shall be cancelled in exchange for cash, other Awards
or Options or SARs with an exercise price or base price that is less than the exercise price or base price of the original Options or SARs
without the approval of the stockholders of the Company.
(c)

Delegation to Committee.

(i)
General. The Board may delegate some or all of the administration of the Plan to a Committee or Committees. In the
event of such delegation, all references herein to the Board shall be deemed references to the Committee, except with respect to
amendment or termination of the Plan. If administration of the Plan is delegated to a Committee, the Committee will have, in
connection with the administration of the Plan, the powers theretofore possessed by the Board that have been delegated to the
Committee, including the power to delegate to another Committee or a subcommittee of the Committee any of the administrative
powers the Committee is authorized to exercise (and references in this Plan to the Board will thereafter be to the Committee or
subcommittee), subject, however, to such resolutions, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan, as may be adopted from time to
time by the Board. Each Committee may retain the authority to concurrently administer the Plan with Committee or subcommittee to
which it has delegated its authority hereunder and may, at any time, revest in such Committee some or all of the powers previously
delegated. The Board may retain the authority to concurrently administer the Plan with any Committee and may, at any time, revest in
the Board some or all of the powers previously delegated.
(ii)
Rule 16b-3 Compliance. To the extent an Award is intended to qualify for the exemption from Section 16(b) of the
Exchange Act that is available under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act, the Award will be granted by the Board or a Committee (or a
subcommittee thereof) that consists solely of two or more Non-Employee Directors, as determined under Rule 16b-3(b)(3) of the
Exchange Act and thereafter any action establishing or modifying the terms of the Award will be approved by the Board or a
Committee (or a subcommittee) meeting such requirements to the extent necessary for such exemption to remain available.
(d)
Effect of Board’s Decision. All determinations, interpretations and constructions made by the Board or any Committee with
respect to the Plan or any Awards granted under it (including any Award Agreements) will not be subject to review by any person and will be
final, binding and conclusive on all persons.
(e)
Delegation to an Officer. The Board or any Committee may delegate to one or more Officers the authority to do one or both
of the following (i) designate Employees who are not Officers to be recipients of Options and SARs (and, to the extent permitted by
Applicable Law, other types of Awards) and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the terms thereof, and (ii) determine the number of
shares of Common Stock to be subject to such Awards granted to such Employees; provided, however, that the resolutions or charter adopted
by the Board or any Committee evidencing such delegation will specify the total number of shares of Common Stock that may be subject to
the Awards granted by such Officer and that such Officer may not grant an Award to himself or herself. Any such Awards will be granted on
the applicable form of Award Agreement most recently approved for use by the Board or the Committee, unless otherwise provided in the
resolutions approving the delegation authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, neither the Board nor any Committee may
delegate to an Officer who is acting solely in the capacity of an Officer (and not also as a Director) the authority to determine the Fair Market
Value.
8.

Tax Withholding

(a)
Withholding Authorization. All Awards and payments thereunder shall be subject to applicable tax withholding. As a
condition to acceptance of any Award under the Plan, a Participant authorizes withholding from payroll and any other amounts payable to such
Participant, and otherwise agree to make adequate provision for (including), any sums required to satisfy any U.S. federal, state, local and/or
foreign tax or social insurance contribution withholding obligations of the Company or an Affiliate, if any, which arise in connection with the
exercise, vesting or settlement of such Award, as applicable. Accordingly, a Participant may not be able to exercise an Award even though the
Award is vested, and the Company shall have no obligation to issue shares of Common Stock subject to an Award, unless and until such
obligations are satisfied.

(b)
Satisfaction of Withholding Obligation. To the extent permitted by the terms of an Award Agreement, the Company may, in
its sole discretion, satisfy any U.S. federal, state, local and/or foreign tax or social insurance withholding obligation relating to an Award by
any of the following means or by a combination of such means: (i) causing the Participant to tender a cash payment; (ii) withholding shares of
Common Stock from the shares of Common Stock issued or otherwise issuable to the Participant in connection with the Award; (iii)
withholding cash from an Award settled in cash; (iv) withholding payment from any amounts otherwise payable to the Participant; (v) by
allowing a Participant to effectuate a “cashless exercise” pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal
Reserve Board; or (vi) by such other method as may be set forth in the Award Agreement.
(c)
No Obligation to Notify or Minimize Taxes; No Liability to Claims. Except as required by Applicable Law, the Company
has no duty or obligation to any Participant to advise such holder as to the time or manner of exercising such Award. Furthermore, the
Company has no duty or obligation to warn or otherwise advise such holder of a pending termination or expiration of an Award or a possible
period in which the Award may not be exercised. The Company has no duty or obligation to minimize the tax consequences of an Award to the
holder of such Award and will not be liable to any holder of an Award for any adverse tax consequences to such holder in connection with an
Award. As a condition to accepting an Award under the Plan, each Participant (i) agrees to not make any claim against the Company, or any of
its Officers, Directors, Employees or Affiliates related to tax liabilities arising from such Award or other Company compensation and (ii)
acknowledges that such Participant was advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, financial and other legal advisors regarding the tax
consequences of the Award and has either done so or knowingly and voluntarily declined to do so. Additionally, each Participant
acknowledges any Option or SAR granted under the Plan is exempt from Section 409A only if the exercise or strike price is at least equal to
the “fair market value” of the Common Stock on the date of grant as determined by the Internal Revenue Service and there is no other
impermissible deferral of compensation associated with the Award. Additionally, as a condition to accepting an Option or SAR granted under
the Plan, each Participant agrees not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers, Directors, Employees or Affiliates in the
event that the Internal Revenue Service asserts that such exercise price or strike price is less than the “fair market value” of the Common Stock
on the date of grant as subsequently determined by the Internal Revenue Service.
(d)
Withholding Indemnification. As a condition to accepting an Award under the Plan, in the event that the amount of the
Company’s and/or its Affiliate’s withholding obligation in connection with such Award was greater than the amount actually withheld by the
Company and/or its Affiliates, each Participant agrees to indemnify and hold the Company and/or its Affiliates harmless from any failure by
the Company and/or its Affiliates to withhold the proper amount.
9.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Source of Shares. The stock issuable under the Plan will be shares of authorized but unissued or reacquired Common Stock,
including shares repurchased by the Company on the open market or otherwise.
(b)
Use of Proceeds from Sales of Common Stock. Proceeds from the sale of shares of Common Stock pursuant to Awards will
constitute general funds of the Company.
(c)
Corporate Action Constituting Grant of Awards. Corporate action constituting a grant by the Company of an Award to any
Participant will be deemed completed as of the date of such corporate action, unless otherwise determined by the Board, regardless of when
the instrument, certificate, or letter evidencing the Award is communicated to, or actually received or accepted by, the Participant. In the event
that the corporate records (e.g., Board consents, resolutions or minutes) documenting the corporate action approving the grant contain terms
(e.g., exercise price, vesting schedule or number of shares) that are inconsistent with those in the Award Agreement or related grant documents
as a result of a clerical error in the Award Agreement or related grant documents, the corporate records will control and the Participant will
have no legally binding right to the incorrect term in the Award Agreement or related grant documents.
(d)
Stockholder Rights. No Participant will be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to,
any shares of Common Stock subject to such Award unless and until (i) such Participant has satisfied all requirements for exercise of the
Award pursuant to its terms, if applicable, and (ii) the issuance of the Common Stock subject to such Award is reflected in the records of the
Company.

(e)
No Employment or Other Service Rights. Nothing in the Plan, any Award Agreement or any other instrument executed
thereunder or in connection with any Award granted pursuant thereto will confer upon any Participant any right to continue to serve the
Company or an Affiliate in the capacity in effect at the time the Award was granted or affect the right of the Company or an Affiliate to
terminate at will and without regard to any future vesting opportunity that a Participant may have with respect to any Award (i) the
employment of an Employee with or without notice and with or without cause, (ii) the service of a Consultant pursuant to the terms of such
Consultant’s agreement with the Company or an Affiliate, or (iii) the service of a Director pursuant to the Bylaws of the Company or an
Affiliate, and any applicable provisions of the corporate law of the state or foreign jurisdiction in which the Company or the Affiliate is
incorporated, as the case may be. Further, nothing in the Plan, any Award Agreement or any other instrument executed thereunder or in
connection with any Award will constitute any promise or commitment by the Company or an Affiliate regarding the fact or nature of future
positions, future work assignments, future compensation or any other term or condition of employment or service or confer any right or benefit
under the Award or the Plan unless such right or benefit has specifically accrued under the terms of the Award Agreement and/or Plan.
(f)
Execution of Additional Documents. As a condition to accepting an Award under the Plan, the Participant agrees to execute
any additional documents or instruments necessary or desirable, as determined in the Plan Administrator’s sole discretion, to carry out the
purposes or intent of the Award, or facilitate compliance with securities and/or other regulatory requirements, in each case at the Plan
Administrator’s request.
(g)
Electronic Delivery and Participation. Any reference herein or in an Award Agreement to a “written” agreement or
document will include any agreement or document delivered electronically, filed publicly at www.sec.gov (or any successor website thereto)
or posted on the Company’s intranet (or other shared electronic medium controlled by the Company to which the Participant has access). By
accepting any Award the Participant consents to receive documents by electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through any on-line
electronic system established and maintained by the Plan Administrator or another third party selected by the Plan Administrator. The form of
delivery of any Common Stock (e.g., a stock certificate or electronic entry evidencing such shares) shall be determined by the Company.
(h)
Clawback/Recovery. All Awards granted under the Plan will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy
that the Company is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of any national securities exchange or association on which the
Company’s securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or other
Applicable Law and any clawback policy that the Company otherwise adopts, to the extent applicable and permissible under Applicable Law.
In addition, the Board may impose such other clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions in an Award Agreement as the Board determines
necessary or appropriate, including but not limited to a reacquisition right in respect of previously acquired shares of Common Stock or other
cash or property upon the occurrence of Cause. No recovery of compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a
Participant’s right to voluntary terminate employment upon a “resignation for good reason,” or for a “constructive termination” or any similar
term under any plan of or agreement with the Company.
(i)
Securities Law Compliance. A Participant will not be issued any shares in respect of an Award unless either (i) the shares are
registered under the Securities Act; or (ii) the Company has determined that such issuance would be exempt from the registration requirements
of the Securities Act. Each Award also must comply with other Applicable Law governing the Award, and a Participant will not receive such
shares if the Company determines that such receipt would not be in material compliance with Applicable Law.
(j)
Transfer or Assignment of Awards; Issued Shares. Except as expressly provided in the Plan or the form of Award
Agreement, Awards granted under the Plan may not be transferred or assigned by the Participant. After the vested shares subject to an Award
have been issued, or in the case of Restricted Stock and similar awards, after the issued shares have vested, the holder of such shares is free to
assign, hypothecate, donate, encumber or otherwise dispose of any interest in such shares provided that any such actions are in compliance
with the provisions herein, the terms of the Trading Policy and Applicable Law.

(k)
Effect on Other Employee Benefit Plans. The value of any Award granted under the Plan, as determined upon grant, vesting
or settlement, shall not be included as compensation, earnings, salaries, or other similar terms used when calculating any Participant’s benefits
under any employee benefit plan sponsored by the Company or any Affiliate, except as such plan otherwise expressly provides. The Company
expressly reserves its rights to amend, modify, or terminate any of the Company’s or any Affiliate’s employee benefit plans.
(l)
Deferrals. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Board, in its sole discretion, may determine that the delivery of
Common Stock or the payment of cash, upon the exercise, vesting or settlement of all or a portion of any Award may be deferred and may also
establish programs and procedures for deferral elections to be made by Participants. Deferrals by will be made in accordance with the
requirements of Section 409A.
(m)
Section 409A. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in an Award Agreement, the Plan and Award Agreements will be
interpreted to the greatest extent possible in a manner that makes the Plan and the Awards granted hereunder exempt from Section 409A, and,
to the extent not so exempt, in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A. If the Board determines that any Award granted hereunder
is not exempt from and is therefore subject to Section 409A, the Award Agreement evidencing such Award will incorporate the terms and
conditions necessary to avoid the consequences specified in Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code, and to the extent an Award Agreement is silent on
terms necessary for compliance, such terms are hereby incorporated by reference into the Award Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Plan (and unless the Award Agreement specifically provides otherwise), if the shares of Common Stock are publicly traded,
and if a Participant holding an Award that constitutes “deferred compensation” under Section 409A is a “specified employee” for purposes of
Section 409A, no distribution or payment of any amount that is due because of a “separation from service” (as defined in Section 409A
without regard to alternative definitions thereunder) will be issued or paid before the date that is six months and one day following the date of
such Participant’s “separation from service” or, if earlier, the date of the Participant’s death, unless such distribution or payment can be made
in a manner that complies with Section 409A, and any amounts so deferred will be paid in a lump sum on the day after such six month period
elapses, with the balance paid thereafter on the original schedule.
(n)
Choice of Law. This Plan and any controversy arising out of or relating to this Plan shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in any application of
any law other than the law of the State of Delaware.
10. Covenants of the Company.

(a)
Compliance with Law. The Company will seek to obtain from each regulatory commission or agency, as may be deemed to be
necessary, having jurisdiction over the Plan such authority as may be required to grant Awards and to issue and sell shares of Common Stock
upon exercise or vesting of the Awards; provided, however, that this undertaking will not require the Company to register under the Securities
Act the Plan, any Award or any Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to any such Award. If, after reasonable efforts and at a reasonable
cost, the Company is unable to obtain from any such regulatory commission or agency the authority that counsel for the Company deems
necessary or advisable for the lawful issuance and sale of Common Stock under the Plan, the Company will be relieved from any liability for
failure to issue and sell Common Stock upon exercise or vesting of such Awards unless and until such authority is obtained. A Participant is
not eligible for the grant of an Award or the subsequent issuance of Common Stock pursuant to the Award if such grant or issuance would be
in violation of any Applicable Law.
11. Severability. If all or any part of the Plan or any Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful
or invalid, such unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate any portion of the Plan or such Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or
invalid. Any Section of the Plan or any Award Agreement (or part of such a Section) so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be
construed in a manner which will give effect to the terms of such Section or part of a Section to the fullest extent possible while remaining
lawful and valid.
12. Termination of the Plan. The Board may suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. No Incentive Stock Options may be granted after
the tenth anniversary of the earlier of: (i) the Adoption Date, or (ii) the date the Plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders. No Awards
may be granted under the Plan while the Plan is suspended or after it is terminated.
13. Definitions.
As used in the Plan, the following definitions apply to the capitalized terms indicated below:

(a)

“Adoption Date” means the date the Plan is first approved by the Board or Compensation Committee.

(b)
“Affiliate” means, at the time of determination, any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company as such terms are defined in Rule
405 promulgated under the Securities Act. The Board may determine the time or times at which “parent” or “subsidiary” status is determined
within the foregoing definition.
(c)
“Applicable Law” means shall mean any applicable securities, federal, state, foreign, material local or municipal or other law,
statute, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, listing rule, regulation, judicial decision, ruling
or requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental
Body (including under the authority of any applicable self-regulating organization such as the Nasdaq Stock Market, New York Stock
Exchange, or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).
(d)
“Award” means any right to receive Common Stock, cash or other property granted under the Plan (including an Incentive
Stock Option, a Nonstatutory Stock Option, a Restricted Stock Award, an RSU Award, a SAR, a Performance Award or any Other Award).
(e)
“Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a Participant evidencing the terms and conditions
of an Award. The Award Agreement generally consists of the Grant Notice and the agreement containing the written summary of the general
terms and conditions applicable to the Award and which is provided to a Participant along with the Grant Notice.
(f)
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company (or its designee). Any decision or determination made by the Board
shall be a decision or determination that is made in the sole discretion of the Board (or its designee), and such decision or determination shall
be final and binding on all Participants.
(g)
“Capitalization Adjustment” means any change that is made in, or other events that occur with respect to, the Common Stock
subject to the Plan or subject to any Award after the Effective Date without the receipt of consideration by the Company through merger,
consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, reincorporation, stock dividend, dividend in property other than cash, large nonrecurring cash
dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, liquidating dividend, combination of shares, exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or any
similar equity restructuring transaction, as that term is used in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 718 (or any successor thereto). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the conversion of any convertible securities of the Company
will not be treated as a Capitalization Adjustment.
(h)
“Cause” has the meaning ascribed to such term in any written agreement between the Participant and the Company defining
such term and, in the absence of such agreement, such term means, with respect to a Participant, the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i) such Participant’s commission of (or attempted commission of), or participation in, a fraud or act of dishonesty against the Company; (ii)
such Participant’s material violation or breach of any contract or agreement between the Participant and the Company or any Affiliate
(including, without limitation, any covenant of confidentiality, noncompetition or nonsolicitation) or of any statutory duty owed to the
Company; (iii) such Participant’s unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s confidential information or trade secrets; (iv) such
Participant’s gross or willful misconduct; (v) such Participant’s conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, a felony or crime of moral
turpitude; or (vi) the Participant’s exhibition of a standard of behavior during the course of or related to the Participant’s employment or other
engagement with the Company or any Affiliate that is disruptive to the orderly conduct of the Company’s or any Affiliate’s business
operations, including, without limitation, substance abuse, sexual harassment or sexual misconduct or other unlawful harassment or retaliation.
The determination that a termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service is either for Cause or without Cause will be made by the Board
with respect to Participants who are executive officers of the Company and by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer with respect to
Participants who are not executive officers of the Company. Any determination by the Company that the Continuous Service of a Participant
was terminated with or without Cause for the purposes of outstanding Awards held by such Participant will have no effect upon any
determination of the rights or obligations of the Company or such Participant for any other purpose.
(i)
“Change in Control” or “Change of Control” means the occurrence, in a single transaction or in a series of related
transactions, of any one or more of the following events; provided, however, to the extent necessary to avoid adverse personal income tax
consequences to the Participant in connection with an Award, also constitutes a Section 409A Change in Control:

(i)
any Exchange Act Person becomes the Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more
than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities other than by virtue of a merger, consolidation or
similar transaction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall not be deemed to occur (A) on account of the acquisition
of securities of the Company directly from the Company, (B) on account of the acquisition of securities of the Company by an investor,
any affiliate thereof or any other Exchange Act Person that acquires the Company’s securities in a transaction or series of related
transactions the primary purpose of which is to obtain financing for the Company through the issuance of equity securities, or (C)
solely because the level of Ownership held by any Exchange Act Person (the “Subject Person”) exceeds the designated percentage
threshold of the outstanding voting securities as a result of a repurchase or other acquisition of voting securities by the Company
reducing the number of shares outstanding, provided that if a Change in Control would occur (but for the operation of this sentence) as
a result of the acquisition of voting securities by the Company, and after such share acquisition, the Subject Person becomes the Owner
of any additional voting securities that, assuming the repurchase or other acquisition had not occurred, increases the percentage of the
then outstanding voting securities Owned by the Subject Person over the designated percentage threshold, then a Change in Control
shall be deemed to occur;
(ii)
there is consummated a merger, consolidation or similar transaction involving (directly or indirectly) the Company
and, immediately after the consummation of such merger, consolidation or similar transaction, the stockholders of the Company
immediately prior thereto do not Own, directly or indirectly, either (A) outstanding voting securities representing more than 50% of the
combined outstanding voting power of the surviving Entity in such merger, consolidation or similar transaction or (B) more than 50%
of the combined outstanding voting power of the parent of the surviving Entity in such merger, consolidation or similar transaction, in
each case in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of the outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately
prior to such transaction;
(iii)
there is consummated a sale, lease, exclusive license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated
assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, other than a sale, lease, license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the
consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries to an Entity, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting
securities of which are Owned by stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of the
outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately prior to such sale, lease, license or other disposition; or
(iv)
individuals who, on the date the Plan is adopted by the Board, are members of the Board (the “Incumbent Board”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the members of the Board; provided, however, that if the appointment or
election (or nomination for election) of any new Board member was approved or recommended by a majority vote of the members of
the Incumbent Board then still in office, such new member shall, for purposes of this Plan, be considered as a member of the
Incumbent Board.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Plan, (A) the term Change in Control shall not include a sale of assets,
merger or other transaction effected exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Company, and (B) the definition of Change in
Control (or any analogous term) in an individual written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate and the Participant that is
specifically intended to apply to an Award granted under the Plan shall supersede the foregoing definition with respect to Awards subject to
such agreement; provided, however, that if no definition of Change in Control or any analogous term is set forth in such an individual written
agreement, the foregoing definition shall apply.
(j)

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including any applicable regulations and guidance thereunder.

(k)
“Committee” means the Compensation Committee and any other committee of Directors to whom authority has been
delegated by the Board or Compensation Committee in accordance with the Plan.
(l)

“Common Stock” means the Class A common stock of the Company.

(m)

“Company” means SpringBig Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

(n)

“Compensation Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(o)
“Consultant” means any person, including an advisor, who is (i) engaged by the Company or an Affiliate to render consulting
or advisory services and is compensated for such services, or (ii) serving as a member of the board of directors of an Affiliate and is
compensated for such services. However, service solely as a Director, or payment of a fee for such service, will not cause a Director to be
considered a “Consultant” for purposes of the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person is treated as a Consultant under this Plan only if a
Form S-8 Registration Statement under the Securities Act is available to register either the offer or the sale of the Company’s securities to such
person.
(p)
“Continuous Service” means that the Participant’s service with the Company or an Affiliate, whether as an Employee,
Director or Consultant, is not interrupted or terminated. A change in the capacity in which the Participant renders service to the Company or an
Affiliate as an Employee, Director or Consultant or a change in the Entity for which the Participant renders such service, provided that there is
no interruption or termination of the Participant’s service with the Company or an Affiliate, will not terminate a Participant’s Continuous
Service (unless otherwise determined by the Board in its sole discretion); provided, however, that if the Entity for which a Participant is
rendering services ceases to qualify as an Affiliate, as determined by the Board, such Participant’s Continuous Service will be considered to
have terminated on the date such Entity ceases to qualify as an Affiliate. For example, a change in status from an Employee of the Company to
a Consultant of an Affiliate or to a Director will not constitute an interruption of Continuous Service (unless otherwise determined by the
Board in its sole discretion). To the extent permitted by law, the Board or the chief executive officer of the Company, in that party’s sole
discretion, may determine whether Continuous Service will be considered interrupted in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by the
Board or chief executive officer, including sick leave, military leave or any other personal leave, or (ii) transfers between the Company, an
Affiliate, or their successors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a leave of absence will be treated as Continuous Service for purposes of vesting
in an Award only to such extent as may be provided in the Company’s leave of absence policy, in the written terms of any leave of absence
agreement or policy applicable to the Participant, or as otherwise required by law. In addition, to the extent required for exemption from or
compliance with Section 409A, the determination of whether there has been a termination of Continuous Service will be made, and such term
will be construed, in a manner that is consistent with the definition of “separation from service” as defined under Treasury Regulation Section
1.409A-1(h) (without regard to any alternative definition thereunder).
(q)
“Corporate Transaction” means the consummation, in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, of any one or
more of the following events:
(i) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all, as determined by the Board, of the consolidated assets of the Company
and its Subsidiaries;
(ii) a sale or other disposition of at least 50% of the outstanding securities of the Company;
(iii) a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which the Company is not the surviving corporation; or
(iv) a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which the Company is the surviving corporation but the shares of
Common Stock outstanding immediately preceding the merger, consolidation or similar transaction are converted or exchanged by virtue of
the merger, consolidation or similar transaction into other property, whether in the form of securities, cash or otherwise.
(r)

“Director” means a member of the Board.

(s)

“determine” or “determined” means as determined by the Board or the Committee (or its designee) in its sole discretion.

(t)
“Disability” means, with respect to a Participant, such Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by
reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, as provided in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, and will be determined by the
Board on the basis of such medical evidence as the Board deems warranted under the circumstances.
(u)

“Effective Date” means June 9, 2022.

(v)
“Employee” means any person employed by the Company or an Affiliate. However, service solely as a Director, or payment
of a fee for such services, will not cause a Director to be considered an “Employee” for purposes of the Plan.
(w)

“Employer” means the Company or the Affiliate of the Company that employs the Participant.

(x)

“Entity” means a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity.

(y)
thereunder.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated

(z)
“Exchange Act Person” means any natural person, Entity or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the
Exchange Act), except that “Exchange Act Person” will not include (i) the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (ii) any employee
benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit
plan of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to a registered public
offering of such securities, (iv) an Entity Owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same
proportions as their Ownership of stock of the Company; or (v) any natural person, Entity or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or
14(d) of the Exchange Act) that, as of the Effective Date, is the Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more
than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities.
(aa)
“Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, unless otherwise determined by the Board, the value of the Common Stock (as
determined on a per share or aggregate basis, as applicable) determined as follows:
(i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or traded on any established market, the Fair Market Value
will be the closing sales price for such stock as quoted on such exchange or market (or the exchange or market with the greatest volume of
trading in the Common Stock) on the date of determination, as reported in a source the Board deems reliable.
(ii) If there is no closing sales price for the Common Stock on the date of determination, then the Fair Market Value will be the
closing selling price on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.
(iii) In the absence of such markets for the Common Stock, or if otherwise determined by the Board, the Fair Market Value will
be determined by the Board in good faith and in a manner that complies with Sections 409A and 422 of the Code.
(bb)
“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other
jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) governmental or regulatory body, or quasigovernmental body of any nature (including any governmental division, department, administrative agency or bureau, commission, authority,
instrumentality, official, ministry, fund, foundation, center, organization, unit, body or Entity and any court or other tribunal, and for the
avoidance of doubt, any Tax authority) or other body exercising similar powers or authority; or (d) self-regulatory organization (including the
Nasdaq Stock Market, New York Stock Exchange, and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).
(cc)
“Grant Notice” means the notice provided to a Participant that he or she has been granted an Award under the Plan and which
includes the name of the Participant, the type of Award, the date of grant of the Award, number of shares of Common Stock subject to the
Award or potential cash payment right, (if any), the vesting schedule for the Award (if any) and other key terms applicable to the Award.
(dd)
“Incentive Stock Option” means an option granted pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan that is intended to be, and qualifies as, an
“incentive stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
(ee)
“Materially Impair” means any amendment to the terms of the Award that materially adversely affects the Participant’s rights
under the Award. A Participant’s rights under an Award will not be deemed to have been Materially Impaired by any such amendment if the
Board, in its sole discretion, determines that the amendment, taken as a whole, does not materially impair the Participant’s rights. For example,
the following types of amendments to the terms of an Award do not Materially Impair the Participant’s rights under the Award: (i) imposition
of reasonable restrictions on the minimum number of shares subject to an Option that may be exercised; (ii) to maintain the qualified status of
the Award as an Incentive Stock Option under Section 422 of the Code; (iii) to change the terms of an Incentive Stock Option in a manner that
disqualifies, impairs or otherwise affects the qualified status of the Award as an Incentive Stock Option under Section 422 of the Code; (iv) to
clarify the manner of exemption from, or to bring the Award into compliance with or qualify it for an exemption from, Section 409A; or (v) to
comply with other Applicable Laws.

(ff)
“Merger Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 14, 2022, as
amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of May 4, 2022, by and among Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation, Tuatara Merger Sub and
SpringBig Inc.
(gg)
“Non-Employee Director” means a Director who either (i) is not a current employee or officer of the Company or an
Affiliate, does not receive compensation, either directly or indirectly, from the Company or an Affiliate for services rendered as a consultant or
in any capacity other than as a Director (except for an amount as to which disclosure would not be required under Item 404(a) of Regulation SK promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act (“Regulation S-K”)), does not possess an interest in any other transaction for which disclosure
would be required under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K, and is not engaged in a business relationship for which disclosure would be required
pursuant to Item 404(b) of Regulation S-K; or (ii) is otherwise considered a “non-employee director” for purposes of Rule 16b-3.
(hh)
Stock Option.
(ii)

“Nonstatutory Stock Option” means any option granted pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan that does not qualify as an Incentive
“Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

(jj)
“Option” means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option to purchase shares of Common Stock granted
pursuant to the Plan.
(kk)
“Option Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and the Optionholder evidencing the terms and
conditions of the Option grant. The Option Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the Option and the agreement containing the written
summary of the general terms and conditions applicable to the Option and which is provided to a Participant along with the Grant Notice. Each
Option Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
(ll)
“Optionholder” means a person to whom an Option is granted pursuant to the Plan or, if applicable, such other person who
holds an outstanding Option.
(mm) “Other Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a holder of an Other Award evidencing the
terms and conditions of an Other Award grant. Each Other Award Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
(nn)
(oo)
payable in cash.

“Other Award” or “Other Awards” means Other Equity-Based Awards and Other Cash Awards.
“Other Cash-Based Award” means an Award that is granted under Section 5(c) of the Plan that is denominated and/or

(pp)
“Other Equity-Based Award” means an Award that is not an Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock, or RSU
Award that is granted under Section 5(c) of the Plan and is (i) payable by delivery of shares of Common Stock and/or (ii) measured by
reference to the value of a share of Common Stock.
(qq)
“Own,” “Owned,” “Owner,” “Ownership” means that a person or Entity will be deemed to “Own,” to have “Owned,” to be
the “Owner” of, or to have acquired “Ownership” of securities if such person or Entity, directly or indirectly, through any contract,
arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting,
with respect to such securities.
(rr)
“Participant” means an Employee, Director or Consultant to whom an Award is granted pursuant to the Plan or, if applicable,
such other person who holds an outstanding Award.
(ss)
“Performance Award” means an Award that may vest or may be exercised or a cash award that may vest or become earned
and paid contingent upon the attainment during a Performance Period of certain Performance Goals and which is granted under the terms and
conditions of Section 5(b) pursuant to such terms as are approved by the Board. In addition, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law and set
forth in the applicable Award Agreement, the Board may determine that cash or other property may be used in payment of Performance
Awards. Performance Awards that are settled in cash or other property are not required to be valued in whole or in part by reference to, or
otherwise based on, the Common Stock.

(tt)
“Performance Criteria” means the one or more criteria that the Board will select for purposes of establishing the Performance
Goals for a Performance Period. The Performance Criteria that will be used to establish such Performance Goals may be based on any measure
of performance selected by the Board.
(uu)
“Performance Goals” means, for a Performance Period, the one or more goals established by the Board for the Performance
Period based upon the Performance Criteria. Performance Goals may be based on a Company-wide basis, with respect to one or more business
units, divisions, Affiliates, or business segments, and in either absolute terms or relative to the performance of one or more comparable
companies or the performance of one or more relevant indices. Unless specified otherwise by the Board (i) in the Award Agreement at the time
the Award is granted or (ii) in such other document setting forth the Performance Goals at the time the Performance Goals are established, the
Board will appropriately make adjustments in the method of calculating the attainment of Performance Goals for a Performance Period as
follows: (1) to exclude restructuring and/or other nonrecurring charges; (2) to exclude exchange rate effects; (3) to exclude the effects of
changes to generally accepted accounting principles; (4) to exclude the effects of any statutory adjustments to corporate tax rates; (5) to
exclude the effects of items that are “unusual” in nature or occur “infrequently” as determined under generally accepted accounting principles;
(6) to exclude the dilutive effects of acquisitions or joint ventures; (7) to assume that any business divested by the Company achieved
performance objectives at targeted levels during the balance of a Performance Period following such divestiture; (8) to exclude the effect of
any change in the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company by reason of any stock dividend or split, stock repurchase,
reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, spin-off, combination or exchange of shares or other similar corporate change, or any
distributions to common stockholders other than regular cash dividends; (9) to exclude the effects of stock based compensation and the award
of bonuses under the Company’s bonus plans; (10) to exclude costs incurred in connection with potential acquisitions or divestitures that are
required to expense under generally accepted accounting principles; and (11) to exclude the goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges
that are required to be recorded under generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, the Board retains the discretion to reduce or
eliminate the compensation or economic benefit due upon attainment of Performance Goals and to define the manner of calculating the
Performance Criteria it selects to use for such Performance Period. Partial achievement of the specified criteria may result in the payment or
vesting corresponding to the degree of achievement as specified in the Award Agreement or the written terms of a Performance Cash Award.
(vv)
“Performance Period” means the period of time selected by the Board over which the attainment of one or more Performance
Goals will be measured for the purpose of determining a Participant’s right to vesting or exercise of an Award. Performance Periods may be of
varying and overlapping duration, at the sole discretion of the Board.
(ww)

“Plan” means this SpringBig, Inc. 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

(xx)
“Plan Administrator” means the person, persons, and/or third-party administrator designated by the Company to administer
the day to day operations of the Plan and the Company’s other equity and/or long-term incentive programs.
(yy)
“Post-Termination Exercise Period” means the period following termination of a Participant’s Continuous Service within
which an Option or SAR is exercisable, as specified herein or in the Participant’s Award Agreement.
(zz)
“Restricted Stock Award” or “RSA” means an Award of shares of Common Stock which is granted pursuant to the terms and
conditions of Section 5(a).
(aaa)
“Restricted Stock Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a holder of a Restricted Stock
Award evidencing the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Award grant. The Restricted Stock Award Agreement includes the Grant
Notice for the Restricted Stock Award and the agreement containing the written summary of the general terms and conditions applicable to the
Restricted Stock Award and which is provided to a Participant along with the Grant Notice. Each Restricted Stock Award Agreement will be
subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
(bbb)
“RSU Award” or “RSU” means an Award of restricted stock units representing the right to receive an issuance of shares of
Common Stock which is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 5(a).
(ccc)
“RSU Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a holder of an RSU Award evidencing the
terms and conditions of an RSU Award grant. The RSU Award Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the RSU Award and the agreement
containing the written summary of the general terms and conditions applicable to the RSU Award and which is provided to a Participant along
with the Grant Notice. Each RSU Award Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(ddd)
to time.

“Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3, as in effect from time

(eee)

“Rule 405” means Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act.

(fff)

“Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and other guidance thereunder.

(ggg)
“Section 409A Change in Control” means a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company, or in the ownership
of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets, as provided in Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section
1.409A-3(i)(5) (without regard to any alternative definition thereunder).
(hhh)

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(iii)

“Share Reserve” means the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan as set forth in Section 2(a).

(jjj)
“Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means a right to receive the appreciation on Common Stock that is granted pursuant to
the terms and conditions of Section 4.
(kkk)
“SAR Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a holder of a SAR evidencing the terms and
conditions of a SAR grant. The SAR Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the SAR and the agreement containing the written summary of
the general terms and conditions applicable to the SAR and which is provided to a Participant along with the Grant Notice. Each SAR
Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
(lll)
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to the Company, (i) any corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital
stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, stock
of any other class or classes of such corporation will have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at the
time, directly or indirectly, Owned by the Company, and (ii) any partnership, limited liability company or other entity in which the Company
has a direct or indirect interest (whether in the form of voting or participation in profits or capital contribution) of more than 50%.
(mmm) “Ten Percent Stockholder” means a person who Owns (or is deemed to Own pursuant to Section 424(d) of the Code) stock
possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Affiliate.
(nnn)
“Trading Policy” means the Company’s policy permitting certain individuals to sell Company shares only during certain
“window” periods and/or otherwise restricts the ability of certain individuals to transfer or encumber Company shares, as in effect from time to
time.

Exhibit 10.7
Execution Version
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Executive Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is dated as of this 8th day of November, 2021 by and between SpringBig, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 621 NW 53rd St, Suite 260, Boca Raton, FL 33487 (“SpringBig” or the
“Company”), and Jeffrey Harris, a Florida resident (“Executive”).
WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, the Executive is and was Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of SpringBig, Inc. prior to the closing (the “Closing”) of
the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 8, 2021 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and
among Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation, a Cayman Islands exempted company (“Tuatara”), Tuatara Merger Sub, a Delaware
corporation and a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Tuatara (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which Merger Sub will merge with and into
SpringBig (the “Merger”), with SpringBig continuing as the surviving corporation and a subsidiary of Tuatara ( “Parent”);
WHEREAS, effective upon the date of and subject to the consummation of the Closing (the “Effective Date”), the Company desires to
continue to employ the Executive following the Closing pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement;
WHEREAS, as of the Effective Date, the Executive shall be appointed as CEO of Parent and serve in such position under the terms of
this Agreement, in addition to continuing to serve in his role as CEO of the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms of the Executive’s employment
with the Company and Parent.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the mutual promises contained herein and of other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.

POSITION AND DUTIES.

(a)
GENERAL. Commencing on the Effective Date, the Executive shall continue to serve as the Company’s CEO and shall serve
as CEO of Parent, reporting directly to the Board of Directors of Parent (the “Board”). Executive will serve as a member on the Board
(without additional compensation) if and as elected thereon. In the position as CEO, the Executive shall have such duties, authorities and
responsibilities as are customary for an employee in such position, and such other duties, authorities and responsibilities as may reasonably be
assigned to the Executive from time to time by the Board. The Executive’s principal place of employment shall be at the Company’s
headquarters located in Boca Raton, Florida or such other place as approved by the Board.
(b)
TERM. Subject to Section 5, the Executive will be employed hereunder commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the
third (3rd) anniversary thereof (the “Employment Term”), which Employment Term will automatically extend for successive one-year periods
unless either party provides written notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 60 days prior to the expiration of the Employment Term
(or any renewal period thereto).
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(c) OTHER ACTIVITIES. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall devote substantially all of the Executive’s business
time, energy, knowledge and skill to the performance of the Executive’s duties with the Company and Parent, provided that the foregoing shall
not prevent the Executive from engaging in any non-Company activity so long as such activity, individually, or together with any other nonCompany activity, does not pose a conflict of interest or interfere with Executive’s performance of his duties under this Agreement and does
not violate the restrictive covenants set forth herein or in any exhibit hereto or in any other agreement between Executive and the Company or
Parent, in each case, whether directly or indirectly. The Board has determined that the Executive shall not be prohibited from the activities set
forth on Schedule 1 of this Agreement.
2.
ANNUAL BASE SALARY. During the Employment Term, the Company agrees to pay the Executive an annual base salary at
an annual rate of $450,000, payable subject to all applicable federal and state payroll withholding requirements in accordance with the regular
payroll practices of the Company. The Executive’s annual base salary shall be subject to annual review by the Board (or a committee thereof),
and may be increased (but not decreased below $450,000, except pursuant to across-the-board reductions affecting similarly situated senior
executives of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) from time to time as determined by the Board (or a committee thereof). The annual base
salary as may be adjusted from time to time is referred to herein as “Annual Base Salary.”
3.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION.

(a)
Annual Cash Incentive. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible for an annual target cash incentive
opportunity of up to 137.50% of Annual Base Salary (as may be adjusted from time to time, the “Target Annual Cash Incentive”). The
Executive’s Target Annual Cash Incentive shall be subject to annual review by the Board (or a committee thereof). The earned annual cash
incentive (the “Annual Cash Incentive”) for any given fiscal year will be determined based on overall Company or Parent performance and/or
Executive’s individual performance goals as determined in consultation with Executive (as applicable), as determined in the sole discretion of
the Board (or a committee thereof) and provided Executive remains employed by the Company through the last day of the applicable
performance year, except as otherwise provided herein. Any such Annual Cash Incentive shall be paid to Executive, subject to all federal and
state payroll withholdings, at the same time that annual cash incentives are paid to other senior executives of Parent or the Company, provided,
in any event, any such Annual Cash Incentive shall be paid by no later than March 15th of the year following the applicable performance year.
(b)
Equity Incentive. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible to receive equity incentive awards under the
Parent’s long-term incentive plan as in effect from time to time (the “Equity Incentive Plan”), subject to the terms and conditions thereof, and
Parent shall determine the amount and timing of any equity incentive awards (each, an “Equity Incentive Award”), with the valuation
methodology for such awards to be determined by the Board (or a committee thereof) in its discretion. The Executive’s eligibility for Equity
Incentive Awards shall be reviewed annually by the Board (or a committee thereof).
4.

EXECUTIVE BENEFITS.

(a)
BENEFIT PLANS. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in any employee and/or
executive benefit plan that the Company and/or Parent have adopted or may adopt, maintain or contribute to for the benefit of its employees
and/or executives generally, currently including, without limitation, health and dental insurance coverage, long-term and short-term disability
insurance coverage and group life insurance coverage, subject, in all events to satisfying the applicable eligibility requirements, and except to
the extent such plans are duplicative of the benefits otherwise provided hereunder. The Executive’s participation will be subject to the terms of
the applicable plan documents and generally applicable Company or Parent policies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company or Parent,
as the case may be, may modify or terminate any employee and/or executive benefit plan at any time.
(b)
VACATION TIME. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the
Company’s or Parent’s policy applicable to its executives as in effect from time to time.
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(c)
BUSINESS EXPENSES. Upon presentation of such reasonable substantiation and documentation as the Company or Parent
reasonably may specify from time to time or as otherwise provided under the Company’s business expense reimbursement policy in effect
from time to time, the Executive shall be reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses incurred and paid by the Executive
during the Employment Term in connection with the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder.
5.
TERMINATION. The Executive’s employment under this Agreement and the Employment Term shall terminate on the first of
the following to occur:
(a)
DISABILITY. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Company to the Executive of a termination due to Disability. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall be defined as the inability of the Executive to perform the Executive’s material duties hereunder
with a reasonable accommodation due to a physical or mental injury, infirmity or incapacity for one hundred and twenty (120) days (including
weekends and holidays) in any three hundred sixty-five (365) day period; provided such disability also qualifies as a “disability” as defined in
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(4)(i). The Executive shall reasonably cooperate with the Company if a question arises as to whether
the Executive has become disabled.
(b)

DEATH. Automatically upon the date of death of the Executive.

(c)
CAUSE. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Company to the Executive of a termination for Cause if the Executive shall
have failed to cure or remedy such matter, if curable, within such thirty (30) day period. In the event that the basis for Cause is not curable,
then such thirty (30) day cure period shall not be required, and such termination shall be effective on the date the Company delivers notice of
such termination for Cause. “Cause” shall mean the Company’s or Parent’s termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company,
Parent or any of its subsidiaries as a result of: (i) fraud, embezzlement, willful misconduct, or an act of dishonesty by the Executive in
connection with or relating to the Executive’s employment with the Company, Parent or any of their affiliates; (ii) theft or misappropriation of
Company’s or Parent’s property, information or other assets by the Executive, (iii) other conduct which results in or could reasonably be
expected to result in material loss, damage or injury to the Company, Parent and/or their affiliates, their goodwill, business or reputation; (iv)
the Executive’s conviction, guilty plea, no contest plea, or similar plea for any felony or any crime of moral turpitude, or any other crime that
results in or could reasonably be expected to result in material loss, damage or injury to the Company and/or Parent and their affiliates, their
goodwill, business or reputation; or (v) the Executive’s material breach of any of his obligations under this Agreement (which breach is either
incapable of cure or is not cured within thirty (30) days after the Company has provided written notice of such breach to Executive).
(d)
WITHOUT CAUSE. The date of termination set forth in any written notice by the Company to the Executive of an involuntary
termination without Cause (other than death or Disability). For the avoidance of doubt, the normal expiration of the Employment Term
pursuant to the Company’s provision of a notice of non-renewal in accordance with Section 2 shall not constitute a termination of the
Executive’s employment by the Company without Cause (and, therefore, the Executive will not be entitled to severance under Section 6(c)(i)
or (ii) in such event).
(e)
GOOD REASON. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Executive to the Company of an alleged condition giving rise to
a resignation for Good Reason if the Company shall have failed to cure or remedy such matter, if curable, within such thirty (30) day period.
In the event that the basis for Good Reason is not curable, then such thirty (30) day cure period shall not be required, and such resignation
shall be effective on the date the Executive delivers such notice. “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events,
without the express written consent of the Executive: (i) the Company’s material breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement; (ii)
any material adverse change in the Executive’s duties or authority or responsibilities, or the assignment of duties or responsibilities to the
Executive materially inconsistent with his position; (iii) without limiting the generality of clause (ii) above, the Executive no longer serving
as the CEO of the Company or Parent; (iv) reduction in the Executive’s Annual Base Salary or material reduction in Target Annual Cash
Incentive (in each case, other than across-the-board reductions affecting similarly situated senior executives of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries); (v) the Company or Parent requires Executive to be based at any office or location (other than this home) that is more than
thirty-five (35) miles from the Company’s headquarters in Boca Raton, Florida; or (vi) the failure of a successor to the Company or Parent to
assume the Company’s obligations under this Agreement; provided, that, for clauses (i) – (vi) above, Executive has given written notice to the
Company of the condition giving rise to Good Reason within ninety (90) days after Executive becomes aware of its initial occurrence.
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(f)
WITHOUT GOOD REASON. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Executive to the Company of the Executive’s
voluntary termination of employment without Good Reason (which the Company may, in its sole discretion, make effective earlier).
6.

CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION.

(a)
DEATH OR DISABILITY. In the event that the Executive’s employment ends on account of the Executive’s death or
Disability, the Executive or the Executive’s estate, as the case may be, shall be entitled to the following (with the amounts due under Sections
6(a)(i) through 6(a)(iii) hereof to be paid within thirty (30) days following termination of employment, or such earlier date as may be required
by applicable law):
(i)

any unpaid Annual Base Salary earned through the date of termination;

(ii)
reimbursement for any unreimbursed business expenses incurred through the date of termination that are submitted in
accordance with Section 4(c); and
(iii)
all other accrued and vested payments, benefits or fringe benefits required to be paid or provided to the Executive under
the applicable plans or by law, including without limitation, payment for all accrued but unpaid vacation (collectively, Sections 6(a)(i) through
6(a)(iii) hereof shall be hereafter referred to as the “Accrued Benefits”), and the Executive shall not be entitled to any other payments or
benefits under this Agreement.
(b)
TERMINATION FOR CAUSE OR WITHOUT GOOD REASON. If the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) by the
Company or Parent for Cause, or (ii) by the Executive without Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Benefits, at
such times as set forth in Section 6(a) above, and the Executive shall not be entitled to any other payments or benefits under this Agreement.
(c)
TERMINATION WITHOUT CAUSE OR FOR GOOD REASON. If the Executive’s employment by the Company or
Parent is terminated during the Employment Term (x) by the Company or Parent without Cause, or (y) by the Executive for Good Reason
(each, a “Qualifying Termination”), then the Company will provide Executive with the Accrued Benefits at such times as set forth in Section
6(a) above and, provided Executive is in full compliance with his obligations under Exhibits A and B attached hereto and Executive or the
Executive’s estate (in the event of Executive’s death after becoming entitled to severance hereunder), as the case may be, executes, returns to
the Company and does not revoke the release and waiver of claims in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (with such changes as may be
required in order to reflect or comply with applicable laws at such time, as determined by the Company in its reasonable judgment, the
“Release and Waiver”) and the Release and Waiver becomes effective (i.e., irrevocable) pursuant to its terms and conditions, all within sixty
(60) days following termination of employment, then the Company shall also pay or provide the Executive or the Executive’s estate (in the
event of Executive’s death after becoming entitled to severance hereunder), as the case may be, with the following:
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(i)
Termination in Connection with Change in Control. In the event of a Qualifying Termination within eighteen (18)
months after a Change in Control (as defined below), the Company shall provide Executive:
A.
Cash severance in an amount equal to the sum of (x) Annual Base Salary plus (y) Target Annual Cash Incentive,
less all applicable withholdings and deductions, payable on the first regular payroll date of the Company that is sixty (60) days following the
date of Executive’s termination.
B.
Continued participation through COBRA coverage (all costs, expenses and premiums to be paid by Company) on
the same basis as the employee and/or executive benefit plans contemplated by Section 4(a) hereof in which the Executive is participating on
the date of such termination of employment for 12 months following the month in which coverage would otherwise be lost as an employee of
the Company; provided that the Executive is eligible and remains eligible for coverage under such plans by timely electing COBRA
continuation; and provided, further, that in the event that the Executive obtains other employment that offers Executive health benefits such
that Executive is not eligible for COBRA continuation rights, such continuation of coverage by the Company under this Section (6)(c)(i)(B)
shall immediately cease (such 12 month or shorter period, the “COBRA Payment Period”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time the
Company determines that its payment of COBRA premiums on Executive’s behalf or other method of continued participation would result in a
violation of applicable law (including but not limited to the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the 2010 Health
Care and Education Reconciliation Act), then in lieu of paying COBRA premiums or providing such other method of continued participation
pursuant to this Section, the Company shall pay Executive on the last day of each remaining month of the COBRA Payment Period, a fully
taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA premium or such other payment for such month, subject to applicable tax withholding (such
amount, the “Special Severance Payment”), such Special Severance Payment to be made without regard to Executive’s payment of COBRA
premiums and without regard to the expiration of the COBRA period prior to the end of the COBRA Payment Period. Nothing in this
Agreement shall deprive Executive of his rights under COBRA or ERISA for benefits under plans and policies arising under his employment
by the Company.
C.
Accelerated vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award (if any) that is
solely subject to time-based vesting that would otherwise vest within the next twelve (12) months after termination of employment.
D.
Continued vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award that is solely
subject to performance-based vesting (if any), with such vesting determined based on actual performance against the applicable performance
goals established for each applicable award, as determined at the time and in the manner applicable to each such award pursuant to the
applicable Equity Incentive Plan and award agreement, with each such award remaining outstanding through the date such vesting is
determined.
E.
Executive shall have nine (9) months after termination of employment to exercise any then-outstanding stock
options that were vested (including by reason of partial acceleration under Section 6(c)(i)(C)) at the time of such termination of employment,
provided that to the extent any then-outstanding performance-based vesting stock option vests after termination of employment pursuant to
Section 6(c)(i)(D), the Executive shall have nine (9) months after each incremental vesting of the stock option to exercise such portion of the
stock option. Stock options not timely exercised in accordance with the foregoing shall be forfeited as of the last day of the applicable
exercise period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such stock options shall be subject to the maximum term and expiration date of such stock
options as set forth in the applicable award agreement and/or the Equity Incentive Plan, and nothing herein shall constitute an extension of
such maximum term or expiration date.
F.

Any and all other payments or awards that Executive has earned and vested and for which Company or Parent has

yet to provide or pay.
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(ii)
Termination Not in Connection with Change in Control. In the event of a Qualifying Termination that is not within
eighteen (18) months after a Change in Control, the Company shall provide Executive:
A.
Cash severance in an amount equal to Executive’s Annual Base Salary, less all applicable withholdings and
deductions, payable in substantially equal monthly installments over the 12-month period following such termination; provided that any such
payments that otherwise would be paid prior to the date that the Release and Waiver becomes effective instead will be paid within five
business days after such effective date, and the remaining such payments will be paid over the remainder of such 12-month period (provided
that if the period during which the Executive may execute the Release and Waiver begins in one calendar year and ends in the next calendar
year, then any such payments that otherwise would be paid in such first calendar year instead will be paid during the first five business days
after such effective date of the Release and Waiver).
B.
An additional cash severance amount in an amount equal to the Annual Cash Incentive to which Executive would
be entitled for the year of termination if Executive were employed by the Company or Parent on the last day of such year, based on actual
performance against the applicable performance goals established for such bonus, pro-rated based on the number of days Executive was
employed by the Company or Parent during such year, less all applicable withholdings and deductions, payable at the same time as bonuses
are paid to active employees but no later than March 15 of the year after the year of termination.
C.
Continued participation through COBRA coverage or such other method determined by the Company (all costs,
expenses and premiums to be paid by Company) on the terms and conditions set forth in Section 6(c)(i)(B).
D.
Accelerated vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award (if any) that is
solely subject to time-based vesting that would otherwise vest within the next twelve (12) months after termination of employment.
E.
Continued vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award that is solely
subject to performance-based vesting (if any), with such vesting determined based on actual performance against the applicable performance
goals established for each applicable award, as determined at the time and in the manner applicable to each such award pursuant to the
applicable Equity Incentive Plan and award agreement, with each such award remaining outstanding through the date such vesting is
determined; provided, however, that the foregoing shall only apply to a pro rata portion of each such unvested Equity Incentive Award
determined based on the number of days Executive was employed by the Company and/or Parent during the applicable performance/vesting
periods.
F.
Executive shall have nine (9) months after termination of employment to exercise any then-outstanding stock
options that were vested (including by reason of acceleration under Section 6(c)(ii)(D)) at the time of such termination of employment,
provided that to the extent of any then-outstanding performance-based vesting stock option vests after termination of employment pursuant to
Section 6(c)(ii)(E), the Executive shall have nine (9) months after each incremental pro-rated vesting of the stock option to exercise such prorated portion of the stock option. Stock options not timely exercised in accordance with the foregoing shall be forfeited as of the last day of
the applicable exercise period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such stock options shall be subject to the maximum term and expiration date of
such stock options as set forth in the applicable award agreement and/or the Equity Incentive Plan, and nothing herein shall constitute an
extension of such maximum term or expiration date.
G.
has yet to provide or pay.

Any and all other payments or awards that Executive has earned and are vested for which Company or Parent
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(iii) “Change in Control” for purposes of this Section 6 will have the meaning set forth in the Equity Incentive Plan of Parent,
as in effect at the Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, no transaction shall be considered a Change in Control hereunder unless it also
constitutes a “change in control event” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and regulations thereunder.
d.
TERMS OF EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN. Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing provisions of Section 6,
the foregoing treatment of Equity Incentive Award shall, in all cases, be subject to the terms of the Equity Incentive Plan and shall not preclude
the Board (or compensation committee) from exercising its discretion under the Equity Incentive Plan or any award agreement thereunder to
provide for the treatment of outstanding equity-based awards in connection with a corporate transaction, including a Change in Control
(including, without limitation, the termination of stock options upon the consummation of a transaction constituting a Change in Control). To
the extent the Executive’s Equity Incentive Awards are not continued, assumed or substituted in such transaction that constitutes a Change in
Control, the vesting of the portion of the performance-based equity awards that would otherwise potentially continue to vest following
termination of employment under the foregoing shall be determined based on target level of performance (and pro-rated where indicated
above).
7.
RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. Within ten (10) days after Executive’s termination of employment with the Company
for any reason, the Executive shall return all property belonging to the Company or its affiliates (including, but not limited to, any Companyprovided laptops, computers, cell phones, wireless electronic mail devices or other equipment, or documents and property belonging to the
Company).
8.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

(a)
AUTHORIZATION. All corporate action on the part of the Company and its directors necessary for the authorization,
execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, and the performance of all of the Company’s obligations under this Agreement has
been taken.
(b)
ENFORCEABILITY. This Agreement, when executed and delivered by the Company, will constitute valid and legally binding
obligations of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
9.
NO ASSIGNMENTS. This Agreement is personal to each of the parties hereto and no party may assign or delegate any rights
or obligations hereunder without first obtaining the written consent of the other party hereto; provided, however, that the Company may assign
this Agreement to Parent or any successor to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company or Parent; provided, further,
that the Company shall require such successor to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement, “Company” shall
mean the Company and any successor to its business and/or assets, which assumes and agrees to perform the duties and obligations of the
Company under this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.
10.
NOTICE. For purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery, if delivered by hand, (b) on the date of transmission, if
delivered by confirmed facsimile on a business day or, if not so delivered, then on the next business day, (c) on the date of delivery, if
delivered by guaranteed overnight delivery service, or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed as follows:
If to the Executive:
Jeffrey Harris
Address on file with the Company
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If to the Company:
SpringBig, Inc.
Attn: Board of Directors
621 NW 53rd St, Suite 260,
Boca Raton, FL 33487
Copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Benesch Friedlander Coplan & Aronoff LLP
71 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1600
Chicago, IL 60606
Attention: William E. Doran
Email:
wdoran@beneschlaw.com
or to such other address or fax number as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.
11.
SECTION HEADINGS; INCONSISTENCY. The section headings used in this Agreement are included solely for
convenience and shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Agreement. In the event of any conflict or
inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any offer letter, form, award, plan or policy of the Company, the terms
of this Agreement shall govern and control.
12.
SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Agreement will be construed as separable and divisible from every other provision
and the enforceability of any one (1) provision will not limit the enforceability, in whole or in part, of any other provision. In the event that a
court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction holds any provision of this Agreement to be invalid, illegal, void or less than fully
enforceable as to time, scope or otherwise, then such provision will be construed by limiting and reducing it so that such provision is valid,
legal and fully enforceable while preserving to the greatest extent permissible the original intent of the parties; the remaining terms and
conditions of this Agreement will not be affected by such alteration, and will remain in full force and effect.
13.
COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original
but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.
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14.
GOVERNING LAW; ARBITRATION. This Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties hereto, and all claims or
disputes relating thereto, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to the choice
of law provisions thereof. Except for disputes arising under Exhibit A, Exhibit B or Exhibit D hereof, which shall be decided pursuant to the
terms of those Exhibits, any dispute arising from this Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company or Parent, including but not
limited to claims for wrongful termination; violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended; violations of the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990; violations of Florida law; or claims for violations of any state law or rule or regulation regarding discrimination,
harassment or other wrongful conduct (collectively, “Covered Claims”), shall be decided solely and exclusively in a final and binding
arbitration administered by the JAMS in Miami, Florida, in accordance with the JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules in effect at the time of
the filing of the demand for arbitration (the “Rules”), a copy of which is available at http://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/.
The arbitrator shall be a single arbitrator with expertise in employment disputes, mutually selected by the parties, or, if the parties are unable to
agree thereon, a single arbitrator with expertise in employment disputes designated by the Miami office of JAMS. The arbitrator shall have the
authority to award all remedies available in a court of law. The Company or Parent, as applicable, shall pay the arbitrator’s fees and all fees
and costs to administer the arbitration. The parties acknowledge and agree that their obligations to arbitrate under this Section survive the
termination of the Agreement and continue after the termination of the employment relationship between the Executive and the Company or
Parent. By agreeing to arbitrate disputes arising out of Executive’s employment, the Executive, the Company and Parent voluntarily and
irrevocably waive any and all rights to have any such dispute heard or resolved in any forum other than through arbitration as provided herein.
This waiver specifically includes, but is not limited to, any right to trial by jury. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, this
Section will not apply to claims for workers’ compensation or unemployment benefits and will not apply to claims for injunctive relief, or any
other claim by the Company or Parent under Exhibit A or Exhibit B hereto. All arbitration proceedings hereunder shall be confidential,
except: (a) to the extent the parties otherwise agree in writing; (b) as may be otherwise appropriate in response to a request from a government
agency, subpoena, or legal process; (c) if the substantive law of the State of Florida (without giving effect to choice of law principles) provides
to the contrary; or (d) as is necessary in a court proceeding to enforce, correct, modify or vacate the arbitrator’s award or decision (and in the
case of this subpart (d), the parties agree to take all reasonable steps to ensure that the arbitrator’s award, decision or findings and all other
documents, pleadings and papers are filed and/or entered with the court under seal and/or in a manner that would maintain their confidentiality,
including, without limitation, complying with all rules of procedure and local rules for filing documents, pleadings and papers under seal).
15.
MISCELLANEOUS. No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver,
modification or discharge is agreed to in writing and signed by the Executive and an authorized representative of the Company. No waiver by
either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of, or compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to
be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or
subsequent time. This Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto collectively set forth the entire agreement of the parties hereto in respect of the
subject matter contained herein and supersede any and all prior agreements or understandings between the Executive and the Company with
respect to the subject matter hereof. No agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the subject matter
hereof have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency
between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any offer letter, form, award, plan or policy of the Company, the terms of this
Agreement shall govern and control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Agreement
(including the exhibits hereto) and Equity Incentive Plan of Parent (or any award agreement under such plans to which Executive is a party)
regarding (1) the definitions of “Cause” or “Disability”, (2) the treatment of equity-based awards in connection with a termination of
employment (whether before or after a Change in Control) or (3) the governing law and dispute resolution procedures, then such provisions in
this Agreement (including the exhibits hereto) shall control.
16.

TAX MATTERS.

(a)
WITHHOLDING. The Company may withhold from any and all amounts payable under this Agreement or otherwise such
federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.
(b)

SECTION 409A COMPLIANCE.

(i)
The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement are exempt from or comply with Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Code Section 409A”) and, accordingly,
to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. To the extent that any provision hereof is
modified in order to comply with Code Section 409A, such modification shall be made in good faith and shall, to the maximum extent
reasonably possible, maintain the original intent and economic benefit to the Executive and the Company of the applicable provision without
violating the provisions of Code Section 409A.
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(ii)
To the extent required to prevent the imposition of taxes or penalties under Code Section 409A, a termination of
employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of any amount
or benefit upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or
like terms shall mean “separation from service.” Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Executive is deemed on the
date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), then with regard to any
payment or the provision of any benefit that is considered “nonqualified deferred compensation” under Code Section 409A payable on account
of a “separation from service,” such payment or benefit shall not be made or provided until the date which is the earlier of (A) the expiration of
the six (6)-month period measured from the date of such “separation from service” of the Executive, and (B) the date of the Executive’s death,
to the extent required under Code Section 409A. Upon the expiration of the foregoing delay period, all payments and benefits delayed pursuant
to this Section 16(b)(ii) (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay) shall
be paid or reimbursed to the Executive in a lump sum, and all remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or
provided in accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.
(iii)
To the extent that reimbursements or other in-kind benefits under this Agreement constitute “nonqualified deferred
compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A, (A) all expenses or other reimbursements hereunder shall be made on or prior to the last
day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which such expenses were incurred by the Executive, (B) any right to reimbursement or
in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (C) no such reimbursement, expenses eligible for
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided in any taxable year shall in any way affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind
benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year.
(iv)
For purposes of Code Section 409A, the Executive’s right to receive installment payments pursuant to this Agreement
shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment
period with reference to a number of days, the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the
Company.
(v)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, (i) in no event shall any payment or benefit
under this Agreement that constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A be subject to offset by any
other amount unless otherwise permitted by Code Section 409A and (ii) in no event shall the Company, Parent or any of their affiliates have
any liability to the Executive with respect to any additional taxes, penalties or interest that may be imposed on Executive under Code Section
409A.
17.
NONSOLICITATION, NONDISCLOSURE & ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS AGREEMENT AND
NONCOMPETITION COVENANT. As a condition of continuing employment and as a condition to be eligible to receive the severance
compensation set forth herein (even if not ultimately entitled to receive such severance compensation), Executive agrees to execute and abide
by the Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure & Assignment of Inventions Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit A and the Noncompetition
Covenant in the form attached as Exhibit B (together the “Covenants”). The execution of the Covenants by Executive is a condition precedent
to this Agreement becoming effective. The Covenants contain provisions that are intended by the parties to survive and do survive termination
of this Agreement and the Executives employment hereunder according to the terms of those Covenants.
18.
INDEMNIFICATION. Executive will be insured under the Company’s and/or Parent’s Director’s and Officer’s Liability
Insurance to the extent the Company and/or Parent maintains such a policy and will be entitled to indemnification by the Company and/or
Parent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s and/or Parent’s certificate of incorporation and by-laws to the same extent as the
Company’s and/or Parent’s executive officers and directors, and pursuant to an Indemnification Agreement substantially similar to those
executed by the Company and/or Parent in favor of its directors and executive officers.
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19.
GOLDEN PARACHUTE. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if any payment or benefit Executive
would receive from the Company or otherwise (a “Payment”) would (a) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Internal
Revenue Code Section 280G (“Code Section 280G”); and (b) but for this Section 19, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Internal Revenue
Code Section 4999 (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. For purposes of this Agreement, the
“Reduced Amount” shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the
Excise Tax; or (y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount, after taking into account all applicable
federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in
Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment. Any reduction made pursuant to this Section 19 shall be made
in accordance with the following order of priority: (i) Full Credit Payments (as defined below) that are payable in cash, (ii) non-cash Full
Credit Payments that are taxable, (iii) non-cash Full Credit Payments that are not taxable, (iv) Partial Credit Payments (as defined below), (v)
non-cash employee welfare benefits and (vi) stock options whose exercise price exceeds the fair market value of the optioned stock. In each
case, reductions shall be made in reverse chronological order such that the payment or benefit owed on the latest date following the occurrence
of the event triggering the Excise Tax will be the first payment or benefit to be reduced (with reductions made pro-rata in the event payments
or benefits are owed at the same time). For purposes of this Agreement, “Full Credit Payment” means a payment, distribution or benefit,
whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise, that if reduced in value by one
dollar reduces the amount of the parachute payment (as defined in Code Section 280G) by one dollar, determined as if such payment,
distribution or benefit had been paid or distributed on the date of the event triggering the excise tax. For purposes of this Agreement, “Partial
Credit Payment” means any payment, distribution or benefit that is not a Full Credit Payment. In no event shall Executive has any discretion
with respect to the ordering of payment reductions. Unless the Company and Executive otherwise agree in writing, any determination required
under this Section 19 will be made in writing by a certified professional services firm selected by the Company, the Company’s legal counsel
or such other person or entity to which the parties mutually agree (the “Firm”), whose determination will be conclusive and binding upon
Executive and the Company for all purposes. For purposes of making the calculations required by this Section 19, the Firm may make
reasonable assumptions and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the
application of Code Section 280G and Internal Revenue Code Section 4999. The Company and Executive will furnish to the Firm such
information and documents as the Firm may reasonably request in order to make a determination under this Section 19. The Company will
bear all costs the Firm may reasonably incur in connection with any calculations contemplated by this Section 19.
20.
CLAWBACK/RECOVERY. Any incentive payments hereunder shall be subject to recoupment in accordance with any
clawback policy that the Company (or Parent or other affiliate) is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of such national securities
exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act or other applicable law, rule, regulation or listing requirement. No recovery of compensation under such a clawback
policy will be an event giving rise to the Executive’s right to voluntary terminate employment with Good Reason.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
SPRINGBIG, INC., a Delaware corporation
By:

/s/ Paul Sykes

Name:

Paul Sykes

Title:

Chief Financial Officer

EXECUTIVE
/s/ Jeff Harris
Name: Jeffrey Harris
Acknowledged by:
TUATARA CAPITAL ACQUISITION CORPORATION
By: /s/ Albert Foreman
Name: Albert Foreman
Title: Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A
NONSOLICITATION, NONDISCLOSURE & ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
The undersigned Employee (the “Employee”), executes this Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure & Assignment of Inventions Agreement
(the “Agreement”) in consideration of, and a material inducement for, the Company’s (as defined below) continuing relationship with
Employee, whether by employment, contractor, or in advisory or consulting capacities, or otherwise, and in consideration of receiving any
form of compensation or benefit from or in the Company, and the entering into of the Executive Employment Agreement (the “Employment
Agreement”). Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement shall remain in effect and survive any and all changes in Employee’s job
duties, titles and compensation during Employee’s relationship with Company.
Definitions
i.

“Company” shall mean SpringBig, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common control with it, including
affiliates and subsidiaries. “Control” for this purpose means the direct or indirect possession of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of an entity, whether through ownership, by contract or otherwise.

ii.

“Competing Business” shall mean any person, firm, association, corporation or any other legal entity that is engaged in a business that is competitive
with any aspect of the Business of the Company.

iii.

“Business of the Company” shall mean the business of providing messaging, customer loyalty management and/or customer experiences in the cannabis
industry, including, without limitation, the research, design, development, marketing, sales, operations, maintenance and commercial exploitation
pertaining to the operation of, and providing products and services for such business.

iv.

“Confidential Information” shall mean all information or a compilation of information, in any form (tangible or intangible or otherwise), that is not
generally known to competitors or the public, which Company considers to be confidential and/or proprietary, including but not limited to: research and
development; techniques; methodologies; strategies; product information, designs, prototypes and technical specifications; algorithms, source codes,
object codes, trade secrets or technical data; training materials methods; internal policies and procedures; marketing plans and strategies; pricing and cost
policies; customer, supplier, vendor and partner lists and accounts; customer and supplier preferences; contract terms and rates; financial data,
information, reports, and forecasts; inventions, improvements and other intellectual property; product plans or proposed product plans; know-how;
designs, processes or formulas; software and website applications; computer passwords; market or sales information, plans or strategies; business plans,
prospects and opportunities (including, but not limited to, possible acquisitions or dispositions of businesses or facilities); information concerning
existing or potential customers, partners or vendors. Confidential Information shall also mean information of or related to Company’s current or potential
customers, vendors or partners that is considered to be confidential or proprietary to the applicable customer, vendor or partner.

Confidential Information does not include: information in the public domain (other than as a result of disclosure directly or
indirectly by Employee); information approved in writing for unrestricted release by Company; information that Employee
discovered outside of the course and scope of his employment with Company; or information produced or disclosed pursuant to
a valid court order, provided Employee has given Company written notice of such request such that Company has an actual,
reasonable opportunity to defend, limit or protect such production or disclosure.
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1.
Duty of Loyalty. During the period of Employee’s relationship with the Company, Employee will devote Employee’s best efforts on
behalf of the Company. Employee agrees not to provide any services to any Competing Business or engage in any conduct which may
create an actual or appear to create a conflict of interest, without the expressed, written permission of the Company. Except as expressly
provided herein, Employee shall not be prohibited from engaging in the activities set forth on Schedule 1 of the Employment Agreement.
2.
Nonsolicitation of Customers, Clients or Vendors. During the period of Employee’s relationship with the Company and for a
period of twelve (12) months after termination of such relationship (for any reason), Employee shall not directly or indirectly, induce or
attempt to induce any of the individuals or entities actually known to Employee to be the Company’s customers, clients, vendors or
partners, or prospective customers, clients, vendors or partners, to reduce or cease doing business with the Company, Parent or their
affiliates, or interfere with the relationship between any such customer, client, vendor, partner or prospective customers and the Company,
Parent or any of their affiliate (including making any negative statements or communications concerning the Company, Parent or any of
their affiliates).
3.
Nonsolicitation of Employees and Contractors. During the period of Employee’s relationship with the Company and for a period
of twelve (12) months after termination of such relationship (for any reason), Employee will not directly or indirectly either for him/herself
or for any other person, partnership, legal entity, or enterprise: (i) solicit, in person or through supervision or control of others, an
employee, advisor, consultant or contractor of the Company for the purpose of inducing or encouraging the employee, advisor, consultant
or contractor to leave his or her relationship with the Company or to change an existing business relationship with the Company or to
change an existing business relationship to the detriment of the Company, (ii) hire away an employee, advisor, consultant or contractor of
the Company; or (iii) help another person or entity hire away a Company employee, advisor, consultant or contractor. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the placement of general advertisements offering employment, other service relationships or activities that are not specifically
targeted toward employees, advisors, consultants or contractors of the Company shall not be deemed to be a breach of this Section 3.
4.
Nondisclosure of Customer, Partner and Vendor Information. Employee understands and agrees that it is essential to the
Company’s success that all nonpublic customer, partner, and vendor information is deemed and treated as Confidential Information and a
confidential trade secret. Employee will not, directly or indirectly, either for him/herself or for any other person, partnership, legal entity, or
enterprise, use or disclose any such customer, partner, or vendor information that constitutes Confidential Information or a confidential
trade secret, except as may be necessary in the normal conduct of the Company’s business for the specific customer, partner, or vendor.
Employee agrees that at the end of Employee’s relationship with the Company, or upon request by the Company, Employee will return to
the Company any materials containing such Confidential Information or confidential trade secret.
5.
Nondisclosure of Confidential Information. All such Confidential Information is (and will be) the exclusive property of the
Company, and Employee shall not, during or after Employee’s employment: (i) use any Confidential Information for any purpose that is
not authorized by the Company; (ii) disclose any Confidential Information to any person or entity, except as authorized by the Company in
connection with Employee’s job duties; or (iii) remove or transfer Confidential Information from the Company’s premises or systems
except as authorized by the Company.
Upon termination of Employee’s relationship (for any reason), or upon the request of the Company, Employee will immediately surrender
to the Company all Company property in Employee’s possession, custody, or control, including any and all documents, electronic
information, and materials of any nature containing any Confidential Information, without retaining any copies.
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Employee understands that the Company is now and may hereafter be subject to non-disclosure or confidentiality agreements with third
persons that require the Company to protect or refrain from use of Confidential Information. Employee agrees to respect and be bound by
the terms of such agreements in the event Employee has access to such Confidential Information.
Employee understands that Confidential Information is never to be used or disclosed by Employee, as provided in this Section 5. If a
temporal limitation on Employee’s obligation not to use or disclose such information is required under applicable law, and the Agreement
or its restriction(s) cannot otherwise be enforced, Employee agrees and the Company agrees that the five (5) year period after the date
Employee’s employment ends (or such longer period as may be permitted under applicable law) will be the temporal limitation relevant to
the contested restriction; provided, however, that this sentence will not apply to trade secrets protected without temporal limitation under
applicable law.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other agreement between the Company and the
Employee, nothing in this Agreement shall limit the Employee’s right to discuss Employee’s employment or report possible violations of
law or regulation with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, United States Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations
Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or other federal government agency or similar state or local agency or to discuss the
terms and conditions of his employment with others to the extent expressly permitted by Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act or
to the extent that such disclosure is protected under the applicable provisions of law or regulation, including but not limited to
“whistleblower” statutes or other similar provisions that protect such disclosure. Employee agrees to take all reasonable steps to ensure that
the Company’s Confidential Information is not made public during any such disclosure. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1833(b), the
Employee shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that:
(1) is made in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and solely for the
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (2) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or
other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.
6.
Assignment of Inventions. Employee expressly understands and agrees that any and all right or interest Employee obtains in any
designs, trade secrets, technical specifications and technical data, know-how and show-how, customer and vendor lists, marketing plans,
pricing policies, inventions, concepts, ideas, expressions, discoveries, improvements and patent or patent rights which are authored,
conceived, devised, developed, reduced to practice, or otherwise obtained by him during the term of his employment under the
Employment Agreement or at any time prior thereto which relate to or arise out of his employment with the Company and which relate to
the business of the Company are expressly regarded as “works for hire” or works invented or authored during the course and scope of
employment or engagement, whether as an adviser, consultant, officer, executive, director or other capacity (the “Inventions”). Employee
hereby assigns to the Company the sole and exclusive right to such Inventions. Any assignment of Inventions (and all intellectual property
rights with respect thereto) hereunder includes an assignment of all “Moral Rights” (which shall mean all paternity, integrity, disclosure,
withdrawal, special and any other similar rights recognized by the laws of any jurisdiction or country). To the extent such Moral Rights
cannot be assigned to the Company and to the extent the following is allowed by the laws in any country where Moral Rights exist,
Employee hereby unconditionally and irrevocably waives the enforcement of such Moral Rights, and all claims and causes of action of any
kind against the Company or related to the Company’s customers, with respect to such rights. Employee further acknowledges and agrees
that neither his successors-in-interest nor legal heirs retain any Moral Rights in any Inventions (and any intellectual property rights with
respect thereto).
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Employee agrees to disclose all Inventions fully and in writing to the Company promptly after development, conception, invention,
creation or discovery of the same, and at any time upon request. Employee will provide all assistance that the Company reasonably
requests to secure or enforce its rights throughout the world with respect to Inventions, including signing all necessary documents to
memorialize those rights and take any other action which the Company shall deem necessary to assign to and vest completely in the
Company, to perfect trademark, copyright and patent protection with respect to, or to otherwise protect the Company’s trade secrets and
proprietary interest in such Inventions. The obligations of this Section shall continue beyond the termination of Employee’s relationship
with respect to such Inventions conceived of, reduced to practice, or developed by the Employee during the term of this Agreement. The
Company agrees to pay any and all copyright, trademark and patent fees and expenses or other costs incurred by Employee for any
assistance rendered to the Company pursuant to this Section.
In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure Employee’s signature on any patent application, copyright or
trademark registration or other analogous protection relating to an Invention, the Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the
Company and its duly authorized officer and agent as his agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and on his behalf and stead to execute and
file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of letters patent,
copyright or other analogous protection thereon with the same legal force and effect as if executed by the Employee.
In Attachment A to this Agreement, Employee has listed all Inventions that relate to the business of the Company that Employee (alone or
jointly with others) made, conceived, or first reduced to practice by Employee prior to Employee’s execution of this Agreement, and in
which Employee has any property interest or claim of ownership. If no such Inventions are listed in said Attachment, Employee represents
that Employee has no such Inventions.
To the extent Employee is a citizen of and subject to law of a state which provides a limitation on invention assignments, then this
Agreement’s assignment shall not include inventions excluded under such law.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6, this Section 6 shall not apply to inventions that the Employee develops entirely
on his own time without using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information, except to the extent such
inventions (a) relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the Company’s business, or actual or
demonstrably anticipated research or development of the Company; or (b) result from any work performed by the Employee for the
Company.
7.
Absence of Conflicting Agreements. Employee understands that the Company does not desire to acquire from Employee any trade
secrets, know-how or confidential business information that Employee may have acquired from others, and Employee agrees not to
disclose any such information to the Company or otherwise utilize any such information in connection with Employee’s performance of
duties with the Company. Employee represents that Employee is not bound by any agreement or any other existing or previous business
relationship which purports to conflict or impact the full performance of Employee’s duties and obligations to the Company.
8.
Remedies Upon Breach. Employee agrees that any action that violates this Agreement would cause the Company irreparable harm
for which monetary damages are inadequate. Accordingly, in the event of a breach, or threatened breach, the Company shall be entitled to
an injunction restraining such breach or threatened breach, or requiring specific performance, in addition to any and all rights and remedies
at law and equity. The Company shall not be obligated to present additional evidence of irreparable harm or the insufficiency of monetary
damages and, to the extent permitted by law or under applicable court rule, does not need to post a bond or other surety. Nothing herein
shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedy available to the Company for such breach or threatened
breach.
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9.
Jurisdiction, Venue and Choice of Law. The parties hereby mutually agree to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 15th Judicial Circuit
Court of the State of Florida or the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida for any dispute arising hereunder.
Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, Employee (a) submits to the personal jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consents to service
of process by regular mail to his last known address; and (c) waives any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court, or
otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process. If either party hereto commences a legal action or other proceeding
against the other party concerning a dispute arising from or relating to this Agreement outside of Florida, such commencing party shall
reimburse such other party for its or his reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses if such other party prevails in staying, transferring,
dismissing or otherwise defending such action or proceeding based on the location of the action or proceeding, regardless of whether such
fees, costs and expenses are incurred in the forum where such commencing party commenced the action or in a Florida forum. This
Agreement shall be governed by the internal substantive laws of Florida, without regard to the doctrine of conflicts of law.
10.
Employment Relationship. Employee agrees and acknowledges that Employee is an employee “at will” and nothing in this
Agreement is intended to guarantee employment for any period of time. The parties enter this Agreement with the understanding that
Employee’s position, title, duties and responsibilities could change in a material way in the future and, in light of that understanding, the
parties intend that this Agreement shall follow Employee throughout the entire course of Employee’s employment with the Company (and
thereafter), and such subsequent material change shall not affect the enforceability or validity of this Agreement.
11. Return of Property. Employee agrees that, within ten (10) days of the time of termination of Employee’s employment (for any reason), Employee will return
immediately to the Company, in good condition, all property of the Company. This return of property includes, without limitation, a return of physical property (such
as computer, phone or other mobile devices, credit card, promotional materials, etc.) and intangible property (such as computer passwords).
12. Litigation and Regulatory Cooperation. During and after the Employee’s relationship with the Company, Employee shall cooperate fully with the Company in the
defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence or that may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company by/against third parties that
relate to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee was employed by the Company. Employee’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or
actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to act as a witness at mutually convenient times.
During and after the Employee’s employment, Employee also shall cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any investigation or review of any federal,
state, or local regulatory authority as any such investigation or review relates to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee was employed by the
Company, unless such claim is brought by Employee. As consideration for the Employee’s services under this Section 12, the Company shall remit to Employee, as
agreed between the parties in advance, (a) reasonable expenses related to such cooperation, and (b) an hourly rate equal to Employee’s last base salary divided by
2,000.
13. Communication to Future Employers. Employee agrees to communicate the contents of all post-relationship obligations in this Agreement to any Competing
Business that Employee intends to be employed by, associated with, or represent. Employee understands and agrees that the Company may, in its discretion, also share
any post-employment obligation set out in this Agreement with any future employer or potential employer of Employee, or any entity which seeks to be associated
with Employee for Employee’s services.
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14. Miscellaneous. Any waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach
hereof. If a court determines that one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable, such court shall construe, reform or
otherwise revise such provision(s) so as to render it/them enforceable to the maximum extent allowed by law, without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Agreement. The obligations of each party hereto under this Agreement shall survive the termination of the Employee’s relationship with the Company regardless of the
manner of such termination to the extent expressly provided in, or logically would be expected under, this Agreement. All covenants and agreements hereunder shall
inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the successors of the Company. This Agreement amends, supplants and supersedes any agreement previously executed
between the parties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement.

Employee recognizes and agrees that the enforcement of this Agreement is necessary, among other things, to ensure the preservation,
protection and continuity of Confidential Information, trade secrets and goodwill of the Company. Employee agrees that, due to the
proprietary nature of the Business of the Company and relationships with others, the post-employment restrictions set forth above are
reasonable as to duration and scope.
Employee is advised to consult with an attorney before entering into this Agreement.
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Employee and the Company have executed this Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure and Assignment
of Inventions Agreement as an instrument under seal as of this 8th day of November, 2021.
SpringBig Inc.

Employee

/s/ Paul Sykes

/s/ Jeff Harris

By: Paul Sykes
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Name: Jeffrey Harris
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NONSOLICITATION, NONDISCLOSURE & ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
Attachment A
List of all inventions or improvements (referred to in Section 6) made by Employee, alone or jointly with others, prior to the execution of the
Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure & Assignment of Inventions Agreement.
Right, Title or Interest
(If none, please write “NONE”.)

Date Acquired

NONE

Name of Employee:
Jeffrey Harris
Print
/s/ Jeff Harris
Sign
11/8/21
Date
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Identifying Number or Brief Description of
Inventions or Improvements

EXHIBIT B
NONCOMPETITION COVENANT
(a)

During the period of your relationship with Company, you, Jeffrey Harris (hereinafter “you”) agree to not, anywhere within the Restricted Area (defined below),
acting individually, or as an owner, shareholder, partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise (other than on behalf of Company): provide services to a
Competing Business (defined below). For a period of twelve (12) months following termination of your relationship with Company (for any reason), you agree to
not, anywhere within the Restricted Area, acting individually, or as an owner, shareholder, partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise (other than on behalf
of Company): directly or indirectly, provide services to a Competing Business that relate to any aspect of the Business of the Company (i.e., providing messaging
and customer experiences in the cannabis industry) for which you performed services or received Confidential Information at any time. The foregoing shall not be
construed to preclude you from: (i) owning up to one percent (1%) of the outstanding stock of a publicly held corporation that constitutes or is affiliated with a
Competing Business; (ii) becoming a passive shareholder, partner, employee or member of a private equity, venture capital or other investment firm; or (iii)
continuing the activities set forth on Schedule 1 of the Employment Agreement. The foregoing shall, however, be construed to specifically prevent you from (x)
acting individually, or as an owner, shareholder, partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise (other than on behalf of Company) anywhere within the
Restricted Area, during the period of your relationship with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months following termination of your relationship with
Company (for any reason other than referenced below in section (b)), and (y) providing services that relate to any aspect of the Business of the Company for any
private equity, venture capital or other investment firm that owns or controls a Competing Business; provided that you may work for a division, entity or subgroup
of any companies that engage in a Competing Business (a “Separate BU”) so long as such Separate BU does not engage in any Competing Business and you do
not provide any service, investment advice or consulting related service to any Competing Business. To the extent that you act individually, or as an owner,
shareholder, partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise and provide services unrelated to the Business of the Company for any Separate BU or private
equity, venture capital or other investment firm at any time during such twelve (12) month period, you agree to institute an ethical screen that prevents your access
to communications, information and participation in all services related to the Business of the Company.

You and the Company agree that the opportunity for post-employment benefits and compensation set forth in the Executive
Employment Agreement dated November 8, 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”) constitute mutually-agreed upon consideration for
this Noncompetition Covenant, and is fair and reasonable consideration for this Noncompetition Covenant, in addition to continued
employment and other benefits received. Such consideration is specifically designated and you acknowledge the receipt and sufficiency
of the consideration.
i.

“Company” shall mean any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common control with SpringBig, Inc., a Delaware corporation, including affiliates
and subsidiaries. Control means the direct or indirect possession of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of an entity,
whether through ownership, by contract or otherwise.

ii.

“Restricted Area” shall mean the entire United States since the Business of the Company encompasses the entire United States, of which you
acknowledge and agree.
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iii.

“Competing Business” shall mean any person, firm, association, corporation or any other legal entity that is engaged in a business that is competitive
with any aspect of the Business of the Company.

iv.

“Business of the Company” shall mean providing messaging, customer loyalty management and/or and customer experiences in the cannabis industry,
including, without limitation, the research, design, development, marketing, sales, operations, maintenance and commercial exploitation pertaining to the
operation of, and providing products and services for such business.

v.

“Confidential Information” shall mean all information or a compilation of information, in any form (tangible or intangible or otherwise), that is not
generally known to competitors or the public, which Company considers to be confidential and/or proprietary, including but not limited to: research and
development; techniques; methodologies; strategies; product information, designs, prototypes and technical specifications; algorithms, source codes,
object codes, trade secrets or technical data; training materials methods; internal policies and procedures; marketing plans and strategies; pricing and cost
policies; customer, supplier, vendor and partner lists and accounts; customer and supplier preferences; contract terms and rates; financial data,
information, reports, and forecasts; inventions, improvements and other intellectual property; product plans or proposed product plans; know-how;
designs, processes or formulas; software and website applications; computer passwords; market or sales information, plans or strategies; business plans,
prospects and opportunities (including, but not limited to, possible acquisitions or dispositions of businesses or facilities); information concerning
existing or potential customers, partners or vendors. Confidential Information shall also mean information of or related to Company’s current or potential
customers, vendors or partners that is considered to be confidential or proprietary to the applicable customer, vendor or partner.

Confidential Information does not include: information in the public domain (other than as a result of disclosure by you);
approved in writing for unrestricted release by Company; information that Employee discovered outside of the course and
scope of his employment with Company; or produced or disclosed pursuant to a valid court order, provided you have given
Company written notice of such request such that Company has an actual, reasonable opportunity to defend, limit or protect
such production or disclosure.
(b)

You agree to communicate the contents of all post-relationship obligations in this Noncompetition Covenant to any Competing Business that you intend to be
employed by, associated with, or represent. You understand and agree that the Company may, in its discretion, also share any post-relationship obligation in
this Noncompetition Covenant with any future (or potential) employer or association that is a Competing Business that seeks to be associated with you or
employ you for your services.

(c)

You agree that the enforcement of the Noncompetition Covenant is necessary, among other things, to ensure the preservation, protection and continuity of the
Company’s Confidential Information, trade secrets and goodwill of the Company. You agree that, due to the proprietary nature of the Business of the
Company and relationships with others, the post-employment restrictions set forth above are reasonable as to duration and scope.

(d)

You agree that any action that violates this Noncompetition Covenant would cause the Company irreparable harm for which monetary damages are
inadequate. Accordingly, in the event of a breach, or threatened breach, of this Noncompetition Covenant, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction
restraining such breach or threatened breach, or requiring specific performance, in addition to any and all rights and remedies at law and equity. The Company
shall not be obligated to present additional evidence of irreparable harm or the insufficiency of monetary damages and, to the extent permitted by law or under
applicable court rule, does not need to post a bond or other surety. Nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other
remedy available to the Company for such breach or threatened breach.
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(e)

You and the Company hereby mutually agree to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 15th Judicial Circuit Court of the State of Florida or the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida for any dispute arising hereunder. Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, you (a) submit to the personal
jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consent to service of process by regular mail to your last known address; and (c) waive any other requirement (whether
imposed by statute, rule of court, or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process. If either party hereto commences a legal action or
other proceeding against the other party hereto concerning a dispute arising from or relating to this Noncompetition Covenant outside of Florida, such
commencing party shall reimburse such other party for its or his reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses if such other party prevails in staying,
transferring, dismissing or otherwise defending such action or proceeding based on the location of the action or proceeding, regardless of whether such fees,
costs and expenses are incurred in the forum where such commencing party commenced the action or in a Florida forum. This Noncompetition Covenant shall
be governed by the internal substantive laws of Florida, without regard to the doctrine of conflicts of law.

(f)

The failure of you or Company to insist upon strict performance of this Noncompetition Covenant irrespective of the length of time for which such failure
continues, shall not be a waiver of such party’s rights herein. No term or provision of this Noncompetition Covenant may be waived unless such waiver is in
writing.

(g)

If a court determines that one or more of the provisions contained in this Noncompetition Covenant shall be invalid or unenforceable, such court shall
construe, reform or otherwise revise such provision(s) so as to render it/them enforceable to the maximum extent allowed by law, without invalidating the
remaining provisions of this Noncompetition Covenant.

(h)

Your obligations under this Noncompetition Covenant shall survive the termination of your relationship with the Company regardless of the manner of such
termination.

(i)

The rights granted to the Company under the Noncompetition Covenant shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the successors or assigns of
Company.

(j)

The parties agree that you are employed “at will” and nothing in this Noncompetition Covenant is intended to guarantee employment for any period of time.
Even though the nature of your relationship with the Company is as an “at will” employee, the parties enter this Noncompetition Covenant with the
understanding that your position, title, duties and responsibilities could change in a material way in the future and, in light of that understanding, the parties
intend that this Noncompetition Covenant shall follow you throughout the entire course of your employment with the Company, and such subsequent material
change shall not affect the enforceability or validity of this Noncompetition Covenant.

SpringBig, Inc.

Employee

/s/ Paul Sykes

/s/ Jeff Harris

By: Paul Sykes
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Name: Jeffrey Harris

23

EXHIBIT C
RELEASE AND WAIVER OF CLAIMS
In consideration for the end of employment / termination benefits set forth in the Executive Employment Agreement, to which this
form is attached (the “Employment Agreement”), including without limitation the end of employment/termination benefits set forth in Section
6 thereof, among other things, Jeffrey Harris (the “Executive” or “I”) and SpringBig, Inc. (and any entity controlled by, controlling, or under
common control with SpringBig, Inc., the “Company”) hereby enter into the following release and waiver of claims (the “Release”). For the
avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Release is intended or shall be construed to waive, release or limit in any manner the end of employment /
termination benefits described in the Employment Agreement.
The Executive hereby generally and completely release the Company, its present and future affiliates, and its and their current and
former directors, officers, employees, shareholders, partners, agents, attorneys, predecessors, successors, parent and subsidiary entities,
insurers, affiliates, family and assigns (collectively, the “Released Parties”) of and from any and all claims, liabilities and obligations, both
known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on the date that
Executive signs this Release (collectively, the “Released Claims”). The Released Claims include, but are not limited to: (i) all claims arising
out of or in any way related to the Executive’s employment with the Company, or the termination of that employment; (ii) all claims related to
the Executive’s compensation or benefits from the Company, including salary, bonuses, retention bonuses, commissions, vacation pay, expense
reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests or equity-based awards in the Company;
(iii) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (iv) all tort
claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in violation of public policy; and (v) all federal, state, and
local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation, attorneys’ fees, or other claims arising under the federal
Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended), the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (as amended), the federal Family and Medical
Leave Act (as amended) (the “FMLA”), the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (as amended) (the “ADEA”), the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as amended), the National Labor Relations Act of 1935 (as amended), and any similar
applicable state laws, including those of the State of Florida and any other federal, state or local civil or human rights law or any other local,
state or federal law, regulation or ordinance, and any public policy, contract, tort, or common law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
following are not included in the Released Claims (the “Excluded Claims”): (i) any rights or claims for indemnification that Executive may
have pursuant to any written indemnification agreement with the Company, the charter, bylaws, or operating agreements of the Company, or
under applicable law; (ii) any rights which are not waivable as a matter of law; (iii) any claims arising from the breach of this Release; or (iv)
any claims related to any Accrued Benefits or other vested benefits or any severance benefits under the Executive Employment Agreement
payable or due to the Executive on account of the end of the Executive’s employment, the Executive’s termination under the terms of the
Executive Employment Agreement, or the Executive’s execution of this Release. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Release shall
prevent Executive from challenging the validity of the Release in a legal or administrative proceeding. Nothing in this Release shall prevent
the Executive from filing, cooperating with, or participating in any proceeding or investigation before the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission, United States Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the
Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal government agency, or similar state or local agency (“Government Agencies”), or
exercising any rights pursuant to Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act. The Executive further understands that this Release does not
limit the Executive’s ability to voluntarily communicate with any Government Agencies or otherwise participate in any investigation or
proceeding that may be conducted by any Government Agency, including providing documents or other information, without notice to the
Company. While this Release does not limit the Executive’s right to receive an award for information provided to the Securities and Exchange
Commission, the Executive understands and agrees that the Executive is otherwise waiving, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any and all
rights the Executive may have to individual relief based upon any claims arising out of any proceeding or investigation before one or more of
the Government Agencies. If any such claim is not subject to release, to the extent permitted by law, the Executive waives any right or ability
to be a class or collective action representative or to otherwise participate in any putative or certified class, collective or multi-party action or
proceeding based on such a claim in which any of the Released Parties is a party. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein,
this Release does not abrogate the Executive’s existing rights to vested benefits under any Company benefit plan, the Executive Employment
Agreement or any plan or agreement related to equity ownership in the Company.
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I acknowledge that I am knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights I may have under the ADEA (“ADEA Waiver”). I
also acknowledge that (i) the consideration given for the ADEA Waiver is in addition to anything of value to which I was already entitled; and
(ii) that, subject only to Company providing the end of employment / termination benefits described in the first paragraph of this Release, I
have been paid for all time worked, has received all the leave, leaves of absence and leave benefits and protections for which I am eligible, and
have not suffered any on-the-job injury for which I have not already filed a claim. I affirm that all of the decisions of the Released Parties
regarding my pay and benefits through the date of my execution of this Release were not discriminatory based on age, disability, race, color,
sex, religion, national origin or any other classification protected by law. I affirm that I have not filed or caused to be filed, and am not
presently a party to, a claim against any of the Released Parties. I further affirm that I have no known workplace injuries or occupational
diseases. I acknowledge and affirm that I have not been retaliated against for reporting any allegation of corporate fraud or other wrongdoing
by any of the Released Parties, or for exercising any rights protected by law, including any rights protected by the Fair Labor Standards Act,
the Family Medical Leave Act or any related statute or local leave or disability accommodation laws, or any applicable state workers’
compensation law. I have been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) my waiver and release do not apply to any claims
that may arise after I sign this Release; (b) I should consult with an attorney prior to executing this release; (c) I have twenty-one (21) days
within which to consider this release (although I may choose to voluntarily execute this release earlier); (d) I have seven (7) days following the
execution of this release to revoke this Release (in a written revocation sent to the Board of Directors of the Company); and (e) this Release
will not be effective until the eighth day after I sign this Release, provided that I have not earlier revoked this Release (the “Effective Date”). I
will not be entitled to receive any of the benefits specified by this Release unless and until it becomes effective.
In granting the release herein, which includes claims that may be unknown to me at present, I acknowledge that I expressly waive and
relinquish any and all rights and benefits under any applicable law or statute providing, in substance, that a general release does not extend to
claims which a party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by him or her
would have materially affected the terms of such release.
The parties hereby mutually agree to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 15th Judicial Circuit Court of the State of Florida or the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida for any dispute arising hereunder. Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, I
(a) submit to the personal jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consent to service of process by regular mail to my last known address; and (c) waive
any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court, or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process. If
either party hereto commences a legal action or other proceeding against the other party hereto concerning a dispute arising from or relating to
this Release outside of Florida, such commencing party will reimburse such other party for its or my reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and
expenses if such other party prevails in staying, transferring, dismissing or otherwise defending such action or proceeding based on the
location of the action or proceeding, regardless of whether such fees, costs and expenses are incurred in the forum where such commencing
party commenced the action or in a Florida forum.
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This Release constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement between the Company and me with
regard to the subject matter hereof. I am not relying on any promise or representation by the Company that is not expressly stated herein. This
Release may only be modified by a writing signed by both me and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
THE EXECUTIVE:
Date:
Name:

THE COMPANY:
Date:
By:
Its:
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Jeffrey Harris

Exhibit 10.8
Execution Version
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Executive Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is dated as of this 8th day of November, 2021 by and between SpringBig, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 621 NW 53rd St, Suite 260, Boca Raton, FL 33487 (“SpringBig” or the
“Company”), and Paul Sykes, a Florida resident (“Executive”).
WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, the Executive is and was Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO”) of SpringBig, Inc. prior to the closing (the “Closing”) of
the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of 8, 2021 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among
Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation, a Cayman Islands exempted company (“Tuatara”), Tuatara Merger Sub, a Delaware corporation and
a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Tuatara (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which Merger Sub will merge with and into SpringBig (the
“Merger”), with SpringBig continuing as the surviving corporation and a subsidiary of Tuatara ( “Parent”);
WHEREAS, effective upon the date of and subject to the consummation of the Closing (the “Effective Date”), the Company desires to
continue to employ the Executive following the Closing pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement;
WHEREAS, as of the Effective Date, the Executive shall be appointed as CFO of Parent and serve in such position under the terms of
this Agreement, in addition to continuing to serve in his role as CFO of the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms of the Executive’s employment
with the Company and Parent.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the mutual promises contained herein and of other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.

POSITION AND DUTIES.

(a)
GENERAL. Commencing on the Effective Date, the Executive shall continue to serve as the Company’s CFO and shall serve
as CFO of Parent, reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer. In the position as CFO, the Executive shall have such duties, authorities
and responsibilities as are customary for an employee in such position, and such other duties, authorities and responsibilities as may
reasonably be assigned to the Executive from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer or the Board. The Executive’s principal place of
employment shall be at the Company’s headquarters located in Boca Raton, Florida or such other place as approved by the Company.
(b)
TERM. Subject to Section 5, the Executive will be employed hereunder commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the
third (3rd) anniversary thereof (the “Employment Term”), which Employment Term will automatically extend for successive one-year periods
unless either party provides written notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 60 days prior to the expiration of the Employment Term
(or any renewal period thereto).
(c)
OTHER ACTIVITIES. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall devote substantially all of the Executive’s
business time, energy, knowledge and skill to the performance of the Executive’s duties with the Company and Parent, provided that the
foregoing shall not prevent the Executive from engaging in any non-Company activity so long as such activity, individually, or together with
any other non-Company activity, does not pose a conflict of interest or interfere with Executive’s performance of his duties under this
Agreement and does not violate the restrictive covenants set forth herein or in any exhibit hereto or in any other agreement between Executive
and the Company or Parent, in each case, whether directly or indirectly.
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2.
ANNUAL BASE SALARY. During the Employment Term, the Company agrees to pay the Executive an annual base salary at
an annual rate of $350,000, payable subject to all applicable federal and state payroll withholding requirements in accordance with the regular
payroll practices of the Company. The Executive’s annual base salary shall be subject to annual review by the Board (or a committee thereof),
and may be increased (but not decreased below $350,000, except pursuant to across-the-board reductions affecting similarly situated senior
executives of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) from time to time as determined by the Board (or a committee thereof). The annual base
salary as may be adjusted from time to time is referred to herein as “Annual Base Salary.”
3.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION.

(a)
Annual Cash Incentive. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible for an annual target cash incentive
opportunity of up to 100% of Annual Base Salary (as may be adjusted from time to time, the “Target Annual Cash Incentive”). The
Executive’s Target Annual Cash Incentive shall be subject to annual review by the Board (or a committee thereof). The earned annual cash
incentive (the “Annual Cash Incentive”) for any given fiscal year will be determined based on overall Company or Parent performance and/or
Executive’s individual performance goals as determined in consultation with Executive (as applicable), as determined in the sole discretion of
the Board (or a committee thereof) and provided Executive remains employed by the Company through the last day of the applicable
performance year, except as otherwise provided herein. Any such Annual Cash Incentive shall be paid to Executive, subject to all federal and
state payroll withholdings, at the same time that annual cash incentives are paid to other senior executives of Parent or the Company, provided,
in any event, any such Annual Cash Incentive shall be paid by no later than March 15th of the year following the applicable performance year.
(b)
Equity Incentive. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be eligible to receive equity incentive awards under the
Parent’s long-term incentive plan as in effect from time to time (the “Equity Incentive Plan”), subject to the terms and conditions thereof, and
Parent shall determine the amount and timing of any equity incentive awards (each, an “Equity Incentive Award”), with the valuation
methodology for such awards to be determined by the Board (or a committee thereof) in its discretion. The Executive’s eligibility for Equity
Incentive Awards shall be reviewed annually by the Board (or a committee thereof).
4.

EXECUTIVE BENEFITS.

(a)
BENEFIT PLANS. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in any employee and/or
executive benefit plan that the Company and/or Parent have adopted or may adopt, maintain or contribute to for the benefit of its employees
and/or executives generally, currently including, without limitation, health and dental insurance coverage, long-term and short-term disability
insurance coverage and group life insurance coverage, subject, in all events to satisfying the applicable eligibility requirements, and except to
the extent such plans are duplicative of the benefits otherwise provided hereunder. The Executive’s participation will be subject to the terms of
the applicable plan documents and generally applicable Company or Parent policies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company or Parent,
as the case may be, may modify or terminate any employee and/or executive benefit plan at any time.
(b)
VACATION TIME. During the Employment Term, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the
Company’s or Parent’s policy applicable to its executives as in effect from time to time.
(c)
BUSINESS EXPENSES. Upon presentation of such reasonable substantiation and documentation as the Company or Parent
reasonably may specify from time to time or as otherwise provided under the Company’s business expense reimbursement policy in effect
from time to time, the Executive shall be reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses incurred and paid by the Executive
during the Employment Term in connection with the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder.
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5.
TERMINATION. The Executive’s employment under this Agreement and the Employment Term shall terminate on the first of
the following to occur:
(a)
DISABILITY. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Company to the Executive of a termination due to Disability. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall be defined as the inability of the Executive to perform the Executive’s material duties hereunder
with a reasonable accommodation due to a physical or mental injury, infirmity or incapacity for one hundred and twenty (120) days (including
weekends and holidays) in any three hundred sixty-five (365) day period; provided such disability also qualifies as a “disability” as defined in
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(4)(i). The Executive shall reasonably cooperate with the Company if a question arises as to whether
the Executive has become disabled.
(b)

DEATH. Automatically upon the date of death of the Executive.

(c)
CAUSE. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Company to the Executive of a termination for Cause if the Executive shall
have failed to cure or remedy such matter, if curable, within such thirty (30) day period. In the event that the basis for Cause is not curable,
then such thirty (30) day cure period shall not be required, and such termination shall be effective on the date the Company delivers notice of
such termination for Cause. “Cause” shall mean the Company’s or Parent’s termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company,
Parent or any of its subsidiaries as a result of: (i) fraud, embezzlement, willful misconduct, or an act of dishonesty by the Executive in
connection with or relating to the Executive’s employment with the Company, Parent or any of their affiliates; (ii) theft or misappropriation of
Company’s or Parent’s property, information or other assets by the Executive, (iii) other conduct which results in or could reasonably be
expected to result in material loss, damage or injury to the Company, Parent and/or their affiliates, their goodwill, business or reputation; (iv)
the Executive’s conviction, guilty plea, no contest plea, or similar plea for any felony or any crime of moral turpitude, or any other crime that
results in or could reasonably be expected to result in material loss, damage or injury to the Company and/or Parent and their affiliates, their
goodwill, business or reputation; or (v) the Executive’s material breach of any of his obligations under this Agreement (which breach is either
incapable of cure or is not cured within thirty (30) days after the Company has provided written notice of such breach to Executive).
(d)
WITHOUT CAUSE. The date of termination set forth in any written notice by the Company to the Executive of an involuntary
termination without Cause (other than death or Disability). For the avoidance of doubt, the normal expiration of the Employment Term
pursuant to the Company’s provision of a notice of non-renewal in accordance with Section 2 shall not constitute a termination of the
Executive’s employment by the Company without Cause (and, therefore, the Executive will not be entitled to severance under Section 6(c)(i)
or (ii) in such event).
(e)
GOOD REASON. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Executive to the Company of an alleged condition giving rise to
a resignation for Good Reason if the Company shall have failed to cure or remedy such matter, if curable, within such thirty (30) day period.
In the event that the basis for Good Reason is not curable, then such thirty (30) day cure period shall not be required, and such resignation
shall be effective on the date the Executive delivers such notice. “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events,
without the express written consent of the Executive: (i) the Company’s material breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement; (ii)
any material adverse change in the Executive’s duties or authority or responsibilities, or the assignment of duties or responsibilities to the
Executive materially inconsistent with his position; (iii) without limiting the generality of clause (ii) above, the Executive no longer serving
as the CFO of the Company or Parent; (iv) reduction in the Executive’s Annual Base Salary or material reduction in Target Annual Cash
Incentive (in each case, other than across-the-board reductions affecting similarly situated senior executives of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries); (v) the Company or Parent requires Executive to be based at any office or location (other than this home) that is more than
thirty-five (35) miles from the Company’s headquarters in Boca Raton, Florida; or (vi) the failure of a successor to the Company or Parent to
assume the Company’s obligations under this Agreement; provided, that, for clauses (i) – (vi) above, Executive has given written notice to the
Company of the condition giving rise to Good Reason within ninety (90) days after Executive becomes aware of its initial occurrence.
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(f)
WITHOUT GOOD REASON. Thirty (30) days after written notice by the Executive to the Company of the Executive’s
voluntary termination of employment without Good Reason (which the Company may, in its sole discretion, make effective earlier).
6.

CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION.

(a)
DEATH OR DISABILITY. In the event that the Executive’s employment ends on account of the Executive’s death or
Disability, the Executive or the Executive’s estate, as the case may be, shall be entitled to the following (with the amounts due under Sections
6(a)(i) through 6(a)(iii) hereof to be paid within thirty (30) days following termination of employment, or such earlier date as may be required
by applicable law):
(i)

any unpaid Annual Base Salary earned through the date of termination;

(ii)
reimbursement for any unreimbursed business expenses incurred through the date of termination that are submitted in
accordance with Section 4(c); and
(iii)
all other accrued and vested payments, benefits or fringe benefits required to be paid or provided to the Executive under
the applicable plans or by law, including without limitation, payment for all accrued but unpaid vacation (collectively, Sections 6(a)(i) through
6(a)(iii) hereof shall be hereafter referred to as the “Accrued Benefits”), and the Executive shall not be entitled to any other payments or
benefits under this Agreement.
(b)
TERMINATION FOR CAUSE OR WITHOUT GOOD REASON. If the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) by the
Company or Parent for Cause, or (ii) by the Executive without Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Benefits, at
such times as set forth in Section 6(a) above, and the Executive shall not be entitled to any other payments or benefits under this Agreement.
(c)
TERMINATION WITHOUT CAUSE OR FOR GOOD REASON. If the Executive’s employment by the Company or
Parent is terminated during the Employment Term (x) by the Company or Parent without Cause, or (y) by the Executive for Good Reason
(each, a “Qualifying Termination”), then the Company will provide Executive with the Accrued Benefits at such times as set forth in Section
6(a) above and, provided Executive is in full compliance with his obligations under Exhibits A and B attached hereto and Executive or the
Executive’s estate (in the event of Executive’s death after becoming entitled to severance hereunder), as the case may be, executes, returns to
the Company and does not revoke the release and waiver of claims in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (with such changes as may be
required in order to reflect or comply with applicable laws at such time, as determined by the Company in its reasonable judgment, the
“Release and Waiver”) and the Release and Waiver becomes effective (i.e., irrevocable) pursuant to its terms and conditions, all within sixty
(60) days following termination of employment, then the Company shall also pay or provide the Executive or the Executive’s estate (in the
event of Executive’s death after becoming entitled to severance hereunder), as the case may be, with the following:
(i)
Termination in Connection with Change in Control. In the event of a Qualifying Termination within eighteen (18)
months after a Change in Control (as defined below), the Company shall provide Executive:
A.
Cash severance in an amount equal to the sum of (x) Annual Base Salary plus (y) Target Annual Cash Incentive,
less all applicable withholdings and deductions, payable on the first regular payroll date of the Company that is sixty (60) days following the
date of Executive’s termination.
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B.
Continued participation through COBRA coverage (all costs, expenses and premiums to be paid by Company) on
the same basis as the employee and/or executive benefit plans contemplated by Section 4(a) hereof in which the Executive is participating on
the date of such termination of employment for 12 months following the month in which coverage would otherwise be lost as an employee of
the Company; provided that the Executive is eligible and remains eligible for coverage under such plans by timely electing COBRA
continuation; and provided, further, that in the event that the Executive obtains other employment that offers Executive health benefits such
that Executive is not eligible for COBRA continuation rights, such continuation of coverage by the Company under this Section (6)(c)(i)(B)
shall immediately cease (such 12 month or shorter period, the “COBRA Payment Period”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time the
Company determines that its payment of COBRA premiums on Executive’s behalf or other method of continued participation would result in a
violation of applicable law (including but not limited to the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the 2010 Health
Care and Education Reconciliation Act), then in lieu of paying COBRA premiums or providing such other method of continued participation
pursuant to this Section, the Company shall pay Executive on the last day of each remaining month of the COBRA Payment Period, a fully
taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA premium or such other payment for such month, subject to applicable tax withholding (such
amount, the “Special Severance Payment”), such Special Severance Payment to be made without regard to Executive’s payment of COBRA
premiums and without regard to the expiration of the COBRA period prior to the end of the COBRA Payment Period. Nothing in this
Agreement shall deprive Executive of his rights under COBRA or ERISA for benefits under plans and policies arising under his employment
by the Company.
C.
Accelerated vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award (if any) that is
solely subject to time-based vesting that would otherwise vest within the next twelve (12) months after termination of employment.
D.
Continued vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award that is solely
subject to performance-based vesting (if any), with such vesting determined based on actual performance against the applicable performance
goals established for each applicable award, as determined at the time and in the manner applicable to each such award pursuant to the
applicable Equity Incentive Plan and award agreement, with each such award remaining outstanding through the date such vesting is
determined.
E.
Executive shall have nine (9) months after termination of employment to exercise any then-outstanding stock
options that were vested (including by reason of partial acceleration under Section 6(c)(i)(C)) at the time of such termination of employment,
provided that to the extent any then-outstanding performance-based vesting stock option vests after termination of employment pursuant to
Section 6(c)(i)(D), the Executive shall have nine (9) months after each incremental vesting of the stock option to exercise such portion of the
stock option. Stock options not timely exercised in accordance with the foregoing shall be forfeited as of the last day of the applicable
exercise period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such stock options shall be subject to the maximum term and expiration date of such stock
options as set forth in the applicable award agreement and/or the Equity Incentive Plan, and nothing herein shall constitute an extension of
such maximum term or expiration date.
E.

Any and all other payments or awards that Executive has earned and vested and for which Company or Parent has

yet to provide or pay.
(ii)
Termination Not in Connection with Change in Control. In the event of a Qualifying Termination that is not within eighteen
(18) months after a Change in Control, the Company shall provide Executive:
A.
Cash severance in an amount equal to Executive’s Annual Base Salary, less all applicable withholdings and
deductions, payable in substantially equal monthly installments over the 12-month period following such termination; provided that any such
payments that otherwise would be paid prior to the date that the Release and Waiver becomes effective instead will be paid within five
business days after such effective date, and the remaining such payments will be paid over the remainder of such 12-month period (provided
that if the period during which the Executive may execute the Release and Waiver begins in one calendar year and ends in the next calendar
year, then any such payments that otherwise would be paid in such first calendar year instead will be paid during the first five business days
after such effective date of the Release and Waiver).
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B.
An additional cash severance amount in an amount equal to the Annual Cash Incentive to which Executive would
be entitled for the year of termination if Executive were employed by the Company or Parent on the last day of such year, based on actual
performance against the applicable performance goals established for such bonus, pro-rated based on the number of days Executive was
employed by the Company or Parent during such year, less all applicable withholdings and deductions, payable at the same time as bonuses
are paid to active employees but no later than March 15 of the year after the year of termination.
C.
Continued participation through COBRA coverage or such other method determined by the Company (all costs,
expenses and premiums to be paid by Company) on the terms and conditions set forth in Section 6(c)(i)(B).
D.
Accelerated vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award (if any) that is
solely subject to time-based vesting that would otherwise vest within the next twelve (12) months after termination of employment.
E.
Continued vesting of the portion of each then-outstanding and unvested Equity Incentive Award that is solely
subject to performance-based vesting (if any), with such vesting determined based on actual performance against the applicable performance
goals established for each applicable award, as determined at the time and in the manner applicable to each such award pursuant to the
applicable Equity Incentive Plan and award agreement, with each such award remaining outstanding through the date such vesting is
determined; provided, however, that the foregoing shall only apply to a pro rata portion of each such unvested Equity Incentive Award
determined based on the number of days Executive was employed by the Company and/or Parent during the applicable performance/vesting
periods.
F.
Executive shall have nine (9) months after termination of employment to exercise any then-outstanding stock
options that were vested (including by reason of acceleration under Section 6(c)(ii)(D)) at the time of such termination of employment,
provided that to the extent of any then-outstanding performance-based vesting stock option vests after termination of employment pursuant to
Section 6(c)(ii)(E), the Executive shall have nine (9) months after each incremental pro-rated vesting of the stock option to exercise such prorated portion of the stock option. Stock options not timely exercised in accordance with the foregoing shall be forfeited as of the last day of
the applicable exercise period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such stock options shall be subject to the maximum term and expiration date of
such stock options as set forth in the applicable award agreement and/or the Equity Incentive Plan, and nothing herein shall constitute an
extension of such maximum term or expiration date.
G.
has yet to provide or pay.

Any and all other payments or awards that Executive has earned and are vested for which Company or Parent

(iii) “Change in Control” for purposes of this Section 6 will have the meaning set forth in the Equity Incentive Plan of Parent,
as in effect at the Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, no transaction shall be considered a Change in Control hereunder unless it also
constitutes a “change in control event” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and regulations thereunder.
d.
TERMS OF EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN. Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing provisions of Section 6,
the foregoing treatment of Equity Incentive Award shall, in all cases, be subject to the terms of the Equity Incentive Plan and shall not preclude
the Board (or compensation committee) from exercising its discretion under the Equity Incentive Plan or any award agreement thereunder to
provide for the treatment of outstanding equity-based awards in connection with a corporate transaction, including a Change in Control
(including, without limitation, the termination of stock options upon the consummation of a transaction constituting a Change in Control). To
the extent the Executive’s Equity Incentive Awards are not continued, assumed or substituted in such transaction that constitutes a Change in
Control, the vesting of the portion of the performance-based equity awards that would otherwise potentially continue to vest following
termination of employment under the foregoing shall be determined based on target level of performance (and pro-rated where indicated
above).
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7.
RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. Within ten (10) days after Executive’s termination of employment with the Company
for any reason, the Executive shall return all property belonging to the Company or its affiliates (including, but not limited to, any Companyprovided laptops, computers, cell phones, wireless electronic mail devices or other equipment, or documents and property belonging to the
Company).
8.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

(a)
AUTHORIZATION. All corporate action on the part of the Company and its directors necessary for the authorization,
execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, and the performance of all of the Company’s obligations under this Agreement has
been taken.
(b)
ENFORCEABILITY. This Agreement, when executed and delivered by the Company, will constitute valid and legally binding
obligations of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
9.
NO ASSIGNMENTS. This Agreement is personal to each of the parties hereto and no party may assign or delegate any rights
or obligations hereunder without first obtaining the written consent of the other party hereto; provided, however, that the Company may assign
this Agreement to Parent or any successor to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company or Parent; provided, further,
that the Company shall require such successor to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement, “Company” shall
mean the Company and any successor to its business and/or assets, which assumes and agrees to perform the duties and obligations of the
Company under this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.
10.
NOTICE. For purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery, if delivered by hand, (b) on the date of transmission, if
delivered by confirmed facsimile on a business day or, if not so delivered, then on the next business day, (c) on the date of delivery, if
delivered by guaranteed overnight delivery service, or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed as follows:
If to the Executive:
Paul Sykes
Address on file with the Company
If to the Company:
SpringBig, Inc.
Attn: Board of Directors
621 NW 53rd St, Suite 260,
Boca Raton, FL 33487
Copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Benesch Friedlander Coplan & Aronoff LLP
71 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1600
Chicago, IL 60606
Attention: William E. Doran
Email:
wdoran@beneschlaw.com
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or to such other address or fax number as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.
11.
SECTION HEADINGS; INCONSISTENCY. The section headings used in this Agreement are included solely for
convenience and shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Agreement. In the event of any conflict or
inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any offer letter, form, award, plan or policy of the Company, the terms
of this Agreement shall govern and control.
12.
SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Agreement will be construed as separable and divisible from every other provision
and the enforceability of any one (1) provision will not limit the enforceability, in whole or in part, of any other provision. In the event that a
court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction holds any provision of this Agreement to be invalid, illegal, void or less than fully
enforceable as to time, scope or otherwise, then such provision will be construed by limiting and reducing it so that such provision is valid,
legal and fully enforceable while preserving to the greatest extent permissible the original intent of the parties; the remaining terms and
conditions of this Agreement will not be affected by such alteration, and will remain in full force and effect.
13.
COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original
but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.
14.
GOVERNING LAW; ARBITRATION. This Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties hereto, and all claims or
disputes relating thereto, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to the choice
of law provisions thereof. Except for disputes arising under Exhibit A, Exhibit B or Exhibit D hereof, which shall be decided pursuant to the
terms of those Exhibits, any dispute arising from this Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company or Parent, including but not
limited to claims for wrongful termination; violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended; violations of the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990; violations of Florida law; or claims for violations of any state law or rule or regulation regarding discrimination,
harassment or other wrongful conduct (collectively, “Covered Claims”), shall be decided solely and exclusively in a final and binding
arbitration administered by the JAMS in Miami, Florida, in accordance with the JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules in effect at the time of
the filing of the demand for arbitration (the “Rules”), a copy of which is available at http://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/.
The arbitrator shall be a single arbitrator with expertise in employment disputes, mutually selected by the parties, or, if the parties are unable to
agree thereon, a single arbitrator with expertise in employment disputes designated by the Miami office of JAMS. The arbitrator shall have the
authority to award all remedies available in a court of law. The Company or Parent, as applicable, shall pay the arbitrator’s fees and all fees
and costs to administer the arbitration. The parties acknowledge and agree that their obligations to arbitrate under this Section survive the
termination of the Agreement and continue after the termination of the employment relationship between the Executive and the Company or
Parent. By agreeing to arbitrate disputes arising out of Executive’s employment, the Executive, the Company and Parent voluntarily and
irrevocably waive any and all rights to have any such dispute heard or resolved in any forum other than through arbitration as provided herein.
This waiver specifically includes, but is not limited to, any right to trial by jury. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, this
Section will not apply to claims for workers’ compensation or unemployment benefits and will not apply to claims for injunctive relief, or any
other claim by the Company or Parent under Exhibit A or Exhibit B hereto. All arbitration proceedings hereunder shall be confidential,
except: (a) to the extent the parties otherwise agree in writing; (b) as may be otherwise appropriate in response to a request from a government
agency, subpoena, or legal process; (c) if the substantive law of the State of Florida (without giving effect to choice of law principles) provides
to the contrary; or (d) as is necessary in a court proceeding to enforce, correct, modify or vacate the arbitrator’s award or decision (and in the
case of this subpart (d), the parties agree to take all reasonable steps to ensure that the arbitrator’s award, decision or findings and all other
documents, pleadings and papers are filed and/or entered with the court under seal and/or in a manner that would maintain their confidentiality,
including, without limitation, complying with all rules of procedure and local rules for filing documents, pleadings and papers under seal).
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15.
MISCELLANEOUS. No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver,
modification or discharge is agreed to in writing and signed by the Executive and an authorized representative of the Company. No waiver by
either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of, or compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to
be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or
subsequent time. This Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto collectively set forth the entire agreement of the parties hereto in respect of the
subject matter contained herein and supersede any and all prior agreements or understandings between the Executive and the Company with
respect to the subject matter hereof (including, without limitation, Executive’s offer letter dated April 1, 2021). However, nothing herein shall
supersede any obligations Executive may have under any restrictive covenants in favor the Company (e.g., nondisclosure, noncompetition
non-solicitation and intellectual property assignment), which shall continue to survive following the Effective Date in addition to any
restrictive covenant obligation herein (including any Exhibit hereto). No agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied,
with respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement. In the event of
any conflict or inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any offer letter, form, award, plan or policy of the
Company, the terms of this Agreement shall govern and control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of any conflict or inconsistency
between this Agreement (including the exhibits hereto) and Equity Incentive Plan of Parent (or any award agreement under such plans to
which Executive is a party) regarding (1) the definitions of “Cause” or “Disability”, (2) the treatment of equity-based awards in connection
with a termination of employment (whether before or after a Change in Control) or (3) the governing law and dispute resolution procedures,
then such provisions in this Agreement (including the exhibits hereto) shall control.
16.

TAX MATTERS.

(a)
WITHHOLDING. The Company may withhold from any and all amounts payable under this Agreement or otherwise such
federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.
(b)

SECTION 409A COMPLIANCE.

(i)
The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement are exempt from or comply with Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Code Section 409A”) and, accordingly,
to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. To the extent that any provision hereof is
modified in order to comply with Code Section 409A, such modification shall be made in good faith and shall, to the maximum extent
reasonably possible, maintain the original intent and economic benefit to the Executive and the Company of the applicable provision without
violating the provisions of Code Section 409A.
(ii)
To the extent required to prevent the imposition of taxes or penalties under Code Section 409A, a termination of
employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of any amount
or benefit upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or
like terms shall mean “separation from service.” Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Executive is deemed on the
date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), then with regard to any
payment or the provision of any benefit that is considered “nonqualified deferred compensation” under Code Section 409A payable on account
of a “separation from service,” such payment or benefit shall not be made or provided until the date which is the earlier of (A) the expiration of
the six (6)-month period measured from the date of such “separation from service” of the Executive, and (B) the date of the Executive’s death,
to the extent required under Code Section 409A. Upon the expiration of the foregoing delay period, all payments and benefits delayed pursuant
to this Section 16(b)(ii) (whether they would have otherwise been payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay) shall
be paid or reimbursed to the Executive in a lump sum, and all remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or
provided in accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.
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(iii)
To the extent that reimbursements or other in-kind benefits under this Agreement constitute “nonqualified deferred
compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A, (A) all expenses or other reimbursements hereunder shall be made on or prior to the last
day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which such expenses were incurred by the Executive, (B) any right to reimbursement or
in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (C) no such reimbursement, expenses eligible for
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided in any taxable year shall in any way affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind
benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year.
(iv)
For purposes of Code Section 409A, the Executive’s right to receive installment payments pursuant to this Agreement
shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment
period with reference to a number of days, the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the
Company.
(v)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, (i) in no event shall any payment or benefit
under this Agreement that constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A be subject to offset by any
other amount unless otherwise permitted by Code Section 409A and (ii) in no event shall the Company, Parent or any of their affiliates have
any liability to the Executive with respect to any additional taxes, penalties or interest that may be imposed on Executive under Code Section
409A.
17.
NONSOLICITATION, NONDISCLOSURE & ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS AGREEMENT AND
NONCOMPETITION COVENANT. As a condition of continuing employment and as a condition to be eligible to receive the severance
compensation set forth herein (even if not ultimately entitled to receive such severance compensation), Executive agrees to execute and abide
by the Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure & Assignment of Inventions Agreement in the form attached as Exhibit A and the Noncompetition
Covenant in the form attached as Exhibit B (together the “Covenants”). The execution of the Covenants by Executive is a condition precedent
to this Agreement becoming effective. The Covenants contain provisions that are intended by the parties to survive and do survive termination
of this Agreement and the Executives employment hereunder according to the terms of those Covenants.
18.
INDEMNIFICATION. Executive will be insured under the Company’s and/or Parent’s Director’s and Officer’s Liability
Insurance to the extent the Company and/or Parent maintains such a policy and will be entitled to indemnification by the Company and/or
Parent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s and/or Parent’s certificate of incorporation and by-laws to the same extent as the
Company’s and/or Parent’s executive officers and directors, and pursuant to an Indemnification Agreement similar to those executed by the
Company and/or Parent in favor of its directors and executive officers.
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19.
GOLDEN PARACHUTE. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if any payment or benefit Executive
would receive from the Company or otherwise (a “Payment”) would (a) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Internal
Revenue Code Section 280G (“Code Section 280G”); and (b) but for this Section 19, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Internal Revenue
Code Section 4999 (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. For purposes of this Agreement, the
“Reduced Amount” shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the
Excise Tax; or (y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount, after taking into account all applicable
federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in
Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment. Any reduction made pursuant to this Section 19 shall be made
in accordance with the following order of priority: (i) Full Credit Payments (as defined below) that are payable in cash, (ii) non-cash Full
Credit Payments that are taxable, (iii) non-cash Full Credit Payments that are not taxable, (iv) Partial Credit Payments (as defined below), (v)
non-cash employee welfare benefits and (vi) stock options whose exercise price exceeds the fair market value of the optioned stock. In each
case, reductions shall be made in reverse chronological order such that the payment or benefit owed on the latest date following the occurrence
of the event triggering the Excise Tax will be the first payment or benefit to be reduced (with reductions made pro-rata in the event payments
or benefits are owed at the same time). For purposes of this Agreement, “Full Credit Payment” means a payment, distribution or benefit,
whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise, that if reduced in value by one
dollar reduces the amount of the parachute payment (as defined in Code Section 280G) by one dollar, determined as if such payment,
distribution or benefit had been paid or distributed on the date of the event triggering the excise tax. For purposes of this Agreement, “Partial
Credit Payment” means any payment, distribution or benefit that is not a Full Credit Payment. In no event shall Executive has any discretion
with respect to the ordering of payment reductions. Unless the Company and Executive otherwise agree in writing, any determination required
under this Section 19 will be made in writing by a certified professional services firm selected by the Company, the Company’s legal counsel
or such other person or entity to which the parties mutually agree (the “Firm”), whose determination will be conclusive and binding upon
Executive and the Company for all purposes. For purposes of making the calculations required by this Section 19, the Firm may make
reasonable assumptions and approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the
application of Code Section 280G and Internal Revenue Code Section 4999. The Company and Executive will furnish to the Firm such
information and documents as the Firm may reasonably request in order to make a determination under this Section 19. The Company will
bear all costs the Firm may reasonably incur in connection with any calculations contemplated by this Section 19.
20.
CLAWBACK/RECOVERY. Any incentive payments hereunder shall be subject to recoupment in accordance with any
clawback policy that the Company (or Parent or other affiliate) is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of such national securities
exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act or other applicable law, rule, regulation or listing requirement. No recovery of compensation under such a clawback
policy will be an event giving rise to the Executive’s right to voluntary terminate employment with Good Reason.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
SPRINGBIG, INC., a Delaware corporation
By:

/s/ Jeff Harris

Name:

Jeff Harris

Title:

CEO

EXECUTIVE
/s/ Paul Sykes
Name: Paul Sykes
Acknowledged by:
TUATARA CAPITAL ACQUISITION CORPORATION
By: /s/ Albert Foreman
Name: Albert Foreman
Title: Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A
NONSOLICITATION, NONDISCLOSURE & ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
The undersigned Employee (the “Employee”), executes this Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure & Assignment of Inventions Agreement
(the “Agreement”) in consideration of, and a material inducement for, the Company’s (as defined below) continuing relationship with
Employee, whether by employment, contractor, or in advisory or consulting capacities, or otherwise, and in consideration of receiving any
form of compensation or benefit from or in the Company, and the entering into of the Executive Employment Agreement (the “Employment
Agreement”). Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement shall remain in effect and survive any and all changes in Employee’s job
duties, titles and compensation during Employee’s relationship with Company.
Definitions
i.

“Company” shall mean SpringBig, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common control with it,
including affiliates and subsidiaries. “Control” for this purpose means the direct or indirect possession of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of an entity, whether through ownership, by contract or otherwise.

ii.

“Competing Business” shall mean any person, firm, association, corporation or any other legal entity that is engaged in a business that is
competitive with any aspect of the Business of the Company.

iii.

“Business of the Company” shall mean the business of providing messaging, customer loyalty management and/or customer experiences in the
cannabis industry, including, without limitation, the research, design, development, marketing, sales, operations, maintenance and commercial
exploitation pertaining to the operation of, and providing products and services for such business.

iv.

“Confidential Information” shall mean all information or a compilation of information, in any form (tangible or intangible or otherwise), that is
not generally known to competitors or the public, which Company considers to be confidential and/or proprietary, including but not limited to:
research and development; techniques; methodologies; strategies; product information, designs, prototypes and technical specifications;
algorithms, source codes, object codes, trade secrets or technical data; training materials methods; internal policies and procedures; marketing
plans and strategies; pricing and cost policies; customer, supplier, vendor and partner lists and accounts; customer and supplier preferences;
contract terms and rates; financial data, information, reports, and forecasts; inventions, improvements and other intellectual property; product
plans or proposed product plans; know-how; designs, processes or formulas; software and website applications; computer passwords; market or
sales information, plans or strategies; business plans, prospects and opportunities (including, but not limited to, possible acquisitions or
dispositions of businesses or facilities); information concerning existing or potential customers, partners or vendors. Confidential Information
shall also mean information of or related to Company’s current or potential customers, vendors or partners that is considered to be confidential or
proprietary to the applicable customer, vendor or partner.
Confidential Information does not include: information in the public domain (other than as a result of disclosure directly or indirectly by
Employee); information approved in writing for unrestricted release by Company; information that Employee discovered outside of the course
and scope of his employment with Company; or information produced or disclosed pursuant to a valid court order, provided Employee has given
Company written notice of such request such that Company has an actual, reasonable opportunity to defend, limit or protect such production or
disclosure.
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1.
Duty of Loyalty. During the period of Employee’s relationship with the Company, Employee will devote Employee’s best efforts on
behalf of the Company. Employee agrees not to provide any services to any Competing Business or engage in any conduct which may
create an actual or appear to create a conflict of interest, without the expressed, written permission of the Company.
2.
Nonsolicitation of Customers, Clients or Vendors. During the period of Employee’s relationship with the Company and for a
period of twelve (12) months after termination of such relationship (for any reason), Employee shall not directly or indirectly, induce or
attempt to induce any of the individuals or entities actually known to Employee to be the Company’s customers, clients, vendors or
partners, or prospective customers, clients, vendors or partners, to reduce or cease doing business with the Company, Parent or their
affiliates, or interfere with the relationship between any such customer, client, vendor, partner or prospective customers and the Company,
Parent or any of their affiliate (including making any negative statements or communications concerning the Company, Parent or any of
their affiliates).
3.
Nonsolicitation of Employees and Contractors. During the period of Employee’s relationship with the Company and for a period
of twelve (12) months after termination of such relationship (for any reason), Employee will not directly or indirectly either for him/herself
or for any other person, partnership, legal entity, or enterprise: (i) solicit, in person or through supervision or control of others, an
employee, advisor, consultant or contractor of the Company for the purpose of inducing or encouraging the employee, advisor, consultant
or contractor to leave his or her relationship with the Company or to change an existing business relationship with the Company or to
change an existing business relationship to the detriment of the Company, (ii) hire away an employee, advisor, consultant or contractor of
the Company; or (iii) help another person or entity hire away a Company employee, advisor, consultant or contractor. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the placement of general advertisements offering employment, other service relationships or activities that are not specifically
targeted toward employees, advisors, consultants or contractors of the Company shall not be deemed to be a breach of this Section 3.
4.
Nondisclosure of Customer, Partner and Vendor Information. Employee understands and agrees that it is essential to the
Company’s success that all nonpublic customer, partner, and vendor information is deemed and treated as Confidential Information and a
confidential trade secret. Employee will not, directly or indirectly, either for him/herself or for any other person, partnership, legal entity, or
enterprise, use or disclose any such customer, partner, or vendor information that constitutes Confidential Information or a confidential
trade secret, except as may be necessary in the normal conduct of the Company’s business for the specific customer, partner, or vendor.
Employee agrees that at the end of Employee’s relationship with the Company, or upon request by the Company, Employee will return to
the Company any materials containing such Confidential Information or confidential trade secret.
5.
Nondisclosure of Confidential Information. All such Confidential Information is (and will be) the exclusive property of the
Company, and Employee shall not, during or after Employee’s employment: (i) use any Confidential Information for any purpose that is
not authorized by the Company; (ii) disclose any Confidential Information to any person or entity, except as authorized by the Company in
connection with Employee’s job duties; or (iii) remove or transfer Confidential Information from the Company’s premises or systems
except as authorized by the Company.
Upon termination of Employee’s relationship (for any reason), or upon the request of the Company, Employee will immediately surrender
to the Company all Company property in Employee’s possession, custody, or control, including any and all documents, electronic
information, and materials of any nature containing any Confidential Information, without retaining any copies.
Employee understands that the Company is now and may hereafter be subject to non-disclosure or confidentiality agreements with third
persons that require the Company to protect or refrain from use of Confidential Information. Employee agrees to respect and be bound by
the terms of such agreements in the event Employee has access to such Confidential Information.
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Employee understands that Confidential Information is never to be used or disclosed by Employee, as provided in this Section 5. If a
temporal limitation on Employee’s obligation not to use or disclose such information is required under applicable law, and the Agreement
or its restriction(s) cannot otherwise be enforced, Employee agrees and the Company agrees that the five (5) year period after the date
Employee’s employment ends (or such longer period as may be permitted under applicable law) will be the temporal limitation relevant to
the contested restriction; provided, however, that this sentence will not apply to trade secrets protected without temporal limitation under
applicable law.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other agreement between the Company and the
Employee, nothing in this Agreement shall limit the Employee’s right to discuss Employee’s employment or report possible violations of
law or regulation with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, United States Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations
Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or other federal government agency or similar state or local agency or to discuss the
terms and conditions of his employment with others to the extent expressly permitted by Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act or
to the extent that such disclosure is protected under the applicable provisions of law or regulation, including but not limited to
“whistleblower” statutes or other similar provisions that protect such disclosure. Employee agrees to take all reasonable steps to ensure that
the Company’s Confidential Information is not made public during any such disclosure. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1833(b), the
Employee shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that:
(1) is made in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and solely for the
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (2) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or
other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.
6.
Assignment of Inventions. Employee expressly understands and agrees that any and all right or interest Employee obtains in any
designs, trade secrets, technical specifications and technical data, know-how and show-how, customer and vendor lists, marketing plans,
pricing policies, inventions, concepts, ideas, expressions, discoveries, improvements and patent or patent rights which are authored,
conceived, devised, developed, reduced to practice, or otherwise obtained by him during the term of his employment under the
Employment Agreement or at any time prior thereto which relate to or arise out of his employment with the Company and which relate to
the business of the Company are expressly regarded as “works for hire” or works invented or authored during the course and scope of
employment or engagement, whether as an adviser, consultant, officer, executive, director or other capacity (the “Inventions”). Employee
hereby assigns to the Company the sole and exclusive right to such Inventions. Any assignment of Inventions (and all intellectual property
rights with respect thereto) hereunder includes an assignment of all “Moral Rights” (which shall mean all paternity, integrity, disclosure,
withdrawal, special and any other similar rights recognized by the laws of any jurisdiction or country). To the extent such Moral Rights
cannot be assigned to the Company and to the extent the following is allowed by the laws in any country where Moral Rights exist,
Employee hereby unconditionally and irrevocably waives the enforcement of such Moral Rights, and all claims and causes of action of any
kind against the Company or related to the Company’s customers, with respect to such rights. Employee further acknowledges and agrees
that neither his successors-in-interest nor legal heirs retain any Moral Rights in any Inventions (and any intellectual property rights with
respect thereto).
Employee agrees to disclose all Inventions fully and in writing to the Company promptly after development, conception, invention,
creation or discovery of the same, and at any time upon request. Employee will provide all assistance that the Company reasonably
requests to secure or enforce its rights throughout the world with respect to Inventions, including signing all necessary documents to
memorialize those rights and take any other action which the Company shall deem necessary to assign to and vest completely in the
Company, to perfect trademark, copyright and patent protection with respect to, or to otherwise protect the Company’s trade secrets and
proprietary interest in such Inventions. The obligations of this Section shall continue beyond the termination of Employee’s relationship
with respect to such Inventions conceived of, reduced to practice, or developed by the Employee during the term of this Agreement. The
Company agrees to pay any and all copyright, trademark and patent fees and expenses or other costs incurred by Employee for any
assistance rendered to the Company pursuant to this Section.
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In the event the Company is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure Employee’s signature on any patent application, copyright or
trademark registration or other analogous protection relating to an Invention, the Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the
Company and its duly authorized officer and agent as his agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and on his behalf and stead to execute and
file any such application or applications and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of letters patent,
copyright or other analogous protection thereon with the same legal force and effect as if executed by the Employee.
In Attachment A to this Agreement, Employee has listed all Inventions that relate to the business of the Company that Employee (alone or
jointly with others) made, conceived, or first reduced to practice by Employee prior to Employee’s execution of this Agreement, and in
which Employee has any property interest or claim of ownership. If no such Inventions are listed in said Attachment, Employee represents
that Employee has no such Inventions.
To the extent Employee is a citizen of and subject to law of a state which provides a limitation on invention assignments, then this
Agreement’s assignment shall not include inventions excluded under such law.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6, this Section 6 shall not apply to inventions that the Employee develops entirely
on his own time without using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information, except to the extent such
inventions (a) relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the Company’s business, or actual or
demonstrably anticipated research or development of the Company; or (b) result from any work performed by the Employee for the
Company.
7.
Absence of Conflicting Agreements. Employee understands that the Company does not desire to acquire from Employee any trade
secrets, know-how or confidential business information that Employee may have acquired from others, and Employee agrees not to
disclose any such information to the Company or otherwise utilize any such information in connection with Employee’s performance of
duties with the Company. Employee represents that Employee is not bound by any agreement or any other existing or previous business
relationship which purports to conflict or impact the full performance of Employee’s duties and obligations to the Company.
8.
Remedies Upon Breach. Employee agrees that any action that violates this Agreement would cause the Company irreparable harm
for which monetary damages are inadequate. Accordingly, in the event of a breach, or threatened breach, the Company shall be entitled to
an injunction restraining such breach or threatened breach, or requiring specific performance, in addition to any and all rights and remedies
at law and equity. The Company shall not be obligated to present additional evidence of irreparable harm or the insufficiency of monetary
damages and, to the extent permitted by law or under applicable court rule, does not need to post a bond or other surety. Nothing herein
shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedy available to the Company for such breach or threatened
breach.
9.
Jurisdiction, Venue and Choice of Law. The parties hereby mutually agree to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 15th Judicial Circuit
Court of the State of Florida or the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida for any dispute arising hereunder.
Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, Employee (a) submits to the personal jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consents to service
of process by regular mail to his last known address; and (c) waives any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court, or
otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process. If either party hereto commences a legal action or other proceeding
against the other party concerning a dispute arising from or relating to this Agreement outside of Florida, such commencing party shall
reimburse such other party for its or his reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses if such other party prevails in staying, transferring,
dismissing or otherwise defending such action or proceeding based on the location of the action or proceeding, regardless of whether such
fees, costs and expenses are incurred in the forum where such commencing party commenced the action or in a Florida forum. This
Agreement shall be governed by the internal substantive laws of Florida, without regard to the doctrine of conflicts of law.
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10.
Employment Relationship. Employee agrees and acknowledges that Employee is an employee “at will” and nothing in this
Agreement is intended to guarantee employment for any period of time. The parties enter this Agreement with the understanding that
Employee’s position, title, duties and responsibilities could change in a material way in the future and, in light of that understanding, the
parties intend that this Agreement shall follow Employee throughout the entire course of Employee’s employment with the Company (and
thereafter), and such subsequent material change shall not affect the enforceability or validity of this Agreement.
11. Return of Property. Employee agrees that, within ten (10) days of the time of termination of Employee’s employment (for any reason), Employee will return
immediately to the Company, in good condition, all property of the Company. This return of property includes, without limitation, a return of physical property (such
as computer, phone or other mobile devices, credit card, promotional materials, etc.) and intangible property (such as computer passwords).
12. Litigation and Regulatory Cooperation. During and after the Employee’s relationship with the Company, Employee shall cooperate fully with the Company in the
defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence or that may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company by/against third parties that
relate to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee was employed by the Company. Employee’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or
actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to act as a witness at mutually convenient times.
During and after the Employee’s employment, Employee also shall cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any investigation or review of any federal,
state, or local regulatory authority as any such investigation or review relates to events or occurrences that transpired while the Employee was employed by the
Company, unless such claim is brought by Employee. As consideration for the Employee’s services under this Section 12, the Company shall remit to Employee, as
agreed between the parties in advance, (a) reasonable expenses related to such cooperation, and (b) an hourly rate equal to Employee’s last base salary divided by
2,000.
13. Communication to Future Employers. Employee agrees to communicate the contents of all post-relationship obligations in this Agreement to any Competing
Business that Employee intends to be employed by, associated with, or represent. Employee understands and agrees that the Company may, in its discretion, also share
any post-employment obligation set out in this Agreement with any future employer or potential employer of Employee, or any entity which seeks to be associated
with Employee for Employee’s services.
14. Miscellaneous. Any waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach
hereof. If a court determines that one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable, such court shall construe, reform or
otherwise revise such provision(s) so as to render it/them enforceable to the maximum extent allowed by law, without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Agreement. The obligations of each party hereto under this Agreement shall survive the termination of the Employee’s relationship with the Company regardless of the
manner of such termination to the extent expressly provided in, or logically would be expected under, this Agreement. All covenants and agreements hereunder shall
inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the successors of the Company. This Agreement amends, supplants and supersedes any agreement previously executed
between the parties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement, other than the obligations of Executive in favor of the Company with respect to any restrictive
covenants, which shall continue in effect in addition to the terms hereof.
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Employee recognizes and agrees that the enforcement of this Agreement is necessary, among other things, to ensure the preservation, protection and continuity of
Confidential Information, trade secrets and goodwill of the Company. Employee agrees that, due to the proprietary nature of the Business of the Company and
relationships with others, the post-employment restrictions set forth above are reasonable as to duration and scope.
Employee is advised to consult with an attorney before entering into this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]
18

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Employee and the Company have executed this Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure and Assignment
of Inventions Agreement as an instrument under seal as of this 8th day of November, 2021.
SpringBig Inc.

Employee

/s/ Jeff Harris

/s/ Paul Sykes

By: Jeff Harris
Title: CEO

Name: Paul Sykes
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NONSOLICITATION, NONDISCLOSURE & ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
Attachment A
List of all inventions or improvements (referred to in Section 6) made by Employee, alone or jointly with others, prior to the execution of the
Nonsolicitation, Nondisclosure & Assignment of Inventions Agreement.
Right, Title or Interest
(If none, please write “NONE”.)

Date Acquired

NONE

Name of Employee:
Paul Sykes
Print
/s/ Paul Sykes
Sign
11/8/21
Date
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Identifying Number or Brief Description of
Inventions or Improvements

EXHIBIT B
NONCOMPETITION COVENANT
(a)

During the period of your relationship with Company, you, Paul Sykes (hereinafter “you”), agree to not, anywhere within the Restricted Area (defined below),
acting individually, or as an owner, shareholder, partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise (other than on behalf of Company): provide services to a
Competing Business (defined below). For a period of twelve (12) months following termination of your relationship with Company (for any reason), you
agree to not, anywhere within the Restricted Area, acting individually, or as an owner, shareholder, partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise (other
than on behalf of Company): directly or indirectly, provide services to a Competing Business that relate to any aspect of the Business of the Company (i.e.,
providing messaging and customer experiences in the cannabis industry) for which you performed services or received Confidential Information at any time.
The foregoing shall not be construed to preclude you from: (i) owning up to one percent (1%) of the outstanding stock of a publicly held corporation that
constitutes or is affiliated with a Competing Business; or (ii) becoming a passive shareholder, partner, employee or member of a private equity, venture capital
or other investment firm. The foregoing shall, however, be construed to specifically prevent you from (x) acting individually, or as an owner, shareholder,
partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise (other than on behalf of Company) anywhere within the Restricted Area, during the period of your
relationship with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months following termination of your relationship with Company (for any reason other than
referenced below in section (b)), and (y) providing services that relate to any aspect of the Business of the Company for any private equity, venture capital or
other investment firm that owns or controls a Competing Business; provided that you may work for a division, entity or subgroup of any companies that
engage in a Competing Business (a “Separate BU”) so long as such Separate BU does not engage in any Competing Business and you do not provide any
service, investment advice or consulting related service to any Competing Business. To the extent that you act individually, or as an owner, shareholder,
partner, employee, contractor, agent or otherwise and provide services unrelated to the Business of the Company for any Separate BU or private equity,
venture capital or other investment firm at any time during such twelve (12) month period, you agree to institute an ethical screen that prevents your access to
communications, information and participation in all services related to the Business of the Company.

You and the Company agree that the opportunity for post-employment benefits and compensation set forth in the Executive
Employment Agreement dated November 8, 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”) constitute mutually-agreed upon consideration for
this Noncompetition Covenant, and is fair and reasonable consideration for this Noncompetition Covenant, in addition to continued
employment and other benefits received. Such consideration is specifically designated and you acknowledge the receipt and
sufficiency of the consideration.
i.

“Company” shall mean any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common control with SpringBig, Inc., a Delaware corporation, including
affiliates and subsidiaries. Control means the direct or indirect possession of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and
policies of an entity, whether through ownership, by contract or otherwise.

ii.

“Restricted Area” shall mean the entire United States since the Business of the Company encompasses the entire United States, of which you
acknowledge and agree.

iii.

“Competing Business” shall mean any person, firm, association, corporation or any other legal entity that is engaged in a business that is
competitive with any aspect of the Business of the Company.
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iv.

“Business of the Company” shall mean providing messaging, customer loyalty management and/or and customer experiences in the cannabis
industry, including, without limitation, the research, design, development, marketing, sales, operations, maintenance and commercial
exploitation pertaining to the operation of, and providing products and services for such business.

v.

“Confidential Information” shall mean all information or a compilation of information, in any form (tangible or intangible or otherwise), that is
not generally known to competitors or the public, which Company considers to be confidential and/or proprietary, including but not limited to:
research and development; techniques; methodologies; strategies; product information, designs, prototypes and technical specifications;
algorithms, source codes, object codes, trade secrets or technical data; training materials methods; internal policies and procedures; marketing
plans and strategies; pricing and cost policies; customer, supplier, vendor and partner lists and accounts; customer and supplier preferences;
contract terms and rates; financial data, information, reports, and forecasts; inventions, improvements and other intellectual property; product
plans or proposed product plans; know-how; designs, processes or formulas; software and website applications; computer passwords; market or
sales information, plans or strategies; business plans, prospects and opportunities (including, but not limited to, possible acquisitions or
dispositions of businesses or facilities); information concerning existing or potential customers, partners or vendors. Confidential Information
shall also mean information of or related to Company’s current or potential customers, vendors or partners that is considered to be confidential or
proprietary to the applicable customer, vendor or partner.

Confidential Information does not include: information in the public domain (other than as a result of disclosure by you);
approved in writing for unrestricted release by Company; information that Employee discovered outside of the course and
scope of his employment with Company; or produced or disclosed pursuant to a valid court order, provided you have given
Company written notice of such request such that Company has an actual, reasonable opportunity to defend, limit or protect
such production or disclosure.
(b)

You agree to communicate the contents of all post-relationship obligations in this Noncompetition Covenant to any Competing Business that you intend to be
employed by, associated with, or represent. You understand and agree that the Company may, in its discretion, also share any post-relationship obligation in
this Noncompetition Covenant with any future (or potential) employer or association that is a Competing Business that seeks to be associated with you or
employ you for your services.

(c)

You agree that the enforcement of the Noncompetition Covenant is necessary, among other things, to ensure the preservation, protection and continuity of the
Company’s Confidential Information, trade secrets and goodwill of the Company. You agree that, due to the proprietary nature of the Business of the
Company and relationships with others, the post-employment restrictions set forth above are reasonable as to duration and scope.

(d)

You agree that any action that violates this Noncompetition Covenant would cause the Company irreparable harm for which monetary damages are
inadequate. Accordingly, in the event of a breach, or threatened breach, of this Noncompetition Covenant, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction
restraining such breach or threatened breach, or requiring specific performance, in addition to any and all rights and remedies at law and equity. The Company
shall not be obligated to present additional evidence of irreparable harm or the insufficiency of monetary damages and, to the extent permitted by law or under
applicable court rule, does not need to post a bond or other surety. Nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other
remedy available to the Company for such breach or threatened breach.
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(e)

You and the Company hereby mutually agree to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 15th Judicial Circuit Court of the State of Florida or the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida for any dispute arising hereunder. Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, you (a) submit to the personal
jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consent to service of process by regular mail to your last known address; and (c) waive any other requirement (whether
imposed by statute, rule of court, or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process. If either party hereto commences a legal action or
other proceeding against the other party hereto concerning a dispute arising from or relating to this Noncompetition Covenant outside of Florida, such
commencing party shall reimburse such other party for its or his reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses if such other party prevails in staying,
transferring, dismissing or otherwise defending such action or proceeding based on the location of the action or proceeding, regardless of whether such fees,
costs and expenses are incurred in the forum where such commencing party commenced the action or in a Florida forum. This Noncompetition Covenant shall
be governed by the internal substantive laws of Florida, without regard to the doctrine of conflicts of law.

(f)

The failure of you or Company to insist upon strict performance of this Noncompetition Covenant irrespective of the length of time for which such failure
continues, shall not be a waiver of such party’s rights herein. No term or provision of this Noncompetition Covenant may be waived unless such waiver is in
writing.

(g)

If a court determines that one or more of the provisions contained in this Noncompetition Covenant shall be invalid or unenforceable, such court shall
construe, reform or otherwise revise such provision(s) so as to render it/them enforceable to the maximum extent allowed by law, without invalidating the
remaining provisions of this Noncompetition Covenant.

(h)

Your obligations under this Noncompetition Covenant shall survive the termination of your relationship with the Company regardless of the manner of such
termination.

(i)

The rights granted to the Company under the Noncompetition Covenant shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the successors or assigns of
Company.

(j)

The parties agree that you are employed “at will” and nothing in this Noncompetition Covenant is intended to guarantee employment for any period of time.
Even though the nature of your relationship with the Company is as an “at will” employee, the parties enter this Noncompetition Covenant with the
understanding that your position, title, duties and responsibilities could change in a material way in the future and, in light of that understanding, the parties
intend that this Noncompetition Covenant shall follow you throughout the entire course of your employment with the Company, and such subsequent material
change shall not affect the enforceability or validity of this Noncompetition Covenant.

SpringBig, Inc.

Employee

/s/ Jeff Harris

/s/ Paul Sykes

By: Jeff Harris
Title: CEO

Name: Paul Sykes
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EXHIBIT C
RELEASE AND WAIVER OF CLAIMS
In consideration for the end of employment / termination benefits set forth in the Executive Employment Agreement, to which this
form is attached (the “Employment Agreement”), including without limitation the end of employment/termination benefits set forth in Section
6 thereof, among other things, Paul Sykes (the “Executive” or “I”) and SpringBig, Inc. (and any entity controlled by, controlling, or under
common control with SpringBig, Inc., the “Company”) hereby enter into the following release and waiver of claims (the “Release”). For the
avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Release is intended or shall be construed to waive, release or limit in any manner the end of employment /
termination benefits described in the Employment Agreement.
The Executive hereby generally and completely release the Company, its present and future affiliates, and its and their current and
former directors, officers, employees, shareholders, partners, agents, attorneys, predecessors, successors, parent and subsidiary entities,
insurers, affiliates, family and assigns (collectively, the “Released Parties”) of and from any and all claims, liabilities and obligations, both
known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions occurring prior to or on the date that
Executive signs this Release (collectively, the “Released Claims”). The Released Claims include, but are not limited to: (i) all claims arising
out of or in any way related to the Executive’s employment with the Company, or the termination of that employment; (ii) all claims related to
the Executive’s compensation or benefits from the Company, including salary, bonuses, retention bonuses, commissions, vacation pay, expense
reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests or equity-based awards in the Company;
(iii) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (iv) all tort
claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in violation of public policy; and (v) all federal, state, and
local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation, attorneys’ fees, or other claims arising under the federal
Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended), the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (as amended), the federal Family and Medical
Leave Act (as amended) (the “FMLA”), the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (as amended) (the “ADEA”), the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as amended), the National Labor Relations Act of 1935 (as amended), and any similar
applicable state laws, including those of the State of Florida and any other federal, state or local civil or human rights law or any other local,
state or federal law, regulation or ordinance, and any public policy, contract, tort, or common law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
following are not included in the Released Claims (the “Excluded Claims”): (i) any rights or claims for indemnification that Executive may
have pursuant to any written indemnification agreement with the Company, the charter, bylaws, or operating agreements of the Company, or
under applicable law; (ii) any rights which are not waivable as a matter of law; (iii) any claims arising from the breach of this Release; or (iv)
any claims related to any Accrued Benefits or other vested benefits or any severance benefits under the Executive Employment Agreement
payable or due to the Executive on account of the end of the Executive’s employment, the Executive’s termination under the terms of the
Executive Employment Agreement, or the Executive’s execution of this Release. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Release shall
prevent Executive from challenging the validity of the Release in a legal or administrative proceeding. Nothing in this Release shall prevent
the Executive from filing, cooperating with, or participating in any proceeding or investigation before the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission, United States Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the
Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal government agency, or similar state or local agency (“Government Agencies”), or
exercising any rights pursuant to Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act. The Executive further understands that this Release does not
limit the Executive’s ability to voluntarily communicate with any Government Agencies or otherwise participate in any investigation or
proceeding that may be conducted by any Government Agency, including providing documents or other information, without notice to the
Company. While this Release does not limit the Executive’s right to receive an award for information provided to the Securities and Exchange
Commission, the Executive understands and agrees that the Executive is otherwise waiving, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any and all
rights the Executive may have to individual relief based upon any claims arising out of any proceeding or investigation before one or more of
the Government Agencies. If any such claim is not subject to release, to the extent permitted by law, the Executive waives any right or ability
to be a class or collective action representative or to otherwise participate in any putative or certified class, collective or multi-party action or
proceeding based on such a claim in which any of the Released Parties is a party. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein,
this Release does not abrogate the Executive’s existing rights to vested benefits under any Company benefit plan, the Executive Employment
Agreement or any plan or agreement related to equity ownership in the Company.
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I acknowledge that I am knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights I may have under the ADEA (“ADEA Waiver”). I
also acknowledge that (i) the consideration given for the ADEA Waiver is in addition to anything of value to which I was already entitled; and
(ii) that, subject only to Company providing the end of employment / termination benefits described in the first paragraph of this Release, I
have been paid for all time worked, has received all the leave, leaves of absence and leave benefits and protections for which I am eligible, and
have not suffered any on-the-job injury for which I have not already filed a claim. I affirm that all of the decisions of the Released Parties
regarding my pay and benefits through the date of my execution of this Release were not discriminatory based on age, disability, race, color,
sex, religion, national origin or any other classification protected by law. I affirm that I have not filed or caused to be filed, and am not
presently a party to, a claim against any of the Released Parties. I further affirm that I have no known workplace injuries or occupational
diseases. I acknowledge and affirm that I have not been retaliated against for reporting any allegation of corporate fraud or other wrongdoing
by any of the Released Parties, or for exercising any rights protected by law, including any rights protected by the Fair Labor Standards Act,
the Family Medical Leave Act or any related statute or local leave or disability accommodation laws, or any applicable state workers’
compensation law. I have been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) my waiver and release do not apply to any claims
that may arise after I sign this Release; (b) I should consult with an attorney prior to executing this release; (c) I have twenty-one (21) days
within which to consider this release (although I may choose to voluntarily execute this release earlier); (d) I have seven (7) days following the
execution of this release to revoke this Release (in a written revocation sent to the Board of Directors of the Company); and (e) this Release
will not be effective until the eighth day after I sign this Release, provided that I have not earlier revoked this Release (the “Effective Date”). I
will not be entitled to receive any of the benefits specified by this Release unless and until it becomes effective.
In granting the release herein, which includes claims that may be unknown to me at present, I acknowledge that I expressly waive and
relinquish any and all rights and benefits under any applicable law or statute providing, in substance, that a general release does not extend to
claims which a party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by him or her
would have materially affected the terms of such release.
The parties hereby mutually agree to the exclusive jurisdiction of the 15th Judicial Circuit Court of the State of Florida or the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida for any dispute arising hereunder. Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, I
(a) submit to the personal jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consent to service of process by regular mail to my last known address; and (c) waive
any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court, or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process. If
either party hereto commences a legal action or other proceeding against the other party hereto concerning a dispute arising from or relating to
this Release outside of Florida, such commencing party will reimburse such other party for its or my reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and
expenses if such other party prevails in staying, transferring, dismissing or otherwise defending such action or proceeding based on the
location of the action or proceeding, regardless of whether such fees, costs and expenses are incurred in the forum where such commencing
party commenced the action or in a Florida forum.
This Release constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement between the Company and me with
regard to the subject matter hereof. I am not relying on any promise or representation by the Company that is not expressly stated herein. This
Release may only be modified by a writing signed by both me and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
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THE EXECUTIVE:
Date:
Name:

THE COMPANY:
Date:
By:
Its:
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Paul Sykes

Exhibit 16.1
June 21, 2022
Office of the Chief Accountant
Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE
Washington, D.C. 20549
United States of America
Commissioners:
We have read SpringBig Holdings, Inc.’s (formerly known as Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corp’s) statements included under Item 4.01 of its
Form 8-K dated June 21, 2022. We agree with the statements concerning our Firm under Item 4.01, in which we were informed of our
dismissal on June 14, 2022. We are not in a position to agree or disagree with other statements contained therein.
Very truly yours,
/s/ WithumSmith+Brown, PC
New York, New York
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SPRINGBIG, INC.
UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021*
(Unaudited)
(In thousands except share data)
ASSETS
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Contract assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Deposits
Total assets

$

6,761
2,645
303
1,297
11,006
495
84
11,585

$

$

$

580
33
691
888
39
89
7,000
485
9,805

$

412
5
805
855
57
—
—
450
2,584

$

5

$

5

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Related party payable
Accrued wages and commissions
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Interest payable - 15% convertible promissory note
Notes payable - 15% convertible promissory note
Contract liabilities
Total liabilities

$

$

2,227
3,045
364
843
6,479
480
84
7,043

Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity
Series B Preferred (par value $0.001 per shares, 4,584,202 authorized, issued and outstanding at March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021)
Series A Preferred (par value $0.001 per shares, 5,088,944 authorized issued and outstanding at March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021)
Series Seed Preferred (par value $0.001 per shares, 6,911,715 authorized issued and outstanding at March 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021)
Common stock (par value $0.001 per shares, 38,395,870 authorized at March 31, 2022 and 2021; 13,576,115 and
13,540,824 issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021)
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

*Derived from audited consolidated financial statements
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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5

5

7

7

14
17,840
(16,091)
1,780
11,585

$

14
17,653
(13,225)
4,459
7,043

SPRINGBIG, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31,
2022
2021
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling, servicing and marketing
Technology and software development
General and administrative

$

6,364
1,843
4,521

2,071
1,551
1,112
4,734

$

(1,119)
1
—
(1,118)
—
(1,118)

$

(0.08)

$

(2,777)
—
(89)
(2,866)
—
(2,866)

Net loss per common share:
Basic and diluted

$

(0.21)
13,571,872

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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5,209
1,594
3,615

2,943
2,637
1,718
7,298

Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

$

13,319,512

SPRINGBIG, INC
UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Series B
Preferred
Shares
Balance - January 1, 2021

Amount

Series A
Preferred
Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid-inCapital

Accumulated
Deficit

$

$

Total

Amount

5

5,089

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

114

—

119

—

119

Issuance of common
stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

67

—

50

—

50

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Balance - March 31, 2021

4,584 $

5

5,089

$

5

6,912

$

7

13,381

$

14

$

17,139

Balance - January 1, 2022

4,584

5

5,089

$

5

6,912

$

7

13,541

$

14

$

17,653

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

181

—

181

Exercise of stock options

—

—

—

—

—

—

35

—

6

—

6

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,584 $

5

5,089

5

6,912

7

13,576

$

5

Common
Stock
Amount
Shares
(In thousands )
6,912 $
7
13,200

4,584 $

Balance - March 31, 2022

$

Series Seed
Preferred
Shares

$

$

$

14

14

$

16,970

17,840

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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(7,475) $

9,526

(1,118)

(1,118)

$

(8,593) $

8,577

$

(13,225) $

4,459

(2,866)
$

(16,091) $

(2,866)
1,780

SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months
Ended March 31,
2022
2021
( In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Related party receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Contract assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Related party payable
Interest payable - 15% convertible promissory note
Contract liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(2,866)

$

59
181

Cash flows from investing activities:
Business combination, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

(1,118)
6
119

400
—
(453)
61
67
28
89
35
(2,399)

(110)
77
(84)
(8)
(27)
(56)
—
50
(1,151)

—
(73)
(73)

(122)
(42)
(164)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Notes payable - 15% convertible promissory note
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net
Net cash provided by financing activities

7,000
6
7,006

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

$

4,534
2,227
6,761

$

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities
Issue of common stock for business combination

$

—

$

50

$

—

$

23

Indemnity holdback for business combination

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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—
—
—
(1,315)
10,447
9,132

SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
NOTE 1 – DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
SpringBig, Inc., and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company” or “we” or “us” or “SpringBig”) developed an application that
provides marketing and customer engagement services to cannabis dispensaries and brands throughout the United States and Canada. The
Company allows merchants to provide loyalty plans and rewards directly to consumers through an internet portal and mobile applications. Our
operational headquarter is in Boca Raton, Florida, with additional offices located in the United States and Canada. The Company was
incorporated in the state of Delaware in May 2017.
Business Combination
On November 9, 2021, the Company and Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corp. (“TCAC”) jointly announced that they have entered into a
definitive agreement for a business combination that would result in SpringBig becoming a publicly listed company. Upon closing of the
transaction, the combined company is expected to remain listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “SBIG”.
Merger Consideration
In accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Merger Agreement, based on an implied equity value of $245 million
and enterprise value of $300 million, (i) each share of SpringBig common stock (other than dissenting shares) will be canceled and converted
into the right to receive the applicable portion of the merger consideration comprised of New SpringBig Common Stock, as determined in the
Merger Agreement (the “Share Conversion Ratio”) and (ii) vested and unvested options of SpringBig outstanding and unexercised
immediately prior to the effective date of the Merger will convert into comparable options that are exercisable for shares of New SpringBig
Common Stock, with a value determined in accordance with the Share Conversion Ratio.
Subsequent Events
Amended and Restated Merger Agreement
On April 15, 2022, the merger agreement was amended and restated which reduces the total enterprise value of the Company to $275
million and equity value of $215 million, representing an 8% reduction in valuation from the initial agreement. In addition, a bonus pool of up
to 1,000,000 shares of TCAC common stock will be allocated pro-rata to non-redeeming public stockholders up to a maximum of one bonus
share for each share held, effectively reducing their cost base.
Convertible Notes
Springbig and TCAC also announced an agreement for the issuance of senior secured convertible notes with a 24-month maturity (the
“Notes”), up to $16.0 million principal amount of which have been subscribed to by a global institutional investor. An initial tranche of $11.0
million will close in connection with the closing of the merger. The second tranche of $5.0 million, subject to certain conditions in the
agreement, will close 60 days after the resale registration statement is declared effective by the SEC.
Equity Financing Facility
In addition, TCAC entered into a committed equity financing facility (the “CEF Facility”) with an affiliate of Cantor Fitzgerald L.P.
(“Cantor”). Under the terms of the CEF Facility, Cantor has committed to purchase, after the closing of the proposed merger with the
Company, up to an aggregate of $50 million of TCAC’s common shares from time to time at TCAC’s request.
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SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Registration Statement
On May 18, 2022, TCAC announced that the registration statement related to the business combination was made effective by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission.
Approval of Business Combination
On June 9, 2022, in a special meeting, the shareholders of TCAC voted to approve the business combination with completion on June 14,
2022, this resulted in the conversion of the Convertible Notes into 730,493 of common stock at a price of $10.00 per share, representing
repayment of principal of $7.0 million and outstanding interest of $304,900.
Completion of Business Combination
On June 14, 2022, the business combination was completed. In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, TCAC has
changed its name to SpringBig Holdings, Inc. Beginning June 15, 2022, the ticker symbols for TCAC’s common stock and warrants were
changed to “SBIG” and “SBIGW,” respectively, and commence trading on The Nasdaq Global Market. The Company received net proceeds
of $12.0 million, with gross proceed of $24.9 million, this is in addition to the $7.0 million Convertible Notes which was issued in February
2022 and is now converted into common stock, see Note 5, “Convertible Notes”. Of the amount received, approximately $8.8 million
represents unredeemed shares from the TCAC trust; $6.1 million from PIPE proceeds and $10.0 million from Senior Secured Original Issue
Discount Convertible Promissory Note.
Convertible Notes
On June 14, 2022, the Company issued $11.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Original Issue Discount Convertible
Promissory Note due June 14, 2024 (the “Secured Convertible Notes”), issued at a discount of $1.0 million. The Secured Convertible Notes
accrue interest at the rate of 6.0% per annum.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
On June 14, 2022, TCAC entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement) with an affiliate of Cantor
Fitzgerald L.P. (“Cantor”). The Company, in its sole discretion, shall have the right, but not the obligation, to issue and sell to the Cantor, and
the Cantor shall purchase from the Company, up to $50.0 million of common shares, par value $0.0001 per share.
Preferred Stock
With the completion of the business combination, the Series A, B and Seed preferred stock were converted to common stock. The
conversation rate of all preferred stock is at a one to one ratio to common stock resulting in common stocks of 5,088,944, 4,584,202 and
6,911,715, respectively.
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all its wholly owned subsidiary companies.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The financial statements are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These interim financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in SpringBig’s audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2021.
Going Concern and Liquidity
Historically, the Company has incurred losses, which has resulted in an accumulated deficit of approximately $16.1 million as of March
31, 2022. Cash flows used in operating activities were $2.4 million and $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. As of March 31, 2022, the Company had approximately $8.3 million in working capital, inclusive of $6.8 million in cash and
cash equivalents to cover overhead expenses.
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to meet its liquidity needs through a combination of
factors but not limited to, cash and cash equivalents, the ongoing increase in revenue through increased usage by customers and new customers
and strategic capital raises such as its SPAC merger. The ultimate success to these plans is not guaranteed.
Based on management projections for increases in revenue and cash on hand, we estimate that our liquidity and capital resources are
sufficient for our current and projected financial needs for the next twelve months, at a minimum, from the date these financial statements
were issued.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments that might
result from uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Foreign Currency
We translate the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries, which have a functional currency of the respective country’s local
currency, to U.S. dollars using month-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and actual exchange rates for revenue, costs and expenses on
the date of the transaction. Translation gains and losses are included within “general and administrative expense” on the consolidated
statements of operations. These gains and losses are immaterial to the financial statements
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. We base
our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions believed to be reasonable. The Company’s significant estimates include,
but are not limited to, the allowance for doubtful accounts, useful lives of deferred contract assets, intangible assets, property and equipment,
deferred income tax asset valuation, and certain assumptions used in the valuation for equity awards. Future events and their effects cannot be
predicted with certainty; accordingly, accounting estimates require the exercise of judgment. Accounting estimates used in the preparation of
these financial statements change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained, and as the
operating environment changes. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates.
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SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Segments
The Company manages its business as a single operating segment. Our chief operating decision maker reviews financial information
presented for the purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance at an entity level and we have no segment managers
who are held accountable by the chief operating decision maker for operations and operating results. The products and services across the
company are similar in nature, distributed in a comparable manner and have customers with common characteristics. We determined that we
have one operating and reportable segment in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 280, Segment Reporting.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Our financial assets, which include cash equivalents, current financial assets and our current financial liabilities have fair values that
approximate their carrying value due to their short-term maturities.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. We place our cash and cash equivalents with high credit-quality financial institutions. Such deposits may be in excess of
federally insured limits. To date, we have not experienced any losses on our cash and cash equivalents. We perform periodic evaluations of the
relative credit standing of the financial institutions.
We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and require no collateral from our customers. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based upon the expected collectability of accounts receivable balances.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, we had one customer representing 10% and 0% concentration of revenue within
the United States, respectively.
At March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 we had one customer representing 9% and 28% of accounts receivable within the United
States, respectively.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less, when acquired, to be cash equivalents. The
Company maintains its cash with one commercial bank.
As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company exceeded the federally insured limits of $250,000 for interest and noninterest bearing
deposits. The Company had cash balances with a single financial institution in excess of the FDIC insured limits by amounts of $6.4 million
and $1.9 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms granted by the Company based on each
customer’s own creditworthiness. The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced by an allowance for doubtful accounts that reflects
management’s best estimate of amounts that will not be collected. Management individually reviews past due accounts receivable balances and
based on an assessment of each customer’s current creditworthiness, estimates the portion, if any, that will not be collected. Additionally,
management assesses the remaining balance of accounts receivable based on experience and an assessment of future economic conditions to
determine its best estimate of the portion that will not be collected. Unbilled receivables are customer obligations due under normal terms of
trade which have not been invoiced at the balance sheet date and are invoiced shortly thereafter.
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SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major additions and improvements which extend the life of the
assets are capitalized whereas maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the respective assets, are expensed as
incurred. When property or equipment is sold or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any gain or loss is included in income.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases.
Contract Assets (Deferred Commission)
The Company recognized a contract asset for the incremental costs (i.e., the sales commissions) of obtaining a contract because the
Company expects to recover those costs through future fees for the services to be provided. The Company amortizes the asset over the course
of three years, which is the estimated number of years a customer is retained, because the asset relates to the services transferred to the
customer during the contract term of one year and the Company anticipates that the contract will be renewed for two subsequent one-year
periods.
Capitalized Software Development Costs
Internal and external costs associated with the development stage of computer applications, as well as for upgrades and enhancements that
result in additional functionality of the applications, are capitalized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350-40,
Internal-Use Software Accounting and Capitalization. Internal and external training and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred
or over the related service period. When a software application is placed in service, the Company begins amortizing the related capitalized
software costs using the straight-line method based on its estimated useful life, which is generally three years.
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SPRINGBIG, INC
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews the carrying value of property and equipment for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition.
In cases where undiscounted expected future cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount
by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of assets. The factors considered by management in performing this assessment include
current operating results, trends, and prospects, as well as the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors. The
Company did not recognize any impairment loss for the three months ended March 31, 2022 or 2021.
Business Combination
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values (at the date of acquisition) of assets transferred and liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued
by the Company. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in the statements of operations in the period which they are incurred. Where
applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, measured
at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
are accounted for in accordance with relevant guidance consistent with ASC 805, Business Combinations. If the initial accounting for a
business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Company will report provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or
additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date. The measurement period is the period from the
date of acquisition to the date the Company obtains complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date
and does not exceed twelve months.
Intangible Assets
We account for intangible assets under ASC 350, Goodwill and Other. Intangible assets represent software acquired in the acquisition of
Beaches Development Group. The amount is recorded at fair value on the date of the acquisition and amortized over its useful life of three
years, using the straight-line method. The amount for intangible assets is included in property and equipment on the balance sheets.
Contract Liabilities (Deferred Revenue)
The Company records contract liabilities when cash payments are received in advance of performance obligations being performed for
initial start-up fees and payments received in advance of credits utilized. The Company expects to recognize these contract liabilities in the
following period when it transfers its services and, therefore, satisfies its performance obligation to the customers.
Revenue Recognition
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, outlines the basic criteria that must be met to
recognize revenue and provides guidance for disclosure related to revenue recognition policies. The Company recognizes revenue upon
transfer of control of promised services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange
for those services. We report revenue net of sales and other taxes collected from customers to be remitted to government authorities.
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For a standard contract, the Company works with a customer to provide access to an integrated platform that provides all the functions of
its proprietary software, which utilizes proprietary technology to send text or email messages to the customer’s contacts based on a credit
system. Through this software, the Company allows merchants to provide loyalty plans and rewards directly to consumers through an internet
portal and mobile applications. The functions of the software themselves do not have individual value to the customer. Each customer is
buying the license to the platform to receive all the benefits of the platform. Therefore, the Company’s single performance obligation is to
provide customers the ability to use its proprietary software application that provides marketing and customer engagement services to cannabis
dispensaries throughout the United States.
Nature of Promises to Transfer - The services provided by the Company’s software are subscription based for its retail and brand
customers as follows:
Retail customers - the Company provides its retail customer access to the software for an initial contract that is initially for a term of one
year, with automatic annual renewals. Revenue is earned monthly, which consists of the contracted monthly fixed fee for a ceiling credit plus,
if any, optional purchases for additional credits, plus one twelfth of the initial start-up fees which are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the initial contract term of one.
Brand customers – a customer can purchase use of the Company’s software, which includes a certain amount of credits to be utilized over
the course of six to twelve months. The Company recognizes revenue monthly based on the credits used each month which depicts the best
transfer of control. This monthly revenue consists of the prepaid fee multiplied by the number of credits used in the month divided by the
expected number of credits to be used over the term of the contract not to exceed the ceiling credits purchased.
Set up fees – the company recognizes revenue from a onetime set up fee which is charged to customers prior to going live. The amount is
treated as deferred revenue and amortized over the life of the contract which is normally one year.
In no case does the Company act as an agent, i.e., the Company does not provide a service of arranging for another party to transfer goods
or services to the customer.
Timing of Satisfaction - Control of services is transferred during a subscription period. Services provided by the Company are performed
over time on a monthly basis for retail customers or over a designated prepaid contract term generally from six to twelve months from brand
customers.
Allocating the Transaction Price - The transaction price of a subscription is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring promised services to a customer. Transaction prices do not include amounts collected on behalf of
third parties (e.g., sales taxes).
To determine the transaction price of a contract, the Company considers its customary business practices as well as the terms of the
contract. For the purpose of determining transaction prices, the Company assumes that the services will be transferred to the customer as
promised in accordance with existing contracts and that the contracts will not be cancelled, renewed, or modified.
The Company’s contracts with customers have fixed transaction prices that are denominated in U.S. and CAD dollars. Consideration paid
for services that customers purchase from the Company is nonrefundable. Therefore, at the time revenue is recognized, the Company does not
estimate expected refunds for services nor does the Company adjust revenue downward.
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For both retail and brand contracts, there is only one performance obligation for the standard contract. As such, the transaction price is
allocated entirely to that obligation.
Practical Expedients - The Company has adopted certain practical expedients with significant items disclosed herein. The Company has
elected to apply the portfolio approach practical expedient to evaluate contracts with customers that share the same revenue recognition
patterns as the result of evaluating them as a group will have substantially the same result as evaluating them individually.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues principally consists of amounts payable to distributors of messages on behalf of customers across cellular networks and
the cost of third-party data and integrations.
Selling, Servicing and Marketing Expenses
Selling, servicing and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses,
commissions and travel for our sales team, client success and marketing team. Other costs included in this expense are marketing and
promotional events. Advertising costs are charged to marketing expense as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $40,800 and $10,000 for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Technology and Software Development
Technology and software development expense consist primarily of personnel and related costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses and
cost of server usage by our developers.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs for our executive, finance, legal, human resources,
and administrative personnel, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation, legal, accounting, other professional service
fees and other corporate expenses.
Stock-Based Compensation
ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, addresses accounting for share-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock,
performance shares and warrants. Stock-based compensation for stock options to employees and non-employees is based upon the fair value of
the award on the date of grant. We record forfeitures as they occur. The compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period,
which is generally the vesting period, and is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The expected life represents the term the
options granted are expected to be outstanding. The expected volatility was determined using the historical volatility of similar publicly traded
companies. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant.
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Earnings Per Share
The Company computes net income per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. Under the provisions of ASC 260, basic
net income per share is computed by dividing the net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share adjusts basic net income per share for the effects of stock options, warrants,
convertible notes and restricted stock awards only in periods, or for such awards in which the effect is dilutive. ASC 260 also requires the
Company to present basic and diluted earnings per share information separately for each class of equity instruments that participate in any
income distribution with primary equity instruments.
Income Taxes
We record current income taxes based on our estimates of current taxable income and provide for deferred income taxes to reflect
estimated future income tax payments and receipts. We are subject to federal income taxes as well as state taxes. In addition, we are subject to
taxes in the foreign jurisdictions where we operate.
The Company records a deferred tax asset or liability based on the difference between financial statement and tax basis of assets and
liabilities as measured by the anticipated tax rates which will be in effect when these differences reverse. The measurement of deferred tax
assets is reduced, if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized. The
Company adopted ASU 2016-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. The guidance requires that all deferred tax assets and
liabilities, along with any related valuation allowance, be classified as noncurrent on the balance sheet. As a result, each jurisdiction will only
have one net noncurrent deferred tax asset or liability.
The Company has evaluated its tax positions for any uncertainties based on the technical merits of the positions taken. The Company
recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be upheld on examination
by taxing authorities. The Company has analyzed the tax positions taken and has concluded that as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
there are no uncertain tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, that would require recognition of a liability or disclosure in the financial
statements.
Leases
The Company expenses the total cost associated with real estate leases on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease commitment. The
amount accrued relating to future contractual increases is immaterial.
Effective Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment, which is simplify how an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment
test. The amendments in this Update modify the concept of impairment from the condition that exists when the carrying amount of goodwill
exceeds its implied fair value to the condition that exists when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. An entity should
apply the amendments in this Update on a prospective basis. A public business entity should adopt the amendments in this Update for its
annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. A public business entity that is not an SEC
filer should adopt the amendments in this Update for its annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020. All other entities, including not-for-profit entities, that are adopting the amendments in this Update should do so for their
annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. This standard did not have an impact on
our financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2022.
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In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The ASU
enhances and simplifies various aspects of the income tax accounting guidance in ASC 740, including requirements related to the following:
(1) hybrid tax regimes; (2) tax basis step-up in goodwill obtained in a transaction that is not a business combination; (3) separate financial
statements of entities not subject to tax; (4) intra-period tax allocation exception to the incremental approach; (5) ownership changes in
investments; (6) interim-period accounting for enacted changes in tax law; (7) year-to-date loss limitation in interim-period tax accounting.
The amendments in ASU 2019-12 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including
interim periods therein. Early adoption of the standard is permitted, including adoption in interim or annual periods for which financial
statements have not yet been issued. For all other business entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after Dec. 15,
2021. This standard did not have an impact on our financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2022.
In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815. The
amendments in this Update clarify certain interactions between the guidance to account for certain equity securities. For public business
entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including early adoption in an interim period, (1) for public business entities for periods for which
financial statements have not yet been issued and (2) for all other entities for periods for which financial statements have not yet been made
available for issuance, fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The amendments in this
Update should be applied prospectively. Under a prospective transition, an entity should apply the amendments at the beginning of the interim
period that includes the adoption date. This standard did not have an impact on our financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2022.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842). FASB issued ASU 2016-02 to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and
lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. Certain qualitative and quantitative
disclosures are required, as well as a retrospective recognition and measurement of impacted leases. In June 2020, FASB issued ASU 202005, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842): Deferral of the Effective Dates for Certain Entities, which
deferred the effective date of ASU 2016-02 to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. In
July 2021, the FASB released Update No. 2021-05 Lessors—Certain Leases with Variable Lease Payments. The amendments in this Update
affect lessors with lease contracts that (1) have variable lease payments that do not depend on a reference index or a rate and (2) would have
resulted in the recognition of a selling loss at lease commencement if classified as sales-type or direct financing. The amendments in this
Update amend Topic 842. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, for all entities, and interim
periods within those fiscal years for public business entities and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, for all
other entities. Management is currently evaluating this standard and the impact of the new lease standard.
In June 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments, to revise the criteria for the measurement, recognition, and reporting of credit losses on financial instruments to be recognized
when expected. In November 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842), which deferred the effective date of ASU 2016-13 to annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently evaluating this standard.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. Under
ASU 2020-06, embedded conversion features are no longer separated from the host contract for convertible instruments with conversion
features that are not required to be accounted for as derivatives, or that do not result in substantial premiums accounted for as paid-in capital.
The convertible debt instruments will now be accounted for as a single liability measured at amortized cost. This results in the interest expense
recognized for convertible debt instruments to be closer to the coupon interest rate. The new guidance also requires the if-converted method to
be applied for all convertible instruments when calculating earnings per share. For public business entities that meet the definition of an SEC
filer, the new standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021 and can be adopted on either a modified
retrospective or full retrospective basis. For all other entities, the guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. Management is currently evaluating this standard.
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In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 - Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract
Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. The amendments in this update require that an entity (acquirer) recognize and measure contract
assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with Topic 606. At the acquisition date, an acquirer should
account for the related revenue contracts in accordance with Topic 606 as if it had originated the contracts. For public business entities, the
amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. The amendments in this Update should be applied prospectively to business combinations occurring on or after the effective
date of the amendments. Early adoption of the amendments is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. An entity that early adopts in
an interim period should apply the amendments (1) retrospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date occurs on or
after the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period of early application and (2) prospectively to all business combinations
that occur on or after the date of initial application. Management is currently evaluating this standard.
NOTE 3 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following as of:
March 31,
December 31
2022
2021
$
2,093 $
2,533
849
809
2,942
3,342
(297)
(297)
$
2,645 $
3,045

Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables
Less allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

Bad debt expense was $33,000 and $30,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consist of the following as of :
March 31,
December 31
2022
2021
$
268 $
225
286
256
196
196
750
677
(255)
(197)
$
495 $
480

Computer equipment
Data warehouse
Software
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and Equipment
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The useful life of computer equipment, software and the data warehouse is 3 years.
Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was $59,000 and $6,000, respectively. The
amounts are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
NOTE 5 - 15% CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTES
In February 2022, the Company issued $7.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 15.00% convertible promissory notes due September
30, 2022 (the “Convertible Notes” or “15.00% Convertible Notes”).
The Convertible Notes accrue interest at the rate of 15.0% per annum on the principal amount of the Convertible Notes, due and payable
at the maturity date of September 30, 2022 (the “Maturity Date”), if not converted prior to the Maturity Date.
Conversion
The following factors may result in conversion:
a.

If the closing of the merger contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 8, 2021 as amended through by and among the Company,
TCAC and the other parties thereto, occurs on or prior to the Maturity Date, then (i) the outstanding principal balance of the Convertible Notes shall become due
and payable (and will be satisfied by the issuance to Holder of all shares of common stock at a rate of $10.00 per share; and (ii) all accrued and unpaid interest
under the Convertible Notes shall become due and payable and shall be satisfied by dividing the outstanding unpaid accrued interest of the Convertible Notes, by
$10.00.

b.

If the SPAC Merger has not occurred on or prior to the Maturity Date, then, subject to Section 3(c), the outstanding principal balance and any unpaid accrued
interest of the Convertible Notes shall automatically convert, without any further action by the Holder, into a number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of
Series B Preferred Stock of the Company at $2.508067 per share, with such shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be issued pursuant to the Company’s Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and otherwise on the same terms and conditions as given to the investors in that certain Series B Stock Purchase
Agreement dated as of August 7, 2020, as amended (the “Series B Purchase Agreement”).

c.

If the Company issues any additional equity securities on or prior to the Maturity Date and conversion of the Convertible Notes (“Other Securities”), then Holder
shall have the option, in lieu of conversion pursuant to Section 3(b), to convert the outstanding principal balance and any unpaid accrued interest of the
Convertible Notes into a number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of such Other Securities of the Company, equal to the per share price of such Other
Securities.

Repayment
All payments of interest and principal on the Convertible Notes, that are not otherwise converted in accordance herewith, shall be in lawful
money of the United States of America on the date on which such payment is due by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
Holder’s account at a bank specified by Lender in writing to the Company from time to time. All payments shall be applied first to accrued
interest, and thereafter to principal. Unless converted as provided herein, the outstanding principal amount shall be due and payable on
September 30, 2022.
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Prepayment
The Convertible Notes may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time prior to the Maturity Date without the prior consent of the Holder.
Events of Default
The Convertible Notes contained events of default such as failure to observe or perform any covenants, obligation, condition or agreement
contained in the Convertible Note and commencement of bankruptcy.
The Company concluded that the conversion option is an embedded derivative but is not required to be bifurcated under ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging, as a result, the transaction will be accounted for as a liability in its entirety.
As of March 31, 2022, the carrying value of the Convertible Notes was $7.0 million.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded $89,000 of interest expense on the Convertible Notes.
Subsequent Events
On June 9, 2022, in a special meeting, the shareholders of TCAC voted to approve the business combination with completion on June 14,
2022, this resulted in the conversion of the Convertible Notes into 730,493 of common stock at a price of $10.00 per share, representing
repayment of principal of $7.0 million and outstanding interest of $304,900.
NOTE 6 - REVENUE RECOGNITION
The following table represents our revenues disaggregated by type (in thousands):
March 31
2022
Revenue
Brand revenue
Retail revenue
Total Revenue

$
$

Geographic Information
Revenue by geographical region consist of the following (in thousands):
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2021
189
6,175
6,364

$
$

132
5,077
5,209
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March 31
2022
Retail revenue
United States
Canada
Brand revenue
United States

$

$

2021
5,956
219
189
6,364

$

$

5,077
—
132
5,209

Revenues by geography are generally based on the country of SpringBig contracting entity. Total United States revenue was approximately
97% and 100% of total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 respectively.
As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, approximately 73% and 99% of our long-lived assets were attributable to operations in the
United States.
Contract Assets (Deferred Cost)
Contract assets consisted of the following as of:
March 31
2022
Contract assets consisted of the following as of:
Deferred sales commissions

$

303

December 31
2021
$

364

Contract liabilities consisted of the following as of:
March 31
2022
Contract liabilities consisted of the following as of:
Deferred revenue retail
Deferred set-up revenues
Deferred revenue brands
Contract liabilities

$

$

231
110
143
484

December 31
2021
$

$

231
101
118
450

The movement in the Contract liabilities during three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021, comprised the
following:
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March 31
2022

December 31
2021

The movement in the contract liabilities during each period comprised the following:
Contract liabilities at start of the period
Amounts invoiced during the period
Less revenue recognized during the period
Contract liabilities at end of the period

$
$

450
6,114
(6,080)
484

$
$

560
13,512
(13,622)
450

NOTE 7 – BUSINESS COMBINATION
In January 2021, the Company formed Medici Canada LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to acquire all the issued and
outstanding capital stock of Beaches Development Group LTD, an Ontario corporation, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement.
The fair value of the consideration paid in connection with this transaction was satisfied through the issuance of 180,972 shares of the
Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, valuing $135,000, and $155,000 in cash.
The purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):
March 31, 2021
$
135
(85)
50
132
23
$
205

Fair value of shares
Less: Post combination cost - restricted stocks
Fair value of net shares
Cash consideration
Indemnity holdback
Fair value of purchase consideration
Assets
Goodwill
Intangibles (Software)
Fair value of assets

$

$

9
—
196
205

Of the 180,972 shares, 67,064 shares with value of approximately $50,000 were issued to the sellers. Two of the sellers signed
employment contracts with Beaches Development Group LTD; the shares allocated to them as purchase consideration totaled 113,908 with
value of $85,000 and are unvested at acquisition date, these will be vested over a two-year period, with 50% in year 1 and the remaining 50%
in year 2. As a result, the shares are treated as post combination expense and are restricted. The Company incurred expense totaling $8,900 and
$10,700 for three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to these restricted stocks which is included in general and
administrative expense on the statement of operations.
Approximately $23,000 of the cash price has been withheld as an indemnity holdback to offset any losses payable by the Company for a
period of 12 months, any remaining indemnity shall be released to the seller’s representative thereafter. The indemnity holdback is included in
other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The indemnity holdback of $23,000 was paid subsequent to the period end.
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Medici assumed cash totaling $9,000, this was the only tangible asset assumed at purchase, no liabilities assumed. The purchase price was
allocated to the cash assumed with the excess of $196,000 allocated to software intangible assets and is included under property and
equipment in the Company’s balance sheets as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. The Company adopted a cost to replace valuation
approach in ascertaining the value of the software.
Software intangible assets are being amortized over a three-year period. The Company incurred amortization expense of approximately
$16,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The aggregate amortization expense for the remaining period is approximately
$120,000.
We incurred costs related to the acquisition of approximately, $11,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2021. All acquisition
related costs were expensed as incurred and have been recorded in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of
operations.
NOTE 8 – PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN
The Company received $781,000 from a Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan on May 1, 2020, through the Small Business
Administration (“SBA”) that was made available under the CARES Act in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. On August 11, 2021 the
Company received full forgiveness for the PPP loan.
NOTE 9 – STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
The Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) authorizes the granting of common stock options and other rewards, at the
discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, to certain employees. Under the Plan, the exercise price of each option approximates the fair
value of the option on the grant date, and an option’s maximum term is ten years. Options are granted at various dates and typically vest over
four years. The Plan has an aggregate of 7,195,584 shares of common stock authorized for issuance thereunder, subject to adjustments as
provided therein.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, compensation expense were recorded in connection with the Plan was $181,000
and $119,000, respectively and is included in administrative expense on the statements of operations.
The following table summarizes information on stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2022:
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Options Outstanding

Fixed Options
Outstanding Balance, January 1, 2022
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited
Options cancelled
Outstanding Balance, March 31, 2022

Number of
Options
6,802,437
—
(34,791)
(18,334)
—
6,749,312

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
(Per Share)
$
0.38
$
—
$
0.19
$
0.75
$
—
$
0.38

Options Vested and Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Remaining
Exercise
Number of
Contractual
Price (Per
Options
Life (Years)
Share)
4,628,311
6.79 $
0.24

4,814,604

6.64

$

0.25

The intrinsic value of the options exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $20,000, there was no such transaction for
the three months ended March 31, 2021.
As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, there is approximately $295,000 and $394,000, respectively, of total unrecognized compensation expense
related to unvested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Plan. This remaining cost is to be recognized over the period
through 2024.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value option
grants and to determine the related compensation expense. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards
represent management’s best estimations. The Company based its expected volatility based on the volatilities of certain publicly traded peer
companies.
The Company has adopted ASU 2018-07 which allows a simplified approach to accounting for share-based payments for the three months
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
Management believes that the historical volatility of the Company’s stock price does not best represent the expected volatility of the stock
price. The Company is privately held and therefore lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information. The Company
intends to continue to consistently use the same group of publicly traded peer companies to determine volatility in the future until such a time
that sufficient information regarding the volatility of the Company’s share price becomes available or that the selected companies are no longer
suitable for this purpose.
The risk-free interest rate used for each grant is equal to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for instruments with a
similar expected life. The expected term of options granted was determined based on the expected holding period at the time of the grant.
GAAP also requires that the Company recognize compensation expense for only the portion of options that are expected to vest. Therefore,
the Company has estimated expected forfeitures of stock options. In developing a forfeiture rate estimate, the Company considered its
historical experience. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from those estimated by management, additional adjustments to compensation
expense may be required in future periods.
As part of the Beaches Development Group LTD transaction, two of the sellers signed employment contracts with Beaches Development
Group LTD, the shares allocated to them as purchase consideration totaled 113,908 with value of $85,000 at $0.75 per share and are unvested
at acquisition date, these will be vested over a two-year period, with 50% in year 1 and the remaining 50% in year 2, as a result, the shares are
treated as postcombination expense and are restricted. Approximately $8,900 and $10,700 is included in compensation expense for the three
months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively with $17,800 remained unamortized at March 31, 2022.
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NOTE 10 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases Agreements
The Company leases office facilities in Boca Raton, Florida, Seattle, Washington and Ontario, Canada under non-cancelable operating
lease agreements. The leases require monthly payments ranging from $2,900 to $11,000 and expire on various dates through November 2024.
In addition to minimum rent, the Company is required to pay a proportionate share of operating expenses under these leases.
Rent expense included in general and administrative expenses was approximately $188,000 and $145,000 for the three months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Litigation
The Company is from time to time involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business. In accordance with applicable accounting
guidance, the Company records a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. In the opinion of management, after consulting legal counsel, the Company has meritorious defenses to all pending
litigation and proceedings. There are no such provisions on March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
NOTE 11 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock
Series B, A and Seed preferred stock do not have a dividend preference and any dividends declared shall be distributed among all holders
of common stock and preferred stock in proportion to the number of shares of common stock that would be held if all shares of preferred stock
were converted to common stock. Series B, A and Seed preferred stockholders (“Preferred Stockholders”) have the right to vote on certain
corporate matters on an as converted basis with the holders of common stock as a single class. The Preferred Stockholders can convert all or
any portion of such shares into an aggregate number of shares of common stock, as defined in the agreement and is automatically converted
into common stock at the earlier of a $50.0 million initial public offering or vote of 63% of majority of preferred stockholders. The
conversation rate of all preferred stock is at a one to one ratio to common stock. No dividends have been declared on the preferred stock as of
March 31, 2022. Preferred stockholders have a preference in the event of liquidation in the following sequence, Series B then Series A and
then Seed, with preferences being $11.5 million, $5.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the company issued $7.0 million in aggregate principal of Convertible Notes. If the SPAC
Merger has not occurred on or prior to the Maturity Date, then, subject to Section 3 (c) of the Convertible Notes agreement, the outstanding
principal balance and any unpaid accrued interest of the Convertible Notes shall automatically convert, without any further action by the
Holder, into a number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of Series B Preferred Stock of the Company at $2.508067 per share, with such
shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be issued pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and otherwise
on the same terms and conditions as given to the investors in the Series B Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 7, 2020, as
amended. See Note 5, “15% Convertible Promissory Notes.”
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Subsequent Events
With the completion of the business combination, the Series A, B and Seed preferred stock were converted to common stock. The
conversation rate of all preferred stock is at a one to one ratio to common stock resulting in common stocks of 5,088,944, 4,584,202 and
6,911,715, respectively, See Note 16. “Subsequent Events”.
Business Combination
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company issued 180,972 shares of its Company’s common stock at $0.75 per shares
totaling $136,000, to satisfy the purchase of Beaches Development Group LTD. Two of the sellers signed employment contracts with Beaches
Development Group LTD, the shares allocated to them as purchase consideration totaled 113,908 with value of $85,000 and are unvested at
acquisition date, these will be vested over a two-year period, with 50% in year 1 and the remaining 50% in year 2, as a result, the shares are
treated as postcombination expense and are restricted. Approximately $17,800 remained unamortized at March 31, 2022.
Shares of Common Stock under Equity Incentive Plan
The Company has reserved an aggregate of 7,195,584 shares of common stock under its Equity Incentive Plan, pursuant to which, as of
March 31, 2022, 7,047,016 shares of stock options had been granted to employees, with 4,814,604 fully vested and outstanding, 227,704
shares of stock options has been exercised to date, 1,934,708 shares of stock options are subject to vesting. There were 148,568 shares of stock
options remaining for future issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan as of March 31, 2022.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, 34,791 and 159,477 in stock options were exercised with total proceed of
approximately $6,000 and $38,000, respectively.
NOTE 12 - NET LOSS PER SHARE
As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, there were 13,575,615 and 13,381,347 of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively.
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, including outstanding stock
options and common stock issuable pursuant to Series B, A and Seed preferred stock possible conversion. Basic and diluted net loss per share
was the same for each period presented, given that there are losses during the period, the inclusion of all potential common shares outstanding
would have been anti-dilutive.
The following table reconciles actual basic and diluted earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
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March 31
2022
Loss per share:
Numerator:
Net loss

$

Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

2021

(2,866)

$

13,571,872

Basic and diluted loss per common share

$

(0.21)

(1,118)
13,319,512

$

(0.08)

The anti-dilutive securities excluded from the weighted-average shares used to calculate the diluted net loss per common share were as
follows:
March 31
2022
5,088,944
4,584,202
6,911,715
708,918
4,814,604
1,934,708

Shares subject to Series A Preferred Stock Conversion
Shares subject to Series B Preferred Stock Conversion
Shares subject to Seed Preferred Stock Conversion
Shares subject to 15% Convertible Promissory Notes Conversion
Shares vested and subject to exercise of stock options
Shares unvested and subject to exercise of stock options

2021
5,088,944
4,584,202
6,911,715
—
4,020,032
2,099,238

NOTE 13 – BENEFIT PLAN
The Company maintains a safe harbor 401(k) retirement plan for the benefit of its employees. The plan allows participants to make
contributions subject to certain limitations. Company matching contributions were $68,400 and $52,300 for the three months ended March 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively.
NOTE 14 – INCOME TAXES
The Company’s income tax rate computed at the statutory federal rate of 21% differs from its effective tax rate primarily due to permanent
items, state taxes and the change in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, Management
evaluates whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become
deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning
strategies in making this assessment. Based on Management’s evaluation, the net deferred tax asset was offset by a full valuation allowance as
of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The deferred tax asset valuation allowance will be reversed if and when the
Company generates sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize the tax benefits of the related deferred tax assets.
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The tax effects of temporary difference that give rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and tax liabilities as of at March 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):
March 31
2022
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Property and equipment, net
Net operating loss
Stock based compensation
Total gross deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Property and equipment, net
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

Net deferred income tax asset (liability)

$

December 31
2021
76

4,115
147
4,338
(4,050)
288

76
—
3,402
132
3,610
(3,385)
225

(214)
(74)
(288)

(191.00)
(34.00)
(225)

—

$

$

—

The Company has incurred significant losses in recent periods. As a result, we maintained valuation allowances against our domestic and
foreign deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, to reduce their carrying values to amounts that are realizable either
through future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences or through taxable income in carryback years for the applicable jurisdictions.
At March 31, 2022, the Company has federal net operating loss available to carryforward of approximately $14.5 million which will be
carried forward indefinitely.
The Company has state net and foreign operating loss available to carryforward of approximately $15.9 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, which begin expiring in 2030 and 2037, respectively, as of March 31, 2022.
The Company has evaluated its tax positions for any uncertainties based on the technical merits of the positions taken. The Company
recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be upheld on examination
by taxing authorities. The Company has analyzed the tax positions taken and has concluded that as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
there are no uncertain tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, that would require recognition of a liability or disclosure in the financial
statements.
The Company accrues interest and penalties arising on the underpayment of taxes if the full benefit of a tax position is not recognized in
the financial statements. In accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes, interest and penalties are recorded as income tax
expense. There have been no penalties or interest paid or incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Management is required to analyze all open tax years, as defined by the statute of limitations, for all major jurisdictions, including federal
and certain state taxing authorities. As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company did not have a liability for any unrecognized taxes. The Company has no examinations in progress and is not aware of any tax
positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax liabilities will significantly change in the next twelve
months. The Company’s 2018 through 2021 tax years are open for examination for federal and state taxing authorities.
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NOTE 15 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company incurred software development and information technology related costs to a vendor related to a major stockholder of
approximately $58,000 and $100,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Amounts due to this related party were $33,000 and $5,000 as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
NOTE 16 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Amended and Restated Merger Agreement
On April 15, 2022, the merger agreement was amended and restated which reduces the total enterprise value of the Company to $275
million and equity value of $215 million, representing an 8% reduction in valuation from the initial agreement. In addition, a bonus pool of up
to 1,000,000 shares of TCAC common stock will be allocated pro-rata to non-redeeming public stockholders up to a maximum of one bonus
share for each share held, effectively reducing their cost base.
Convertible Notes
SpringBig and TCAC also announced an agreement for the issuance of senior secured convertible notes with a 24-month maturity (the
“Notes”), up to $16.0 million principal amount of which have been subscribed to by a global institutional investor. An initial tranche of $11.0
million will close in connection with the closing of the merger agreement. The second tranche of $5.0 million, subject to certain conditions in
the agreement, will close 60 days after the resale registration statement is declared effective by the SEC.
Equity Financing Facility
In addition, TCAC entered into a committed equity financing facility (the “CEF Facility”) with an affiliate of Cantor Fitzgerald L.P.
(“Cantor”). Under the terms of the CEF Facility, Cantor has committed to purchase, after the closing of the proposed merger with the
Company, up to an aggregate of $50.0 million of TCAC’s common shares.
Registration Statement
On May 18, 2022, TCAC announced that the registration statement related to the business combination was made effective by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission.
Approval of Business Combination
On June 9, 2022, in a special meeting, the shareholders of TCAC voted to approve the business combination with completion on June 14,
2022, this resulted in the conversion of the Convertible Notes into 730,493 of common stock at a price of $10.00 per share, representing
repayment of principal of $7.0 million and outstanding interest of $304,900.
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Completion of Business Combination
On June 14, 2022, the business combination was completed. In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, TCAC has
changed its name to SpringBig Holdings, Inc. Beginning June 15, 2022, the ticker symbols for TCAC’s common stock and warrants were
changed to “SBIG” and “SBIGW,” respectively, and commence trading on The Nasdaq Global Market. The Company received net proceeds
of $12.0 million, with gross proceeds of $24.9 million, this is in addition to the $7.0 million Convertible Notes which was issued in February
2022 and is now converted into common stock, see Note 5, “Convertible Notes”. Of the amount received, approximately $8.8 million
represents unredeemed shares from the TCAC trust; $6.1 million from PIPE proceeds and $10.0 million from Senior Secured Original Issue
Discount Convertible Promissory Note.
Convertible Notes
On June 14, 2022, the Company issued $11.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Original Issue Discount Convertible
Promissory Note due June 14, 2024 (the “Secured Convertible Notes”), issued at a discount of $1.0 million. The Secured Convertible Notes
accrue interest at the rate of 6.0% per annum.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
On June 14, 2022, TCAC entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) with an affiliate of
Cantor Fitzgerald L.P. (“Cantor”). The Company, in its sole discretion, shall have the right, but not the obligation, to issue and sell to the
Cantor, and the Cantor shall purchase from the Company, up to $50.0 million of common shares, par value $0.0001 per share.
Preferred Stock
With the completion of the business combination, the Series A, B and Seed preferred stock were converted to common stock. The
conversation rate of all preferred stock is at a one to one ratio to common stock resulting in common stocks of 5,088,944, 4,584,202 and
6,911,715, respectively.
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Exhibit 99.2
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF SPRINGBIG
Capitalized terms used and not defined herein or in the Current Report on Form 8-K to which this Exhibit 99.2 relates (this “Current
Report on Form 8-K”) have the meanings given to them in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus.
The following discussion and analysis of SpringBig’s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with
SpringBig’s consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements. The discussion should be read together with the historical audited
annual statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes that are included elsewhere in this Current Report
on Form 8-K and the unaudited interim statements for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related notes that are
included elsewhere in this Current Report on Form 8-K. Certain information contained in the discussion and analysis set forth below includes
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. SpringBig’s actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. Please see “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” in other parts of this of
Current Report on Form 8-K and in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus.
“SpringBig,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to SpringBig, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.
Forward Looking Statements
All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this report, including statements regarding future operations, are
forward-looking statements. In some cases, forward-looking statements may be identified by words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,”
“estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “objective,” “plan,” “potential,” “seek,” “grow,” “target,”
“if,” and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our
current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations,
business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations, objectives, and financial needs.
Overview
SpringBig is a market-leading software platform providing customer loyalty and marketing automation solutions to retailers and brands.
Since our inception in 2016, we have leveraged our deep expertise in loyalty marketing to develop solutions that address the key challenges
faced by retailers and brands, including those in the cannabis industry. Stringent, complex, and rapidly evolving regulations have resulted in
restricted access to traditional marketing and advertising channels for cannabis retailers and brands, preventing them from utilizing many
traditional methods for effectively accessing and engaging with consumers. In addition, the lack of industry-specific data and market
intelligence solutions limit cannabis retailers’ and brands’ ability to efficiently market their products, thereby hindering their growth. Our
platform enables our clients to increase brand awareness, engage customers, improve retention, and access actionable consumer feedback data
to improve marketing. Our clients can use our loyalty marketing, digital communications, and text/email marketing solutions drive new
customer acquisition, customer spend and retail foot traffic. Our proven business-to-business-to-customer (“B2B2C”) software platform
creates powerful network effects between retailers and brands and provides an ability for both to connect directly with consumers. As retailers
and brand scale, a virtuous cycle amplifies growth, ultimately expanding SpringBig’s reach, strengthening our value proposition.
SpringBig serves approximately 1,300 brand and retailer clients across more than 2,400 distinct retail locations in North America. Our
clients distribute almost 2 billion messages annually, and in the last year more than $7 billion of gross merchandise value (“GMV”) was
accounted for by clients utilizing our platform. Revenue grew by 58% in 2021 and our growth has continued into 2022 with 22% growth in
revenues in the quarter ended March 31, 2022 compared with the same quarter last year. We have an excellent track record of securing and
retaining our clients with our value proposition, which we measure by our “net revenue retention rate.” When evaluating our retention rates
and calculating our net revenue retention rate, SpringBig calculates the average recurring monthly revenue from retail clients, adjusted for
losses, increases and decreases in monthly subscriptions during the prior twelve months divided by the average recurring monthly subscription
revenue over the same trailing twelve-month period. Our net revenue retention rate was 128% in 2020, 110% in 2021 and 107% for the twelve
months ending March 31, 2022, stemming from SpringBig’s high-caliber products and through delivering excellence in client service.
What SpringBig Does
We have developed and commercialized a comprehensive suite of Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) solutions for our retailer and brand
clients (to which we refer as “clients” and their end-user customers as “customers” or “consumers”).
Through their subscriptions, our retail clients have access to in-depth campaign data, robust analytics, and actionable feedback and
summaries to help inform their business decisions and maximize customer engagement and retention. When a client subscribes to our
platform, we charge affordable initial set-up fees and the majority of our revenue is derived from a monthly recurring subscription fee.
Typically, our subscription agreements extend for twelve months, and they auto-renew on expiry. Within the terms of a subscription, a client
receives a pre-determined quantum of communication credits, and we invoice the client if the pre-determined credit amount is exceeded in any
month. The fees for such excess use are set forth in the client’s subscription agreement. Excess use revenue accounted for 30% and 20% of
revenue for the quarters ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively. We expect excess use revenue as a percentage of recurring subscription
revenue to decrease as customers scale and progress to higher subscription tiers over their lifetime.

We also generate revenue by empowering brands with direct access to consumers via marketing campaigns and a brand platform. Our
recently introduced brand platform allows brands to advertise and engage cannabis consumers, drive brand awareness, acquire VIP customers
with high lifetime value, and access detailed reporting insights into essential campaign attribution metrics. Pricing for the brands platform is
either structured on a bulk-pay basis or as a monthly subscription.
Factors Affecting Our Performance
Overall Economic Trends
The overall economic environment and related changes to consumer behavior have a significant impact on our business. Overall, positive
conditions in the broader economy promote consumer spending on marketplaces and our customers’ products, while economic weakness,
which generally results in reduced consumer spending, may have a negative impact on our customers’ sales, which in turn may impact our
revenue.
Growth and Retention of Customers
Our revenue grows primarily through acquiring and retaining customers and expanding relationships with customers over time, increasing
the revenue per customer. We have historically been able to attract, retain and grow relationships with customers as a result of the Company’s
comprehensive product suite, differentiated loyalty programs, consistent communications with customers, and reliable customer service. Our
annual net revenue retention was 128% in 2020, 110% in 2021 and 107% for the twelve months ending March 31, 2022. See “—Key
Operating and Financial Metrics” for a further discussion of net revenue retention rate.
Regulation and Maturation of Cannabis Markets
We believe that we will have significant opportunities for greater growth as more jurisdictions legalize cannabis for medical and/or adult
use and the regulatory environment continues to develop. We intend to explore new expansion opportunities as additional jurisdictions legalize
cannabis for medical or adult use and leverage our existing business model to enter new markets. We believe our understanding of the space
coupled with our experienced sales force will enable us to quickly enter and execute in new markets and capture new business, which we
sustain via our best-in-class product offerings. Further, a change in U.S. federal regulations could result in our ability to engage in additional
outlets, including the fintech, payments and e-commerce space.
We expect competition to intensify in the future as the regulatory regime for cannabis becomes more settled and the legal market for
cannabis becomes more accepted, which may encourage new participants to enter the market, including established companies with
substantially greater financial, technical and other resources than existing market participants.
Brand Recognition and Reputation
We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand identity and our reputation is critical to maintaining and growing our relationships
with customers and to our ability to attract new customers.
We believe our platform’s scale and strong customer loyalty market themselves; however, we implement a variety of marketing efforts to
attract the remaining retailers and brands not yet on our platform. Marketing efforts include multiple strategies designed to attract and retain
both retail and brands subscribers.
Negative publicity, whether or not justified, relating to events or activities attributed to us, our employees, customers or others associated
with any of these parties, may tarnish our reputation and reduce the value of our brand. Given our high visibility, we may be more susceptible
to the risk of negative publicity. Damage to our reputation and loss of brand equity may reduce demand for our platform and have an adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. Moreover, any attempts to rebuild our reputation and restore the value of our
brand may be costly and time consuming, and such efforts may not ultimately be successful.
We also believe that the importance of our brand recognition and reputation will continue to increase as competition in our market
continues to develop. If our brand promotion activities are not successful, our operating results and growth may be adversely impacted.
Key Operating and Financial Metrics
We monitor the following key financial and operational metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends
affecting our business, formulate business plans, and make strategic decisions.

Revenue
Net Loss
EBITDA
Number of retail clients
Net revenue retention
Number of messages (million)

Quarter ended March 31,
2021
2022
(dollars in thousands)
5,209
6,364
(1,118)
(2,866)
(1,113)
(2,718)
890
112%
394

1,475
107%
436

For a reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA, see “—EBITDA,” below.
Revenue
We generate revenue from the sale of monthly subscriptions that provide retail clients with access to an integrated platform through which
they can manage loyalty programs and communications with their consumers. We also generate additional revenue from these retail clients
when the quantum of messages sent to consumers exceeds the amounts in the subscription package. The subscriptions generally have twelvemonth terms (which typically are not subject to early termination without a cancellation fee payable by the client), are payable monthly, and
automatically renew for subsequent and recurring 12-month periods unless notice of cancellation is provided in advance. The cancellation
terms are generally the same for both the initial and renewal periods unless the parties have otherwise agreed. We have additional ancillary
offerings which range in price and terms and also offer a subscription to our brands clients.
The Company’s revenue growth is generally achieved through a mix of new clients, clients upgrading their subscriptions (as new clients
will frequently enter into a relatively low level of subscription (with respect to the size of such client’s database (and the number of their
customers on such database) and/or the number of pre-determined communication credits)), which frequently occurs shortly after such a client
initially becomes a client, and the excess use element of revenues. Given this combination, and particularly the tendency for clients to upgrade
soon after becoming a client, the Company does not actively monitor revenue split between new and existing clients, preferring to use the split
between subscription and excess use in combination with net dollar retention and the number of clients as key metrics, as described below.
Other Key Operating Metrics
The growth in our revenues is a key metric at this stage in our development as a company and therefore to provide investors with
additional information, we have disclosed in the table above the number of our retail clients, and our net revenue retention rate. We also
disclose the number of messages distributed by our clients through the SpringBig platform as this is a key metric of client usage and a
determinant of revenue. We regularly review the key operating and financial metrics set forth above to evaluate our business, our growth,
assess our performance and make decisions regarding our business. We believe these key metrics are useful to investors both because they
allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by management in its financial and operational decision-making, and they may
be helpful in evaluating the state and growth of our business.
Number of Retail Clients. We disclose in the table above the number of clients of the business at the end of the relevant period. We view
the number of clients as an important metric to assess the performance of our business because an increased number of clients drives growth,
increases brand awareness and helps contribute to our reach and strengthening our value proposition.
Net Revenue Retention. We believe that the growth in the use of our platform by our clients is an important metric in evaluating our
business and growth. We monitor our dollar-based net revenue retention rate on a rolling basis to track the maintenance of revenue and
revenue-increasing activity growth.
We view a net revenue retention rate exceeding 100% as positive because this is indicative of increasing revenue without including the
impact of the initial recurring revenue from new clients during the month in which they are on-boarded. We believe that we can drive this
metric by continuing to focus on existing clients and by revenue-increasing activities, such as client upgrades. For more information on how
we calculate net revenue retention, see “Key Operating and Financial Metrics—Other Key Operating Metrics—Net Revenue Retention”
starting on page 234 of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus.
Number of Messages Sent. We believe that the volume of messages sent, measured in standardized message size, is important as it
indicates the frequency of use of our platform by our clients.

EBITDA
To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have disclosed EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP
financial measure that we calculate as net income before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.
We present EBITDA because this is a key measures used by our management and board of directors to evaluate our operating
performance, generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of investment capacity. Accordingly, we
believe that EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same
manner as our management and board of directors, and is widely used by analysts, investors and competitors to measure a company’s
operating performance.
EBITDA has limitations, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP,
including net loss, which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure. Some of these limitations are:
•
•
•

although depreciation is a non-cash charge, the assets being depreciated may have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA does not reflect cash capital
expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;
EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; and
EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available.

Because of these limitations, you should consider EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including net loss and our
other GAAP results.
A reconciliation of net loss to non-GAAP EBITDA is as follows:

Net Loss
Interest income
Interest expense
Depreciation expense
EBITDA

Quarter ended March 31,
2021
2022
(dollars in thousands)
(1,118)
(2,866)
(1)
—
—
89
6
59
(1,113)
(2,718)

Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue
SpringBig provides its retail customers with access to an integrated platform that provides all the functions of the Company’s proprietary
software, which uses proprietary technology to send text or email messages to the customer’s contacts. This access is provided to customers
under a contract, with revenue generated from monthly fixed fees for credits (up to set amount) and optional purchases of additional credits.
The Company also generates revenue through the customers’ purchasing the use of the Company’s software. Such purchases include a certain
amount credits that the customer can utilize over a period of six to twelve months.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily consists of amounts payable to distributors of messages on behalf of the Company’s customers across cellular
networks and integrations. We expect our cost of revenue to continue to increase on an absolute basis but that as a percentage of revenue it is
expected to decline slightly as we scale our business.
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Gross profit is calculated by taking revenue less cost of revenue. Gross profit is generally impacted by revenues and the cost of revenue
being correlated with revenue. Gross margin is defined as gross profit as a percentage of revenue.
Selling, Servicing and Marketing Expenses
Selling, servicing and marketing expenses consist of salaries, benefits, travel expense and incentive compensation for our sales, servicing
and marketing employees. In addition, sales, servicing and marketing expenses include business acquisition marketing, events cost, and
branding and advertising costs. We expect our sales, servicing and marketing expenses to increase on an absolute basis as we enter new
markets and continue to scale our business. Over the longer term, we expect sales, servicing and marketing expense to reduce as a percentage
of revenue, however, we may experience fluctuations in some periods as we enter and develop new markets or have large one-time marketing
projects.

Technology and Software Development Expenses
Technology and software development costs consist of salaries and benefits for employees, including engineering and technical teams who
are responsible for building new products, as well as maintaining and improving existing products. We capitalize certain costs associated with
technology and software development in accordance with ASC 350-40, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal Use Software, but these are
limited in quantum as we are constantly and regularly making enhancements to our technology platform and do not consider appropriate to be
capitalized. Capitalized costs are generally amortized over a three-year period commencing on the date that the specific software product is
placed in service. We believe that continued investment in our platform is important for our growth and expect our technology and software
development expenses will increase in absolute terms but we expect the expense to reduce as a percentage of revenue as our operations grow.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and related benefit costs for our employees involved in general corporate
functions including our senior leadership team as well as costs associated with the use by these functions of software and facilities and
equipment, such as rent, insurance, and other occupancy expenses. General and administrative expenses also include professional and outside
services related to legal and other consulting services. General and administrative expenses are primarily driven by increases in headcount
required to support business growth and meeting our obligations as a public company.
Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and express the relationship of certain line items as a
percentage of net sales for those periods. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.
Comparison of Quarters Ended March 31, 2021 and 2022

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, servicing and marketing
Technology and software development
General and administrative
Depreciation expense
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Net Income before taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Loss

Quarter Ended March 31,
Change
2021
2022
($)
(dollars in thousands)
5,209
6,364
1,115
1,594
1,843
249
3,615
4,521
906
2,071
1,551
1,106
6
4,734
(1,119)
1
—
(1,118)
—
(1,118)

2,943
2,637
1,659
59
7,298
(2,777)
—
(89)
(2,866)
—
(2,866)

(%)
22%
16%
25%

872
1,086
553
53
2,564
(1,658)

42%
70%
50%
883%
54%
148%

(1,748)

156%

(1,748)

156%

Total revenue increased by $1.2 million, or 22% for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021.
The number of retail clients increased by 66% from 890 at March 31, 2021 to 1,475 at March 31, 2022.
Subscription revenue from retail clients was $4.7 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, representing an increase of $1.4 million, or
43% compared with the same period in 2021. Excess use revenue reduced by $0.3 million, or 17%, compared with the same period in 2021 as
a result of clients having upgraded to higher subscription levels (and, accordingly, incurring fewer excess use fees during the quarter ended
March 31, 2022).

The Company’s net revenue retention rate was 107% for the twelve months ending March 31, 2022, with the ratio continuing to exceed
100% as a result of subscription upgrades exceeding the value of lost subscriptions.
SpringBig’s revenue growth has not yet been significantly impacted by the legislation adopted in 2020 and 2021 in New Jersey,
Connecticut and New York, as there tends to be a lag between the adoption of legislation and significant revenue generation for the Company.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue increased by $0.2 million, or 16%, for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period in 2021. The
increase was primarily due to increasing volume in communications distributed by clients, with total messages in the quarter ending March 31,
2022 of 436 million being 42 million or 11% higher than in the same period last year. The percentage increase in cost of revenue is lower than
our revenue growth over the same period and therefore our gross margin percentage increased from 69% for the quarter ended March 31, 2021
to 71% for the same period in 2022, or by 2%.
Operating Expenses
SpringBig continues to prioritize revenue growth while ensuring expenses are managed in an appropriate manner to ensure we are able to
handle the growth with appropriate personnel, infrastructure and processes and also ensuring net loss is maintained within an acceptable range.
Selling, servicing and marketing expenses increased by $0.9 million, or 42%, for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same
period in 2021. As we continue to scale the business, we have continued to increase the scale of the sales, service and marketing operation,
including by increasing employee headcount in those areas. In March 2021, we had a total of 72 employees in these functional areas, as
compared to 103 employees in March 2022, an increase of 43% in headcount in our sales, service and marketing operations. We also increased
our marketing activity to build and enhance our branding and have added additional expense in implementing sales and marketing automation
tools across the organization.
Technology and software development expenses increased by $1.1 million, or 70%, for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, compared to the
same period in 2021. We have increased the number of employees in these areas from 43 at March 2021 to 53 at March 2022, and, in addition,
we experienced additional expense arising from the use of contract developers. Technology and software development expenses were 41% of
revenue in the quarter to March 2022.
General and administrative expenses increased by $0.6 million, or 50%, for the quarter ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same
period in 2021 due to additional rent expense, including the expansion of our office in Toronto, higher personnel-related costs as we increased
headcount and we also incurred increases in professional services expenses.
Depreciation expenses primarily consist of depreciation on computer equipment, furniture and fixtures, leasehold improvements, and
amortization of purchased intangibles. Depreciation expenses increased to $59,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 compared to $6,000
in the same period in 2021.
Interest Income (Expense)
Interest expense was $89,000 in the quarter ended March 31, 2022 due to interest payable on the convertible notes issued in February
2022. In the quarter ended March, 2021 we earned interest income of $6,000 on cash balances held by the company.
Liquidity and Cash flow
On February 25, 2022, SpringBig entered into convertible notes with two existing shareholders in aggregate for a principal sum of $7.0
million. On the closing of the proposed business combination with Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation, the outstanding principal balance
of the convertible notes becomes due and payable and will be satisfied by the issuance to the note holders of common shares of New
SpringBig issuable under an agreement entered into under the applicable PIPE subscription agreements.
We believe that the balance of cash, which was $6.8 million as of March 31, 2022, will be sufficient to satisfy our operating cash
requirements over the next twelve months and beyond.
As of March 31, 2022, the majority of our cash was held for general corporate purposes.
During the quarter ending March 31, 2022 our cash increased by $4.5 million compared with a cash decrease of $1.3 million in the same
quarter last year.

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash

Quarter ended March 31,
2021
2022
(dollars in thousands)
(1,151)
(2,399)
(164)
(73)
—
7,006
(1,315)
4,543

Cash used in operating activities consists primarily of net loss adjusted for certain non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization,
non-cash stock compensation expenses and the effect of changes in working capital and other activities.
Net cash used in operating activities was $2.4 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2022. This amount primarily consisted of a net loss
of $2.9 million offset by a $0.4 million reduction in accounts receivable.
SpringBig ordinarily does not have significant non-cash items impacting the net income (loss) therefore there is a reasonably close
correlation between net income (loss) and cash from operating activities, although short-term movements in working capital can impact any
particular period.
SpringBig has insignificant capital expenditure needs and, in the quarters ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, incurred expenditure of
$42,000 and $73,000 respectively.
The only material cash provided by financing activities was $7.0 million in February 2022 from the issuance of convertible notes.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures.
We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.
We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, software development costs, income taxes and equitybased compensation have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical
accounting policies and estimates. For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 1 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Current Report on Form 8-K and in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus for additional
information regarding recent accounting pronouncements.
Revenue Recognition
The Company has adopted ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which provides guidance on the recognition, presentation,
and disclosure of revenue in financial statements. The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of promised services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those services.
Software Development Costs
We capitalize certain costs associated with technology and software development in accordance with ASC 350-40, Intangibles - Goodwill
and Other - Internal Use Software. Capitalized costs are generally amortized over a three-year period commencing on the date that the specific
software product is placed in service. In practice, we have not capitalized any material software development costs since expenditures are
deemed to be outside of the scope of those required to be capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
We have operations within the United States and limited operations with customers located in Canada, and we are exposed to market risks
in the ordinary course of our business, including the effects of interest rate changes and inflation. Information relating to quantitative and
qualitative disclosures about these market risks is set forth below.
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk
We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk.
Because our cash and cash equivalents have a relatively short maturity, our portfolio’s fair value is relatively insensitive to interest rate
changes. In future periods, we will continue to evaluate our investment policy in order to ensure that we continue to meet our overall
objectives.
Inflation
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We continue to
monitor the impact of inflation in order to minimize its effects through pricing strategies, productivity improvements and cost reductions. If
our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price
increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Emerging Growth Company Status
Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition period provided
in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an “emerging growth
company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. Section
107 of the JOBS Act provides that any decision to opt out of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards is irrevocable. We have elected to use this extended transition period under the JOBS Act.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Current Report on Form 8-K and in the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus for additional information regarding recent accounting pronouncements.

Exhibit 99.3
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Introduction
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of
Regulation S-X and presents the combination of the historical financial information of Tuatara and SpringBig adjusted to give effect to the
business combination and the other events contemplated by the merger agreement.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 combines the historical unaudited consolidated balance
sheet of SpringBig as of March 31, 2022 and the historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Tuatara as of March 31, 2022 on a pro
forma basis as if the business combination and related transactions had been consummated on March 31, 2022.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the three months ended of March 31, 2022 combines the
historical unaudited consolidated statement of operations of SpringBig for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and historical unaudited
consolidated statement of operations of Tuatara for the three months ended March 31, 2022 on a pro forma basis as if the business combination
and the other events contemplated by the merger agreement, as summarized below, had been consummated on January 1, 2021, the beginning
of the earliest period presented.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended of December 31, 2021 combines the historical
audited consolidated statement of operations of SpringBig for the year ended December 31, 2021 and historical audited statement of
operations of Tuatara for the year ended December 31, 2021 on a pro forma basis as if the business combination and the other events
contemplated by the merger agreement, as summarized below, had been consummated on January 1, 2021, the beginning of the earliest period
presented.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
indicative of the financial position and results of operations that would have been achieved had the business combination and related
transactions occurred on the dates indicated. Further, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information may not be useful in
predicting the future financial condition and results of operations of the post-combination company. The actual financial position and results of
operations may differ significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected herein due to a variety of factors. The unaudited pro forma
adjustments represent management’s estimates based on information available as of the date of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information and is subject to change as additional information becomes available and analyses are performed. This information
should be read together with the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the historical unaudited consolidated financial statements of Tuatara as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021;
the historical audited financial statements of Tuatara as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 and as of December 31, 2020 and for the period from
January 24, 2020 through December 31, 2020;
the historical unaudited consolidated financial statements of SpringBig as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021;
the historical audited consolidated financial statements of SpringBig as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020;
the sections titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of SpringBig” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Tuatara” and other financial information included elsewhere in the proxy statement/prospectus
filed by Tuatara with the SEC on May 17, 2022; and
other information relating to Tuatara and SpringBig included in the proxy statement/prospectus, including the merger agreement and the description of certain
terms thereof set forth under the section entitled “The Business Combination.”

Description of the Business Combination
On June 14, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), New SpringBig (formerly known as Tuatara) consummated the previously announced Business
Combination of Tuatara and SpringBig. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, prior to the Closing, New SpringBig changed its jurisdiction of
incorporation by deregistering as a Cayman Islands exempted company and continuing and domesticating as a corporation incorporated under
the laws of the State of Delaware. In connection with the Closing, the registrant changed its name from Tuatara Capital Acquisition
Corporation to SpringBig Holdings, Inc. New SpringBig will continue the existing business operations of SpringBig as a publicly traded
company.
Pursuant to the previously announced Subscription Agreements with certain investors (the “PIPE Investors”), pursuant to which such PIPE
Investors agreed to subscribe for and purchase an aggregate of 1,310,000 shares of New SpringBig Common Stock for a purchase price of
$10.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $13,100,000 (of which $7,000,000 was previously funded via convertible notes between
SpringBig and certain subscription investors).
The holders of SpringBig’s common stock and the Engaged Option Holders shall be entitled to receive their pro rata portion of such
number of Shares, fully paid and free and clear of all liens other than applicable federal and state securities law restrictions, as set forth below
upon satisfaction of any of the following conditions (“Company Earnout Condition”)
a)

7,000,000 Contingent Shares if the closing price of the New SpringBig common stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share on any twenty (20) trading days in a
thirty (30)-trading day period at any time after the Closing Date and no later than 60 months following the Closing Date;
b) 2,250,000 Contingent Shares if the closing price of the New SpringBig common stock equals or exceeds $15.00 per share on any twenty (20) trading days in a
thirty (30)-trading day period at any time after the Closing Date and no later than 60 months following the Closing Date; and
c) 1,250,000 Contingent Shares if the closing price of the New SpringBig common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share on any twenty (20) trading days in a
thirty (30)-trading day period at any time after the Closing Date and no later than 60 months following the Closing Date.

At the time of the Closing, the sponsor, Tuatara and certain members of the Tuatara board of directors entered into an escrow agreement,
providing that, immediately following the Closing, the sponsor, Tuatara and certain members of the Tuatara board of directors shall deposit an
aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of New SpringBig common stock into escrow. The Sponsor Escrow Agreement shall provide that such Sponsor
Contingent Shares shall be released to the sponsor if the closing price of the New SpringBig common stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share
on any twenty (20) trading days in a thirty (30)-trading-day period at any time after the closing date and no later than 60 months following the
closing date (“Sponsor Earnout Condition”). In addition, on or prior to the closing date, the sponsor shall forfeit 1,000,000 shares of New
SpringBig common stock.
On the Closing Date, Tuatara issued to public shareholders who elected not to exercise their redemption rights in connection with the
consummation of the business combination an aggregate of 876,194 shares of New SpringBig common stock.
On April 29, 2022, Tuatara entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Common Stock Purchase Agreement”) with CF
Principal Investments LLC related to a committed equity facility (the “Facility”). Pursuant to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement, New
SpringBig has the right, after the closing of the merger, from time to time at its option to sell to CF Principal Investments LLC up to $50
million in aggregate gross purchase price of newly issued common stock subject to certain conditions and limitations set forth in the Common
Stock Purchase Agreement.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not give effect to any issuances of common stock under the
Facility. However, see Note 4 below for a discussion of the potential impact of the Facility on the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated
financial information.
Anticipated Accounting Treatment
The business combination will be accounted for as a capital reorganization in accordance with GAAP. Under this method of accounting,
Tuatara will be treated as the “acquired” company for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the business combination will be treated as the
equivalent of SpringBig issuing shares at the closing of the business combination for the net assets of Tuatara as of the closing date,
accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of Tuatara will be stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets
recorded.
SpringBig has been determined to be the accounting acquirer based on evaluation of the following facts and circumstances:
•
•
•
•
•

SpringBig’s shareholders will have the largest voting interest in New SpringBig under the maximum redemption scenario;
The board of directors of the post-combination company has seven members, and SpringBig shareholders have the ability to nominate at least the majority of the
members of the board of directors;
SpringBig’s senior management is the senior management of the post-combination company;
The business of SpringBig will comprise the ongoing operations of New SpringBig; and
SpringBig is the larger entity, in terms of substantive operations and employee base.

Basis of Pro Forma Presentation
Included in the shares outstanding and weighted average shares outstanding as presented in the pro forma combined financial statements
are an aggregate of 18,196,526 combined company shares issued to SpringBig stockholders and 1,310,000 shares of common stock issued to
the PIPE Investors, plus 31,356 shares paid to the certain PIPE Investors pursuant to the convertible notes with certain PIPE Investors and
3,000,000 Tuatara founders shares which are net of the 1,000,000 of Sponsor Contingent Shares that were placed in escrow and the 1,000,000
Sponsor Forfeited Shares. The Sponsor Contingent Shares and the Contingent Shares have not been included, as these have been deemed
financial instruments to be issued upon the occurrence of contingent earn out provisions. The Sponsor Contingent Shares and Contingent
Shares will be accounted for under ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and Hedging”, pursuant to which the Sponsor Contingent Shares and
Contingent Shares are considered to be indexed to the Company’s own stock and therefore will be classified as equity instruments.
The following presents the calculation of basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding. The computation of diluted loss per share
excludes the effect of warrants to purchase 12,376,194 shares to be issued because the inclusion of any of these securities would be antidilutive.
Weighted average shares calculation, basic and diluted
Tuatara public shares
Tuatara founder shares
Subscription investors
Combined company shares issued in business combination
Weighted average shares outstanding
Percent of shares owned by SpringBig shareholders
Percent of shares owned by Tuatara holders
Percent of shares owned by subscription investors(1)

1,752,388
3,000,000
1,341,356
18,196,526
24,290,270
74.9%
19.6%
5.5%

(1)

Of the shares owned by the subscription investors, 600,000 shares are attributable to affiliates of Tuatara and 10,000 shares are attributable to affiliates of
SpringBig.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED COMBINED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET
AS OF MARCH 31, 2022
(in in thousands)
SpringBig
(Historical)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net
Contract assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Current Assets

2,645
303
1,297
11,006

249
666

200,039
(191,438)
(13,361)
6,100
10,000
1,350
12,690

Property, plant and equipment
Deposits and other assets
Investments held in Trust Account
Total Assets

495
84
11,585

200,039
200,705

(200,039)
(187,349)

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Related party payable
Accrued wages and commissions
Accrued expenses
Contract liability
Interest payable
Notes payable
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

Transaction
Accounting
Adjustments

Tuatara
(Historical)

$

$

Warrant liability
Convertible notes
Deferred underwriting fee payable
Total Liabilities
Ordinary shares subject to possible redemption
Shareholders’ Equity
Series B Preferred
Series A Preferred
Series Seed Preferred
Common stock

Additional paid in capital

Class B ordinary shares
Accumulated deficit
Total Shareholders' Equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

6,761

580
33
691
888
485
89
7,000
39
9,805

$

$

$

2,252
108
2,360

$

$

$

(902)
(89)
(7,000)
(7,991)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(8)

$

2,645
303
2,896
24,362

(3)

(1)
$

(3)

18,518

$

(4)
(4)

495
84
24,941

1,930
33
691
996
485
39
4,174

9,805

5,278
7,000
14,638

8,565
(7,000)
(6,426)

(8)
(3)

5,278
8,565
18,017

-

200,000

(200,000)

(2)

-

5
5
7
14

-

-

(5)
(5)
(5)
(2)
(5)
(5)
(5)
(2)
(4)
(5)
(8)
(5)
(3)
(5)

3

17,840

(5)
(5)
(7)
(14)
2
1
8,562
13,189
(13,905)
1,435
(1)
(4,109)
13,934
19,077
(187,349)

(16,091)

$

417

Pro Forma
Combined

1,780
11,585

1
(13,934)

$

(13,933)
200,705

$

27,121

(20,200)

$

6,924
24,941

UNAUDITED CONDENSED COMBINED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Selling, servicing and marketing
Technology and software development
General and administrative
Operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Forgiveness of PPP Loan
Change in fair value of warrants
Compensation expense
Transaction costs allocated to warrants
Interest earned on investments held in Trust Account
(Loss) income before taxes
Provision for taxes
Net (loss) income

SpringBig
Tuatara
(Historical)
(Historical)
$
6,364 $
1,843
4,521
2,943
2,637
1,537
912
7,117
912
(2,596)
(912)

$

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic
Basic net (loss) income per share

13,571,872
$

Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted
Diluted net (loss) income per share

(89)
(181)
(2,866)
(2,866) $

(0.21) $
13,571,872

$

(0.21) $

4,162
3
3,253
3,253
25,000,000

Transaction
Accounting
Adjustments
$

$

(469)
(3)
(472)
(472)
(709,730)

(2)

(3)

(1)
(4)
$
(5)

0.13
25,000,000
0.13

Pro Forma
Combined
$
6,364
1,843
4,521
2,943
2,637
1,537
912
8,029
(3,508)

24,290,270
$

(709,730)

(558)
4,162
(181)
(85)
(85)

(5)

24,290,270

$

-

UNAUDITED CONDENSED COMBINED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Selling, servicing and marketing
Technology and software development
General and administrative
Operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Forgiveness of PPP Loan
Change in fair value of warrants
Compensation expense
Transaction costs allocated to warrants
Interest earned on investments held in Trust Account
(Loss) income before taxes
Provision for taxes
Net (loss) income

SpringBig
Tuatara
(Historical)
(Historical)
$
24,024 $
6,929
17,095
10,185
8,410
5,032
2,035
23,627
2,035
(6,532)
(2,035)

$

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic
Basic net (loss) income per share

13,385,267
$

Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted
Diluted net (loss) income per share

3
781
(5,748)
(2)
(5,750) $

(0.43) $
13,385,267

$

(0.43) $

12,960
(2,400)
(853)
35
7,707
7,707
22,287,671

Transaction
Accounting
Adjustments
$

$

3,559
3,559
(3,559)
(1,877)
(35)
(5,471)
(5,471)
2,002,599

(2)

(3)

(1)
(4)
$
(5)

0.35
22,369,863
0.34

Pro Forma
Combined
$
24,024
6,929
17,095
10,185
8,410
5,032
5,594
29,221
(12,126)

24,290,270
$

1,920,407

3
(1,877)
781
12,960
(2,400)
(853)
(3,512)
(2)
(3,514)

(5)

(0.14)
24,290,270

$

(0.14)

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been adjusted to give effect to transaction accounting adjustments
related to the business combination linking the effects of the business combination to the historical financial information.
The Transaction will be accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations. SpringBig has been determined to be the accounting acquirer under
both the no redemption and the maximum redemption scenarios as SpringBig owners before the business combination will retain a majority
financial interest after the business combination. Under the reverse recapitalization model, the business combination will be treated as
SpringBig issuing equity for the net assets of Tuatara, with no goodwill or intangible assets recorded.
The pro forma adjustments have been prepared as if the business combination had been consummated on March 31, 2022, in the case of
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet, and on January 1, 2021, the beginning of the earliest period presented, in the case
of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations.
The pro forma combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 has been prepared using the following:
•
•

SpringBig historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2022, included as an Exhibit in this Form 8-K.
Tuatara’s historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2022, included Tuatara’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 16, 2022.

The pro forma combined statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 has been prepared using the following:
•
•

SpringBig historical unaudited consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022, included as an Exhibit in this Form 8-K.
Tuatara’s historical unaudited consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022, included Tuatara’s Quarterly report on
Form 10-Q, filed on May 16, 2022.

The pro forma combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 has been prepared using the following:
•
•

SpringBig historical consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021, included in Tuatara’s prospectus.
Tuatara’s statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021, included in Tuatara’s prospectus.

The adjustments presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information have been identified and presented to
provide relevant information necessary for an accurate understanding of New SpringBig after giving effect to the business combination.
Management has made significant estimates and assumptions in its determination of the pro forma adjustments. As the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information has been prepared based on these preliminary estimates, the final amounts recorded may differ
materially from the information presented.
The pro forma adjustments reflecting the consummation of the business combination are based on certain currently available information
and certain assumptions and methodologies that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. The unaudited condensed pro
forma adjustments, which are described in the accompanying notes, may be revised as additional information becomes available and is
evaluated. Therefore, it is likely that the actual adjustments will differ from the pro forma adjustments and it is possible the difference may be
material. Management believes that its assumptions and methodologies provide a reasonable basis for presenting all of the significant effects
of the business combination based on information available to management at this time and that the pro forma adjustments give appropriate
effect to those assumptions and are properly applied in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations
and financial position would have been had the Business Combination taken place on the dates indicated, nor are they indicative of the future
consolidated results of operations or financial position of the post-combination company. They should be read in conjunction with the
historical financial statements and notes thereto of SpringBig and Tuatara.
2.

Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2022

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of
Regulation S-X.
The Transaction Accounting Adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022
are as follows:
(A)
(B)
(1)
(2)

Derived from the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of SpringBig as of March 31, 2022.
Derived from the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Tuatara as of March 31, 2022.
To reflect the release of cash from marketable securities held in the trust account.
To reflect (a) the redemption of 19,123,806 Class A ordinary shares for cash payment of $191.4 million and (b) the reclassification of 876,194 Class A ordinary
shares subject to redemption to permanent equity for shareholders who did not exercise their redemption rights.
(3) To reflect the payment of an aggregate of $11.1 million of estimated legal, financial advisory and other professional fees related to the business combination, the
prepayment of $1.4 million of directors and officers’ insurance premium, the payment of $0.9 million of accounts payable and accrued expenses, the payment of
$0.6 million in executive bonuses and the waiver of $7.0 million of deferred underwriting fees by the underwriters in Tuatara’s IPO of its deferred underwriting
discount The direct, incremental costs of the business combination related to the legal, financial advisory, accounting and other professional fees of approximately
$11.1 million is reflected as an adjustment to accumulated deficit.

(4) Reflects proceeds received of $13.1 million from the subscription investors in exchange for the issuance of 1,310,000 shares of New SpringBig common stock at a
price of $10.00 per share, plus 31,356 shares paid to the certain PIPE Investors pursuant to the convertible notes with certain PIPE Investors.
(5) To reflect the recapitalization of SpringBig through (a) the contribution of all the share capital in SpringBig to New SpringBig common stock, (b) the issuance of
18,196,526 shares of New SpringBig common stock, (c) the elimination of the historical accumulated deficit of Tuatara of $13.9 million, the accounting acquiree
and (d) the conversion of 4,000,000 Class B ordinary shares outstanding in Tuatara to New SpringBig common stock, on a one-for-one basis, at the consummation
of the business combination.
(6) To reflect the forfeiture of 1,000,000 shares of New SpringBig common stock by the sponsor. No entry is reflected due to rounding.
(7) To reflect the issuance of 876,194 shares of New SpringBig common stock to non-redeeming public shareholders. No entry is reflected due to rounding.
(8) Reflects issuance of $11.0 million of 6% Senior Secured Original Issue Discount Convertible Notes (the “Notes”) for proceeds of $10.0 million and a discount of
$2.4 million. The Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders beginning at the earlier of (a) the date of effectiveness of a resale registration statement
covering the resales of New SpringBig’s shares of common stock underlying the Notes or (b) one year after the issuance of the Notes, in each case at an initial
conversion share price of $12.00 per share. The Notes will bear interest at a rate of 6% per annum and amortize after six months, which amortization may be
settled in cash or shares of common stock.
3.

Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

The transaction accounting adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the three
months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 30, 2021 are as follows:
(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)
(1)
(2)

Derived from the unaudited consolidated statement of operations of SpringBig for the three months ended March 31, 2022.
Derived from the unaudited consolidated statements of operations of Tuatara for the three months ended March 31, 2022.
Derived from the audited consolidated statement of operations of SpringBig for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Derived from the audited statements of operations of Tuatara for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Represents an adjustment to eliminate interest income on marketable securities held in the trust account as of the beginning of the period.
Represents an adjustment to eliminate the effect of the pro forma balance sheet adjustment presented in Entry #2(3) above in the aggregate amount of $3.6 million
for the direct, incremental costs of the business combination, assuming those adjustments were made as of the beginning of the fiscal period presented. As these
costs are directly related to the business combination, they are not expected to recur in the income of the combined company beyond 12 months after the business
combination.
(3) Represents 6% interest expense incurred on the Notes in the amount of approximately $165,000 and $660,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and the
year ended December 31, 2021, respectively, the amortization of the discount on the Notes to interest expense in the amount of $179,000 and $717,000 for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively, and the amortization of the original issue discount to interest expense in
the amount of approximately $125,000 and $500,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively,. See the
discussion in adjustment (8) of Note 2 above for additional information regarding the Notes.
(4) Although the blended statutory rate for the redomesticated entity post business combination would be 21%, the consolidated combined pro forma under both
scenarios results in a net loss for tax purposes. As such, a full valuation allowance has been applied resulting in no adjustment.
(5) The calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net income (loss) per share assumes that Tuatara’s initial public offering occurred as
of the beginning of the earliest period presented. In addition, as the business combination is being reflected as if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods
presented, the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net income (loss) per share assumes that the shares have been outstanding
for the entire periods presented. This calculation is retroactively adjusted to eliminate the number of shares redeemed for the entire period.
4.

Net Income (Loss) per Share

Represents the net income (loss) per share calculated using the historical weighted average shares outstanding, and the issuance of
additional shares in connection with the business combination and related transactions, assuming the shares were outstanding since January 1,
2021. As the business combination and related transactions are being reflected as if they had occurred at the beginning of the period presented,
the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net loss per share assumes that the shares issued in connection
with the business combination have been outstanding for the entire period presented.

The amounts presented above and below do not give effect to any shares of New SpringBig’s common stock that may be issued pursuant to
the Facility. If the Facility is utilized after the closing of the business combination, SpringBig will issue shares to CF Principal Investments
LLC at a discount to the then-current market price and CF Principal Investments LLC will have an incentive to sell such shares immediately.
Any such issuances may therefore result in further dilution to the existing shareholders and may in turn decrease the trading price of the New
SpringBig common stock. Assuming the Facility is used in its entirety for the full $50 million purchase price, the number of shares to be
issued at each of $15.00 per share, $10.00 per share, or $5.00 per share would be 3.33 million, 5 million, or 10 million shares, respectively.
Such shares would increase the denominator of per share income calculations and, in turn, reduce income per share amounts. There is no
obligation that the Facility be used in its entirety or at all, but if it is, the proceeds therefrom would result in an increase to cash on the balance
sheet.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared assuming two alternative levels of redemption of
Tuatara’s public shares:
Pro Forma Combined
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
Net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic and diluted
Basic and diluted net loss per share
Year Ended December 31, 2021
Net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic and diluted
Basic and diluted net loss per share
Weighted average shares calculations, basic and diluted
Tuatara’s public shares
Tuatara initial stockholders
Subscription investors
SpringBig stockholders
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic and diluted

$
$
$
$

(85)
24,290,270
(0.00)
(3,514)
24,290,270
(0.14)
Pro Forma
Combined
1,752,388
3,000,000
1,341,356
18,196,526
24,290,270

Exhibit 99.4
springbig Files Form 8-K Disclosing Additional Details from its Recently Completed Business Combination
Maintains strong proforma balance sheet expected to fund operations beyond cashflow break-even
Reports public float in excess of 6.6 million shares as of closing
BOCA RATON, FL., June 21, 2022 – SpringBig Holdings, Inc. (NASDAQ: SBIG, SBIGW) (the “Company” or “springbig”), a leading provider of SaaS-based
marketing solutions, consumer mobile app experiences, and omnichannel loyalty programs to the cannabis industry, announced that it has filed a Form 8-K with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, providing additional details surrounding its business combination with Tuatara Capital Acquisition Corporation (“TCAC”), which
closed on June 14, 2022 (“Business Combination”).
After the Business Combination, springbig has a robust balance sheet with cash of $15 million. Concurrently with the completion of the Business Combination, the
Company closed on the remaining funding from the previously announced equity PIPE transaction, in addition to issuing $11 million of senior secured convertible notes to
a global institutional investor for loan proceeds to the Company of $10 million. The proceeds transferred from the TCAC trust account were $8.8 million.
Paul Sykes, Chief Financial Officer of springbig, said: “We are pleased to have closed our business combination in a strong financial position despite challenging market
conditions. With our strong balance sheet and cash resources, we believe we are well positioned to reach cashflow breakeven by early 2023. This is expected to be further
enhanced by our access to the capital markets, which allows us to aggressively pursue strategic M&A targets that complement our company’s strong organic growth
profile.”
Mr. Sykes added, “Additionally, we also wanted to ensure that we began our journey as a public company with a significant public float and we are thrilled to have
achieved this with a public float in excess of 6.6 million shares as of closing.”
The Company’s public float represents approximately 26% of the approximately 25.3 million shares issued and outstanding as of the closing.
About springbig
springbig is a market-leading software platform providing customer loyalty and marketing automation solutions to cannabis retailers and brands in the U.S. and Canada.
springbig’s platform connects consumers with retailers and brands, primarily through SMS marketing, as well as emails, customer feedback system, and loyalty programs,
to support retailers’ and brands’ customer engagement and retention. springbig offers marketing automation solutions that provide for consistency of customer
communication, thereby driving customer retention and retail foot traffic. Additionally, springbig’s reporting and analytics offerings deliver valuable insights that clients
utilize to better understand their customer base, purchasing habits and trends. For more information, visit https://springbig.com/.
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Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements contained in this press release constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of federal securities laws. The words "anticipate," "believe,"
"continue," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intends," "outlook," "may," "might," "plan," "possible," "potential," "predict," "project," "should," "would," and similar
expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking statements
are predictions, projections and other statements about future events that are based on current expectations and assumptions and, as a result, are subject, are subject to risks
and uncertainties. Many factors could cause actual future events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements in this press release, including but not limited to
the risks and uncertainties described in the "Risk Factors" section of TCAC's Annual Report on Form 10-K and registration statement on Form S-4 (the “Registration
Statement”), the proxy statement/prospectus relating to the Business Combination, and other documents filed by springbig from time to time with SEC. These forwardlooking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties (some of which are beyond the control of springbig), and other assumptions, that may cause the actual
results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on
forward-looking statements and springbig undertakes no obligation to subsequently update or revise the forward-looking statements made in this press release, except as
required by law. springbig does not give any assurance that it will achieve its expectations.

